

Role of the humoral immune response in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Melyssa Yaugel Novoa

▶ To cite this version:

Melyssa Yaugel Novoa. Role of the humoral immune response in the pathophysiology of COVID-19. Human health and pathology. Université Jean Monnet - Saint-Etienne, 2023. English. NNT: 2023STET0028 . tel-04520464

HAL Id: tel-04520464 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04520464v1

Submitted on 25 Mar 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



N°d'ordre NNT : 2023STET028

THÈSE de DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ JEAN MONNET SAINT-ÉTIENNE

Membre de l'Université de LYON

École Doctorale N° EDSIS488 (École Doctorale Sciences, Ingénierie, Santé)

Spécialité de doctorat : Immunologie

Soutenue publiquement le 03/10/2023, par : Melyssa YAUGEL NOVOA

Role of the humoral immune response in COVID-19

Devant le jury composé de :

Pr. POZZETTO Bruno	Université Jean Monnet GIMAP – CIRI, U1111, UMR5308	Président
Pr. BURREL Sonia	Université de Bordeaux Spacvir - CNRS, UMR5234, MFP	Rapporteure
Pr. COGNÉ Michel	MOBIDIC - INSERM UMR1236	Rapporteur
Dr. TROUILLET-ASSANT Sophie	VirPath - CIRI, U1111, UMR5308	Examinatrice
Pr. NICOLAS DE LAMBALLERIE Xavier	Université Aix-Marseille Unité des Virus Émergents	Examinateur
Pr. BOURLET Thomas	Université Jean Monnet GIMAP – CIRI, U1111, UMR5308	Directeur de thèse
Pr. PAUL Stéphane	Université Jean Monnet GIMAP – CIRI, U1111, UMR5308	Co-directeur de thèse

"What we know is a drop, what we don't know is an ocean."

Issac Newton

Contents

Contents	1
Acknowledgments	
Abbreviations	7
Figures listing	9
English Abstract	
French Abstract	
Introduction	
Chapter I: Epidemiology and clinical characteristics of COVID-19	
Pandemic and disease burden	
SARS-CoV-2	
COVID-19 symptoms and clinical characteristics	23
Pathophysiology of COVID-19	26
Chapter II: Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection	
Innate response and predicting factors of disease severity	
Adaptive immune response against SARS-CoV-2	
Objectives of my PhD	50
Results	
Result 1: Potential predictive factors of COVID-19 disease severity	
Article 1: Innate immunity markers: soluble IFNARs (sIFNARs)	
Article 2: The role of IgA in intestinal dysbiosis and inflammation in COVID-19	62
Result 2: Understanding the role of the humoral immune response in the pathophysiology of the disease.	66
Article 3: Systemic and mucosal immune response in COVID-19.	
Result 3: Immune response against SARS-CoV-2 elicited after vaccination	
Article 4: Heterologous vaccination against SARS-CoV-2	
Article 5: Breakthrough infections in COVID-19	
Article 6: ADE in COVID-19	143

General Discussion and perspectives	159
Annexes	169
Annexe 1: Review about the humoral immune response in COVID-19 and after vaccination.	171
Annexe 2: New method to detect FcR-dependent functions	185
References	200

Acknowledgments

Je tiens à remercier le Professeur Michel Cogné et la Professeure Sonia Burrel pour avoir accepté d'être rapporteurs de ce travail de thèse. Merci également à la Docteure Sophie Trouillet-Assant pour avoir accepté d'examiner ce travail ainsi qu'au Professeur Xavier Nicolas De Lamballerie qui a aussi évalués mes travaux au cours de ces quatre dernières années avec tant de bienveillance. Merci au Professeur Bruno Pozzetto, pour sa disponibilité et sa collaboration à l'ensemble de ces travaux, et pour la présidence de ce jury.

Un grand merci à Thomas Bourlet et Stéphane Paul pour avoir accepté de me tutorer pendant ces 4 années même si j'étais votre deuxième option après mon super entretien dans le train. Merci pour tous vos conseils, vos réunions et vos petits rappels de pression pour avancer plus vite. Merci aussi pour votre soutien dans ces moments ou les résultats démotivent énormément. J'espère ne pas vous avoir déçu autant de votre choix et que vous êtes un petit peu fier de moi quand-même. Vous me devez encore une session de ski de fond et de surf.

Maintenant c'est le tour des remerciements pour mes collègues de laboratoire (selon la culture française) ou mes amis et membres de ma deuxième maison le GIMAP (selon la culture cubaine). Je ne sais pas par où commencer (et l'ordre n'as rien à voir avec l'importance que chaqu'un a pour moi) mais ce qui est certain c'est que sans vous cette thèse aurait été très ennuyante et triste. Vous m'avais très bien accueilli depuis les premières minutes il y a 4 ans. La période passé ici sera sans doute inoubliable et pas qu'à cause de la pandémie, mais surtout grâce à la convivialité et l'esprit de famille qu'on vit chaque jour au GIMAP. Les pauses café, le repas au self, les galettes de roi, les crêpes, Noël, bref, tout ce qui fait partie de la vie d'une famille. Et vraiment je me sens très mal de vous quitter. Merci d'avoir supporté toutes mes folies et mes longues conversations.

Merci à l'équipe de l'EFS, à Amélie, Anne-Claire, Marco, Théo, Mailys, Sebastian. Evidemment un spécial remerciement à mes parents gimapiens. Merci Ma Ange de m'avoir accepté en tant que fille adoptive, de m'avoir laisser dormir chez toi malgré la saison des punaises de lit, merci pour tes conseils aussi, pour tes oreilles toujours à l'écoute de mes problèmes, merci pour avoir accepté d'amener « une petite boite de cocaïne » aux USA (pour les autres, ne vous inquiétez pas, ce n'est pas vrai). Charles

Acknowledgments

Antoine, tu sais bien que les mots de remerciements ne sortent pas si facilement de ma tête quand c'est toi la cible maaaaaaiiiiisssss je vais essayer Merci pour les défis et débats politiques lancés dans chaque pause, pour m'aider à comprendre les démarches administratives françaises qui doit subir un adulte en France, merci pour m'embêter autant car je sais que « qui aime bien châtie bien ». Par contre, je ne te remercie pas du tout pour me presser pour manger même si ça me fait rire, au contraire, prends mon exemple et profite du repas ! Hind et Fabrice, merci énormément pour tous vos conseils, votre sincérité et grande qualité humaine, vous êtes vraiment exceptionnels et je ne serai jamais capables de vous remercier toute votre générosité et bienveillance. Merci pour le vinyle avec les musiques cubaines dans ce Noël si triste pour moi, merci pour les boucles d'oreilles (que j'adore !), pour les sardines de vous savez d'où, pour penser à mon futur comme deux parents, merci pour l'expérience unique au chaudron, bref, merci pour tout et ALLEZ LES VERTS !

Merci à l'équipe de Microbio, merci Paul, Estelle, Robin, Killian, Aurélien, Nicola (singulier), Martin, Josselin, Mario, Adèle, Maxime, Remi, il nous reste encore une bière à prendre au centre-ville.

Dans la team Immuno, merci Stéphanie, Habib, Jessika pour autant de rires ensembles. Johan, merci pour les trajets de train avec le gogo boy, pardon en jouant au GO, tu es le meilleur artisan de perles de l'univers. Lucile, merci pour le voyage à la Renaissance, pour avoir accepté d'organiser mes 30 ans chez toi et j'espère que les cauchemars avec la maison qui brule sont désormais fini. Martin le monsieur codirecteur, merci pour jouer le rôle après chaque révérence, pour m'avoir accepté comme externe au service, à toi aussi Baptiste, pour la journée aux urgences et pour m'avoir appris que la cortisone peut tout résoudre, surtout merci pour m'avoir trouvé mon médecin traitant. Franck, merci pour ta joie constante et pour te faire sentir quand tu es là. Louis, merci pour tous les moments d'écoute même quand tu faisais semblant d'être concentré, pour les attentes (de fois très longues) pour aller manger, pour toutes les pauses et surtout pour avoir accepté que: Argentina campeón! 😇 Romain, merci pour les cours de fléchettes, pour les bières et merci pour la magnifique pièce de théâtre avec un pulpo. Sylvie, merci pour ta gentillesse, pour m'avoir montré tous les super robots du plateau et pour tous tes conseils. Un très spécial merci à Fabienne et Blandine avec qui j'ai pu travailler côte à côte et apprendre la rigueur du travaille au laboratoire. Autant des ELISA partagés, des heures assises entre vos chaises pour

Acknowledgments

réfléchir aux manips et aux résultats, des heures dans le L3, de rires et même des conseils pour la vie. Fabienne merci pour les histoires de vacances, pour me stopper quand j'allais trop loin et je dépassais la ligne avec les gens, merci pour ton calme. Blandine merci pour les défis et les encouragements sportifs même si j'n'étais pas une très bonne élevé, merci pour me montrer qu'on peut aller à 1000/heure comme moi mais avoir son bureau bien rangé quand-même ; j'attends avec impatience le jour où Margot viendra avec moi à Cuba. Nico, merci d'abord pour avoir créé, avec Stéphane, le Master LIVE qui m'a permis d'être là aujourd'hui. Merci pour tes conseils professionnels et personnels, merci pour être si naturel et gentil, merci pour les matchs très serrés de billard, merci pour les BBQ et la piscine, bref...beaucoup de choses à te remercier, donc merci pour tout !

Mes colocs de bureau, et tous les étudiants qui ont eu le courage de nous supporter. Merci Lucien, Grégoire, Perrine. Madame Jade Majorel à l'appareil ! Merci énormément pour toute ta gentillesse, pour tes câlins et tes mots d'encouragement, pour être ma couturière préférée (après ma mamie évidemment), pour suivre nos folies et même pour essayer de mettre un peu d'ordre comme si c'était toi la plus âgée et responsable du bureau. Merci pour les weekends en Ardèche, et j'espère qu'un jour tu iras dans un matelas gonflable avec moi tout le long de la rivière. Esta señora te llevará siempre en su corazón. Tristan, mon âme sœur, merci pour ton aide inconditionnelle, pour être mon ami et mon psy quand il fallait, pour les super moments aux manèges, pour tout vraiment.

Bea, mi chula, mi pava, nena, tia, en fin, mi sister de microbiota, no van a alcanzar ni diez tesis para decirte todo lo que siento y todo lo que te agradezco. Llevamos 6 años viéndonos todos los días con risas e historias para contar que, aunque de lejos nos miren como locas, la felicidad de tenerte como amiga es inmensa. Muchas gracias por ser procastinadora como yo, por tu hombro para llorar y tus abrazos para consolar; por tus risas y por las canciones de la Oreja de Van Gogh. Gracias por los viajes, por las noches en que pusiste tu casa como airbnb para mí, por cada recuerdo compartido, por cada vez que buscamos en la RAE una palabra, por todos los Ceuta y Melilla, en fin, de verdad no hubiera sido para nada igual esta tesis si no hubieras estado aquí. Te voy a extrañar mucho, pero la amistad no se perderá, aunque estemos lejos.

Merci aux professionnels du plateau en spécial l'équipe de génétique (Sandrine, Agnès, Claire et Ines) qui m'ont accueillie avec beaucoup de bienveillance, merci pour votre organisation et votre calme. Merci aussi aux gens de viro et d'immuno surtout Anne et Alice.

My Master LIVE friends, especially Diego, Rafa, thank you for your support even from far away, for all the reals and stickers shared to make our PhD life easier and funnier.

To all the friends in Saint-Etienne, thank you for all the dinners and all the activities shared, thanks also to Dennis for believing all the silly stories I like to tell.

German y Camila, gracias por mantenerse ahí a pesar de la distancia y de los años, gracias por ser mis consejeros y mis psicólogos, gracias por ser mis amigos.

A la gente de mi grupo de Dengue, ya la Mely está terminando esta etapa y estoy muy agradecida con todos por la formación que me dieron y todo lo que aprendí gracias a ustedes. A mis VC Ale y Dia, que aun en tiempos muy difíciles han estado ahí para mí, A mi tío Gerar, gracias por todo a ti también.

A ma ex-belle-famille, merci pour votre soutien et votre amour. Merci Victor pour m'avoir encouragé et motivé, et surtout merci pour le chemin qu'on a partagé ensemble.

A mi familia, sencillamente gracias, estoy muy orgullosa de la familia que tengo. A mi hermana, gracias por tus locuras y por nuestras conversaciones en el uber. A mis padres (Ale incluido), gracias por la educación que me han dado, por enseñarme el valor del sacrificio, por ser incondicionales. Son los mejores padres que se puedan tener, espero no haberlos defraudado y que estén orgullosos de mí. Este logro en mi carrera científica no hubiera sido posible sin ustedes. Espero algún día poder estar a su altura y transmitir a mis hijos los mismos valores que ustedes me han enseñado. Mami ahora podría ir a buscarte temprano al círculo 💬

Mima, mi Virgilita, esta tesis va para ti y los agradecimientos nunca serían suficientes para escribir todo lo que te debo y todo lo que me enseñaste e hiciste por mí. Sé que hubieras estado más que orgullosa de verme hoy.

Abbreviations

ACE2	Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADCD	Antibody-dependent complement deposition
ADE	Antibody-dependent enhancement
ADP	Antibody-dependent phagocytosis
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavages
DC	Dendritic cells
ICU	Intensive care unit
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon-alpha/beta receptor
NET	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NK	Natural killer cells
NSP	Non-structural proteins
ORF	Open reading frame
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
PSO	Post-symptoms onset
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RBD	Receptor-binding domain
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TMPRSS2	Transmembrane protease serine protease 2
VOC	Variant of Concern
VOI	Variant of Interest
VUM	Variant Under Monitoring

-{ 7 }

Figures listing

Figure 1. COVID-19 reported cases since the beginning of the pandemic in 2019,
worldwide (A) and by region (B), according to the WHO (1)14
Figure 2. Phylogenetic tree of SARS-CoV-2 virus and related coronaviruses (2)15
Figure 3. SARS-CoV-2 genome structure and proteins (8)17
Figure 4. Two distinct SARS-CoV-2 entry pathways (13)19
Figure 5. SARS-CoV-2 phylogeny evolution since the beginning of the COVID-19
pandemic (19)21
Figure 6. Important variants of SARS-CoV-2 spike. Mutations are showed in red and
deletions in magenta (23)
Figure 7. Clinical symptoms variation according to different SARS-CoV-2 variants (26).
Figure 8. Pathophysiological phases of COVID-19 severity (35)
Figure 9. ACE2 expression in the human body and the symptoms associated with
SARS-CoV-2 infection in ACE2+ tissues (15)
Figure 10. Symptoms and pathologies associated with long COVID (53)
Figure 11. Different hypotheses that might explain long COVID pathophysiology (53).
Figure 12. Pathophysiology of COVID-19 linked to the intestinal microbiota (69)34
Figure 13. Principal modifications in the gut microbiota composition in acute COVID-
19 and long COVID (69)
Figure 14. IFN-related anomalies associated to severe disease in COVID-1937
Figure 15. Factors affecting the dynamics of anti-SARS-CoV2 antibodies42
Figure 16. Mucosal and systemic humoral immune response to SARS-CoV2
Figure 17. Protective and pathological functions of SARS-CoV2 antibodies
Figure 18. IgG or IgA dependent FcR activation from vaccinated individuals with a
homologous or heterologous scheme. 122

Table 1. Clinical definitions of disease severity in COVID-19 (25).	24
Table 2. SARS-CoV-2 proteins interfering with IFN induction and signalling (5).	28
Table 3. SARS-CoV-2 licensed vaccines (115–117).	40

ſ

English Abstract

My PhD thesis is marked by the early years of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite accumulated knowledge, there is still much to study regarding SARS-CoV-2 infection and the immune response. My objective is to characterize the humoral immune response against the SARS-CoV-2 virus, identify predictive markers of disease severity, and study the immune response after vaccination. In our study, we demonstrated that severe COVID-19 patients had lower levels of sIFNAR1 and higher levels of sIFNAR2 in the serum, compared to asymptomatic patients. These proteins could serve as predictive markers of disease severity. Additionally, we observed that in the most severely affected patients, the serum IgA response was stronger and more rapid than in less severe or asymptomatic patients, suggesting a potential role in the disease's pathophysiology. Furthermore, our work indicates that heterologous vaccination is more immunogenic and protective against different SARS-CoV-2 variants than homologous vaccination. However, the inability of mRNA vaccines to elicit a mucosal response is a gap that should be addressed with new vaccines targeting mucosal pathways. Nevertheless, initial immunization does not sensitize individuals to antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of disease. The data generated in this thesis contribute to elucidating certain aspects of the role of the humoral response in the pathophysiology of COVID-19, as well as the immune response developed after vaccination. This work opens the door to new questions and research topics for a better understanding of the immune response in COVID-19.

French Abstract

Mon travail de thèse s'inscrit dans les premières années de la pandémie de COVID-19. Malgré les connaissances accumulées, il reste beaucoup à étudier sur l'infection du SARS-CoV-2 et la réponse immunitaire. Mon objectif est de caractériser la réponse immunitaire humorale contre le virus SARS-CoV-2, d'identifier des marqueurs prédictifs de la gravité de la maladie et d'étudier la réponse immunitaire après vaccination. Dans notre étude, nous avons démontré que les patients atteints de COVID-19 sévère présentaient des niveaux plus bas de sIFNAR1 et des niveaux plus élevés de sIFNAR2 dans le sérum, comparés aux patients asymptomatiques. Ces protéines pourraient être des indicateurs de la gravité de la maladie. Nous avons également constaté que chez les patients les plus gravement atteints, la réponse IgA sérique était plus forte et précoce que chez les patients moins graves ou asymptomatiques. Ces résultats suggèrent un rôle potentiel dans la physiopathologie de la maladie. De plus, notre travail montre que la vaccination hétérologue est plus immunogénique et protectrice contre différents variants du SARS-CoV-2 qu'une vaccination homologue. Cependant, l'incapacité des vaccins à ARN messager (mRNA) à créer une réponse mucosale est une lacune qu'il faudrait combler avec de nouveaux vaccins, ciblant la voie mucosale pour la vaccination. Néanmoins, une première immunisation ne sensibilise pas à une amplification de la maladie dépendante d'anticorps (ADE). L'ensemble des données produites dans ce travail de thèse contribue à éclaircir certains aspects du rôle de la réponse humorale dans la physiopathologie de la COVID-19, ainsi que la réponse immunitaire développée après vaccination. Ce travail ouvre la voie à de nouvelles questions et pistes de recherche pour mieux comprendre la réponse immunitaire dans la COVID-19.

Introduction

Chapter I: Epidemiology and clinical characteristics of COVID-19

Pandemic and disease burden

In December 2019, a new type of coronavirus called SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2) originated in Wuhan, China, leading to an outbreak of a distinctive form of viral pneumonia. Within one month after the first case, all 34 provinces of China reported new cases of the new coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and its international spread accelerated from late February. On 11 March 2020, the WHO officially characterized the global COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic (1). The severity of the situation led to the implementation of control measures, such as quarantines, border closures, and social distancing, with the aim of slowing down the transmission of the virus and reducing the impact on healthcare systems, posing an unprecedented global health and socioeconomic crisis in modern history. So far (as in August 2023) there have been 768,983,095 confirmed cases of COVID-19 worldwide, including 6,953,743 deaths, reported to WHO (Fig. 1A and Fig.1B).



Figure 1. COVID-19 reported cases since the beginning of the pandemic in 2019, worldwide (A) and by region (B), according to the WHO (1).

Different hypotheses have been proposed to understand the origin of this new virus. While the hypothesis of a laboratory escape from Wuhan might be the most mediatized, most of the scientific evidence suggests that SARS-CoV-2 naturally originated from a phylogenetically close bat coronavirus (**Fig. 2**) (2). However, as a significant gap exists between these two viruses, the research to find an intermediate host continues (3). Other closely related coronaviruses infecting pangolins have also been proposed as the progenitor. To fully demonstrate the natural origin of SARS-CoV-2, it will be fundamental to extensively survey the presence of coronaviruses in wild animals and study their evolution and ecology (3)(3).



Figure 2. Phylogenetic tree of SARS-CoV-2 virus and related coronaviruses (2).

The construction was performed by the neighbour joining method with use of the program MEGA6 with bootstrap values being calculated from 1,000 trees. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) clusters with closely related viruses in bats and pangolins and together with SARS-CoV and bat SARS-related coronaviruses (SARSr-CoVs) forms the sarbecoviruses. The sequences were downloaded from the GISAID database and GenBank. MERS-CoV, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus.

SARS-CoV-2

Structure

SARS-CoV-2 virus belongs to the subgenus Sarbecovirus of the genus Betacoronavirus, and it shares 79% genome sequence identity with SARS-CoV and 50% with MERS-CoV (4). It is an enveloped, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA virus (4). The genome of SARS-CoV-2 consists of about 30,000 bases and contains a 5' cap structure and a 3' poly-A tail. It has a 5' open reading frame (ORF) and a 3' ORF that comprises 2/3 and 1/3 of the complete genome, respectively. The 5' ORF (ORF1a/b) is translated into pp1a and pp1ab proteins in the host cell's rough endoplasmic reticulum (rER). Proteases cleave these proteins and produce 16 nonstructural proteins (NSPs), ranging from NSP1 to NSP16. The 3' ORF of SARS-CoV-2 has both structural and accessory proteins. There are four structural proteins, i.e., Spike (S), Envelop (E), Nucleocapsid (N), and Membrane (M) proteins (Fig. 3). The N protein is multifunctional; its main function is to assemble the genomic RNA of the virus into a ribonucleoprotein complex and regulate viral replication. The M protein is responsible for the assembly of viral particles. The E protein regulates replication, pathogenicity, and virus dissemination. In addition, there are nine accessory proteins, i.e., ORF3a, ORF3b, ORF6, ORF7a, ORF7b, ORF8, ORF9b, ORF9c, and ORF10. The accessory proteins do not play roles in virus replication but have important roles in host immune evasion (5).

The SARS-CoV-2 S protein has a full size of 1,273 amino acids, longer than that of SARS-CoV (1,255 amino acids), but it shares 76.7–77.0% with SARS-CoVs from civets and humans, 75–97.7% with bat coronaviruses in the same subgenus and 90.7–92.6% with pangolin coronaviruses (6). The S protein is composed of two subunits: S1 and S2. The S1 subunit is further divided into two functional domains, an N-terminal domain, and a C-terminal domain. Structural and biochemical analyses identified a 211 amino acid region (amino acids 319–529) at the S1 C-terminal domain of SARS-CoV-2 as the receptor-binding domain (RBD), which has a key role in virus entry because it directly interacts with the viral receptor ACE2 (angiotensin-converting enzyme 2) being therefore, the target of most neutralizing antibodies (2). SARS-CoV-2 S protein has the specific feature of insertion of four amino acid residues (PRRA) at the junction of subunits S1 and S2 that generates a polybasic cleavage site (RRAR) specific by furin and other proteases facilitating the interaction of RBD-ACE2 receptor

(7). Moreover, the receptor binding motif (RBM) within the RBD domain mediates contact with the ACE2 receptor and this region differs from SARS-CoV in 5 amino acids critical for receptor binding, resulting in a more compact conformation of the hACE2-binding ridge and better contact with the N-terminal helix of hACE2 than in SARS-CoV. These structural changes have been associated with the higher transmissibility of SARS-CoV-2 compared to SARS-CoV (2).



Figure 3. SARS-CoV-2 genome structure and proteins (8)*. Structural proteins are coloured in cian blue, non-structural proteins in dark blue and accessory proteins in green.*

SARS-CoV-2 viral replication

Viral entry proteins need to adopt a stable conformation while also undergoing a conformational transition that generates enough energy to overcome the natural repulsion between the virus and cellular membranes. As a result, the S protein undergoes a transition into a metastable state, which tends to transition into a lowerenergy state before membrane fusion occurs. The first step is the interaction between the S protein and the ACE2 receptor through the RBD domain. Other host proteins,

Introduction

such as neuropilin-1, heparin sulfate proteoglycans, C-type lectins, or furin, can also act as viral entry co-factors (9-12). Like SARS-CoV and other coronaviruses, this transition of the S protein in SARS-CoV-2 involves two proteolytic cleavage steps following engagement with ACE2. The first cleavage occurs at the S1-S2 boundary, while the second cleavage occurs at the S2' site within the S2 subunit. In SARS-CoV, both cleavage sites are targeted by proteases in the host cell. However, in the case of SARS-CoV-2, the furin protease cleaves the S1-S2 boundary in the virus-producing cell, while the cleavage of the S2' site occurs in the target cell after binding to ACE2 receptor and still requires the transmembrane protease serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) in the target cell (13,14) Depending on the entry route of SARS-CoV-2, the cleavage of the S2' site is carried out by different proteases. In one scenario, if the target cell lacks sufficient TMPRSS2, or if the virus-ACE2 complex does not encounter TMPRSS2, the complex is internalized via clathrin-mediated endocytosis into endolysosomes. In this case, cathepsins, which require an acidic environment, cleave the S2' site. In another scenario, in the presence of TMPRSS2, the S2' cleavage occurs at the cell surface. In both entry pathways, cleavage of the S2' site exposes the fusion peptide (FP), and the dissociation of S1 from S2 leads to significant conformational changes in the S2 subunit, particularly in heptad repeat 1 (HR1). This propels the fusion peptide forward into the target membrane, initiating membrane fusion. Fusion between the viral and cellular membranes forms a fusion pore through which viral RNA is released into the host cell cytoplasm for uncoating and replication (13) (Fig. 4). TMPRSS2 is highly expressed in several tissues and body sites and is co-expressed with ACE2 in nasal epithelial cells, lungs, and bronchial branches, which explains some of the tissue tropism of SARS-CoV-2 (6,15).



Figure 4. Two distinct SARS-CoV-2 entry pathways (13).

Two spike (S) protein cleavage events are typically necessary for the coronavirus entry process: one at the junction of the S1 and S2 subunits and the other at the S2' site, internal to the S2 subunit. In the case of SARS-CoV-2, the polybasic sequence at the S1–S2 boundary is cleaved during virus maturation in an infected cell, but the S2' site is cleaved at the target cell following ACE2 binding. Virus binding to ACE2 (step 1) induces conformational changes in the S1 subunit and exposes the S2' cleavage site in the S2 subunit. Depending on the entry route taken by SARS-CoV-2, the S2' site is cleaved by different proteases. Left: If the target cell expresses insufficient TMPRSS2 or if a virus–ACE2 complex does not encounter TMPRSS2, the virus–ACE2 complex is internalized via clathrin-mediated endocytosis (step 2) into the endolysosomes, where S2' cleavage is performed by cathepsins, which require an acidic environment for their activity (steps 3 and 4). Right: In the presence of TMPRSS2, S2' cleavage occurs at the cell surface (step 2). In both entry pathways, cleavage of the S2' site exposes the fusion peptide (FP) and dissociation of S1 from S2 induces dramatic conformational changes in the S2 subunit, especially in heptad repeat 1, propelling the fusion peptide forward into the target membrane, initiating membrane fusion (step 5 on the left and step 3 on the right). Fusion between viral and cellular membranes forms a fusion pore through which viral RNA is released into the host cell cytoplasm for uncoating and replication (step 6 on the left and step 4 on the right). Several agents disrupt interaction between the S protein and ACE2 and thus inhibit both entry pathways. By contrast, strategies targeting post-receptor-binding steps differ between the two pathways. Being a serine protease inhibitor, camostat mesylate restricts the TMPRSS2-mediated entry pathway. Hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine block endosomal acidification, which is necessary for cathepsin activity, and thus restrict the cathepsin-mediated e

Introduction

Variants

SARS-CoV-2 is classified in different ways, and it is often discussed in the context of lineages, sublineages, and variants (16). A lineage is a group of closely related viruses with a common ancestor and their descendants are sublineages, while a variant is defined as a viral genome that may contain one or more mutations (16). A lineage or group of lineages with similar genetic changes may be designated by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a Variant of Interest (VOI), Variant of Concern (VOC), or Variant Under Monitoring (VUM) due to shared attributes and characteristics that may require public health action (16). To date there have been five SARS-CoV-2 variants declared as VOCs by the WHO based on the altered transmissibility and immune escape capabilities. Every VOC demonstrated superior transmissibility compared to the previous variants, leading to their dominance in specific regions or globally. The Alpha variant (PANGO lineage10 B.1.1.7) prevailed regionally, while the Beta variant (B.1.351) and the Gamma variant (P.1) dominated in southern Africa and South America, respectively. In contrast, the Delta variant (B.1.617.2/AY sublineages) and the various sublineages of the Omicron variant (B.1.1.529/BA sublineages, including BA.1, BA.2, and BA.5) gained global prominence (17). As Omicron infections are 98% of current COVID-19 cases, since March 15th, 2023, the WHO variant tracking system considers the classification of Omicron sublineages independently as VUM, VOI or VOCs (18). Currently, VOIs are XBB.1.5 and XBB.1.16; and VUMs are BA.2.75, CH.1.1, XBB.1.9.1, XBB.1.9.2 and XBB.2.3 (18). Fig. 5 depicts the phylogeny of SARS-CoV-2 variants described since the beginning of the pandemic (19).

It is known that RNA viruses have a higher mutation rate compared to DNA viruses. However, SARS-CoV-2 has lower rates of recombination, insertions and deletions, and point mutations than other RNA viruses due to the proofreading activity of the replication-associated exoribonuclease (ExoN) (20). The first notable change in SARS-CoV-2 evolution was a single spike substitution (D614G) that appeared early in the pandemic and gained ~20% growth advantage becoming dominant in Europe (PANGO lineage B.1). From October 2020 other variants emerged with distinct grades of transmissibility and antigenicity (21). These variants are distinguished by higher

numbers of non-synonymous mutations in the S protein, particularly the Omicron variant (15) (Fig. 6).



Figure 5. SARS-CoV-2 phylogeny evolution since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic (19).

As SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 is expressed in different mammal species and in different parts of the human body, it can rapidly spread. ACE2 binding and the furin cleavage site between S1 and S2 are the principal targets of the VOCs' new mutations contributing to the efficient transmission in humans. For example, Alpha and Delta variants furin cleavage site (FCS) optimization contributed to the 65% and 55% higher relative transmissibility of these variants compared to their precedent ones. In contrast

to these variants, Omicron success is linked to an altered entry phenotype with a preference for the endosomal entry pathway (22) coupled with significant immune escape enabling efficient infection of vaccinated or previously infected individuals. These features of Omicron map to different regions of spike, with S2 determining endosomal entry and the RBD controlling proteolysis and syncytia formation (22).



Figure 6. Important variants of SARS-CoV-2 spike. Mutations are showed in red and deletions in magenta (23).

Important variants of SARS-CoV-2 spike with mutations in red and deletions in magenta. The active spike is cleaved into two functional pieces, S1 and S2, shown in turquoise and blue. S1 is composed of several functional domains: the N-terminal domain (NTD), the receptor-binding domain (RBD), and two C-terminal domains (CTD).

COVID-19 symptoms and clinical characteristics

Signs and symptoms of COVID-19 can vary. The most common symptoms include fever, cough, fatigue, anorexia, shortness of breath, and muscle pain. Other non-specific symptoms like sore throat, nasal congestion, headache, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, loss of smell (anosmia), and loss of taste (ageusia) may also occur. Neurological manifestations such as dizziness, agitation, weakness, seizures, and stroke-like symptoms have been reported. Older individuals and immunosuppressed patients may exhibit atypical symptoms like fatigue, reduced alertness, mobility, loss of appetite, and confusion, without fever. Children may not exhibit fever or cough as frequently as adults. Moreover, as the virus evolves, the clinical symptoms also change according to the SARS-CoV-2 variant of infection. Symptoms that were not that common with the Wuhan variant, now are present in most of the new infections with Omicron variants (Fig. 7) (24). Nevertheless, clinical definitions of disease severity are still the same according to the World Health Organization (WHO) (Table 1) (25).



Figure 7. Clinical symptoms variation according to different SARS-CoV-2 variants (26).

Clinical severity	Principal symptom	Definition
Mild disease		Symptomatic patients meeting the case definition for COVID-19 without evidence of viral pneumonia or hypoxia.
		Adolescent or adult with clinical signs of pneumonia (fever, cough, dyspnoea, fast breathing) but no signs of severe
		pneumonia, including SpO2 ≥ 90% on room air. Child with cough or difficulty breathing + fast breathing and/or chest
Moderate disease	Pneumonia	indrawing and no signs of severe pneumonia. Fast breathing: < 2 months: ≥ 60 breaths/min; 2–11 months: ≥ 50; 1–5 years: ≥
		40. The diagnosis can be made on clinical grounds; chest imaging (radiograph, CT scan, ultrasound) may assist in diagnosis
		and identify or exclude pulmonary complications.
		Adolescent or adult with clinical signs of pneumonia (fever, cough, dyspnoea) plus one of the following: respiratory rate > 30
		breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO2 < 90% on room air. Child: with clinical signs of pneumonia (cough or
		difficulty breathing + fast breathing or chest wall indrawing) + at least one of the following:
Sovere disease	Sovoro proumonia	• SpO2 < 90%
Severe disease	Severe priedmonia	• Very severe chest indrawing, grunting, central cyanosis, or presence of any other general danger sign (inability to
		breastfeed or drink, lethargy or unconsciousness or convulsions).
		The diagnosis can be made on clinical grounds; chest imaging (radiograph, CT scan, ultrasound) may assist in diagnosis and
		identify or exclude pulmonary complications
		Onset: within 1 week of a known clinical insult (i.e. pneumonia) or new or worsening respiratory symptoms. Chest imaging:
		radiograph,CT scan or lung ultrasound: bilateral opacities, not fully explained by volume overload, lobar or lung collapse, or
		nodules. Origin of pulmonary infiltrates: respiratory failure not fully explained by cardiac failure or fluid overload. Need
		objective assessment (e.g. echocardiography) to exclude hydrostatic cause of infiltrates/oedema if no risk factors present.
	Acute respiratory	Oxygenation impairment in adults:
Critical disease	distress syndrome	\Rightarrow Air blood gases (ABG) available
	(ARDS)	 Mild ARDS: 200 mmHg < PaO2/FiO2 ≤ 300 mmHg (with PEEP or CPAP ≥ 5 cmH2O)
		 Moderate ARDS: 100 mmHg < PaO2/FiO2 ≤ 200 mmHg (with PEEP ≥ 5 cmH2O)
		 Severe ARDS: PaO2/FiO2 ≤ 100 mmHg (with PEEP ≥ 5 cmH2O).
		\Rightarrow ABG not available (Kigali modification)
		 SpO2/FiO2 < 315 suggests ARDS (including non-ventilated patients)

Table 1. Clinical definitions of disease severity in COVID-19 (25).

		Oxygen impairment in children: note OI and OSI.a Use OI when available. If PaO2 not available, wean FiO2 to maintain					
		SpO2 ≤ 97% to calculate OSI or SpO2/FiO2 ratio:					
		 Bilevel (NIV or CPAP) ≥ 5 cmH2O via full face mask: PaO2/FiO2 ≤ 300 mmHg or SpO2/ FiO2 ≤ 264 					
		• Mild ARDS (invasively ventilated): $4 \le OI < 8$ or $5 \le OSI < 7.5$					
		 Moderate ARDS (invasively ventilated): 8 ≤ OI < 16 or 7.5 ≤ OSI < 12.3 					
		 Severe ARDS (invasively ventilated): OI ≥ 16 or OSI ≥12.3. 					
		Adults: acute life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to suspect or proven infection. Signs					
		of organ dysfunction include: altered mental status (delirium), difficult or fast breathing, low oxygen saturation, reduced					
		urinary output, fast heart rate, weak pulse, cold extremities or low blood pressure, skin mottling, laboratory evidence of					
	Canaia [440][444]	coagulopathy, thrombocytopenia, acidosis, high lactate or hyperbilirubinaemia.					
	Sepsis [110][111]	Children: suspected or proven infection and ≥ 2 age-based systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria,b of					
		which one must be abnormal temperature or white blood cell count. b SIRS criteria: abnormal temperature (> 38.5 °C or < 36					
		°C); tachycardia for age or bradycardia for age if < 1 year; tachypnoea for age or need for mechanical ventilation; abnormal					
		white blood cell count for age or > 10% bands.					
		Adults: persistent hypotension despite volume resuscitation, requiring vasopressor to maintain MAP ≥ 65 mmHg and serum					
	Septic shock [110][111]	lactate level > 2 mmol/L. Children: any hypotension (SBP < 5th centile or 2SD below normal for age) or two or three of the					
		following: altered mental status; bradycardia or tachycardia (HR < 90 beats/min [bpm] or < 160 bpm in infants and heart rate					
		< 70 bpm or > 150 bpm in children); prolonged capillary refill (> 2 sec) or weak pulse; fast breathing; mottled or cool skin or					
		petechial or purpuric rash; high lactate; reduced urine output; hyperthermia or hypothermia.					
	Acute thrombosis	Acute venous thromboembolism (i.e. pulmonary embolism), acute coronary syndrome, acute stroke.					
		Preliminary case definition: children and adolescents 0–19 years of age with fever ≥ 3 days AND two of the following: rash or					
		bilateral non purulent conjunctivitis or muco-cutaneous inflammation signs (oral, hands or feet); hypotension or shock;					
	MIS-C	features of myocardial dysfunction, pericarditis, valvulitis, or coronary abnormalities (including ECHO findings or elevated					
		troponin/NT-proBNP); evidence of coagulopathy (PT, PTT, elevated D-dimers); acute gastrointestinal problems (diarrhoea,					
		vomiting or abdominal pain); AND elevated markers of inflammation such as ESR, C-reactive protein, or procalcitonin AND					
		no other obvious microbial cause of shock syndrome AND evidence of COVID-19 (RT-PCR, antigen test or serology					
		positive), or likely contact with patients with COVID-19.					

Introduction

Pathophysiology of COVID-19

The pathogenesis of the SARS-CoV-2 induced pneumonia occurs in two phases: (1) the viral phase, which is characterized by the extension of the viral replication and virus-mediated tissue damage (27); and (2) the immune phase, characterized by the recruitment of immune cells causing local and systemic inflammation that can persist even after viral clearance (27). The damages that occurred during the first phase determine the second one, and it is not well established the exact contribution of viral loads in the disease course (28). However, pulmonary complications are associated with excessive vascular permeability, microthrombi deposition, and with systemic symptoms like olfactory, cardiac, hepatobiliary, and renal dysfunction, as well as gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms. These manifestations are multifactorial, including direct viral injury to the cells, tissues and vasculature, excessive inflammatory cytokines release, auto-antibodies-dependent tissue damage and gut dysbiosis. Moreover, autopsies from COVID-19 deceased patients have shown that it is more the over-activation of the immune system or vascular damage what kills the patients rather than an excessive viral-induced tissue damage (27). On binding to epithelial cells in the respiratory tract, SARS-CoV-2 starts replicating and migrating down to the airways and enters alveolar epithelial cells in the lungs. The rapid replication of SARS-CoV-2 in the lungs may trigger a strong immune response (2). Histopathological changes in patients with COVID-19 occur mainly in the lungs. Histopathology analyses showed bilateral diffused alveolar damage, hyaline membrane formation, desquamation of pneumocytes and fibrin deposits in lungs of patients with severe COVID-19. Exudative inflammation was also shown in some cases. Immunohistochemistry assays detected SARS-CoV-2 antigen in the upper airway, bronchiolar epithelium, and submucosal gland epithelium, as well as in type I and type II pneumocytes, alveolar macrophages and hyaline membranes in the lungs (2). Fig. 8 shows the evolution of severity in COVID-19 according to the pathophysiology of the disease.

Time is crucial for controlling viral infections starting with the innate immune response. Type I interferons (IFN-I) are a very important key to limiting viral replication and promote viral immunity (29). In severe COVID-19 patients it has been identified an imbalance in the IFN response, explained either by host genetic mutations altering the function of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) or other signaling molecules associated to the

IFN pathways; and, by auto-antibodies against IFN that inhibit their function (30–33). Another important aspect is that several SARS-CoV-2 accessory and non-structural proteins like ORF9b, ORF6, ORF7a, Nsp6, Nsp8 and Nsp13 interfere with the correct IFN signaling pathways for example by downregulating the phosphorylation-mediated



Time since symptoms onset

activation of different molecules involved int hose pathways (Table 2) (5,34).

Figure 8. Pathophysiological phases of COVID-19 severity (35).

Cytokines are important immune mediators delivered in a first time by the infected cells and tissue damaged cells that results in the recruitment of innate immune cells (monocytes, macrophages, neutrophiles, natural killer (NKs), and dendritic cells (DCs) that they will also continue to secrete proinflammatory cytokines that allow the adaptive immune response to be called (T and B cells). There is an uncontrolled release of proinflammatory cytokines in severe patients called "cytokine storm" that exacerbate the infiltration of immune cells and therefore an increase in local and systemic inflammation (27). In addition, DCs and T cell reduction numbers in severe COVID-19 patients do not allow the correct clearance of infected cells, nor the type 2 immune response present in these patients. Moreover, resident macrophages that are important in tissue homeostasis and repair are found to be depleted in severe patients, maybe due to direct impact of viral infection or inflammation-induced cell death (27).

IFN production inhibition					IFN signalling inhibition					
Protein	Mechanism	Experimental approach	Cellular model	Ref.		Protein	Mechanism	Experimental approach	Cellular model	Ref.
NSP1	Multiple targets, may be upstream and downstream of IRF3	Luciferase assay	HEK293T cells	(36)		NSP1	Suppress STAT1 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)
NSP6	Suppress IRF3 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)		NSP6	Suppress STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)
NSP8	Suppress the phosphorylation of IRF3, TBK1	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(37)		NSP13	Suppress STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)
NSP12	Inhibit nuclear translocation of IRF3	Immunofluorescence assays	HEK293T cells	(38)		ORF3a	Suppress STAT1 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)
NSP13	Physical binds with TBK1, Suppress the phosphorylation of IRF3, TBK1, and NF- κB, Suppress nuclear translocation of NF-κB	Luciferase assay, Western blotting, Immunofluorescence assays	HEK293T, HeLa cells	(36)		ORF6	Inhibit STAT1 nuclear translocation	Immunofluorescence assays	HEK293T cells	(36,39)
NSP14	Inhibit nuclear translocation of IRF3	Luciferase assay, Immunofluorescence assays	293 FT cells	(40)		ORF7a	Suppress STAT2 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)
NSP15	Inhibit nuclear translocation of IRF3	Luciferase assay, Immunofluorescence assays	293 FT cells	(40)		ORF7b	Suppress STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(36)

Table 2. SARS-CoV-2 proteins interfering with IFN induction and signalling (5).

ORF6	Inhibit nuclear translocation of IRF3	Luciferase assay, Western blotting, Immunofluorescence assays	HEK293T	(36)	ORF8	Interact with MHC-I and mediate its down regulation	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(41)
ORF9b	Interact with MDA5, MAVS, TRIF, TBK1, STING, and RIG-1, suppress the phosphorylation of TBK1 and IRF3, suppress nuclear translocation of IRF3	Luciferase assay, Western blotting, Immunofluorescence assays	HEK293T, HeLa cells	(42)	ORF10	Degrade MAVS	Western blotting	HEK293T cells	(43)
М	Suppress the phosphorylation of IRF3, TBK1, IKKα/β, p65	Luciferase assay, qRT-PCR, Western blotting	HEK293T	(44)					

Introduction

Auto-antibodies targeting nuclear antigens, phospholipids, T and B cell antigens as well as chemokines and cytokines have been reported for severe COVID-19 patients, and they might contribute to the immune cell depletion described before, as well as vascular damage (clots formation, endothelial damage, venous and arterial embolisms) (30,45). All these steps contributing to the pathogenesis of the SARS-CoV-2 infection are described locally, but if we think about the expression of the ACE2 receptor in the human body (**Fig. 9**), it is easy to imagine that after the respiratory mucosa gets infected, all the other ACE2⁺ tissues in the body are having the same altered inflammatory phenotype. Therefore, the last phase of the pathophysiology of COVID-19 is multiorgan failure. This phase is characterized by systemic inflammation and functional complications in different organs. For example, significantly elevated levels of classical markers of cardiac injury and failure like cardiac troponin (46), acute kidney injury (47), diarrhea and abdominal pain (48), elevated levels of liver enzymes and liver injury (49), pancreatic dysfunction (50), hypoxia as well as metabolic acidosis (51).



Figure 9. ACE2 expression in the human body and the symptoms associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection in ACE2+ tissues (15).

Physiopathology of long COVID-19

COVID-19 patients can suffer from a post-acute sequela (known as long COVID) which is a multisystemic condition defined as the continuation or development of new symptoms 3 months after the initial SARS-CoV-2 infection, with these symptoms
lasting for at least 2 months with no other explanation (52). **Fig. 10** resumes the impact of long COVID on numerous organs. The incidence is estimated at 10–30% of non-hospitalized cases, 50–70% of hospitalized cases, and 10–12% of vaccinated cases (53). It is associated with all ages, however, a higher incidence has been observed in ages between 36-50 years and in patients with mild acute illness, as this population represents most overall COVID-19 cases (53).



Figure 10. Symptoms and pathologies associated with long COVID (53).

The impacts of long COVID on numerous organs with a wide variety of pathology are shown. The presentation of pathologies is often overlapping, which can exacerbate management challenges. MCAS, mast cell activation syndrome; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; POTS, postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome.

Nowadays there are no validated effective treatments and although there are some diagnostic tools for some effects of long COVID (like MRI scans to detect cardiovascular impairment) most of the diagnostic tools are in development (53). As for COVID-19, long COVID prevalence and symptomatology can vary depending on vaccination status and SARS-CoV-2 variants infection. For example, it has been shown that the prevalence of long COVID was higher after breakthrough infection with Omicron BA.2 in triple-vaccinated individuals than with Omicron BA.1 (54). In addition, long COVID risk is increased after the second or third reinfection, even in vaccinated individuals. Several hypotheses are being studied to decipher the pathogenesis of long COVID (**Fig 11**) (53).



Figure 11. Different hypotheses that might explain long COVID pathophysiology (53).

These hypothesis include: (1) immune dysregulation (higher levels of exhausted T cells (55), reduced CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ effector memory cell numbers (56), highly activated innate immune cells (57), elevated expression of type I and III interferons (57), high levels of inflammatory cytokines like IL-1b, IL-6, and TNF (58) that can also facilitates the reactivation of underlying pathogens such as EBV and herpes viruses (59); (2) microbiota dysbiosis that can last for 14 months (60) (less presence of butyrate-producing bacteria (61), higher levels of fungal translocation to the blood (62), and SARS-CoV-2 viral persistence in the gut (63)); (3) autoimmunity (high levels of autoantibodies including autoantibodies that target connective tissue, vascular endothelium, platelets, cytokines, complement components or cell surface proteins (45,59)); (4) blood clotting and endothelial abnormalities (higher presence of

microclots contributing to thrombosis (64), long-lasting reduction in vascular density and changes in the size and fitness of blood cells potentially affecting the oxygen delivery (65)); (5) dysfunctional neurological signaling (activation of the kynurenine pathways which is associated with cognitive impairment (66), neuroinflammation (67), myelin loss, microglial reactivity (68)).

Role of microbiota

One of the tissues with high levels of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression is the GI tract, and GI symptoms are present in nearly 50% of the COVID-19 patients, sometimes preceding respiratory symptoms, and associated with a worse prognosis (69,70). Microbiota dysbiosis is one of the elements in the investigations about the pathological effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection in the GI tract. As in chronically inflammatory diseases, like intestinal bowel disease (IBD) or Chron's disease, an "abnormal" intestinal microbiota might increase the imbalance of the immune response in the intestine (71,72). One possible hypothesis is that damage caused by SARS-CoV-2 infection in the intestinal epithelium leads to leaks in the gut and the possibility that opportunistic pathogens or endotoxins pass to the basal layer exacerbating the systemic inflammatory response. Dysbiosis could also negatively influence the correct mucosal immune response in the upper respiratory airways through the gut-lung axis enhancing the no-control of the infection and creating more inflammation (Fig 12) (69). Plasma markers of gut permeability including lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), fecal calprotectin, fatty acid-binding protein 2 (FABP2), and peptidoglycans are higher in severe COVID-19 patients (73,74). The fecal microbiome of patients with COVID-19 showed decreased bacterial diversity (75-78) and reduced abundance of short-chain fatty acid (SCFA)-producing bacteria from the Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae, and Eubacteriaceae families as well as increased opportunistic pathogens from Enterobacteriaceae families compared with the fecal microbiome of healthy individuals (69). Specifically, the abundance of Faecalibacterium, Eubacterium, Coprococcus, Ruminococcus, Lachnospira and Roseburia are decreased, whereas that of Enterococcus, Rothia and Lactobacillus are increased (Fig 13) (77,79–81). Several studies have associated butyrate-producing general



Faecalibacterium and *Roseburia* negatively correlated with disease severity (69,79,82).

Figure 12. Pathophysiology of COVID-19 linked to the intestinal microbiota (69).

Dysbiosis has been also associated to the risk of developing long COVID (69) (Fig 10). An altered microbiota can remain for at least 30 days after infection clearance and those changes, including for example the depletion of immunomodulatory bacterial

species like *F. prausnitzii*, are like in chronic inflammatory conditions (69). *Bacteroides vulgatus* and *Ruminococcus gnavus* are increased in long COVID patients and the former have been associated to post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome (PI-IBS), suggesting that this pathogen is potentially linked to the pathogenesis of both long COVID and PI-IBS (69). The relative abundance of members of *Bifidobacterium* and *Ruminococcus* remain depleted in patients with COVID-19 compared with controls at 6-month follow-up, while *Atopobium parvulum*, *Actinomyces johnsonii* and *Actinomyces sp. S6 Spd3* are enriched in those patients (83). However, bacterial species, including B. longum and *Blautia wexlerae*, at admission were negatively associated with the development of long COVID at 6 months, implying a potential protective role of these species in the convalescent phase (83). In conclusion, a person's gut microbiome configuration at the time of infection might affect their susceptibility to long-term complications of COVID-19 (69).



Figure 13. Principal modifications in the gut microbiota composition in acute COVID-19 and long COVID (69).

Chapter II: Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection

Innate response and predicting factors of disease severity

Innate immunity is the first line of defense against infections. Innate immune responses limit viral entry, translation, replication and assembly, help identify and remove infected cells, and coordinate and accelerate the development of adaptive (84). The first alarm signal after viral encounter is through the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). These receptors are localized in the cell surface, endosomes and cell cytosol and respond to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) to trigger inflammatory response and cell death that limit viral replication (85). The winners in the expression of this PRRs are the innate immune cells, including macrophages, monocytes, DCs, neutrophils and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) like NKs. The five principal PRRs families include TLRs, retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and the absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2)-like receptors (ALRs) (85).

Following SARS-CoV-2 infection, TLRs 1, 2, 4 and 6 (in the cell surface) and TLR3 (in endosomes) can be activated by viral proteins, transducing the signal through Myd88 and/or TRIF. On one hand, Myd88 will activate NF-kB and ERK1/2 than will further activate the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-6, IL-1b and type I IFNs, and other innate immune sensors like and NLRP3 further activating the inflammasome and pyroptosis which will conduct to cell death and potential viral clearance (84). On the other hand, signaling through TRIF also activates type I IFN production and several TLR4- and TLR3-dependent transcription factors, some of which have direct antiviral activity (84). Inborn errors in *TLR7* gene have been linked to severe disease in young individuals suggesting that TLR7 might have a protective role during SARS-CoV-2 infection via the activation of IFN response (84,86).

Viral RNA can also activate PRRs in the cytosol of the infected cells. This is the case for RLRs like RIG-I and MDA5 which provide key regulation of IFN pathways (84). The production and release of IFNs stimulate downstream signaling through IFN receptors (IFNAR1/IFNAR2 for type I IFNs; IFNLR1/IL10Rβ for type III IFNs) that allows the production of hundreds of interferons stimulated genes (ISGs) with different antivirals

functions. However, the fine-tuning of a type I IFN response is critical because both over and underactivation of IFN signaling can be deleterious to the host (84). Severe forms of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) involve a dysregulation of the immune response that results in insufficient or delayed type I interferon response (87,88) (Fig. 14). In the pathophysiology part, we mentioned that in severe COVID-19 patients, there are circulating type I IFN autoantibodies (30,32), reducing their IFN response and these autoantibodies increase with age, which correlates with the more severe disease the ager the patient is. Moreover, it is not only the IFN production which is altered in COVID-19. IFNAR expression and signaling can also modulate the IFN response. Some studies at the genome, transcriptomic and single-cell levels have identified IFNAR2 as a risk factor for severe COVID-19 (89,90). There is an upregulation of the expression of IFNAR2 in asymptomatic patients and moreover, in individuals who recovered from severe COVID-19 there are reduced levels of type I-IFN producing pDCs and an increased expression of IFNAR2 on several myeloid cell subsets at steady state (91). In addition, SARS-CoV-2 infection increases the ubiquitination of IFNAR1, thereby decreasing the cell-surface expression of this protein in vitro (92).



Figure 14. IFN-related anomalies associated to severe disease in COVID-19.

Adaptive immune response against SARS-CoV-2

The immune response to pathogens is characterized by the activation of innate and adaptive responses, and their humoral and cellular components. Unlike the innate immune system, which provides a general, non-specific response, adaptive immunity offers a highly specific and tailored defense. This sophisticated system is characterized by its ability to recognize, remember, and target specific pathogens, enabling the body to mount a precise and powerful response.

Cellular immune response

T cell responses are important components of adaptive immunity and at the beginning of the pandemic there were concerns about the induction of this part of the immunity during SARS-CoV-2 infection because of the potentially weak immunogenicity of coronaviruses (93). Indeed, SARS-CoV-2 is immunogenic and virus-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses predominantly of Th1 and T follicular helper (Tfh) types are associated to uncomplicated COVID-19 disease evolution (94,95). In contrast to other virus like flaviviruses where T cell response recognize prevalently non-structural proteins (96), in COVID-19 there is a strong T cell response against the S protein probably due to its large size and its high level of expression (94). There is also a T cell response against the N, M, E and non-structural proteins (93) but the more immunodominant epitopes for CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell response are found in the S, N and M proteins (93). However, Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) restriction studies have defined thousands of SARS-CoV-2 T cell epitopes which is an indicative of the large breadth of the cellular response against the virus. Murine and non-human primate models have shown the protective role that T cell response can have in COVID-19 (93). For instance, depletion of CD8⁺ T cells in convalescent rhesus macaques reduced protection against SARS-CoV-2 rechallenge (97). In patients, an early CD4⁺ T cell response is associated with a better disease outcome as well as a good balance of regulatory and cytotoxic SARS-CoV-2-reactive CD4⁺ T cells in blood (95,98). Nevertheless, a delayed CD8⁺ T cell response is associated to a more severe prognosis, probably due to inability of T cells to control viral replication in the lungs sufficiently fast (93,95,99). CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are detected in the upper respiratory tract following SARS-CoV-2 infection, However, in lungs of covid severe patients there are less CD8⁺ T cells than in asymptomatic, indicating a lack of

successful T cell response in severe COVID. Moreover, severe or fatal COVID-19 can be characterized by profound disruption of germinal centers (GCs) and loss of Bcl-6-expressing GC-Tfh cells (100,101). CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and memory B cells generated in response to infection are present in the lung, bone marrow, spleen, and multiple lymph nodes for at least six months after infection (102), regardless of disease severity (103); however while most individuals present a durable CD4⁺ T cell response, approximately 30% did not have CD8⁺ T cells suggesting an impairment of memory CD8⁺ T cells in some individuals (104).

In the face of the pandemic, multiple vaccines were rapidly developed and approved worldwide, with 13,492,159,872 doses administered to date. As of June 2023, the vaccines that have been authorized to be used are described in **Table 2**. These vaccines have demonstrated efficacy against different variants, including the Omicron variant. However, certain factors such as gender, age, comorbid conditions, and immunosuppression can influence the immune response after vaccination, leading to lower antibody concentrations and neutralization capacities in some individuals (105–108). **Table 2** listed the current SARS-CoV-2 vaccines authorized up to date.

After vaccination, with all the technologically different vaccines (adenoviral vectors, inactivated viral vaccine, mRNA, recombinant protein) a T cell response is elicited (109–111). Nevertheless, vaccination with a mRNA vaccine has shown to elicit a more robust CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell response, higher levels of circulating Tfh and good functioning of GCs in comparison to inactivated viral vaccines which only elicits CD4⁺ T cell response (111,112). A heterologous prime-boost vaccination improves the T cell response (93). SARS-CoV-2-specific T cell response decreased 2-fold or less after six months of vaccination and in contrast to antibody response, hybrid immunity resulted in a lesser boost to the T cell response (111,113) and a broader set of epitopes targeted (114), suggesting a superior advantage for this type of immunity.

In the context of variants, T cell responses are largely preserved. This aligns with the extensive experimental validation of thousands of SARS-CoV-2 class I and class II T cell epitopes, making it extremely challenging for the virus to mutate multiple epitopes simultaneously and escape T cell recognition at the population level while maintaining viral fitness (93).

Table 3. SARS-CoV-2 licensed vaccines (115–117).

Vaccine	Platform	Strain	Population	Licensed
Cominarty (Pfizer/BioNTech)	mRNA	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 6 months	EMA, WHO
		Original strain + Omicron BA.1 variant (B)	> 12 years	EMA, FDA
		Original strain + Omicron BA.4-5 variants (B)	> 5 years	EMA, FDA
Spikevax (Moderna)	mRNA	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 6 months	EMA, WHO
		Original strain + Omicron BA.1 variant (B)	> 6 years	EMA, FDA
		Original strain + Omicron BA.4-5 variants (B)	> 6 years	EMA, FDA
Vaxzevria (AstraZeneca)	Adenoviral vector	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	EMA, WHO
Jcovden (Janssen)	Adenoviral vector	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	EMA, WHO, FDA
Nuvaxovid (Novavax)	Protein	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 12 years	EMA, WHO, FDA
COVID-19 Vaccine Valneva (Valneva)	Inactivated	Original strain (PV) (B)	18-50 years	EMA
VidPrevtyn Beta (Sanofi Pasteur)	Protein	Beta variant <mark>(B)</mark>	> 18 years	EMA
Bimervax (HIPRA Human Health S.L.U.)	Protein	Alpha + Beta variants <mark>(B)</mark>	> 16 years	EMA
Sinopharm (Beijing Institute of Biological Products)	Inactivated	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	WHO
Sinovac-CoronaVac	Inactivated	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	WHO
Bharat Biotech BBV152 COVAXIN	Inactivated	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	WHO
Covovax (NVX-CoV2373)	Protein	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 12 years	WHO
SII/COVISHIELD	Adenoviral vector	Original strain (PV) (B)	> 18 years	WHO

(PV): Primary vaccination; (B): Boost

Humoral immune response

Antibodies play a crucial role in protection against viral diseases via various mechanisms involving both their Fab and corresponding Fc portions. The Fabmediated mechanisms include neutralization, in which the entry of the virus into the host cell is sterically blocked. Fc mechanisms include complement activation, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), and antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP). However, antibody effector functions can also exacerbate inflammation and generate more damage, as in the antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) observed in dengue disease (118).

The systemic and mucosal immune response against SARS-CoV-2 as well as after vaccination is well detailed in **my review in the journal Mucosal Immunology in October 2022** (119) and annexed to this manuscript. However, here I will summarise what we know so far about the systemic and mucosal humoral immune response to COVID-19.

Systemic humoral response in COVID-19

The proportions of total IgA, IgM and IgG antibodies and of total IgG subclasses are not modified following SARS-CoV-2 infection6. However, anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody production varies with disease severity and depends on patient characteristics, such as sex and age (**Fig. 15**). Severe patients have higher levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies (120–130) as well as men compared to women (8,18,19) and in elderly compared to youngers (128,131,132). Serum IgG, IgA and IgM antibodies are elicited principally against the spike (S1, S2 and RBD domains) and nucleocapsid proteins (123,125,127,129,131,133–139) (**Fig. 16**). In addition, the affinity of the antibodies against the SARS-CoV-2 prefusion spike detected in the serum and nasal washes has been shown to be significantly higher in asymptomatic adults than in symptomatic COVID-19 patients (140), suggesting that the antibody response in asymptomatic patients.



Figure 15. Factors affecting the dynamics of anti-SARS-CoV2 antibodies.

Patients' characteristics can modulate anti-SARS-CoV2 antibody response. Specific IgG, IgA and IgM in serum is elevated in old patients while mucosal IgA is diminished, contrary to young patients who have lower anti-SARS-CoV2 antibody titers in serum and higher levels of mucosal IgA. Males have higher titers of specific IgG, IgA and IgM in serum than females. Patients that had been previously infected with another human coronavirus (HCoV) (represented with the "+" symbol) develop more anti-SARS-CoV2 IgG than IgM in serum; and the contrary happens in patients with no previous immunity to HCoV (represented with the "-" symbol). Disease severity can also modulate patient's specific response as the more severe, the higher the titers of anti-SARS-CoV2 IgG, IgA and IgM in serum. At the same time the quality and quantity of these antibodies can modify disease severity.

In terms of kinetics, specific IgA is the predominant isotype in the first week postsymptoms onset (PSO); there is then a peak of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgM between 10 **PSO PSO** and 15 days and an lgG peak around dav 20 (124,126,136,138,139,141,142) (Fig. 16). IgM levels decrease significantly onemonth PSO (139), but specific IgA and IgG levels in the blood remain stable more than 6 weeks PSO (142,143) and IgG can be detected for up to 1 year PSO (124,125,135,136,144-146). However, asymptomatic antibodies lose their anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies faster than severe disease patients, suggesting that the immune system is stronger stimulated in the late ones. The presence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA in serum is associated with gastrointestinal symptoms in COVID-19, whereas no such association has been found for IgG (138). SARS-CoV-2 can replicate in human enterocytes (147) and may activate the local production of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA, contributing to an increase in specific IgA levels in the blood. Some studies have found that antibodies from COVID-19 patients can cross-react with the spike proteins of seasonal human coronaviruses (HCoVs). The impact of prior immunity to HCoVs on SARS-CoV-2 infection is still under debate with some studies suggesting that higher levels of specific IgG and IgA against HCoVs are associated with milder COVID-19 symptoms, and others indicating the contrary (4,148–154).



Figure 16. Mucosal and systemic humoral immune response to SARS-CoV2.

Both mucosal and systemic humoral immune response against SARS-CoV2 virus are characterised by a transient IgM response detectable until 1 month post-symptom onset (PSO). Mucosal response is dominated by IgG and IgA, while systemic response is firstly dominated by IgA. Specific IgA and IgG antibodies are detected in mucosal tissues even at 9-month PSO and until one year PSO in serum. Both responses are directed against the Spike and Nucleoprotein. Even though both responses target epitopes in S1 and S2 subunits from the Spike protein, the mucosal response is more diverse (represented by the marked line around the rectangles S1 and S2) than the systemic response which has the epitopes principally against S2 subunit (marked with the line only in the S2 rectangle).

Mucosal humoral immunity in COVID-19

The mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2, particularly in the nasal and respiratory tract, plays an important role in preventing the entry and spread of the virus. Specifically, anti-spike IgM and anti-RBD IgA, are associated with lower viral loads in the nasopharynx, indicating that it may help limit disease severity by initiating early viral clearance (155). Additionally, a robust nasal antibody response, particularly anti-RBD IgA, has been correlated with the resolution of systemic symptoms such as fatigue, fever, headache, and joint or muscle pain (155).

Specific antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 have been detected in various mucosal tissues, including saliva, nasopharynx, bronchoalveolar lavages (BAL), and trachea (33,137,141,145,155–161). These antibodies target different regions of the spike

protein, including the NTD, RBD, FP, HR1, and HR2 regions, which are distributed throughout the S1 and S2 subunits (140). Notably, both monomeric and dimeric IgA antibodies have been found in the BAL of COVID-19 patients, suggesting different origins for mucosal antibodies (137). Dimeric IgA likely arises locally, while monomeric IgA can reach the airways through a process called transudation, which is more likely to occur in damaged lung tissue observed in severe COVID-19 cases (162,163).

The levels and dynamics of antibodies in mucosal tissues differ from those in serum, for example, the IgG/IgA ratio shows a gradient down the respiratory tract, with higher levels of IgA in saliva and higher levels of IgG in BAL (137). IgG antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 peak later and persist longer in both serum and mucosal tissues while IgM and IgA antibodies appear earlier but decline more rapidly (156). Anti-RBD IgA levels are found to be higher in saliva compared to serum at later stages of infection (137). However, the duration and levels of specific antibodies in mucosal tissues can vary depending on disease severity, with higher antibody levels observed in moderate/severe disease compared to asymptomatic/mild cases (145).

While the mucosal immune response is an essential component in the defense against SARS-CoV-2, it may not provide sufficient protection against certain variants like Omicron as reinfections are common. The specific role of antibodies during the infectious process and their ability to protect against severe disease are still subjects of ongoing research and investigation.

Antibody protective and pathological functions in COVID-19

Fc-effector functions, such as ADP, have been associated with protection against other coronaviruses or HIV. Shiakolas et al. showed that six monoclonal antibodies from SARS-CoV patients that cross-reacted with SARS-CoV-2 virus-induced ADP but not neutralization in vitro, and that this Fc-effector function was associated with milder haemorrhagic disease in animal models (164). In vivo studies of SARS-CoV-2 infection have demonstrated that the humoral immune response, including neutralizing antibodies, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), and ADP, contributes to protection (165–168). While antibody levels in the serum gradually decrease over time, neutralizing antibody titers and memory B-cell responses remain detectable and play a role in protection against reinfection (127,136,142,145,169) (**Fig. 17**). The quality of antibody effector functions correlates with their magnitude

(158), their specificity for RBD in both serum and nasal secretions (127,157), and with disease severity (170), and dysfunctions in NK cells may hinder proper ADCC in severe COVID-19 cases (143,171). Antibody effector functions other than neutralization, such as ADCC, antibody-dependent complement deposition (ADCD), and ADP, are associated with better protection. Less is known about the Fc-effector functions of antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 in mucosal tissues, and most studies to date have focused on antibody neutralization capacity. Neutralization has been observed with IgA antibodies in nasal washes and saliva of convalescent individuals, and particularly anti-RBD IgA, have been found to be more neutralizing than IgG antibodies that persist for several months postpartum, potentially providing protection to breastfed newborns. Robust neutralization and ADP were detected in nasal washes from convalescent individuals who had experienced mild or severe disease (158,173).

As the number of SARS-CoV-2 variants increases, the protective functions of antibodies have been questioned. Neutralizing antibodies elicited against one variant have reduced efficacy against other variants (140,144,173–175), however, sequential boosters with different variants can strengthen neutralizing capacity (176–178). Some monoclonal antibodies have demonstrated cross-reactivity and neutralization against the Omicron variant, indicating the potential for a broader antibody response to overcome antigenic shifts (166). Fc-effector functions can also be influenced by the presence of new variants, with some variants affecting specific functions like ADCD. Nevertheless, Fc-effector functions are less affected by new variants than neutralization suggesting that Fc-dependent effector functions may make a greater contribution to decreasing the number of severe cases after infection with a variant than neutralization alone (179).

As discussed before in the immunopathology of the COVID-19, the severe disease is characterized by a dysregulated immune response, leading to a cytokine storm that contributes to rapid disease progression and death in some patients. The exact mechanisms underlying the immune pathophysiology of COVID-19 are not fully understood, however some parts of the puzzle are being found (**Fig. 17**). Neutrophils play a crucial role in the immune response and can initiate various defense mechanisms, such as neutrophil extracellular trap formation (NETosis). In vitro

studies have shown that IgA antibodies, particularly serum IgA, can stimulate NETosis and may persist in tissues, leading to local inflammation (180–182). Patients with severe disease exhibit a rapid switch to the IgA2 isotype, which is associated with NETosis (183) and in other disease like rheumatoid arthritis (RA) have shown that differences in glycosylation patterns between IgA1 and IgA2 may contribute to the greater stimulation of NETosis by IgA2. It remains unknown whether IgA1 glycosylation patterns are modified in COVID-19 patients, but these data are potentially important, to shed light on the pathological role of IgA isotypes associated with disease severity.



Figure 17. Protective and pathological functions of SARS-CoV2 antibodies.

Anti-SARS-CoV2 antibodies can exert protective functions like neutralization, antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP) or antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). Neutralizing antibody titers are higher in severe disease patients than in mild disease patients and these antibodies are detected until one year post-symptom onset (PSO); however they decrease faster in mild disease patients. Serum from non-hospitalized patients as well as convalescent plasma from recovered patients elicit more Fc-dependent effector functions such as ADP and ADCC than serum from hospitalized patients. Pathological effects associated to antibodies in COVID-19 disease are related in part to aberrant glycosylation patterns presented in anti-SARS-CoV2 IgG in severe disease patients but not in mild disease patients. These structural modifications can trigger inflammatory process like cytokine production, immune cells infiltration in the lungs or platelet-mediated thrombosis. This new glycosylation pattern increases the antibody affinity to the C1q protein activating then the complement through the classical pathway; and increase the affinity to FcγR producing more Fc-dependent functions like neutrophil extracellular traps formation (NETosis) and ADCC that are associated to more inflammation.

Another immune response-related pathology observed in severe COVID-19 cases is small-vessel vasculitis driven by deposits of IgA-C3 immune complexes, which is known as IgA vasculitis or Henoch-Schönlein purpura (HSP) and has also been reported in children with COVID-19 (184,185). SARS-CoV-2 infection may induce the secretion of inflammatory cytokines like IL-6, affecting the glycosylation process and leading to the synthesis of galactose-deficient IgA1, which forms immune complexes in the blood (186). Complement activation, specifically through C4b and C3bc, was restricted to anti-spike protein IgG antibodies and correlated with disease severity. Patients with severe disease exhibit lower galactosylation levels in all IgG subclasses, and the binding capacity of IgG to receptors and complement components is positively correlated with disease severity (143,187). Immune complexes formed by the spike protein and anti-S IgG antibodies can induce the production of inflammatory molecules and neutrophil infiltration in the lungs. These complexes, when the IgG antibodies have aberrant glycosylation patterns, enhance platelet-mediated thrombosis. It has been observed that levels of anti-spike IgG fucosylation return to normal within a few weeks after SARS-CoV-2 infection, suggesting that higher levels of antibody-dependent inflammation occur primarily during seroconversion (188). However, early-phase spike-specific IgG antibodies in patients with severe disease can induce the production of inflammatory molecules, leading to lung damage and microvascular thrombosis. The question remains whether the observations made during infection can be applied to vaccination.

Humoral immune response to vaccination

Vaccination and natural infection can modulate the immune response to SARS-CoV-2. Individuals who have recovered from COVID-19 and subsequently received vaccination exhibit higher antibody levels and greater neutralization capacity compared to those who have not had prior infection (106,189–191). Cross-protection against new variants is conferred by vaccination in most of the cases, with evidence of a better neutralizing response and higher antibody titers in seropositive individuals (190,192–196), however, breakthrough infections can occur (197). Different hypothesis might explain these new infections even if the patient is immunized (naturally or by vaccination). In one part, the neutralizing antibodies elicited after a prior immunization are less efficient to neutralize new variants that are antigenically different (198,199). In addition, it might be an uncomplete clearance of the virus and

a further viral reactivation (200). However, a broader immune response is elicited after recurrent infections which might protect against subsequent infections due to the more specific response to the conserved epitopes between variants (101,201). Whether there will be a moment where there will not be more breakthrough infections because the immune system will be highly prepared and broadly enough to face new variants, it is still to be discovered. Nevertheless, the other HCoVs have shown that reinfections are cyclic and hard to eliminate (154). To enhance the immune response and protection against new variants, additional doses (boosters) and heterologous or multivalent vaccination strategies have been shown to be effective (176,193-196,202–204). These approaches increase the breadth of neutralization and stimulate the formation of memory B cells that target more conserved regions of the virus (203). Heterologous vaccination schedules, such as combining different vaccines, have been found to generate stronger neutralizing activity compared to homologous vaccination schedules (204). Vaccination induces structurally different antibodies compared to natural infection, resulting in effector functions that contribute to reducing the likelihood of severe disease (205,206). Vaccination elicits antibodies with increased Fc-dependent effector activity, such as engaging in FcyR pathways and complement activation, in addition to their Fab-mediated neutralization activity (173,205,207). These structural modifications enhance the ability of antibodies to reduce infection and therefore might contribute to vaccine-induced protection.

The mucosal immune response is crucial for preventing infection, as SARS-CoV-2 is a respiratory virus. It is known the compartmentalization that presents the immune system, and particularly the mucosal immune system. Intramuscular vaccines are not the best target to elicit a mucosal immune response against respiratory pathogens, however, the positive effect of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination is clear and without doubts. After vaccination, while antibody levels in the mucosa are lower compared to serum, seropositive individuals exhibit a stronger mucosal response, probably due to a recall response (108,160,171,208–210). Nevertheless, the functionality of the mucosal immune response against different variants is not yet well understood but as in serum, cross-neutralization in the mucosa is lower against variants compared to the initial strain (211). Although antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE), where antibodies facilitate infection instead of neutralizing it, has been observed in vitro (11,212–216), the evidence suggests that it is not a significant concern in vivo (217–223). In vivo

studies in nonhuman primates and humans have shown no increase in disease severity or infection rates due to ADE (219). Furthermore, the risk of severe disease is not higher in COVID-19 patients treated with convalescent plasma or in vaccinated individuals (201,221,222,224,225).

Current intramuscular vaccines primarily reinforce systemic immune responses, while the activation of existing mucosal responses in previously infected individuals is relatively weak. Therefore, there is an urgent need to improve SARS-CoV-2 vaccine design to target the mucosal immune response and achieve sterilizing immunity more effectively.

Objectives of my PhD

The role of systemic and mucosal immunity during COVID-19 pathology remains uncertain. My PhD work has been centered on the COVID-19 pandemic. Very early some studies started to describe higher levels of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies as well as a stronger neutralizing response in severe patients, compared to asymptomatic ones. These studies suggested that the immune response was not able to efficiently control the infection and that antibodies might contribute to the development of severe disease. As a respiratory virus that infects in the first instance mucosal tissues, mucosal approaches should be done in addition to systemic ones. Therefore, we wanted to study the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 in the systemic and mucosal compartments. We published an updated review article about the topic in the journal Mucosal Immunology (119). For our research, we were principally focused on the potential pathological role of antibodies, notably IgA, in COVID-19. For that, we had access to different cohorts of patients from the CHU Nord of Saint-Etienne as early as March 2020 as well as to cohorts of vaccinated individuals.

At the same time, the cytokine storm was described for COVID-19 and the pathophysiology of the disease started to be investigated. Key elements of the innate immune response like the IFN pathways were found to be dysregulated in the more severe forms of the disease avoiding the correct function of the antiviral response elicited against viral infections. However, **the role of the IFN receptors** (**IFNARs**) as **disease predictors** was not studied at that moment and we wanted to evaluate this point in our retrospective cohort of severe and mild COVID-19 patients.

The correct functioning of the mucosal immune response is very linked to the microbiota as shown for chronically inflammation disorders and some studies started to show that in severe COVID-19 patients, there is intestinal dysbiosis. As IgA plays a crucial role in the interaction microbiota-immune system and SARS-CoV-2 can replicate in the gut, we wanted to study the intestinal and lung microbiota in COVID-19 patients.

In addition, with the unprecedentedly rapid development of new vaccines, principally with the development of mRNA technology, SARS-CoV-2 vaccines were licensed

less than one year after the start of the pandemic. Therefore, **we wanted to study the immune response elicited by the vaccination**, especially comparing different immunization schemes and the protection against emerging viral variants. One question raised by the scientific community and that we wanted to address was the possible ADE effect that the vaccination could have or even the natural infection vis a vis of the new variants that were already creating new waves of infection.

Therefore, the objectives of the present work are:

- 1- To determine potential predictive factors of COVID-19 disease severity.
 - 1.1- Innate immunity markers: soluble IFNARs (sIFNARs) (Article 1: Yaugel-Novoa et al., Lancet Microbe (April 2023)).
 - 1.2- Microbiota dysbiosis and intestinal IgA in COVID-19 patients (Article 2: In preparation).
- To better understand the role of the humoral immune response in the pathophysiology of the disease.
 - **2.1-** Systemic and mucosal immune response in COVID-19 (Article 3: Submmitted).
- 3- To study the immune response against SARS-CoV-2 elicited after vaccination (Article 4: Pozzetto et al., Nature (October 2021); Article 5: Saade et al., NPJ Vaccines (April 2023); Article 6: Yaugel-Novoa et al., Vaccines (March 2023)).

Result 1: Potential predictive factors of COVID-19 disease severity.

Article 1: Innate immunity markers: soluble IFNARs (sIFNARs). (Correspondance published in The Lancet Microbe in April 2023)

As previously discussed in the introduction of this manuscript (see Pathophysiology of COVID-19), IFNs are key factors in the antiviral response but in COVID-19 severe disease there is an imbalance in this part of the innate response. Some studies have associated disease severity to the presence of autoantibodies against type I-IFN and/or IFN- ω (30,32), type I-IFN inborn errors (226–228), as well as IFNAR expression (89–91). Moreover, SARS-CoV-2 infection increases the ubiquitination of IFNAR1, thereby decreasing the cell-surface expression of this receptor in vitro (92). IFNAR2 is expressed in three isoforms, one attached to the cell membrane (IFNAR2c), and two others in a soluble form with different length (IFNAR2a and IFNAR2b) (229). The three forms can interact with type I IFN and with IFNAR1 but IFNAR2a and b cannot activate signalling (230). However, since nothing was described about the potential effect of soluble forms of the IFNARs and their association with disease severity in COVID-19, we wanted to evaluate whether they could be predictor factors of disease severity. This study was published in the journal Lancet Microbe in April 2023 (231).

Association of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 with COVID-19 severity

Type I interferons propagate and amplify the antiviral response at the start of an infection and are crucial for effective antiviral immunity. Type I interferons bind interferon alpha/beta receptors 1 (IFNAR1) and 2 (IFNAR2), which are ubiquitous, but expressed differentially depending on the cell type.¹

Interferon pathways have been identified as involved in COVID-19 and are associated with disease severity.² Genome-wide association studies, transcriptomic studies, and singlecell studies, have identified IFNAR2 as a risk factor for severe COVID-19.³ However, the correlation between serum amounts of soluble forms of IFNAR in individuals with COVID-19 at early stages of infection and COVID-19 disease severity has not been investigated.

In this Correspondence, we compared serum IFNAR1 and IFNAR 2 amounts (quantified by two commercial sandwich ELISA kits: LS-F17211 and ab264610) in 77 individuals. This study included ten individuals who were PCR-negative for SARS-CoV-2 and 67 who were PCR-positive (ten asymptomatic patients, 20 patients with mild disease, 17 hospitalised patients [not intensive care unit], and 16 patients in the intensive care unit). Written informed consent for participation was obtained from all participants and ethics approval was obtained from Comité Protection des Personnes Ile de France V (NCT04648709). All samples were collected at the time of patient inclusion in the study (days 3–7 after symptom onset).

Although we found no differences in IFNAR1 concentrations between groups separated by disease severity. IFNAR1 amounts seemed to be inversely correlated to COVID-19 severity (appendix p 1). These results are in concordance with findings from other studies that associated autosomal recessive IFNAR1 deficiency with severe COVID-19.4 By contrast, IFNAR2 concentrations were significantly higher in patients with severe COVID-19 (appendix p 1). IFNAR2 is expressed in three isoforms, two of which are soluble but cannot activate signalling after interaction with type I interferon. Therefore, the action of type I interferon might depend on the relative abundances of IFNAR2 isoforms, as suggested by Aliaga-Gaspar and colleagues in 2021.⁵The higher amounts of soluble IFNAR2 in serum observed in our study might underlie an impairment of the immune response in patients with severe COVID-19, which decreases sensitivity to interferon beta and therefore antiviral activity. Our results contrast with the genome-wide association studies or transcriptomic studies. However, these studies did not quantify the soluble IFNAR isoforms in the serum of individuals with COVID-19. Our study contributes to a better understanding of the interferon response damage during SARS-CoV-2 infection. Whether the increased serum concentrations of soluble IFNAR2 in patients with COVID-19 are due to splicing mechanisms, as is the case in patients with multiple sclerosis,⁵ remains unclear and requires further studies. We believe serum IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 concentrations in patients with COVID-19 can be used as predictors of disease severity and response to interferon treatment outcomes.

We declare no competing interests. We would like to thank the Agence Nationale de Recherches sur le Sida/Maladies infectieuses émergentes, MSD and the Agence Nationale de la Recherche for their financial support.

Copyright © 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an Open Access article under the CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 license.

Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa, Thomas Bourlet, Stéphanie Longet, Elisabeth Botelho-Nevers, *Stéphane Paul stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr

Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team GIMAP, Université Jean Monnet, Université Claude Bernard Lyon, Inserm, Saint-Etienne, France. (MY-N, TB, SL, EB-N, SP); CIC 1408 Inserm Vaccinology (EB-N, SP) and Immunology Department, iBiothera Reference Center, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne, F42055 Saint-Etienne, France (SP)

- Takaoka A. Interferons. In: Ando H, Ukena K, Nagata S, eds. Handbook of hormones: comparative endocrinology for basic and clinical research, 2nd edn. London: Elsevier, 2021: 447-52.
- 2 Bastard P, Gervais A, Le Voyer T, et al. Autoantibodies neutralizing type I IFNs are present in ~4% of uninfected individuals over 70 years old and account for ~20% of COVID-19 deaths. Sci Immunol 2021; 6: eabl4340.
- 3 Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, et al. Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in COVID-19. Nature 2021; 591: 92–98.
- 4 Zhang Q, Bastard P, Cobat A, Casanova JL. Human genetic and immunological determinants of critical COVID-19 pneumonia. *Nature* 2022; 603: 587–98.
- 5 Aliaga-Gaspar P, Hurtado-Guerrero I, Ciano-Petersen NL, et al. Soluble receptor isoform of IFN-beta (sIFNAR2) in multiple sclerosis patients and their association with the clinical response to IFN-beta treatment. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 778204.



Published Online April 4, 2023 https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2666-5247(23)00095-2

This online publication has been corrected. The corrected version first appeared at thelancet.com on April 14, 2023

See Online for appendix

THE LANCET Microbe

Supplementary appendix

This appendix formed part of the original submission. We post it as supplied by the authors.

Supplement to: Yaugel-Novoa M, Bourlet T, Longet S, Botehlo-Nevers E, Paul S. Association of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 with COVID-19 severity. *Lancet Microbe* 2023; published online April 4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(23)00095-2.

1 Appendix

2 Fig. 1. sIFNAR2 but not sIFNAR1 levels are elevated in COVID-19 severe patients

Soluble levels of A. IFNAR1 and B. IFNAR2 in the serum of COVID-19 patients (77), as
quantified by ELISA. Patients were classified into groups on the basis of disease severity:
10 individuals PCR-negative for SARS-CoV-2, 10 individuals with asymptomatic disease,
20 with mild disease, 17 hospitalized patients (not ICU), and 16 ICU patients. Statistical
comparisons were performed with GraphPad Prism 9.5.0 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA).
The statistical significance between groups was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test and
Dunn's multiple comparison test. Statistical significance was defined as p<0.05.







- **11** Materials and methods
- 12 Cohort

Seventy-seven individuals (10 PCR-negative and 67 PCR-positive for SARS-CoV-2) were
 included in prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted at CHU Nord de Saint-Etienne

15 (Saint-Etienne, France). They were divided in groups based on their disease severity at the

time of study inclusion (10 asymptomatic patients, 20 mild disease patients, 17 hospitalized
patients (not ICU), and 16 ICU patients). Blood samples were collected at the time of patient
inclusion which corresponded to three to seven days after symptom onset. Asymptomatic
patients were defined as PCR-positive patients without clinical symptoms at the beginning
of the study. Written informed consent for participation was obtained from all subjects;
ethics approval was obtained from CPP IIe de France V (NCT04648709).

22

23 IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 quantification

IFNAR1/2 serum levels were quantified by two commercial sandwich ELISA kits: IFNAR1
ELISA kit (LSbio, Ref: LS-F17211) (Range: 0.156 - 10 ng/ml; Intra-Assay: CV<5.6% Inter-
Assay: CV<9.6%), and IFNAR2 ELISA kit (abcam, Ref: ab264610) (Range: 46.875 pg/ml
- 3000 pg/ml; Intra-Assay: CV=5% Inter-Assay: CV=2.3%). Manufacturer's instructions
were followed.

29

30 Statistical analysis

All statistical calculations and graphs were performed with GraphPad Prism 9.5.0
(GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA). The statistical significance between groups was
determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test. Statistical
significance was defined as p<0.05.

35

Discussion of Article 1

In our study we demonstrated that severe COVID-19 patients had lower levels of sIFNAR1 and higher levels of sIFNAR2 in the serum, compared to asymptomatic patients. Since we measured these proteins in the serum of patients between 3-7 days after symptoms onset, we propose that they could be used as predictors of disease severity.

It could be intriguing the fact that in the same patients there are lower levels of sIFNAR1 and higher levels of sIFNAR2 in severe disease patients as they heterodimerize to form one receptor and transduce the signal. However, it is shown that in mouse tissues, the soluble and the transmembrane IFNAR2 protein might have different regulations, as both isoforms vary in expression according to the tissue (232). In addition, in multiple sclerosis patients, sIFNAR2 is increased compared to healthy donors, and it seems to be due to alternative splicing rather than proteolytic cleavage and they have a poorer response to IFN- β treatment (233). Furthermore, IFNAR1 cell surface expression depends, among others, on the posttranslational modifications as glycosylation. In some Flavivirus infections, the non-structural protein 5 (NS5) can suppress the correct glycosylation of IFNAR1 thereby interfering with IFNAR1 cell surface expression, as reviewed by Zanin et al. in 2021 (234). Autosomal recessive IFNAR1 deficiency has been also associated to disease severity (235). These evidences led us to think that in COVID-19 disease it is possible to have both factors: the suppression of IFNAR1 expression as well as high levels of sIFNAR2 in the same patients.

Our study, together with the presence of IFN autoantibodies and the inborn errors of type I IFN, contributes to a better understanding of the IFN response damage

during SARS-CoV-2 infection that explains 20% of the most severe forms of COVID-19 (32,228). However, new questions arise that might contribute to having the whole picture of the IFNAR role in the COVID-19. For example, it would be interesting to make a prospective study to see the dynamics of the sIFNAR1 and 2 levels in COVID-19 patients and if they can also be predictors of recovery or severity duration as well as the risk of developing a long COVID condition. As well, we could study if the severe patients in our cohort also presented the autosomal recessive IFNAR1 deficiency, or if the lower levels of sIFNAR1 are due to other mechanisms, like for example the increased ubiquitination of this protein induced by the SARS-CoV-2 virus (92). Moreover, as IFNAR and the IFN response are activated in viral infections, it could be interesting to see if sIFNAR1 and sIFNAR2 could also be predictors of disease severity in other viral infections like influenza, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), hepatitis or human metapneumovirus (HMPV).

Since high inflammation is associated to disease severity in COVID-19 we wanted to study other predictive factors that might contribute to this phenomenon. It is known from other disease like IBD, that microbiota plays a crucial role in the developing and maintain of the inflammatory status (71,72). In that line we wanted to study the intestinal and lung microbiota in a retrospective cohort of COVID-19 patients.

Article 2: The role of IgA in intestinal dysbiosis and inflammation in COVID-19.

(In preparation)

As discussed in the Introduction section, some studies have demonstrated a significant difference in gut microbial populations between severe and asymptomatic patients during COVID-19 disease. This gut dysbiosis could play an important role in maintaining intestinal inflammation as it has been shown for other inflammatory diseases (71,72). In addition, as described for other inflammatory intestinal situations, there may be compartmentalization of the microbiota by immunoselection mediated by secretory antibodies and in particular IgA (AMIS) (72). Our team and others have demonstrated that secretory IgA may have a role, in conjunction with secretory IgM, in the binding of certain commensal intestinal bacteria and promote their tissue translocation, particularly in Crohn's disease (71). SARS-CoV-2 infection generates gastrointestinal disorders, so being able to also study and describe the role of IgA in gut dysbiosis and inflammation in COVID-19 is crucial.

To continue our study on disease predictor factors in COVID-19, we wanted to study the intestinal microbiota in COVID-19 patients and its association with IgA antibodies. We have the stools and the BAL samples from a cohort of COVID-19 patients from March to May 2020 during the first wave in France. We have three groups of patients from the CHU Nord of Saint-Etienne (critical patients in intensive care unit (ICU); severe patients in Not-ICU services; and COVID-19 negative patients).

The workflow we are using to study the total and IgA+ microbiota is as follow: as a first step, from stool and BAL samples we separated the bacteria by subsequent

filters and centrifugation steps to phenotypically characterize the microbiota population associated to IgA using flow cytometry. We then purify the IgA+ fraction of the faecal microbiota using magnetic separation beads (MACS) (Miltenyi Inc.). The composition of the gut microbiota (total and IgA+) is evaluated by sequencing the V3-V4 region of the gene encoding the RNA of the small subunit (16S) of the bacterial ribosome. The NGS (Next Generation Sequencing) service and bioinformatic analysis was contracted to the Novogene company in United Kingdom (UK). We do not perform the separation and sequencing of the IgA+ bacteria with BAL samples as there are a smaller number of bacteria compared to stool samples, and there are needed 10⁶ bacteria to have a good sequencing step (236). However, it will be interesting to try to optimise the protocol to be able to study the IgA+ microbiota in upper respiratory mucosal samples. The results are very preliminary and not all the techniques and analysis are finished, therefore we do not include them in this manuscript. However, so far, we also see different microbiota profiles between the three groups of patients, even though there are bias like the antibiotic treatments that patients had during hospitalization that might modify the microbiota profile. Nevertheless, we need to better master the techniques of our protocol, specially we still need to do more set-ups to well perform the phenotypically characterisation by flow cytometry because we found a high % of IgA+ bacteria (>80%) in total microbiota (even in COVID-19 patients), which is no normal according to the literature and to experts in the field (237). This phenotypic characterisation is important when doing IgASeq experiments as we need to consider the probability of a specific taxa to be covered by IgA to better interpret the differences found between groups in terms of microbiota profile, as shown by Jackson et al. in 2021 (237).

In conclusion, microbiota analysis is not a trivial thing and even though there are bias that are inevitable in this type of study like population differences in daily life habits, diet, or antibiotics treatments; technical and experimental bias should be minimized as possible.

Result 2: Understanding the role of the humoral immune response in the pathophysiology of the disease.

Article 3: Systemic and mucosal immune response in COVID-19.

(Article 1: Submitted)

Several studies are nowadays published about the role of the immune response in the pathology of COVID-19 disease. However, when I started my PhD, it was the beginning of the pandemic and we rapidly saw that the immune system, notably the humoral immune response systemic and mucosal in the development of the more severe disease. We performed a retrospective cohort study with COVID-19 patients from March-May 2023 when 20A and 20C clades were the circulating ones, and no variants were described. We focused principally on the role of antibodies, and more specifically IgA as it is the most important isotype present in mucosa and their blood levels are elevated in severe disease patients compared to asymptomatic or mild patients. One of the antibody features that we wanted to explore was the FcRdependent function and for that we used an *in vitro* test that we developed using HEK293T cells expressing either the CD16 or CD89 receptor which was published in the journal Vaccines in June 2022 (see Annex 2). Additionally, we develop a collaboration with CIRI's VirPath laboratory to study the neutralizing effect and other effector functions of IgA and IgG from COVID-19 patients using a respiratory epithelium model (Mucillair model). The results of this study are submitted to the journal Science Translational Medicine.
1 Title: Dual function of IgA response during COVID-19

2

3 **Authors:** Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa¹, Blandine Noailly¹, Fabienne Jospin¹, Andrés Pizzorno^{2,3},

4 Aurélien Traversier^{2,3}, Bruno Pozzetto^{1,4}, Louis Waeckel^{1,5}, Stéphanie Longet¹, Sylvie Pillet^{1,4}

5 Elisabeth Botelho-Nevers^{1,6}, Manuel Rosa-Calatrava^{2,3}, Thomas Bourlet^{1,4}, Stéphane Paul^{1,5,7*}.

6

7 **Affiliations:**

- 8 ¹CIRI Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team GIMAP, Univ Lyon,
- 9 Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Inserm, U1111, CNRS, UMR530, CIC 1408 Vaccinology,
 F42023 Saint-Etienne, France.
- ¹¹ ²CIRI Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team VirPath, Université de Lyon,
- 12 INSERM U1111, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, CNRS, UMR5308, ENS de Lyon, 69007
- 13 Lyon, France

¹⁴ ³VirNext, Faculté de Médecine RTH Laennec, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Université

- 15 de Lyon, Lyon, France
- ⁴Infectious Agents and Hygiene Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne; F42055
 Saint-Etienne, France.
- ¹⁸ ⁵Immunology Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne; F42055 Saint-Etienne, France
- ⁶Infectious Diseases Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne; F42055 Saint-Etienne,
 France.
- ⁷CIC 1408 Inserm Vaccinology, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne; F42055 Saint-Etienne,
 France.
- ²³ *Correspondence: stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr
- 24

One Sentence Summary: Mucosal IgA antibodies are not efficient in controlling SARS-CoV-2

26 infection while systemically contributing to inflammation in severe COVID-19 patients.

27 **Abstract:** Several studies have examined the antibody response to SARS-CoV-2, with a particular focus on the systemic humoral immune response and the production of immunoglobulin G (IgG) 28 29 antibodies. IgA plays a crucial role in protecting against respiratory viral infections, but it has also 30 been associated with the pathophysiology of COVID-19. Here we conducted a retrospective study with 169 COVID-19 patients including 50 critical/severe (ICU), 47 moderates (Not-ICU), and 72 31 asymptomatic ones to explore the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 infection. Our 32 33 results show that early systemic IgA strongly induced in severe patients does not block IgG functions in terms of neutralization and it better activates the FcRs than IgG. However, despite 34 high levels of SIgA, mucosal IgA antibodies are not efficient in controlling the infection in severe 35 patients. Our study highlights the complexity of the immune response to SARS-CoV-2, with 36 elevated systemic IgA levels with highly neutralizing capacities in severe cases, as well as higher 37 IgA-FcR activation compared to asymptomatic patients, while emphasizing the need for further 38 39 research to fully understand the role of IgA and its structural alterations in mucosal tissues in severe cases and their impact on disease progression. 40

42 Main Text:

43 INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-44 CoV-2) continues to pose significant global health challenges (1). Several studies have examined 45 the antibody response to SARS-CoV-2, with a particular focus on the systemic humoral immune 46 response and the production of immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies (2-4). In addition, licensed 47 vaccines are administered intramuscularly generating a systemic immune response but a very weak 48 49 mucosal immunity, while a mucosal immune response would be more appropriate for a respiratory 50 virus like the SARS-CoV-2 (5, 6). IgA plays a crucial role in protecting against respiratory viral infections. For instance, IgA antibodies present in nasal secretions have been found to effectively 51 52 neutralize respiratory viruses, such as influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) (7, 8). 53 Recent studies have shown that IgA antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 can be detected in the saliva, 54 tears, and nasal secretions of infected individuals, suggesting that they may play a role in 55 preventing the transmission of the virus through these routes, however, they wane after 9 months of hospitalization and are not induced by subsequent vaccination (6, 9-12). Moreover, patients 56 57 with selective IgA deficiency (sIgAD) have been shown to have a higher SARS-COV-2 infection rate compared to non-sIgAD patients, and a higher rate of developing severe COVID-19 disease 58 (13, 14). However, IgA has also been associated with pathophysiology in COVID-19. Persistent 59 spike-specific IgA response in BAL samples in the later stages of the infection has been correlated 60 61 to non-survival patients (15). Furthermore, IgA-virus immunocomplexes (ICs) potentiate the programmed cell-death pathway through which neutrophils release neutrophil extracellular traps 62 63 (NETosis), via Fc-αRI engagement (16). While IgG aberrant glycosylation patterns are associated with a lack of FcR-dependent functions in severe COVID-19 patients and therefore a more 64

65 inflammatory immune response (17–19), FcR-dependent functions for IgA and their contribution
66 to pathological effects in COVID-19 disease are poorly understood.

In this study, we aimed to investigate mucosal and systemic humoral immunity in a cohort of COVID-19 patients and shed light on the specific role of IgA and IgG antibodies in disease severity. Thus, we sought to explore the dynamics and functionality of IgA and IgG antibodies in severe COVID-19 patients compared to those with milder symptoms or who remained asymptomatic.

73 **RESULTS**

74 Early and high levels of systemic IgA are associated to severe COVID-19

Here we conducted a retrospective study with 169 COVID-19 consenting patients including 50 75 critical/severe (hospitalized in an Intensive Care Unit (ICU)), 47 mild/moderate (hospitalized in 76 Not-ICU services), and 72 asymptomatic ones (see cohort description in Materials and Methods 77 section) to explore the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 infection. We first 78 79 measured the total IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4, IgA, and IgM antibody levels in serum using a Bio-80 Plex immunoassay (BioRad Inc.) (Fig. 1A). During the first 10 days post-symptoms onset there 81 were no differences in the antibody levels between ICU and Not-ICU patients which means that at early stages of the disease, total antibody levels are not a differentiating marker between the 82 83 more severe group of patients. However, from 10 days post-symptoms onset, there were higher 84 levels of IgA in the serum of ICU patients compared to Not-ICU or asymptomatic patients [ICU: 85 2.033 g/L vs Not-ICU: 0.8357 g/L (p<0.0001); vs asymptomatic: 0.5520 g/L (p<0.0001)]. These 86 differences were maintained after 40 days post-symptoms onset where IgA levels were lower even though still statistically higher in the ICU patients [ICU: 1.625 g/L vs Not-ICU: 0.3000 g/L 87 (p=0.0420); vs asymptomatic: 0.5222 g/L (p=0.0036)]. These results suggest that IgA is induced 88 earlier than other isotypes in the more severe patients and that IgA dominates SARS-CoV-2 89 specific humoral response in severe patients. 90

Therefore, we next studied the kinetics of SARS-CoV-2 specific antibody response recognizing the Spike 1 subunit (S1), the Receptor-binding domain (RBD), the S1 mutated D614G, (S1-D614G), the Nucleocapsid (N), the Spike 2 subunit (S2), and the polyprotein before cleavage (SEM), in the serum of the same cohort of patients (**Fig. 1B**). For all targeted antigens, higher IgA and IgG responses were systematically observed in severe patients. This pattern is more evident against all the S1 antigens (S1, RBD, and S1D614G), confirming the highest immunogenicity of
the Spike protein. Both IgA and IgG response in ICU patients increase until 40 post-symptoms
onset and decay after, whereas for Not-ICU patients the peak is achieved around day 30 postsymptoms onset. This suggests that the specific SARS-CoV-2 antibody response in the more
severe patients is stronger and longer in time compared to less severe patients.

101 Early systemic IgA strongly induced in ICU patients does not block IgG functions

To investigate the functionality of the humoral immune response elicited during the infection we first study the neutralizing activity of antibodies. We assessed neutralizing activity against the Wuhan strain with a live virus neutralization *in vitro* test. ICU patients neutralized the virus even at the last tested dilution (1:1280), while asymptomatic patients started losing the neutralization by the 1:320 dilutions (**Fig. 2A**).

Secondly, we wondered whether IgA and IgG contributed equally to the neutralizing activity in the different groups of patients. To this end, we assessed if IgA could block IgG functions by competition. To address this question, we used agarose beads coupled to Protein A to deplete total IgA antibodies from the serum of 9 ICU patients and 12 asymptomatic patients. IgA depletion was achieved at more than 95% of efficacy for all the samples. Neutralizing activity of IgA-depleted and not depleted serum was evaluated with the same live virus neutralization assay as previously. We found no significant differences between ICU and asymptomatic patients before and after IgA

To better understand the respective contributions of IgA and IgG to SARS-CoV-2 neutralization, we purified IgA and IgG from the sera of 10 patients (5 ICU and 5 asymptomatic patients) by affinity chromatography using Protein A-coupled beads or Protein G-coupled beads respectively. Purified antibodies were obtained with more than 98% of purity and IgG or IgA residuals were

depletion, suggesting that IgA is not blocking the potential IgG-neutralizing effect (Fig. 2B).

checked systematically. We tested the neutralization potential of the purified antibodies at 10 119 µg/mL in the same *in vitro* neutralization test as previously. There were no statistically significant 120 differences between the IgA neutralization activity of ICU patients compared to asymptomatic 121 ones (Fig. 2C). However, purified IgG from ICU patients neutralized less (13% inhibition) than 122 IgG from asymptomatic patients (42% inhibition) with statistically significant differences, 123 124 suggesting a loss of neutralizing function of IgG in the more severe patients. When purified IgA and IgG were mixed, there were no significant differences in neutralization between ICU and 125 asymptomatic patients, indicating that the loss of function of IgG does not affect the overall 126 neutralization and that there is no competition or blocking effect between IgA and IgG. We then 127 evaluated the neutralizing activity of purified IgA and IgG in the highly predictive and 128 physiologically relevant MucilAirTM reconstituted human airway epithelium (HAE) model (Fig. 129 **2D**). Preincubation of SARS-CoV-2 with 2.5-10 ng/mL of purified IgA from severe patients 130 resulted in complete viral neutralization in 4/5 samples and in partial neutralization, meaning a >2 131 132 log10 reduction in viral titers in the first 48h but with still measurable viral replication, in the remaining sample. Conversely, higher levels of purified IgG from severe patients were needed to 133 achieve 1/5 complete and 2/5 partial neutralization. Complete and partial neutralization were 134 135 respectively 1/5 and 4/5 for purified IgA from asymptomatic patients and IgG only achieved partial neutralization in 2/5 samples. Overall, neutralizing Ig concentrations from severe patients were 136 137 lower for IgA vs IgG, and for Ig from severe vs asymptomatic patients. (9)

To study the Fc receptor potential or ADCC-like functions of IgA and IgG from patients' sera, we used a previously described *in vitro* test that uses HEK expressing either CD16 or CD89 as effector cells (20). We observed that IgA from ICU patients was more efficient to produce an FcRdependent signal than IgA from asymptomatic patients (mean relative FcR activation fold change: 33 vs 15; P<0.01). The inverse was observed for IgG (mean relative FcR activation fold change: 143 16 *vs* 30; P<0.05), suggesting again a loss of function for IgG in the sera of severe patients and a 144 gain of functions for IgA when compared to asymptomatic patients (**Fig 2E**).

145 Mucosal IgA antibodies are not efficient in controlling infection in severe patients

As SARS-CoV-2 is a respiratory virus, we wanted to study the humoral immune response in the 146 mucosa. To this purpose, we compared anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA and IgG responses in nasal swabs 147 and bronchoalveolar lavages (BAL) obtained from the same patients and normalized with the total 148 149 IgA or IgG antibody concentration in each sample. ICU patients had a higher anti-SARS-CoV-2 150 S1 IgG response in nasal swabs compared to Not-ICU (relative antibody concentration mean ranks: 151 58.34 vs 40.84; p < 0.05) or asymptomatic patients (relative antibody concentration mean ranks: 58.34 vs 27.99; p<0.0001) (Fig. 3A). ICU patients also had a higher nasal S1 IgA response but 152 153 only compared to asymptomatic patients (relative antibody concentration mean ranks: 55.83 vs 154 30.25; p<0.001) (Fig. 3A). In BAL samples statistically significant differences were only found 155 between ICU and COVID-19(-) patients for IgA (relative antibody concentration mean ranks: 156 35.30 vs 18.45; p<0.05) and IgG (relative antibody concentration mean ranks: 34.14 vs 17.33; p<0.01) (**Fig. 3G**). 157

Then we compared the level of anti-spike specific secretory IgA (SIgA) using a newly developed 158 159 assay between the three groups of patients. In both mucosal compartments (nasal swabs and BAL), 160 we found higher levels of SIgA in ICU patients compared to Not-ICU or asymptomatic patients ([nasal swabs mean ranks: ICU: 27.36; Not-ICU: 26.92; Asymptomatic: 16.10] and [BAL mean 161 ranks: ICU: 22.16; Not-ICU: 11.11; COVID-19 (-): 8.000]), and the differences were statistically 162 significant (Fig. 3B and Fig. 3H). Surprisingly, we did not find any neutralizing activity either in 163 nasal swabs or in BAL samples for any of the groups (Fig. 3C and Fig. 3I). In addition, as IgA2 164 is the most predominant IgA isotype in mucosa, we wanted to compare the levels of IgA1 and 165

IgA2 specific to SARS-CoV-2 between groups in nasal swabs (Fig. 3D and Fig. 3E) and in BAL 166 (Fig. 3J and Fig. 3K) to see if there could be a disbalance in the levels of IgA isotypes in COVID-167 168 19 patients. We observed that in nasal swabs from ICU patients, there were higher levels of anti-S1 IgA1 than in nasal swabs from Not-ICU patients and these differences were statistically 169 significant (nasal swabs mean ranks: ICU: 21.60; Not-ICU: 12.36; P<0.0339) (Fig. 3D). In BAL 170 171 samples we did not find any statistically significant difference between groups (Fig. 3E). However, when comparing anti-S1 IgA2 we did find statistically significant differences between nasal swabs 172 from ICU patients and asymptomatic patients but not with Not-ICU patients (nasal swabs mean 173 ranks: ICU: 10.10; Not-ICU: 16.09; asymptomatic patients: 21.80; ICU vs. Asymptomatic: 174 P < 0.0339) (Fig. 3J). In BAL samples there were statistically significant differences between Not-175 ICU patients and COVID-19 (-) patients (BAL mean ranks: Not-ICU: 28.55; COVID-19 (-) 176 patients: 8.714; P < 0.0009) (Fig. 3K). Even though there were no differences between ICU and 177 Not-ICU patients, there is a trend to lower levels of anti-S1 IgA2 in more severe patients, which 178 179 suggests that the local immune response is deficient in ICU patients. IgA in mucosal tissues is found to be polymeric and monomeric IgA in mucosal tissues might not correctly protect against 180 viral infections (21), thus we wondered if the structure of the IgA found in the mucosal samples 181 182 of our study was altered. In nasal swabs, monomers, as well as dimers, were detected in all three groups (Fig. 3F). However, monomer concentrations were significantly higher in the BAL from 183 184 ICU patients. Such a difference was not observed in BAL from Not-ICU patients (Fig. 3L).

185 **DISCUSSION**

186

Here we studied the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 in a cohort of patients from the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in France in 2020. We found a significant elevation in systemic IgA levels among ICU patients compared to non-ICU or asymptomatic patients, and this response is found to be more robust and enduring in severe COVID-19 cases. This response is

found to be polyreactive and specific to S1, RBD, S2, and N SARS-CoV-2 proteins as previously 191 192 described (4, 15). These findings corroborate previous studies indicating a more pronounced and 193 persistent antibody response in severe COVID-19 patients explained, at least in part, by the persistence of SARS-CoV-2 proteins and mRNA in the small intestine epithelium even months 194 after the infection (22-24). In addition, high levels of IgA at the early stage of the disease (10-15) 195 196 days post-symptoms) were already observed in a previous study, where CCR10⁺ plasmablasts circulating at this stage of the disease, secret predominantly IgA (9). Such observations suggest 197 that systemic anti-spike IgA could potentially serve as an early indicator of disease severity and 198 play a pivotal role in the immune response against SARS-CoV-2. 199

200 When studying the functionality of the IgA and IgG response in COVID-19 patients, higher 201 neutralization activities were observed in severe patients. This result confirmed those reported before (25, 26) showing that sera from severe patients better neutralized the infection in vitro 202 compared to asymptomatic patients. However, when comparing the individual contribution, 203 204 contrary to previous research (27), we did not find differences in neutralization before and after IgA depletion. This difference might be due to the methods employed to evaluate viral 205 206 neutralization. When Davis et al. used an RBD-ACE2 binding inhibition multiplex bead-based assay, we used an *in vitro* neutralization test which is closer to real-life conditions and therefore a 207 more complex system that not only depends on the RBD-ACE2 binding inhibition. Nevertheless, 208 209 consistent with prior research (9), our study found that purified IgA from sera of severe patients exhibited higher neutralization potential, particularly in a more physiological model using lung 210 211 epitheliums, compared to IgA from asymptomatic patients. In addition, a loss of neutralizing activity of purified IgG from severe patients when compared to asymptomatic patients was 212 observed. This result is consistent with others that described a loss of function for IgG in severe 213 COVID-19 patients associated with a defect of neutralization activity (9, 17). Importantly, there 214

was no evidence of IgA blocking the neutralizing effect of IgG as observed in other infections like
HIV (28). These results suggest, as proposed by other studies, that neutralizing IgA activity could
play a critical role during the acute phase of the infection (29).

218 FcR-dependent functions can also play a role in controlling disease and promoting a robust immune response. In our study, we observed a loss of CD16-dependent function in IgG from 219 severe patients compared to asymptomatic patients. These findings contradict other studies that 220 221 have reported increased FcR activation in IgG from severe patients, and they have associated the afucosylation of IgG with enhanced FcR affinity in severe patients (17, 30). Whether the observed 222 loss of function in our study is due to receptor affinity or structural differences between IgG from 223 224 severe and asymptomatic patients requires further investigation. We also found higher CD89-225 dependent activity in severe patients than in asymptomatic ones. However, in another study, antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP) was not affected after IgA depletion suggesting that IgA 226 contributes to neutralization but is not efficient in activating some FcR-dependent functions (27). 227 228 In contrast, our study is in line with evidence that showed higher NETosis triggered by IgA in severe disease patients (31, 32). Moreover, IgA could also be structurally modified in severe 229 230 patients leading to an increase in FcR-dependent function. Taken together, our results show higher neutralization for systemic IgA than IgG, especially in severe disease patients, and higher IgA-231 232 FcR activation in severe patients than in asymptomatic patients. However, this uncontrolled IgA activation and the compromised functionality of IgG antibodies in the early phase of the disease 233 could exacerbate the inflammatory response and contribute to the severity of the disease as it has 234 235 been widely described (17, 33).

We also investigated mucosal immune responses, specifically in nasal swabs and BAL samples. Consistent with previous studies (*34–36*), we observed higher levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA and IgG in nasal swabs and BAL of ICU patients compared to asymptomatic or COVID-19 free

patients, indicating a more robust immune response in severe cases. However, the lack of 239 neutralizing activity in both nasal swabs and BAL samples across all patient groups contradicts 240 241 findings from other studies, which have reported neutralizing activity in mucosal samples (9, 37, 38). Those studies evaluated SARS-CoV-2 neutralization using a pseudovirus in vitro test. 242 However, despite the advantages of this type of test (39), it only focuses on the Spike protein from 243 244 SARS-CoV-2, which does not provide a complete picture as in a live virus neutralization test, as we used. Ruiz, et al. reported a loss of neutralizing activity in BAL from non-survivors at later 245 stages of COVID-19 despite the persistent levels of S1-, RBD-, S2-, and NP-specific IgG and S1-246 specific IgA once SARS-CoV-2 was cleared from the lungs (15). This might suggest that the high 247 IgA levels found in our study, even though not-neutralizing, could activate FcR-dependent 248 functions as has been suggested by Ruiz, et al. via the formation of IgA immunocomplexes (ICs) 249 (15). Furthermore, in our study, we detected higher levels of sIgA in severe patients compared to 250 COVID-19 free patients which might promote human lung inflammation and fibrosis by inducing 251 252 fibroblast activation and enhancing the production of inflammatory cytokines (40). IgA present in mucosal tissues is mostly dimeric and it is produced locally, but plasma monomeric IgA can reach 253 the airways through a receptor-independent process called transudation (41, 42). This process is 254 255 more likely to occur in damaged lung tissue, as observed in patients with severe COVID-19. In our study, we found IgA monomers and dimers in mucosal secretions, especially more monomers 256 257 than dimers in BAL from severe disease patients, which is consistent with the previous study of 258 Sterlin et. al (9). As we found more IgA-dependent FcR activation in serum from severe patients, 259 if IgA monomers found in mucosal tissues are transudate from the serum, we might expect more FcR functions in mucosal tissues and therefore more inflammation. Moreover, mIgA1 has been 260 described to activate cytotoxic CD8+ T cells (43), and an aberrant glycosylation profile increase 261 their pro-inflammatory effect which is associated to higher disease severity in autoimmunity (44, 262

45). If IgA has an aberrant glycosylation pattern in COVID-19 as it is described for IgG, remainsto be fully studied.

Our results suggest that the mucosal antibody response, at least in terms of neutralization, may not be as efficient in controlling the infection as previously thought, and that FcR-dependent function might contribute to the pathophysiology of the disease in the upper and lower respiratory tract. Our discrepancies and contrasting findings highlight the complexity of the mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and suggest that there may be variations in the immune profiles of different patient populations.

271 Our study has several limitations as it is a retrospective study at the time of the Wuhan SARS-CoV-2 strain circulation. The timing of the samples used in this study is not long enough to fully 272 273 characterize the duration of the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 infection. In 274 addition, the low levels of IgA and IgG antibodies found in the serum of asymptomatic patients 275 did not allow us to restrain the quantitative exploration of all the functions as well as structural 276 properties of SARS-CoV-2 specific antibodies in our cohort of patients. Moreover, it remains to be determined whether the antibody response found in mucosal secretions contributes to the 277 pathology of COVID-19 disease via the FcR-functions. 278

In conclusion, our study highlights the complex and varied immune response to SARS-CoV-2, with elevated systemic IgA levels with highly neutralizing capacities in severe cases, as well as higher IgA-FcR activation for IgA compared to asymptomatic patients. However, contradictory findings regarding neutralization and FcR-dependent functions in mucosal tissues emphasize the need for further research to fully understand the role of IgA and its structural alterations in severe cases and their impact on disease progression.

285 MATERIALS AND METHODS

286 Study design

287 169 PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2-infected patients were included in a retrospective cohort study conducted at CHU Nord de Saint-Etienne (Saint-Etienne, France) during the first wave of SARS-288 CoV-2 infections in France (from February 2020 to May 2020). COVID-19 patients were split into 289 290 three groups according to the WHO classifications of disease severity (46): 72 patients with mild or asymptomatic disease, 47 patients who were hospitalized but not required admission to ICU, 291 and 50 patients with severe disease requiring admission to the ICU. Serum samples were collected 292 between 1- and 67 days post-symptom onset. Nasal swabs were collected at the moment of the 293 first PCR for SARS-CoV-2 infection confirmation. Bronchoalveolar lavages were collected 294 whenever it was possible for hospitalized patients (ICU and Not-ICU) as well as for 16 PCR-295 negative SARS-CoV-2 patients, sampled before the pandemic. Written informed consent for 296 participation was obtained from all subjects; ethics approval was obtained from CPP Ile de France 297 298 V (NCT04648709).

299

300 Cells

VeroE6 cell lines were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), CRL-1586, (not
authenticated but regularly tested for mycoplasma contamination). HEK CD89⁺ and HEK CD16⁺
cell lines were obtained from InvivoGen and used as effector cell lines for the FcR activation assay.
All cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) growth medium
containing antibiotic-antimycotic (AAT) and supplemented with 2% SVF (for VeroE6 cells) or
10% SVF (for HEK CD89⁺ and HEK CD16⁺ cells). Cells were harvested using trypsin/EDTA
solution. All cell lines were maintained at 37°C in humidified air containing 5% CO₂.

HEK-CD89⁺ (FcαRI) and HEK-CD16⁺ (FcγRIIIa) cell lines were obtained from InvivoGen and previously described (20). All cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FCS and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (AAT). Cells were harvested with trypsin/EDTA solution and the stable expression of FcR was checked by flow cytometry before each experiment. All cell lines were maintained at 37°C, in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂.

314

315 Quantification of total immunoglobulins

Serum samples were tested using the Bio-Plex Pro Human Isotyping Panel assay (Bio-Rad 316 Laboratories, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 µL of diluted 317 beads were added to each well, and plates were washed with Bio-Plex wash buffer. Standards, 318 blanks, controls, and samples were added in the indicated dilutions, following an incubation step 319 at 25°C for 1h. Another washing step was performed, and detection antibodies were added for 320 321 30min at 25°C in the dark. Plates were washed and the streptavidin-PE diluted 1X was added and incubated for 10min at 25°C in the dark. A final washing step was carried out and beads were 322 resuspended in 125 µL of assay buffer. Plates were read in a Bio-Plex Luminex 200 system. Results 323 324 were expressed in g/L.

325

326 Measurement of Spike-specific IgA

The IgA binding to SARS-CoV-2 Spike was evaluated using ELISAs. In brief, a Spike protein solution (1 μ g/ml; #40591-V08H Spike S1-RBD Sino Biologicals) was coated onto high binding 96-half-well plates (ThermoFisher) overnight at 4°C. After washing and blocking, serum samples were added and incubated for 1h at 37°C. The plates were washed and then incubated with an anti-

human IgA (A0295; Sigma-Aldrich) or IgG (A6029; Sigma-Aldrich) secondary Ab conjugated to

horseradish peroxidase (HRP). After the addition of the HRP substrate (3,3',5,5"-332 tetramethylbenzidine (TMB; 34021; Thermo Fisher Scientific)) and stop solution (1 M HCl), 333 optical density units were measured at 450 nm in a microplate reader (TECAN). For serum 334 samples, a ratio of OD was calculated between each sample and a negative control (pool of pre-335 pandemic serum samples) that was added in duplicate to each run. For nasal swabs and BAL 336 337 samples, the IgA and IgG equivalent content was calculated using a calibration curve with a recombinant anti-RBD IgA (B Cell Design #IB3C4 PV) or anti-RBD IgG (B Cell Design # 338 339 X30F12-PU), and the limit of detection was 0.1 ng/ml Equivalent.

340

341 IgA depletion and immunoglobulins purification

IgA depletion was performed in 21 sera (9 ICU patients and 12 asymptomatic patients). For that, 100 μ L of serum were diluted in 1× PBS and mixed with 100 μ L of peptide M/agarose column (InvivoGen) after resin equilibration. Depleted IgA plasma fractions were collected by spinning the resin at 1000 g for 1 min after 1h of incubation at 25°C. Purified IgA was eluted with 0.1 M glycine (pH 2 to 3; Sigma-Aldrich), and pH was immediately neutralized with 1 M Tris.

To increase the amount of purified immunoglobulins (Igs) we diluted in $1 \times PBS$ 500 µL of serum 347 and passed it through a double chromatography system as follows: first, diluted serum was loaded 348 349 onto protein G/agarose column (InvivoGen) after equilibration. The flowthrough was collected and passed to a second column filled with peptide M/agarose (InvivoGen) to obtain the purified 350 IgA. IgA and IgG were eluted using 0.1 M glycine (pH 2 to 3; Sigma-Aldrich), and the pH was 351 immediately adjusted to 7.5 with 1 M Tris. PBS buffer exchange was performed using Amicon 352 Ultra centrifugal filters (Merck Millipore) through a 50 kDa membrane according to the 353 manufacturer's instructions. All chromatography steps were carried out at a flow rate of 0.5 354

ml/min. The purity of IgG and IgA fractions was evaluated using ELISA. There were less than 1%
 of undesirable isotypes in the purified Ig.

357

358 Live virus SARS-CoV-2 neutralization assays in Vero E6 cells

To detect and measure neutralizing antibodies, a plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT) was 359 360 employed. First, each serum specimen was diluted 10-fold in a culture medium and heated for 30 minutes at 56°C to prevent complement-mediated reduction of viral activity. Then, 2-fold serial 361 dilutions of each serum were mixed in equal volumes with the live SARS-CoV-2 virus (strain: 362 19A (B.38)), followed by 1h of incubation at 37°C. The mixture was then transferred to 96-well 363 microplates covered with Vero E6 cells reaching a viral concentration of 100 TCID50/well and 364 incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. The microplates were microscopically evaluated 5 365 days later and wells with the presence of cytopathic effect were compatibilized. Viral 366 quantification was performed in the supernatant by RT-PCR as described before (47) and used to 367 368 calculate the % of infection inhibition. For nasal swabs and BAL samples, the same protocol was used except that nasal swabs were first diluted at 1:5, and BAL at 1:10 in the culture medium, and 369 the neutralizing titer was determined as the last sample dilution that infected 50% of the wells. For 370 371 IgA depletion, the IC50 was calculated using GraphPad Prism 10.0.1 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA). All experiments were performed in a biosafety level 3 laboratory. 372

373

374 Live virus SARS-CoV-2 neutralization assays in HAE

To evaluate the neutralization capacity of purified IgA and IgG from patients, we mixed 75 μ L of

each Ig sample (final concentrations of 2.5, 5, and 10 ng/mL) with 75 μ L of a Wuhan-like 19A

377 SARS-CoV-2 virus (GISAID accession number: EPI_ISL_411218; 19A (B)) at a MOI of 0.01.

After incubation for 1h at 37 °C, the 150 µL-mix was inoculated on the apical side of MucilAirTM 378 nasal HAE (Epithelix SARL, ref: EP02, pool ref: MP0010) maintained in the air-liquid interphase 379 and incubated for 1h at 37°C and 5% CO2. The apical poles of HAE were gently washed twice 380 with warm OptiMEM (1X) medium (GIBCO BRL, ref. 31985-047) prior to inoculation. Samples 381 were tested in duplicate and recombinant anti-Spike and non-SARS-CoV-2 specific IgA/G were 382 383 used as positive and negative controls, respectively. One-hour post-inoculation (hpi), the virus-Ig mix was removed, and the HAE put back in the incubator. Twenty-four hpi, the apical poles of 384 HAE were washed with warm OptiMEM, which was then collected for quantification of viral 385 nsp14 gene copies (RT-qPCR) as previously described (48). This step was repeated at 48 and 72 386 hpi. 387

388

389 SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR for viral amplification

The amount of SARS-CoV-2 in the culture supernatant was measured using RT-PCR without the 390 391 need for nucleic acid extraction. The Luna Universal Probe One-Step RT-qPCR Kit from New England Biolabs (Ref. E3006L) (49) was used for this purpose. To perform the test, 5 µL of 392 supernatant were diluted 1/10 with DNase-free and RNase-free water and mixed with the reaction 393 solution to obtain a total volume of 14 µL. The reaction solution contained 5 µL Luna® Universal 394 395 Probe One-Step Reaction Mix, 0.5 µL Luna® WarmStart® RT Enzyme Mix and 1.5 µL of a 396 mixture of primers at 400 nM (E_Sarbeco_F: ACAGGTACGTTAATAGTTAATAGCGT and E_Sarbeco_R: ATATTGCAGCAGTACGCACACA) and the probe at a concentration of 200 nM 397 398 (E_Sarbeco_P1: FAM-ACACTAGCCATCCTTACTGCGCTTCG-BBQ) (50). The RT-PCR was initiated with a reverse transcription step at 55°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation 399 at 95°C for 10s and annealing at 60°C for 60s. A viral standard curve was generated for each 400 analysis. 401

402

403 SARS-CoV2 specific FcR activation assay

SARS-CoV-2 specific FcR activation assay was performed as previously described (20) with the following modification: SARS-CoV-2 infected VeroE6 cells were used as target cells that were incubated with the patient's serums diluted at 1:100. Effector cells expressing Fc receptor (HEK-CD16⁺ or HEK-CD89⁺) were co-cultured with the target cells at a 1:1 effector/target ratio for 48h at 37°C. Alkaline phosphatase was measured in the culture supernatant using Quantiblue (InvivoGen) at 620nm. FcR activation was calculated as follows: (OD620nm sample/ OD620nm pre-pandemic pool serum) and normalized to the anti-S1 antibody concentration for each sample.

411

412 Immunoblotting

Nasal swabs and BALs were centrifuged at 200g for 5min, and total protein concentrations were 413 414 determined using a Bradford assay. Samples were diluted in deionized water and then in NuPAGE 415 LDS Sample buffer 4X (Ref: NP0008, ThermoFisher Scientific) to achieve a final amount of 20 µg of total proteins to load onto the gel. Samples were then heated at 70°C for 10 min. Proteins 416 417 were separated using 4 to 12% Bis-Tris polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Ref: NW04125BOX, ThermoFisher Scientific) for 45 min at 200 V and then transferred to nitrocellulose for Western 418 blot analysis. After 16h of membrane blocking with 1× PBS with 5% nonfat milk, human IgA and 419 chain J were detected with an anti-IgA-PerCPVio700 (Ref: 130-116-885 Miltenyi) used at a 420 1:2000 dilution and an anti-chainJ-AF488 (Ref: sc-133177 AF488, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, 421 INC) used at 1:2000 dilution, respectively, for 1h at 25°C. Fluorescence was visualized with a 422 423 camera system (iBright 1500, ThermoFisher Scientific). All incubations were in 1× PBS with 5% nonfat milk, and wash steps used $1 \times PBS$ with 0.1% Tween 20. 424

426 Statistical analysis

- 427 Statistical significances were calculated using a two-way ANOVA with Tukey or Sidak correction
- for multiple comparisons depending on the data set. The non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis was
- also used with Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons. Significant *P* values are indicated as
- 430 described: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, and ****P < 0.0001. All statistical calculations
- 431 and graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism 10.0.1 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA).
- 432

433 **REFERENCES AND NOTES**

- 434 1. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard | WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard With Vaccination Data
- 435 (available at https://covid19.who.int/).
- 436 2. C. Cervia, J. Nilsson, Y. Zurbuchen, A. Valaperti, J. Schreiner, A. Wolfensberger, M. E. Raeber, S. Adamo, S.
- 437 Weigang, M. Emmenegger, S. Hasler, P. P. Bosshard, E. De Cecco, E. Bächli, A. Rudiger, M. Stüssi-Helbling, L. C.
- 438 Huber, A. S. Zinkernagel, D. J. Schaer, A. Aguzzi, G. Kochs, U. Held, E. Probst-Müller, S. K. Rampini, O. Boyman,
- 439 Systemic and mucosal antibody responses specific to SARS-CoV-2 during mild versus severe COVID-19. *Journal* 440 *of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* (2020), doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2020.10.040.
- 440 *of Allergy and Cliffical Immunology* (2020), doi:10.1010/j.jaci.2020.10.040.
 441 3. F. Fuentes-Villalobos, J. L. Garrido, M. A. Medina, N. Zambrano, N. Ross, F. Bravo, A. Gaete-Argel, A.
- 442 Oyarzún-Arrau, F. Amanat, R. Soto-Rifo, F. Valiente-Echeverría, R. Ocampo, C. Esveile, L. Ferreira, J. Cabrera, V.
- 443 Torres, M. L. Rioseco, R. Riquelme, S. Barría, R. Alvarez, Y. Pinos, F. Krammer, M. Calvo, M. I. Barria, Sustained
- 444 Antibody-Dependent NK Cell Functions in Mild COVID-19 Outpatients During Convalescence. *Front Immunol* 13
- 445 (2022), doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2022.796481/FULL.
- 446 4. S. Havervall, A. J. Falk, J. Klingström, H. Ng, N. Greilert-Norin, L. Gabrielsson, A. C. Salomonsson, E. Isaksson,
- 447 A. S. Rudberg, C. Hellström, E. Andersson, J. Olofsson, L. Skoglund, J. Yousef, E. Pin, W. Christ, M. Olausson, M.
- 448 Hedhammar, H. Tegel, S. Mangsbo, M. Phillipson, A. Månberg, S. Hober, P. Nilsson, C. Thålin, SARS-CoV-2
- induces a durable and antigen specific humoral immunity after asymptomatic to mild COVID-19 infection. *PLoS One* 17 (2022), doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0262169.
- 451 5. L. Azzi, D. Dalla Gasperina, G. Veronesi, M. Shallak, G. Ietto, D. Iovino, A. Baj, F. Gianfagna, V. Maurino, D.
- 452 Focosi, F. Maggi, M. M. Ferrario, F. Dentali, G. Carcano, A. Tagliabue, L. S. Maffioli, R. S. Accolla, G. Forlani,
- 453 Mucosal immune response in BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine recipients. *EBioMedicine* **75** (2022),
- 454 doi:10.1016/J.EBIOM.2021.103788.
- 455 6. S. Havervall, U. Marking, J. Svensson, N. Greilert-Norin, P. Bacchus, P. Nilsson, S. Hober, M. Gordon, K. Blom,
- J. Klingström, M. Åberg, A. Smed-Sörensen, C. Thålin, Anti-Spike Mucosal IgA Protection against SARS-CoV-2
- 457 Omicron Infection. *N Engl J Med* **387**, 1333–1336 (2022).
- 458 7. E. A. Van Erp, W. Luytjes, G. Ferwerda, P. B. Van Kasteren, Fc-Mediated Antibody Effector Functions During
- 459 Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection and Disease. *Front Immunol* **10**, 548 (2019).
- 460 8. V. M. W. Gould, J. N. Francis, K. J. Anderson, B. Georges, A. V. Cope, J. S. Tregoning, Nasal IgA provides
- 461 protection against human influenza challenge in volunteers with low serum influenza antibody titre. *Front Microbiol*462 8, 900 (2017).
- 463 9. D. Sterlin, A. Mathian, M. Miyara, A. Mohr, F. Anna, L. Claër, P. Quentric, J. Fadlallah, H. Devilliers, P.
- 464 Ghillani, C. Gunn, R. Hockett, S. Mudumba, A. Guihot, C.-E. Luyt, J. Mayaux, A. Beurton, S. Fourati, T. Bruel, O.
- 465 Schwartz, J.-M. Lacorte, H. Yssel, C. Parizot, K. Dorgham, P. Charneau, Z. Amoura, G. Gorochov, IgA dominates
- the early neutralizing antibody response to SARS-CoV-2. Sci Transl Med 13 (2021),
- 467 doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.abd2223.
- 468 10. A. H, B. S, H. C, A. S, O. A, L. K, B. G, H. K, T. G, D. P. P, H. S, M. A, N. P, P. E, S. C. M, Persisting Salivary
- 469 IgG Against SARS-CoV-2 at 9 Months After Mild COVID-19: A Complementary Approach to Population Surveys.
- 470 J Infect Dis 224 (2021), doi:10.1093/INFDIS/JIAB256.

- 471 11. N. Guemes-Villahoz, B. Burgos-Blasco, P. L. Echevarria-Torres, B. Vidal-Villegas, A. Rodriguez de la Peña, D.
- 472 Diaz-Valle, J. I. Fernández-Vigo, S. Sánchez-Ramón, J. Garcia-Feijoo, Detection of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in
- 473 tears: Ocular surface immunity to COVID-19. Arch Soc Esp Oftalmol (2023), doi:10.1016/J.OFTALE.2023.05.009.
- 474 12. F. Liew, S. Talwar, A. Cross, B. J. Willett, S. Scott, N. Logan, M. K. Siggins, D. Swieboda, J. K. Sidhu, C.
- 475 Efstathiou, S. C. Moore, C. Davis, N. Mohamed, J. Nunag, C. King, A. A. R. Thompson, S. L. Rowland-Jones, A.
- 476 B. Docherty, J. D. Chalmers, L. P. Ho, A. Horsley, B. Raman, K. Poinasamy, M. Marks, O. M. Kon, L. Howard, D.
- G. Wootton, S. Dunachie, J. K. Quint, R. A. Evans, L. V. Wain, S. Fontanella, T. I. de Silva, A. Ho, E. Harrison, J. 477
- 478 K. Baillie, M. G. Semple, C. Brightling, R. S. Thwaites, L. Turtle, P. J. M. Openshaw, ISARIC4C Investigators;
- 479 PHOSP-COVID collaborative group, SARS-CoV-2-specific nasal IgA wanes 9 months after hospitalisation with
- 480 COVID-19 and is not induced by subsequent vaccination. EBioMedicine 87 (2023),
- 481 doi:10.1016/J.EBIOM.2022.104402.
- 482 13. E. Magen, E. Merzon, I. Green, A. Golan-Cohen, S. Vinker, A. Israel, Selective IgA deficiency and COVID-19. 483 J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2023), doi:10.1016/J.JAIP.2023.02.016.
- 484 14. F. Cölkesen, B. Kandemir, S. Arslan, F. Cölkesen, E. Yıldız, C. Korkmaz, H. Vatansev, R. Evcen, F. S. Aykan,
- 485 M. Kılınç, G. Aytekin, B. Feyzioğlu, M. Doğan, T. Teke, Relationship between Selective IgA Deficiency and 486 COVID-19 Prognosis. Jpn J Infect Dis 75, 228–233 (2022).
- 487
- 15. M. J. Ruiz, G. Siracusano, A. Cottignies-Calamarte, D. Tudor, F. Real, A. Zhu, C. Pastori, C. Capron, A. R. 488 Rosenberg, N. Temperton, D. Cantoni, H. Liao, N. Ternette, P. Moine, M. Godement, G. Geri, J.-D. Chiche, D.
- 489
- Annane, E. Cramer Bordé, L. Lopalco, M. Bomsel, Persistent but dysfunctional mucosal SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA 490 and low lung IL-1ß associate with COVID-19 fatal outcome: A cross-sectional analysis. Front Immunol 13, 842468
- 491 (2022).
- 492 16. H. D. Stacey, D. Golubeva, A. Posca, J. C. Ang, K. E. Novakowski, M. A. Zahoor, C. Kaushic, E. Cairns, D. M.
- 493 E. Bowdish, C. E. Mullarkey, M. S. Miller, IgA potentiates NETosis in response to viral infection. Proc Natl Acad 494 Sci U S A 118 (2021), doi:10.1073/PNAS.2101497118/-/DCSUPPLEMENTAL.
- 495 17. S. Chakraborty, J. C. Gonzalez, B. L. Sievers, V. Mallajosyula, S. Chakraborty, M. Dubey, U. Ashraf, B. Y.-L.
- 496 Cheng, N. Kathale, K. Q. T. Tran, C. Scallan, A. Sinnott, A. Cassidy, S. T. Chen, T. Gelbart, F. Gao, Y. Golan, X.
- 497 Ji, S. Kim-Schulze, M. Prahl, S. L. Gaw, S. Gnjatic, T. U. Marron, M. Merad, P. S. Arunachalam, S. D. Boyd, M.
- 498 M. Davis, M. Holubar, C. Khosla, H. T. Maecker, Y. Maldonado, E. D. Mellins, K. C. Nadeau, B. Pulendran, U.
- 499 Singh, A. Subramanian, P. J. Utz, R. Sherwood, S. Zhang, P. Jagannathan, G. S. Tan, T. T. Wang, Early non-
- 500 neutralizing, afucosylated antibody responses are associated with COVID-19 severity. Sci Transl Med (2022), doi:10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABM7853. 501
- 502 18. A. P. Bye, W. Hoepel, J. L. Mitchell, S. Jégouic, S. Loureiro, T. Sage, G. Vidarsson, J. Nouta, M. Wuhrer, S. de 503 Taeye, M. van Gils, N. Kriek, N. Cooper, I. Jones, J. den Dunnen, J. M. Gibbins, Aberrant glycosylation of anti-
- 504 SARS-CoV-2 spike IgG is a prothrombotic stimulus for platelets. *Blood* 138, 1481–1489 (2021).
- 19. M. M. Vicente, I. Alves, J. Gaifem, C. S. Rodrigues, Â. Fernandes, A. M. Dias, J. Štambuk, T. Petrović, P. 505
- Oliveira, F. Ferreira-da-Silva, A. Soares, N. Seixas, T. Teixeira, L. Malheiro, M. M. Abreu, G. Lauc, R. Sarmento e 506
- 507 Castro, S. S. Pinho, Altered IgG glycosylation at COVID-19 diagnosis predicts disease severity. Eur J Immunol 52, 508 946 (2022).
- 509 20. B. Noailly, M. Yaugel-Novoa, J. Werquin, F. Jospin, D. Drocourt, T. Bourlet, N. Rochereau, S. Paul, Antiviral
- 510 Activities of HIV-1-Specific Human Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Are Isotype-Dependent. Vaccines (Basel) 10, 511 903 (2022).
- 512 21. Z. Wang, J. C. C. Lorenzi, F. Muecksch, S. Finkin, C. Viant, C. Gaebler, M. Cipolla, H.-H. Hoffmann, T. Y.
- Oliveira, D. A. Oren, V. Ramos, L. Nogueira, E. Michailidis, D. F. Robbiani, A. Gazumyan, C. M. Rice, T. 513
- Hatziioannou, P. D. Bieniasz, M. Caskey, M. C. Nussenzweig, Enhanced SARS-CoV-2 neutralization by dimeric 514
- IgA. Sci Transl Med 13, eabf1555 (2020). 515
- 516 22. D. Shi, T. Weng, J. Wu, C. Dai, R. Luo, K. Chen, M. Zhu, X. Lu, L. Cheng, Q. Chen, F. Liu, Z. Wu, H. Wu, C.
- 517 Jin, M. Guo, Z. Chen, N. Wu, H. Yao, M. Zheng, Dynamic Characteristic Analysis of Antibodies in Patients With
- 518 COVID-19: A 13-Month Study. Front Immunol 12 (2021), doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2021.708184.
- 23. C. Gaebler, Z. Wang, J. C. C. Lorenzi, F. Muecksch, S. Finkin, M. Tokuyama, A. Cho, M. Jankovic, D. 519
- 520 Schaefer-Babajew, T. Y. Oliveira, M. Cipolla, C. Viant, C. O. Barnes, Y. Bram, G. Breton, T. Hägglöf, P. Mendoza,
- 521 A. Hurley, M. Turroja, K. Gordon, K. G. Millard, V. Ramos, F. Schmidt, Y. Weisblum, D. Jha, M. Tankelevich, G.
- 522 Martinez-Delgado, J. Yee, R. Patel, J. Dizon, C. Unson-O'Brien, I. Shimeliovich, D. F. Robbiani, Z. Zhao, A.
- 523 Gazumyan, R. E. Schwartz, T. Hatziioannou, P. J. Bjorkman, S. Mehandru, P. D. Bieniasz, M. Caskey, M. C.
- Nussenzweig, Evolution of antibody immunity to SARS-CoV-2. Nature 591, 639-644 (2021). 524
- 24. G. den Hartog, E. R. A. Vos, L. L. van den Hoogen, M. van Boven, R. M. Schepp, G. Smits, J. van Vliet, L. 525
- Woudstra, A. J. Wijmenga-Monsuur, C. C. E. van Hagen, E. A. M. Sanders, H. E. de Melker, F. R. M. van der Klis, 526

- 527 R. S. van Binnendijk, Persistence of antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in relation to symptoms in a nationwide prospective
- 528 study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* (2021), doi:10.1093/cid/ciab172.
- 529 25. V. Legros, S. Denolly, M. Vogrig, B. Boson, E. Siret, J. Rigaill, S. Pillet, F. Grattard, S. Gonzalo, P. Verhoeven,
- 530 O. Allatif, P. Berthelot, C. Pélissier, G. Thiery, E. Botelho-Nevers, G. Millet, J. Morel, S. Paul, T. Walzer, F. L.
- 531 Cosset, T. Bourlet, B. Pozzetto, A longitudinal study of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients reveals a high correlation
- between neutralizing antibodies and COVID-19 severity. *Cell Mol Immunol* **18** (2021), doi:10.1038/s41423-020-
- 533 00588-2.
- 26. J. Y. Noh, J.-S. Yang, S. Y. Hwang, H. Hyun, H. Seong, J. G. Yoon, S.-Y. Yoon, H. J. Cheong, W. J. Kim, W.-J.
- 535 Park, J.-W. Kim, J.-Y. Lee, J. Y. Song, Duration of humoral immunity and cross-neutralizing activity against the
- Alpha, Beta, and Delta variants after wild-type SARS-CoV-2 infection: A prospective cohort study. *J Infect Dis* (2022), doi:10.1093/INFDIS/JIAC050.
- 538 27. S. K. Davis, K. J. Selva, E. Lopez, E. R. Haycroft, W. S. Lee, A. K. Wheatley, J. A. Juno, A. Adair, P. Pymm, S.
- 539 J. Redmond, N. A. Gherardin, D. I. Godfrey, W.-H. Tham, S. J. Kent, A. W. Chung, Heterologous SARS-CoV-2
- 540 IgA neutralising antibody responses in convalescent plasma. *Clin Transl Immunology* **11**, e1424 (2022).
- 541 28. G. Magri, A. Cerutti, IgA Summons IgG to Take a Hit at HIV-1. Cell Host Microbe 27, 854 (2020).
- 542 29. Y. Takamatsu, K. Omata, Y. Shimizu, N. Kinoshita-Iwamoto, M. Terada, T. Suzuki, S. Morioka, Y. Uemura, N.
- 543 Ohmagari, K. Maeda, H. Mitsuya, SARS-CoV-2-Neutralizing Humoral IgA Response Occurs Earlier but Is Modest
- and Diminishes Faster than IgG Response. *Microbiol Spectr* **10** (2022), doi:10.1128/SPECTRUM.02716-22.
- 545 30. J. Ankerhold, S. Giese, P. Kolb, A. Maul-Pavicic, R. E. Voll, N. Göppert, K. Ciminski, C. Kreutz, A. Lother, U.
- 546 Salzer, W. Bildl, T. Welsink, N. G. Morgenthaler, A. B. Grawitz, F. Emmerich, D. Steinmann, D. Huzly, M.
- 547 Schwemmle, H. Hengel, V. Falcone, Circulating multimeric immune complexes contribute to immunopathology in
- 548 COVID-19. *Nature Communications* 2022 13:1 13, 1–15 (2022).
- 549 31. J. Torres-Ruiz, A. Absalón-Aguilar, M. Nuñez-Aguirre, A. Pérez-Fragoso, D. A. Carrillo-Vázquez, J. L.
- 550 Maravillas-Montero, N. R. Mejía-Domínguez, L. Llorente, B. Alcalá-Carmona, J. Lira-Luna, C. Núñez-Álvarez, G.
- 551 Juárez-Vega, D. Meza-Sánchez, T. Hernández-Gilsoul, M. Tapia-Rodríguez, D. Gómez-Martín, Neutrophil
- Extracellular Traps Contribute to COVID-19 Hyperinflammation and Humoral Autoimmunity. *Cells* 10 (2021),
 doi:10.3390/CELLS10102545.
- 32. A. K. Gimpel, A. Maccataio, H. Unterweger, M. V. Sokolova, G. Schett, U. Steffen, IgA Complexes Induce
- 555 Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation More Potently Than IgG Complexes. *Front Immunol* **12** (2022),
- 556 doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2021.761816/FULL.
- 557 33. C. Junqueira, Â. Crespo, S. Ranjbar, L. B. de Lacerda, M. Lewandrowski, J. Ingber, B. Parry, S. Ravid, S. Clark,
- 558 M. R. Schrimpf, F. Ho, C. Beakes, J. Margolin, N. Russell, K. Kays, J. Boucau, U. Das Adhikari, S. M. Vora, V.
- 559 Leger, L. Gehrke, L. Henderson, E. Janssen, D. Kwon, C. Sander, J. Abraham, M. B. Goldberg, H. Wu, G. Mehta, S.
- 560 Bell, A. E. Goldfeld, M. R. Filbin, J. Lieberman, FcγR-mediated SARS-CoV-2 infection of monocytes activates 561 inflammation. *Nature* 2022, 1–13 (2022).
- 562 34. J. Fröberg, D. A. Diavatopoulos, Mucosal immunity to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
- 563 infection. Curr Opin Infect Dis 34, 181–186 (2021).
- 35. B. Isho, K. T. Abe, M. Zuo, A. J. Jamal, B. Rathod, J. H. Wang, Z. Li, G. Chao, O. L. Rojas, Y. M. Bang, A. Pu,
- 565 N. Christie-Holmes, C. Gervais, D. Ceccarelli, P. Samavarchi-Tehrani, F. Guvenc, P. Budylowski, A. Li, A.
- 566 Paterson, Y. F. Yun, L. M. Marin, L. Caldwell, J. L. Wrana, K. Colwill, F. Sicheri, S. Mubareka, S. D. Gray-Owen,
- 567 S. J. Drews, W. L. Siqueira, M. Barrios-Rodiles, M. Ostrowski, J. M. Rini, Y. Durocher, A. J. McGeer, J. L.
- 568 Gommerman, A. C. Gingras, Persistence of serum and saliva antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 spike antigens in
- 569 COVID-19 patients. Sci Immunol 5 (2020), doi:10.1126/SCIIMMUNOL.ABE5511.
- 570 36. A. Cagigi, M. Yu, B. Österberg, J. Svensson, S. Falck-Jones, S. Vangeti, E. Åhlberg, L. Azizmohammadi, A.
- 571 Warnqvist, R. Falck-Jones, P. C. Gubisch, M. Ödemis, F. Ghafoor, M. Eisele, K. Lenart, M. Bell, N. Johansson, J.
- 572 Albert, J. Sälde, D. D. Pettie, M. P. Murphy, L. Carter, N. P. King, S. Ols, J. Normark, C. Ahlm, M. N. Forsell, A.
- 573 Färnert, K. Loré, A. Smed-Sörensen, Airway antibodies emerge according to COVID-19 severity and wane rapidly
- 574 but reappear after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. JCI Insight 6 (2021), doi:10.1172/JCI.INSIGHT.151463.
- 575 37. S. E. Butler, A. R. Crowley, H. Natarajan, S. Xu, J. A. Weiner, C. A. Bobak, D. E. Mattox, J. Lee, W. Wieland-
- 576 Alter, R. I. Connor, P. F. Wright, M. E. Ackerman, Distinct Features and Functions of Systemic and Mucosal
- 577 Humoral Immunity Among SARS-CoV-2 Convalescent Individuals. *Front Immunol* **11** (2021),
- 578 doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2020.618685.
- 579 38. P. F. Wright, A. C. Prevost-Reilly, H. Natarajan, E. B. Brickley, R. I. Connor, W. F. Wieland-Alter, A. S. Miele,
- 580 J. A. Weiner, R. D. Nerenz, M. E. Ackerman, Longitudinal Systemic and Mucosal Immune Responses to SARS-
- 581 CoV-2 Infection. J Infect Dis (2022), doi:10.1093/INFDIS/JIAC065.
- 582 39. K. R. Bewley, N. S. Coombes, L. Gagnon, L. McInroy, N. Baker, I. Shaik, J. R. St-Jean, N. St-Amant, K. R.
- 583 Buttigieg, H. E. Humphries, K. J. Godwin, E. Brunt, L. Allen, S. Leung, P. J. Brown, E. J. Penn, K. Thomas, G.

- 584 Kulnis, B. Hallis, M. Carroll, S. Funnell, S. Charlton, Quantification of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody by wild-
- 585 type plaque reduction neutralization, microneutralization and pseudotyped virus neutralization assays. *Nat Protoc*, 586 doi:10.1038/s41596-021-00536-y.
- 40. S. Arakawa, M. Suzukawa, K. Watanabe, K. Kobayashi, H. Matsui, H. Nagai, T. Nagase, K. Ohta, Secretory 587
- 588 immunoglobulin A induces human lung fibroblasts to produce inflammatory cytokines and undergo activation. Clin 589 Exp Immunol 195, 287–301 (2019).
- 41. D. Burnett, Immunoglobulins in the lung. *Thorax* **41**, 337–344 (1986). 590
- 591 42. R. A. Stockley, M. Mistry, A. R. Bradwell, D. Burnett, A study of plasma proteins in the sol phase of sputum 592 from patients with chronic bronchitis. Thorax 34, 777–782 (1979).
- 43. R. Gayet, E. Michaud, F. Nicoli, B. Chanut, M. Paul, N. Rochereau, C. Guillon, Z. He, L. Papagno, G. Bioley, 593
- 594 B. Corthesy, S. Paul, Impact of IgA isoforms on their ability to activate dendritic cells and to prime T cells. Eur J
- 595 Immunol 50, 1295–1306 (2020).
- 596 44. U. Steffen, C. A. Koeleman, M. V. Sokolova, H. Bang, A. Klever, J. Rech, H. Unterweger, M. Schicht, F.
- 597 Garreis, J. Hahn, F. T. Andes, F. Hartmann, M. Hahn, A. Mahajan, F. Paulsen, M. Hoffmann, G. Lochnit, L. E.
- 598 Muñoz, M. Wuhrer, D. Falck, M. Herrmann, G. Schett, IgA subclasses have different effector functions associated 599 with distinct glycosylation profiles. Nat Commun 11 (2020), doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13992-8.
- 600 45. A. L. Hansen, C. Reily, J. Novak, M. B. Renfrow, Immunoglobulin A Glycosylation and Its Role in Disease.
- 601 Exp Suppl 112, 433-477 (2021).
- 602 46. W. Health Organization, Guideline Clinical management of COVID-19: living guideline (2023;
- 603 http://apps.who.int/bookorders.).
- 47. M. Yaugel-Novoa, B. Noailly, F. Jospin, A.-E. Berger, L. Waeckel, E. Botelho-Nevers, S. Longet, T. Bourlet, S. 604
- 605 Paul, Prior COVID-19 Immunization Does Not Cause IgA- or IgG-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2
- 606 Infection. Vaccines 2023, Vol. 11, Page 773 11, 773 (2023).
- 48. A. Pizzorno, B. Padey, T. Julien, S. Trouillet-Assant, A. Traversier, E. Errazuriz-Cerda, J. Fouret, J. Dubois, A. 607
- 608 Gaymard, F. X. Lescure, V. Dulière, P. Brun, S. Constant, J. Poissy, B. Lina, Y. Yazdanpanah, O. Terrier, M. Rosa-Calatrava, Characterization and Treatment of SARS-CoV-2 in Nasal and Bronchial Human Airway Epithelia. Cell 609
- 610 Rep Med 1 (2020), doi:10.1016/J.XCRM.2020.100059.
- 49. L. Pezzi, R. N. Charrel, L. Ninove, A. Nougairede, G. Molle, B. Coutard, G. Durand, I. Leparc-Goffart, X. De 611
- Lamballerie, L. Thirion, Development and Evaluation of a Duo SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR Assay Combining Two 612
- Assays Approved by the World Health Organization Targeting the Envelope and the RNA-Dependant RNA 613
- Polymerase (RdRp) Coding Regions. Viruses 12 (2020), doi:10.3390/V12060686. 614
- 50. V. M. Corman, O. Landt, M. Kaiser, R. Molenkamp, A. Meijer, D. K. W. Chu, T. Bleicker, S. Brünink, J. 615
- 616 Schneider, M. L. Schmidt, D. G. J. C. Mulders, B. L. Haagmans, B. Van Der Veer, S. Van Den Brink, L. Wijsman,
- G. Goderski, J. L. Romette, J. Ellis, M. Zambon, M. Peiris, H. Goossens, C. Reusken, M. P. G. Koopmans, C. 617
- Drosten, Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by real-time RT-PCR. Eurosurveillance 25, 1 (2020). 618
- 619
- Acknowledgments: We would like to thank the Agence Nationale de Recherches Resilience 620 COVIDIgS, MSD MUCOVID and the Agence Nationale de Recherches sur le 621 Sida/Maladies infectieuses émergentes, for their financial support. 622
- 623
- Author contributions: Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa, Blandine Noailly, Fabienne Jospin, Bruno 624
- Pozzetto, Andrés Pizzorno and Aurélien Traversier carried out the experiment. Melyssa Yaugel-625
- Novoa, Andrés Pizzorno, Louis Waeckel, Stéphanie Longet, Sylvie Pillet and Elisabeth Botehlo-626
- Nevers analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript with support from Thomas Bourlet, Stephane 627
- Paul and Manuel Rosa-Calatrava. Thomas Bourlet and Stéphane Paul supervised the project. 628
- Competing interests: Authors declare that they have no competing interests. 629
- Data and materials availability: All data are available in the main text or the supplementary 630 materials. 631
- 632

633 **Figures**



Fig. 1. Kinetics of antibody response in SARS-COV-2 infection. (A) Total IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, 634 IgG4, IgA and IgM antibody response in the serum of 169 patients at different times post-635 symptoms onset. Each dot corresponds to one patient. P value was calculated using the Tukey test 636 for multiple comparisons (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, and ****P < 0.001). (B) Specific 637 IgA and IgG anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody response in serum against spike-1 protein (S1), spike-1 638 receptor-binding domain (RBD), D614G mutated S1 protein (S1D614G), nucleocapsid protein 639 (N), spike-2 protein (S2), and polyprotein spike-envelop-membrane protein (SEM), at different 640 times post-symptoms onset. Each dot corresponds to one sample. Red squares correspond to IgA 641 and blue circles to IgG. Dot lines represent the nonlinear fit using the least square regression with 642 a 95% confidence interval. 643









658



660 Fig. 3. Mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2 in Nasal swabs (A-F) and BAL (G-L). (A and G) Relative IgG and IgA anti-S1 concentrations, normalized to total IgG or IgA rates, in 78 patients (A, nasal swabs) and 57 patients 661 (G, BAL). Each dot corresponds to a different sample. P value was calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis test with 662 Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons with $\alpha = 0.05$ (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, **P < 0.001, and ****P < 0.0001). 663 664 (B and H) Secretory IgA anti-S1 levels, normalized to anti-S1 IgA concentrations, in 43 patients (B, nasal swabs) and 34 patients (H, BAL). Each dot corresponds to a different sample. P value was calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis 665 test with Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons with $\alpha = 0.05$ (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01). (C and I) Neutralizing 666 activity of 55 nasal swabs and 29 BAL tested at 1:10 and 1:5 dilutions, respectively, measured in a live virus 667 668 neutralizing test in vitro. (**D** and **J**) IgA1 anti-S1 levels normalized to anti-S1 IgA concentrations; in 34 patients (**D**, 669 nasal swabs) and 40 patients (J, BAL). Each dot corresponds to a different sample. P value was calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons with $\alpha = 0.05$ (*P < 0.05). (E and K) IgA2 anti-670 S1 levels, normalized to anti-S1 IgA concentrations, in 34 patients (E, nasal swabs) and 40 patients (K, BAL). Each 671 672 dot corresponds to a different sample. P value was calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons with α =0.05 (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001). (F and L) Immunofluorescent Western-673 Blot after an SDS-PAGE performed in non-reducing conditions for crude nasal swabs (F) (lane 1: Molecular weight 674 675 marker: lane 2: IgA control without chain J: lane 3: IgA control with chain J; lane 4-6: nasal swab from 3 asymptomatic 676 patients; lane 7-9: nasal swab from 3 Not-ICU patients; lane 10-12: nasal swab from 3 ICU patients); and BAL (L) 677 (lane 1: Molecular weight marker; lane 2: IgA control without chain J; lane 3: IgA control with chain J; lane 4-7: BAL 678 from 4 ICU patients; lane 8-10: BAL from 3 Not-ICU patients) respectively where IgA monomers and dimers are 679 detected. For all the samples a total amount of 20µg of protein was loaded.

Discussion of Article 3

In this study, we investigated the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 in a cohort of patients from the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in France (between March and May 2020). Our findings revealed a significant increase in systemic IgA levels among ICU patients compared to non-ICU or asymptomatic patients. Moreover, this response was found to be more robust and long-lasting in severe cases of COVID-19. The IgA response was polyreactive and specific to various SARS-CoV-2 proteins (S1, RBD, S2, and N), as described in previous studies (123,125,134,238). These results are consistent with earlier research that indicated a stronger and more persistent antibody response in severe COVID-19 patients, possibly due to the prolonged presence of SARS-CoV-2 proteins and mRNA in the small intestine epithelium even months after infection (124,136,139). Notably, high levels of IgA were observed during the early stage of the disease (10-15 days post-symptoms) in a previous study, where CCR10+ plasmablasts predominantly secreted IgA (137). The functionality of IgA and IgG responses in COVID-19 patients was also examined. Higher neutralization activities were observed in severe patients, confirming previous reports that severe patients' sera better neutralized the infection in vitro compared to asymptomatic patients (123,144,239). Purified IgA from severe patients' sera displayed higher neutralization potential, especially in a more physiological lung epithelium model, compared to IgA and IgG from asymptomatic patients, consistent with prior research (137). Importantly, there was no evidence of IgA blocking the neutralizing effect of IgG. Furthermore, FcR-dependent functions were studied, and a loss of CD16dependent function in IgG from severe patients was observed, contrary to previous studies that reported an increased FcR activation in IgG from severe patients

associated to IgG afucosylation in these patients (206,240). Whether the observed loss of function in our study is due to receptor affinity, or structural differences between IgG from severe and asymptomatic patients, requires further investigation. CD89-dependent activity, however, was found to be higher in severe patients than in asymptomatic individuals. While contradictory with a study where IgA depletion did not affect ADP function (241), our study is in line with evidence that showed higher NETosis triggered by IgA in severe disease patients (180,182). Moreover, IgA could also be structurally modified in severe patients leading to an increase in FcR-dependent function. These findings suggest that the functionality of systemic IgA is higher than IgG, particularly in severe disease patients. Nevertheless, uncontrolled IgA activation and compromised IgG functionality in the early phase of the disease could exacerbate the inflammatory response contributing to the severity of COVID-19. We also investigated the mucosal immune responses in nasal swabs and BAL samples. While higher levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA and IgG were observed in nasal swabs and BAL of ICU patients compared to asymptomatic or COVID-19 free patients, no neutralizing activity was detected in these mucosal samples, contrary to some previous studies (137,158,170). However, those studies used a pseudovirus neutralization test which only focuses on the S protein from SARS-CoV-2 while our live-virus neutralizing test is closer to a real infection. The high IgA levels found in our study, even though not-neutralizing, could activate FcRdependent functions as has been suggested by Ruiz, et al. via the formation of IgA immunocomplexes (ICs) (238). We found more IgA monomers (mIgA) than dimers (dlgA) in BAL from severe disease patients compared to asymptomatic ones, which is consistent with the previous study of Sterlin et. al (137). mlgA can transudate from the serum to the lung epithelium (162,163), and if they present an aberrant

glycosylation pattern that will increase the activation of FcR-dependent functions, more inflammation can occur, and disease severity might increase.

Our study has several limitations as it is a retrospective study at the time of the Wuhan SARS-CoV-2 strain circulation. The timing of the samples used in this study is not long enough to fully characterize the duration of the humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 infection. In addition, the low levels of IgA and IgG antibodies found in the serum of asymptomatic patients did not allow us to fully explore of all the functions as well as structural properties of SARS-CoV-2 specific antibodies in our cohort of patients. Moreover, it remains to be determined whether the antibody response found in mucosal secretions contributes to the pathology of COVID-19 disease via the FcR-functions.

In conclusion, our study provides insights into the complex humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2, with elevated systemic IgA levels in severe cases and higher functionality for IgA compared to IgG. The conflicting findings regarding neutralization and FcR-dependent functions in mucosal tissues emphasize the need for further research to understand the role of IgA and its structural alterations in severe cases and their impact on disease progression.

Result 3: Immune response against SARS-CoV-2 elicited after vaccination

In the introduction we talked about the unprecedentedly fast development of vaccines during COVID-19 pandemic. Several questions arose after the first vaccines came out to the market and notably when new variants started to appear. These questions included (1) the efficacy of the homologous *vs* heterologous vaccination scheme and towards the emergence of SARS-COV-2 variants; (2) the long-term immunity after vaccination or breakthrough infections; and (3) if the vaccine elicited immunity enhances infection in naïve individuals. All these questions are matter of study of the three following articles presented in this section.

To address the first question, I was involved in a collaboration with another group in the CIRI, where we compared the immunogenicity of heterologous (ChAdOx1-BNT162b2) and homologous (BNT162b2-BNT162b2) vaccination scheme between health care workers in an observational study during 2020 and 2021.

Article 4: Heterologous vaccination against SARS-CoV-2 (Published in Nature in October 2021)

Article

Immunogenicity and efficacy of heterologous ChAdOx1–BNT162b2 vaccination

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04120-y

Received: 19 July 2021

Accepted: 10 October 2021

Published online: 21 October 2021

Check for updates

Bruno Pozzetto^{1,2,8}, Vincent Legros^{1,3,8}, Sophia Djebali^{1,8}, Véronique Barateau^{1,8}, Nicolas Guibert⁴, Marine Villard¹, Loïc Peyrot¹, Omran Allatif¹, Jean-Baptiste Fassier⁴, Amélie Massardier-Pilonchéry⁴, Karen Brengel-Pesce⁵, Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa^{1,2}, Solène Denolly¹, Bertrand Boson¹, Thomas Bourlet¹, Antonin Bal^{1,6}, Martine Valette⁶, Thibault Andrieu⁷, Bruno Lina^{1,6}, Covid-Ser study group^{*}, François-Loïc Cosset^{1,9}, Stéphane Paul^{1,2,9}, Thierry Defrance^{1,9}, Jacqueline Marvel^{1,9}, Thierry Walzer^{1,9} & Sophie Trouillet-Assant^{1,5,9}

Following severe adverse reactions to the AstraZeneca ChAdOx1-S-nCoV-19 vaccine^{1,2}, European health authorities recommended that patients under the age of 55 years who received one dose of ChAdOx1-S-nCoV-19 receive a second dose of the Pfizer BNT162b2 vaccine as a booster. However, the effectiveness and the immunogenicity of this vaccination regimen have not been formally tested. Here we show that the heterologous ChAdOx1-S-nCoV-19 and BNT162b2 combination confers better protection against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection than the homologous BNT162b2 and BNT162b2 combination in a real-world observational study of healthcare workers (n = 13, 121). To understand the underlying mechanism, we conducted a longitudinal survey of the anti-spike immunity conferred by each vaccine combination. Both combinations induced strong anti-spike antibody responses, but sera from heterologous vaccinated individuals displayed a stronger neutralizing activity regardless of the SARS-CoV-2 variant. This enhanced neutralizing potential correlated with increased frequencies of switched and activated memory B cells that recognize the SARS-CoV-2 receptor binding domain. The ChAdOx1-S-nCoV-19 vaccine induced a weaker IgG response but a stronger T cell response than the BNT162b2 vaccine after the priming dose, which could explain the complementarity of both vaccines when used in combination. The heterologous vaccination regimen could therefore be particularly suitable for immunocompromised individuals.

The ChAdOx1-S-nCoV-19 and BNT162b2 vaccines (hereafter referred to as ChAd and BNT, respectively) have been shown to confer strong protection against SARS-CoV-2 infection and to induce robust immune responses directed against the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 when administered in a homologous setting³⁻⁵. However, the effectiveness of a ChAd-BNT combination as a prime-boost regimen has not been formally tested in vaccine trials. To compare the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection following heterologous ChAd-BNT or homologous BNT-BNT vaccination schedules, we extracted data from the occupational medicine database of the University Hospital of Lyon (Hospices Civils de Lyon), France. Specifically, we analysed the number of individuals who received each vaccination regimen (which started in January 2021 in both groups) and the number of SARS-CoV-2 infections (documented by a positive

PCR with reverse transcription (RT–PCR) result) that occurred at least 2 weeks after the booster dose in each group (Table 1). Ten infections were identified out of 2,512 individuals (0.40%) in the heterologous vaccination group compared with 81 infections out of 10,609 individuals (0.76%) in the homologous vaccination group (Fig. 1). As the age of the individual and the vaccination regimen are known covariates, we used a multiple logistic regression model to model the probability of being infected. Our predictors were age (set as a continuous variable, considered as a possible confounder) and the vaccination regimen. Results showed that age is not associated with infection status (P = 0.4514). In particular, patients aged 60 years or above (715 out of 13,121) were not more infected (3 out of 715; 0.42%) than patients aged 60 years or below (88 out of 12,406 (0.71%); two-sided Fisher's exact test, P = 0.4890).

¹CIRI (Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie), Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, INSERM U1111, CNRS, UMR5308, ENS Lyon, Université Jean Monnet de Saint-Etienne, Lyon, France. ²Immunology laboratory, CIC1408, CHU Saint-Etienne, Saint-Etienne, France. ³Campus Vétérinaire de Lyon, VetAgro Sup, Université de Lyon, Marcy-l'Étoile, France. ⁴Occupational Health and Medicine Department, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon1, Ifsttar, UMRESTTE, UMR T_9405, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France. ⁵Joint Research Unit Civils Hospices of Lyon-bioMérieux, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon Sud Hospital, Pierre-Bénite, France. ⁶Virology Laboratory, Institute of Infectious Agents, Laboratory Associated with the National Reference Centre for Respiratory Viruses, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France. ⁷Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Lyon, INSERM U1052, CNRS UMR5286, Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Centre Léon Bérard, Lyon, France. ⁸These authors contributed equally: Bruno Pozzetto, Vincent Legros, Sophia Djebali, Véronique Barateau. ⁹These authors jointly supervised this work: François-Loïc Cosset, Stéphane Paul, Thierry Defrance, Jacqueline Marvel, Thierry Walzer, Sophie Trouillet-Assant. *A list of authors and their affiliations appears at the end of the paper. ⁵⁰e-mail: flcosset@ens-lyon.fr; stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr; thierry.defrance@inserm.fr; jacqueline.marvel@inserm.fr; thierry.walzer@inserm.fr; sophie.assant@chu-lyon.fr
Article

Table 1 | Infection rate in vaccinated HCWs at the Lyon University Hospital

Naive HCWs		BNT-BNT	ChAd-BNT
Vaccinated participants	Numbers of participants	10,609	2,512
	Median age (minimum- maximum)	42 (19–76) years ^a	33 (19–64) yearsª
SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR positive at least 14 days after second vaccine dose	Numbers of infected participants (%)	81 (0.76) ^b	10 (0.4) ^b
	Median age (minimum- maximum)	41 (22–65) years	32 (22-49) years
^a Two-sided Student's <i>t</i> -test, <i>P</i> =5×10 ⁻²⁴ ^b Logistic regression model, <i>P</i> =0.0384			

However, the vaccination regimen was significantly associated with the probability of being infected after vaccination (P = 0.0384). Individuals vaccinated with BNT-BNT were twice as likely to be infected than those vaccinated with ChAd-BNT (relative risk of 2.03).

Antibodies and virus neutralization

To understand the immunological basis of this difference, we assembled a cohort of healthcare workers (HCWs) without comorbidity (Covid-Ser-Vac). Half of this HCW cohort received the homologous BNT–BNT combination within the recommended 4-week interval between the two doses, whereas the second half received the BNT booster after receiving the first ChAd dose approximately 12 weeks before. For both groups, the mean age was 41 years and 34 years, respectively, and about 70% of participants were female (Table 2). Three blood samples were drawn: before vaccination, before the second dose and





Table 2 | Clinical characteristics of patients in the Covid-Ser-Vac study

	Heterologous vaccine	Homologous vaccine	P value	Adjusted P value	
	(n=29)	(n=31)	_		
Male sex (n (%))	9 (31.03)	8 (25.80)	0.7742	0.7742	
Age in years (median (IQR))	34 (27–40)	41 (33–52)	0.0016	0.0056	
Body mass index ¹ (n)	28	31			
Median (IQR)	22.25 (20.7–24.3)	23.12 (21.45–25.83)	0.2279	0.3988	
Currently smoker (n (%))	5 (17.24)	8 (25.8)	0.5358	0.6251	
Alcohol consumption ¹ (n (%))	7 (24.13)	5 (16.12)	0.5269	0.6251	
Delay between two vaccine doses					
Median (IQR)	85 (84–85)	29 (26–31)	<0.0001	0.0007	
Delay between second vaccine dose and third blood sample					
Median (IQR)	30 (28;34)	28 (27;31)	0.0245	0.057	
Presence of comorbidity ^a (n (%))	0	0	NA	NA	

Comorbidities include neurological disorders, cardiovascular disorders, hypertension, heart failure, diabetes, immune deficiency, liver disease, kidney disease, cancer, hypothyroid or rheumatic disease. For alcohol consumption, this was defined as consumption at least once a week. NA, not applicable.

Mann–Whitney and Fisher two-sided tests were used for quantitative and qualitative variables (in italic), respectively. Adjusted *P* values were calculated using the Benjamini–Hochberg method.

^aIndicates one missing data.

4 weeks after the second dose. Immunological analyses were performed longitudinally (Extended Data Fig. 1), and a linear regression model was used to compare immune parameters between groups to adjust for age differences.

As previously shown^{6,7}, the BNT vaccine induced a stronger level of SARS-CoV-2 receptor binding domain (RBD) or spike S1-specific IgG than the ChAd vaccine after the first dose. However, these IgG titres were no longer statistically different between groups after the second dose (Fig. 2a, b). Moreover, the positivity rate was 100% for both heterologous and homologous vaccinations. Serum IgA levels measured after the booster vaccination tended to be greater in the homologous than in the heterologous setting (median (interquartile range (IQR)) of 46.7 ng m⁻¹ equivalent (Eq) (36.30–78.70 ng m⁻¹ ng Eq) versus 37.4 ng ml⁻¹ Eq (25.40–59.80 ng ml⁻¹ Eq), respectively; equivalence was to the standard used (Methods)) (Fig. 2c).

We then measured the ability of serum samples to neutralize SARS-CoV-2 spike-pseudotyped viral particles⁸. None of the sera displayed a detectable neutralizing activity before vaccination or after the first dose. However, most of the sera displayed a neutralizing activity after the second dose, and those from the ChAd–BNT vaccinated individuals displayed a higher neutralizing efficacy than those from the BNT–BNT vaccinated individuals (median (IQR) of 62% (34–93%) versus 99% (89–100%) of neutralization, respectively; P < 0.001) (Fig. 2d).

To validate these results, we tested the ability of the sera to prevent Vero E6 cell infection by SARS-CoV-2 isolates belonging to various clades, including 19A (B38 lineage), Alpha (B.1.1.7 lineage), Beta (B.1.351 lineage), Gamma (P1) and Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage)⁹. Each SARS-CoV-2 isolate was



Fig. 2 | **Heterologous vaccination induces higher neutralizing antibody titres. a**-**c**, Sera from ChAd–BNT (n = 29) or BNT–BNT (n = 31) individuals were assayed for S1-specific IgG (**a**), RBD-specific IgG (**b**) or S1-specific IgA (**c**) levels using commercial or custom-made ELISA tests at different times during the vaccination process as indicated (**a**, **b**) or 4 weeks after full vaccination (**c**). In **a**-**c**, concentrations are expressed in binding antibody units per ml (BAU ml⁻¹) or ng ml⁻¹Eq of immunoglobulin as indicated. Each serum sample was evaluated as a single measurement (**a**, **b**) or in triplicate (**c**). Dotted lines in **a** and **b** indicate positive detection according to the manufacturer. **d**-**f**, Sera from ChAd–BNT (n = 29) or BNT–BNT (n = 31) vaccinated individuals were assayed in triplicate for their capacity to neutralize the entry of virus-like particles pseudotyped with the Wuhan strain SARS-CoV-2 envelope (**d**) or in duplicate for their capacity to

sequenced and confirmed to contain the characteristic mutations of its viral clade. The ChAd–BNT vaccinated individuals exhibited 2.3-fold to 3.6-fold higher serum neutralizing antibody titres against the different variants than BNT–BNT vaccinated individuals (Fig. 2e). Moreover, in the latter group, the neutralizing responses observed against the Beta, Gamma and Delta variants were significantly reduced compared with that against the 19A clade. By contrast, the neutralizing activity detected in sera from ChAd–BNT vaccinees was similarly high against all strains except the Beta clade (Fig. 2e, f). These data demonstrate that the neutralizing potential of antibodies generated by heterologous vaccination is less affected by spike mutations appearing in variants of concern than that of antibodies induced by homologous vaccination.

Vaccine-induced memory cells

We then studied the memory B cell (mBC) compartments using fluorescently labelled tetrameric RBDs to track RBD-specific mBCs and to analyse their phenotype (the gating analysis is presented in Extended Data Fig. 2a). As shown in Fig. 3a and Extended Data Fig. 2b, which correspond to concatenated flow cytometry plots, the frequency of RBD-binding mBCs was comparable for both vaccination groups after the prime dose but was on average twofold higher for the ChAd–BNT vaccination schedule after the booster dose. Moreover, neutralize infection of Vero E6 cells by different SARS-CoV-2 strains (\mathbf{e} , \mathbf{f}), as indicated. Data show the per cent of neutralization relative to a positive control (\mathbf{d}) or the 50% plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT₅₀) (\mathbf{e}), and are expressed as dot plots, with one dot corresponding to one individual. The limit of detection is shown as a dotted line in \mathbf{e} . FC, fold change in the mean of the indicated groups. In all panels, box-and-whiskers plots are shown (see Methods for details), and the median is represented by the magenta middle line. A linear regression model was used to compare values between groups, and this model was corrected for age. Exact *P* values are shown for the indicated comparisons when significant or nearly significant. \mathbf{f} , Comparison of serum neutralizing activity against the reference lineage 19A and against the variants of concern for each group. *P* values are shown and calculated using the linear regression model described in \mathbf{e} .

switched (IgD⁻CD27⁺) mBCs accounted for about 67% and 47% of the RBD-specific mBC pool in the ChAd-BNT group and the BNT-BNT group, respectively (Fig. 3b, c, Extended Data Fig. 2c). The expression pattern of IgM and IgG isotypes was next used to compare the immunoglobulin isotype distribution among the switched mBCs. The results showed that the homologous vaccination schedule promoted more IgG-switched mBCs (62% versus 48%) than the heterologous vaccination schedule (Fig. 3d, Extended Data Fig. 2d). Finally, to address the activation status of mBCs, we analysed their expression of CD21 and CD11c. It is generally considered that the concurrent loss of CD21 and the upregulation of CD11c are phenotypic features associated with B cell activation independent of the developmental stage¹⁰. Resting mBCs were therefore defined as CD21⁺CD11c⁻ cells, whereas CD21⁺CD11c⁺, CD21⁻CD11c⁺ and CD21⁻CD11c⁻ cells were globally considered as activated mBCs. The frequencies of activated RBD-specific mBCs were significantly enhanced in the ChAd-BNT group compared with the BNT-BNT group (Fig. 3e, Extended Data Fig. 2e). In particular, the proportions of the CD21⁻CD11c⁺ subset were almost three times higher in the ChAd-BNT group. Altogether, our results indicate that compared with the homologous vaccination schedule, the ChAd-BNT combination induces significantly more RBD-specific B cells, increases the frequencies of post-switch mBCs and induces a more active mBC generation process.

Article



Fig. 3 | **Analysis of RBD-specific memory B cells and spike-specific memory T cells in vaccinated individuals. a**-**e**, Flow cytometry analyses of spike-specific mBCs. **a**, Frequencies of SARS-CoV-2 RBD-binding mBCs among the pool of polyclonal mBCs before vaccination, after prime and after boost injections. **b**, **c**, Proportions of unswitched (**b**) and switched (**c**) RBD-binding mBCs in per cent of RBD-binding mBCs. **d**, Pattern of immunoglobulin isotypes expressed by switched mBCs. **e**, Proportions of resting (CD21*CD11c⁻) and activated (CD21⁻CD11c⁺, CD21⁻CD11c⁻ and CD21*CD11c⁺) mBCs among the entire pool of RBD-binding mBCs. **f**-**h**, T cell responses. **f**, IFNγ release after whole-blood stimulation with RBD peptides. IFNγ was measured by ELISA in the supernatant. **g**, **h**, Flow cytometry analyses of the percentage of cells positive

We then longitudinally monitored the T cell response of vaccinees against RBD peptides using a whole-blood interferon-y (IFNy) release assay. The T cell response was higher after ChAd immunization than after BNT priming and was similarly increased by the BNT booster dose in both groups (median of 0.33 UI ml⁻¹ versus 0.43 UI ml⁻¹) (Fig. 3f). To confirm and consolidate these results, we measured the spikespecific CD4 and CD8 T cell response at the single-cell level by flow cytometry after stimulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from vaccinees with a pool of commercial peptides spanning the entire spike protein and then staining for intracellular IFNy (the gating strategy is presented in Extended Data Fig. 3). Both vaccination regimens were able to induce a progressive increase in the frequency of S-reactive CD4 and CD8 T cells from the pre-vaccine to the post-booster phase (Fig. 3g, h). However, the heterologous combination resulted in a stronger CD4 T cell response, both after priming and boosting, and in an increasing trend in the CD8 T cell response after the booster dose.

for intracellular IFN γ expression among CD4 (**g**) or CD8 (**h**) T cells after PBMC stimulation with commercial spike peptides. In all panels, box-and-whiskers plots (see Methods for details) of n = 29 and n = 31 participants in heterologous and homologous vaccination groups, respectively, are shown. The median value is shown in each group as a purple line. A high cellular mortality rate at the thawing step led to the exclusion of a few samples in each panel; each individual dot corresponds to one participant, and each measurement was performed once. In all panels, a linear regression model was used to compare values between groups, and this model was corrected for age. Exact *P* values are shown for the indicated comparisons when significant or nearly significant.

Finally, to understand interrelations between immune parameters, we performed a matrix analysis (Extended Data Fig. 4). This confirmed that the neutralizing antibody activity correlated with the titres of spike-specific IgG, regardless of the variant analysed, and not correlated with IgA levels. Moreover, the neutralization activity correlated with the percentage of switched RBD⁺ mBCs and with the percentage of activated RBD⁺ mBCs. This provides further support that better neutralizing antibodies are produced as a result of sustained B cell activation.

Discussion

Heterologous prime-boost vaccinations have been reported to be more immunogenic than homologous ones in experimental settings¹¹. This has also been proven for some human vaccines^{12,13}. Moreover, studies using mice have demonstrated the strong immunogenicity of the ChAd–BNT combination¹⁴. Here we report that heterologous ChAd–BNT vaccination

confers better protection against infection—which is associated with more switched mBCs and higher virus neutralizing antibody titres—irrespective of the variant analysed. This finding is of particular importance considering the global increase in the SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant¹⁵. Other studies reported better neutralizing potential of sera from ChAd–BNT vaccinated individuals compared with BNT–BNT vaccinated individuals, but these studies only used surrogate^{16,17} or pseudovirus¹⁸ neutralization assays. Moreover, the ability of such assays to predict neutralizing activity against authentic clinical virus isolates is still debated¹⁹.

Heterologous vaccination induced antibodies with a stronger neutralization potential than homologous vaccination, but the spike-specific IgG antibody titres were comparable. This result suggests that it is the guality of the antibodies that underlies the neutralization potential of the antibody response induced by heterologous vaccination. Assuming that the secondary antibody response is primarily derived from the mBC clones generated by primo-immunization, we can postulate that ChAd and BNT formulations elicit different mBC compartments. mBCs generated by the ChAd formulation could, for example, bear antigen receptors displaying a larger breadth of epitope recognition or a better fit for the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein. This could be linked to the different conformations of the spike protein, as that of the BNT vaccine bears a mutation stabilizing the protein in its pre-fusion conformation²⁰. Our data showed that mBCs still exhibit features of activation 4 weeks after the booster dose in the heterologous regimen, which suggests that the post-boost process of mBC differentiation is more active in this schedule. This could result from a more efficient or long-lasting germinal centre reaction that facilitates an extended cycle of somatic hypermutations and possibly output of B cell clones with higher affinity antigen receptors. An enlarged pool of CD4⁺ T helper cells could contribute to an amplified or prolonged germinal centre reaction. In keeping with this notion, we report here a higher frequency of spike-specific CD4 T cells after priming with the ChAd vaccine, which has been observed in other studies^{6,7}. Moreover, stronger T cell responses may contribute to better protection independently of B cell responses²¹.

The better neutralization potential of sera from ChAd–BNT vaccinated individuals could also be linked to their relatively lower level of S1-specific IgA levels. Indeed, plasma IgA monomers specific to SARS-CoV-2 proteins are twofold less potent than IgG equivalents²². Furthermore, IgA levels persist better than IgG after infection, which coincides with a reduction in the serum neutralizing potential²³. Following a possible competition between serum IgA and IgG, the decrease in IgA levels in heterologous vaccination conditions may lead to better neutralization effects. This phenomenon has already been observed in the context of the RV144 vaccination trial against HIV-1, in which the level of envelope-specific IgA correlated with the risk of infection²⁴. In this context, IgA was also found to inhibit antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity by competing with IgG²⁵.

Our data do not allow the discarding of the possibility that the later timing of administration of the booster dose contributed to the high efficacy of the heterologous regimen. Still, it is noteworthy that the size of the RBD⁺ mBC pool after the prime dose was comparable for both groups of vaccinees, despite the disparity in the analysis time point after the prime vaccination (4 versus 12 weeks). This observation indicates that the extended interval between prime and boost in the ChAd-BNT cohort has not been translated into a greater size of the RBD-specific mBC compartment. It has been recently demonstrated for both the ChAd vaccine²⁶ and the BNT vaccine²⁷ that long injection time intervals (12 weeks or more) provide higher binding and neutralizing antibody titres than shorter intervals (less than 6 weeks). For a comparable long vaccination interval (more than 9 weeks), the heterologous ChAd-BNT vaccination schedule induced better humoral immunity (titres and neutralization) than the homologous ChAd-ChAd combination²⁸. To our knowledge, there is only one study in which ChAd-BNT and BNT-BNT vaccination schedules were compared with the same prime-boost interval (4 weeks)⁶. That study⁶

concluded that for short intervals, the humoral responses induced by both regimens were comparable. However, a longer interval (that is, 12 weeks) between prime and boost could be needed to allow the synergy between heterologous vaccines.

Together, we present a real-world observational study of HCWs showing that the heterologous ChAd–BNT vaccination regimen confers stronger protective immunity than the homologous BNT– BNT prime–boost schedule. As hidden confounding factors might be present in our study (for example, different levels of exposure to the virus), confirmatory studies and a longer follow-up of vaccinated participants are warranted. However, our data suggest that the heterologous combination could be particularly suitable for immunocompromised individuals.

Online content

Any methods, additional references, Nature Research reporting summaries, source data, extended data, supplementary information, acknowledgements, peer review information; details of author contributions and competing interests; and statements of data and code availability are available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04120-y.

- Greinacher, A. et al. Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. N. Engl. J. Med. 384, 2092–2101 (2021).
- Scully, M. et al. Pathologic antibodies to platelet factor 4 after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. N. Engl. J. Med. 384, 2202–2211 (2021).
- Polack, F. P. et al. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 2603–2615 (2020).
- Ramasamy, M. N. et al. Safety and immunogenicity of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine administered in a prime-boost regimen in young and old adults (COV002): a single-blind, randomised, controlled, phase 2/3 trial. *Lancet* **396**, 1979–1993 (2021).
- 5. Voysey, M. et al. Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil, South Africa, and the UK. *Lancet* **397**, 99–111 (2021).
- Liu, X. et al. Safety and immunogenicity of heterologous versus homologous primeboost schedules with an adenoviral vectored and mRNA COVID-19 vaccine (Com-COV): a single-blind, randomised, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* **398**, 856–869 (2021).
- Hillus, D. et al. Safety, reactogenicity, and immunogenicity of homologous and heterologous prime-boost immunisation with ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 9, 1255-1265 (2021).
- Legros, V. et al. A longitudinal study of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients reveals a high correlation between neutralizing antibodies and COVID-19 severity. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 18, 318–327 (2021).
- Gonzalez, C. et al. Live virus neutralisation testing in convalescent patients and subjects vaccinated against 19A, 20B, 20I/501Y.V1 and 20H/501Y.V2 isolates of SARS-CoV-2. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 10, 1499–1502 (2021).
- Sanz, I. et al. Challenges and opportunities for consistent classification of human B cell and plasma cell populations. Front. Immunol. 10, 2458 (2019).
- 11. Lu, S. Heterologous prime-boost vaccination. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **21**, 346–351 (2009).
- Jou, J., Harrington, K. J., Zocca, M.-B., Ehrnrooth, E. & Cohen, E. E. W. The changing landscape of therapeutic cancer vaccines—novel platforms and neoantigen identification. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 27, 689–703 (2021).
- Levine, M. Z. et al. Heterologous prime-boost with A(H5N1) pandemic influenza vaccines induces broader cross-clade antibody responses than homologous prime-boost. NPJ Vaccines 4, 22 (2019).
- Spencer, A. J. et al. Heterologous vaccination regimens with self-amplifying RNA and adenoviral COVID vaccines induce robust immune responses in mice. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 2893 (2021).
- Alizon, S. et al. Rapid spread of the SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant in some French regions, June 2021. Euro Surveill. 26, 2100573 (2021).
- Schmidt, T. et al. Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of heterologous ChAdOx1 nCoV-19/ mRNA vaccination. Nat. Med. 27, 1530–1535 (2021).
- 17. Tenbusch, M. et al. Heterologous prime-boost vaccination with ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **21**, 1212–1213 (2021).
- Groß, R. et al. Heterologous ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2 prime-boost vaccination elicits potent neutralizing antibody responses and T cell reactivity. Preprint at https://doi. org/10.1101/2021.05.30.21257971 (2021).
- von Rhein, C. et al. Comparison of potency assays to assess SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody capacity in COVID-19 convalescent plasma. J. Virol. Methods 288, 114031 (2021).
- Juraszek, J. et al. Stabilizing the closed SARS-CoV-2 spike trimer. Nat. Commun. 12, 244 (2021).
- Sette, A. & Crotty, S. Adaptive immunity to SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Cell 184, 861–880 (2021).
- Wang, Z. et al. Enhanced SARS-CoV-2 neutralization by dimeric IgA. Sci. Transl. Med. 13, eabf1555 (2021).
- Wang, Z. et al. Naturally enhanced neutralizing breadth against SARS-CoV-2 one year after infection. Nature 595, 426–431 (2021).
- Haynes, B. F. et al. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. N. Engl. J. Med. 366, 1275–1286 (2012).

Article

- Tomaras, G. D. et al. Vaccine-induced plasma IgA specific for the C1 region of the HIV-1 envelope blocks binding and effector function of IgG. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* **110**, 9019–9024 (2013).
- Voysey, M. et al. Single-dose administration and the influence of the timing of the booster dose on immunogenicity and efficacy of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccine: a pooled analysis of four randomised trials. *Lancet* **397**, 881–891 (2021).
- 27. Payne, R. P. et al. Immunogenicity of standard and extended dosing intervals of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine. *Cell* **184**, 5699–5714 (2021).
- Barros-Martins, J. et al. Immune responses against SARS-CoV-2 variants after heterologous and homologous ChAdOx1 nCoV-19/BNT162b2 vaccination. *Nat. Med.* 27, 1525–1529 (2021).

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

© The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature Limited 2021

Covid-Ser study group

Kahina Saker⁵, Christelle Compagnon⁵, Bouchra Mokdad⁵, Constance d'Aubarede⁴, Virginie Pitiot⁴, Vanessa Escuret¹⁶, Florence Morfin¹⁶, Mary-Anne Trabaud⁶, Margaux Prieux¹, Valérie Dubois¹, Laurence Josset¹⁶ & Soizic Daniel⁵

Methods

Ethical statement and cohort description

The use and analysis of data from the occupational health medical file were authorized after a regulatory declaration to the National Commission for Information Technology and Civil Liberties according to the reference methodology (declaration MR004 number 20-121 of 30 April 2020). The declaration of SARS-CoV-2 infection is compulsory for all staff to obtain daily allowances without loss of salary during the imposed quarantine.

For the Covid-Ser-Vac study, clinical data were recorded by a trained clinical research associate using Clinsight software (v.Csonline 7.5.720.1). Blood samples were processed and stored at the Centre de Ressource Biologique Neurobiotec, 69500 Bron, Sixty naive HCWs for COVID-19 and vaccinated with BNT and/or ChAd vaccines were included in a prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted at the Hospices Civils de Lyon. Blood sampling was performed before vaccination, before the second dose of vaccine and 4 weeks after the end of vaccination schedule. The absence of previous SARS-CoV-2 infection was confirmed using the Wantai SARS-CoV-2 Ab total assay in the pre-vaccine sample. Demographic characteristics and delays between doses are depicted in Table 2 and Extended Data Fig. 1. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. Ethics approval was obtained from the national review board for biomedical research in April 2020 (Comité de Protection des Personnes Sud Méditerranée I, Marseille, France; ID RCB 2020-A00932-37), and the study was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT04341142).

Measurement of IgG titres

Sera were immediately stored at -80 °C after blood sampling. S1-specific IgG and RBD-specific IgG were measured using Siemens Atellica IM SARS-CoV-2 IgG (sCOVG) and bioMérieux Vidas SARS-CoV-2 IgG diagnosis kits, respectively, according to the manufacturers' recommendations. For standardization of these assays to the first World Health Organization international standard, the concentrations were transformed into binding antibody units per ml (BAU ml⁻¹) using the conversion factors provided by the manufacturers.

Measurement of spike-specific IgA

ELISAs to evaluate IgA binding to the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein were performed as previously described²⁹. High-binding 96-half-well plates (2310M, Nunc) were coated with 100 µl per well of a spike protein solution (1 µg ml⁻¹; 40591-V08H spike S1-RBD, Sino Biologicals) in PBS overnight at 4 °C. Plates were washed with washing buffer containing 1× PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated with 170 µl of blocking buffer per well containing 1× PBS with 3% fat milk powder and 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 h at room temperature. Immediately after blocking, recombinant anti-RBD IgA (B Cell Design, IB3C4 PV) or serum samples diluted in PBS were added and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C. Plasma samples were assayed at a 1:100 starting dilution and 7 additional 3-fold serial dilutions. Recombinant human anti-RBD IgA was used to perform a calibration curve starting at 1.5 µg ml⁻¹. Plates were washed and then incubated with anti-human IgA (A0295, Sigma-Aldrich) secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase in blocking buffer at 1:10,000. Plates were developed by the addition of the horseradish peroxidase substrate 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB; 34021, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 10 min, and the developing reaction was stopped by adding 50 µl of 1 MHCl. Optical density units were measured at 450 nm in a microplate reader (Tecan). For serum samples, a positive control (serum pool from critically ill patients with COVID-19, diluted 200-fold in PBS) and a negative control (pool of historical serum samples) were added in duplicate to each run. After deduction of the background, a relative content in IgA equivalent (ng ml⁻¹Eq) was calculated using the calibration curve. The limit of detection of the assay was 0.1 ng ml⁻¹ Eq.

Live-virus neutralization experiments

A plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT) was used for the detection and titration of neutralizing antibodies. A tenfold dilution of each serum specimen in culture medium was first heated for 30 min at 56 °C to avoid complement-linked reduction of viral activity. Serial twofold dilutions (tested in duplicate) of the serum specimens in culture medium were mixed in equal volume with the live SARS-CoV-2 virus. After gentle shaking and a contact of 30 min at room temperature in plastic microplates, 150 µl of the mix was transferred into 96-well microplates covered with Vero E6 cells (American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), CRL-1586, not authenticated but regularly tested for mycoplasma contamination). The plates were incubated at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Infection efficiency was evaluated by microscopy 5 days later when the cytopathic effect of the virus control reached 100-500 TCID₅₀ (median culture infectious dose) per 150 µl. Neutralization was recorded if more than 50% of the cells present in the well were preserved. The neutralizing titre was expressed as the inverse of the higher serum dilution that exhibited neutralizing activity; a threshold of 20 was used (PRNT₅₀ titre \ge 20). All experiments were performed in a biosafety level 3 laboratory. The different viral strains that were used were sequenced and deposited at GISAID (https://www.gisaid.org/) (accession numbers EPI_ISL_170703819A (B.38 lineage); EPI ISL 1707039 Alpha (B.1.1.7 lineage); EPI ISL 768828 Beta (B.1.351 lineage); EPI_ISL_1359892 Gamma (P.1 lineage); and EPI_ ISL_1904989 Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage)).

$Monitoring \, of \, T \, cell \, responses \, using \, whole-blood \, IFN\gamma \, release \, assay$

Fresh blood collected in heparinized tubes was stimulated for 22 h at 37 °C under 5% CO₂ with SARS-COV-2 peptide pools (derived from the prototype Wuhan strain NC_045512.2) targeting RBD (46 peptides, $[C] = 8 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$) (bioMérieux) diluted in IGRA solution (bioMérieux). The peptides (15-mer) encompassed the entire protein sequence and overlapped by five residues. The IGRA solution was used as a negative control and a mitogen as a positive control. The concentration of IFNy in the supernatant was measured using a VIDAS automated platform (VIDAS IFNy RUO, bioMérieux). The measuring range was 0.08–8 IU ml⁻¹ and WB IGRA positivity thresholds were defined at 0.08 IU ml⁻¹. The IFNy response was defined as detectable when the IFNy concentration of the test was above threshold and the negative control was below threshold or when the IFNy concentration of the test minus IFNy concentration of the negative control was above threshold.

Monitoring of T cell responses by flow cytometry

Overnight-rested PBMCs were stimulated with SARS-CoV-2 overlapping peptide pools against SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (PepTivator, Miltenyi Biotec) at a final concentration of 1 µg ml⁻¹ for 1 h in the presence of 1 µg ml⁻¹ monoclonal antibodies CD28 and CD49d, and then for an additional 5 h with GolgiPlug and GolgiStop (BD Biosciences). Dead cells were labelled using Fixable Viability eFluor 780 dye (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Surface markers were stained using BV786-conjugated anti-CD3 (BD Biosciences, 565491; diluted 1:100), BUV486-conjugated anti-CD4 (BD Biosciences, 612937;1:50), PE-Cy7-conjugated anti-CD8 (BioLegend, 301012; 1:100), APC-Cy7-conjugated anti-CD14 (BioLegend, 301820; 1:100), APC-Cy7-conjugated anti-CD56 (BioLegend, 362512; 1:100) and APC-Cy7- conjugated anti-CD19 (BioLegend, 302218; 1:100). Cells were then washed, fixed with Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Biosciences) and stained with PE-conjugated anti-IFNy (BioLegend). Negative controls without peptide stimulation were run for each sample. All results were acquired on a BD LSRFortessa (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer using the BD FACSDIVA v.8.01 software and analysed using FlowJo v.10.6.1 software.

SARS-CoV-2 pseudoparticle preparation and neutralization

SARS-CoV-2 spike-pseudotyped murine leukaemia virus retrovirus particles were produced as described for SARS-CoV³⁰. In brief, HEK293T

Article

cells (ATCC, CRL-1573, not authenticated but regularly tested for mycoplasma contamination) were transfected with constructs expressing murine leukaemia virus Gag-Pol, the green fluorescent protein (GFP) reporter and the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (a gift from D. Lavillette (CAS Key Laboratory of Molecular Virology & Immunology, Institut Pasteur of Shanghai Chinese Academy of Sciences, Pasteurien College, Soochow University, Jiangsu, China)). Control particles pseudotyped with the unrelated RD114 virus surface glycoprotein (from a cat endogenous virus) were generated as previously described³¹. For neutralization assays, a sample of approximately 1×10^3 pseudoparticles was incubated with a 100-fold dilution of sera or control antibodies for 1 h at 37 °C, spinoculated for 2 h at 2,500g before infection of Vero E6 cells. After 72 h of infection, the percentage of GFP-positive cells was determined by flow cytometry. As a control, the same procedure was performed using RD114 pseudoparticles. Anti-spike SARS-CoV-2 RBD (Sino Biological, 40150-V08B2) and anti-gp70 RD114 (ViroMed Biosafety Labs) antibodies were used with a 100-fold dilution as positive and negative control, respectively.

Generation of fluorescent SARS-CoV-2 RBD tetramers

Biotinylated recombinant RBD domain of SARS-CoV-2 RBD was purchased from Miltenyi Biotech (130-127-457) and tetramerized with either streptavidin-PE (Becton Dickinson (BD)) or with streptavidin-APC (BioLegend, 105243).

Flow cytometry analysis of SARS-CoV-2 RBD-specific B cells

Cryopreserved PBMCs were centrifuged and suspended in PEB buffer (PBS with 0.5% BSA and 2 mM EDTA) and incubated with Fc receptor block (Miltenvi, 130-059-901) for 15 min at 4 °C (dilution 1:10). Next. cells were washed in PEB and stained for 30 min in brilliant stain buffer at 4 °C in the dark using the following antibodies together with both the PE- and APC-conjugated recombinant RBD tetramers: anti-CD3-APC Fire 810 (BioLegend, 344858; diluted 1:100); anti-CD11c-BV785 (Bio-Legend, 301644; 1:50); anti-CD19-PE Vio770 (Miltenyi, 130-113-170; 1:100); anti-CD20-BV421 (BD, 562873; 1:100); anti-CD21-BUV496 (BD, 750614; 1:50); anti-CD27-PercP-Vio700 (Miltenyi, 130-113-632; 1:100); anti-CD38-Viobright FITC (Miltenyi, 130-113-433: 1:50); anti-IgM-PE-CF594 (BD, 562539; 1:50); anti-IgD-BV605 (BioLegend, 348232;1:50); and anti-IgG-BV480 (BD, 746341;1:50). Cells were washed in PEB and resuspended in a PEB dilution (1:500) of the fixable viability dve eFluor 780 (eBiosciences, 65-0865-18). They were next washed and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at 4 °C in the dark before a final wash and resuspension for analysis. Cells were then acquired on a Cytek Aurora spectral flow cytometer equipped with five lasers operating at 355 nm, 405 nm, 488 nm, 561 nm and 640 nm using the Spectro-Flo V.2.2.0 (Cytek) software. Data were analysed using FlowJo 10.6.1 software (BD).

Statistical analyses

Statistical modelling for epidemiological data. To model the probability of being infected knowing the subject age and the used vaccination regimen, we used the generalized linear model (glm) function in R to perform a multiple logistic regression model with the logit link function. The outcome variable was the infection status, whereby infected = 1 and not infected = 0. Our predictors were the age, as a continuous variable (considered as a possible confounder), and the vaccination regimen, whereby Chad–BNT = 0 and BNT–BNT = 1. On the basis of the model coefficients for the vaccination regimen (B0 = -5.306 and B1 = 0.712), we also assessed the relative risk (RR) as follows: RR = $(1 + \exp(-B0))/(1 + \exp(-B0 - B1))$.

Statistical analysis for immunological and virological analyses. ChAd-BNT and BNT-BNT populations showed a significant difference in the average ages. To test for the consequence of the vaccination regimen on the different immune parameters, we fitted a multiple linear regression model, which allows for the correction of age (as a possible confounding factor) by including age and vaccination regimen simultaneously as predictors in the right explanatory side of the lm function in R (one model per immune parameter). Results of statistical significance displayed in Figs. 2 and 3 are from these adjusted models, for which age showed no effect. For box and whiskers plots, the upper and lower bounds of the box are the 75th and the 25th percentile (the third Q3 and first Q1 quartile), respectively. The IQR = Q3 - Q1; an observation was considered an outlier if it was above $O3 + 1.5 \times IOR$ or below Q1 – $1.5 \times$ IQR. Upper and lower whiskers represent the maximum and the minimum values, respectively, without taking into account the outliers.

Reporting summary

Further information on research design is available in the Nature Research Reporting Summary linked to this paper.

Data availability

Viral sequences are available at GISAID (accession numbers EPI_ ISL_1707038 19A (B.38 lineage); EPI_ISL_1707039 Alpha (B.1.1.7 lineage); EPI_ISL_768828 Beta (B.1.351 lineage); EPI_ISL_1359892 Gamma (P.1 lineage); and EPI_ISL_1904989 Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage). Source data are provided with this paper.

- Amanat, F. et al. A serological assay to detect SARS-CoV-2 seroconversion in humans. Nat. Med. 26, 1033–1036 (2020).
- Broer, R., Boson, B., Spaan, W., Cosset, F.-L. & Corver, J. Important role for the transmembrane domain of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein during entry. J. Virol. 80, 1302–1310 (2006).
- Lavillette, D. et al. Human serum facilitates hepatitis C virus infection, and neutralizing responses inversely correlate with viral replication kinetics at the acute phase of hepatitis C virus infection. J. Virol. 79, 6023–6034 (2005).

Acknowledgements This study was supported by IDEX Lyon (HPI-2019), operated by the French National Research Agency (ANR-11-IDEX-0007), INSERM-Transfert and by institutional grants from Fondation des Hospices Civils de Lyon, INSERM, CNRS, UCBL1 and ENS de Lyon. We thank the following staff members and individuals: all the staff members of the Occupational Health and Medicine Department of the Hospices Civils de Lyon (who contributed to the sample collection) and all the clinical research associates for their excellent work; the staff members of SFR Biosciences (UAR3444/CNRS, US8/INSERM, ENS de Lyon, UCBL) AniRA-cytometry, E. Devêvre, S. Dussurgey and V. Malassigné; K. Brahima and all the members of the clinical research and innovation department for their reactivity (DRCI, Hospices Civils de Lyon); and all the HCWs for their participation in this clinical study. Human biological samples and associated data were obtained from NeuroBioTec (CRB HCL, Lyon France, Biobank BB-0033-00046).

Author contributions B.P., V.L., S. Djebali, V.B., M. Villard, L.P., M.Y.-N., S. Denolly, B.B., T.B., M. Valette, A.B. and K.B.-P. performed experiments and analysed the data. T.A. helped with the analysis of flow cytometry data and O.A. performed statistical analyses. N.G., J.-B.F. and A.M.-P. analysed the clinical infection data. The Covid-Ser study members collected the samples and performed experiments. B.L. supervised some of the experimental tasks. F.-L.C., S.P., T.D., J.M., T.W. and S.T.-A. designed the study, analysed the data and wrote the manuscript.

Competing interests K.B.-P. is a bioMérieux employee.

Additional information

Supplementary information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04120-y.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to François-Loïc Cosset, Stéphane Paul, Thierry Defrance, Jacqueline Marvel, Thierry Walzer or Sophie Trouillet-Assant. **Peer review information** *Nature* thanks Yunda Huang, Pei-Yong Shi and the other, anonymous, reviewer(s) for their contribution to the peer review of this work. Peer reviewer reports are available.

Reprints and permissions information is available at http://www.nature.com/reprints.



Extended Data Fig. 1 | **Study design.** Sixty HCWs naïve for COVID-19 and vaccinated with the Pfizer ChAd/BNT or the BNT/BNT combination were included in a prospective longitudinal cohort study. Blood sampling was performed as described, before vaccination, before the second dose of vaccine and 4 weeks after the end of vaccination schedule. Different immunological analyses were performed on the blood samples, including serological investigations (Spike-specific IgA and IgG), serum neutralization assays (both

plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT) and pseudoneutralization), analysis of Spike-specific T cells and RBD-specific memory B cells, at various time points indicated in the text. Parts of the figure were drawn by using pictures from Servier Medical Art (http://smart.servier.com/), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/3.0/).



Extended Data Fig. 2 | **Analysis of RBD-specific memory B cells.** (A) Gating strategy. From left to right, the first three pseudo-color plots show the successive gates applied for single cells and viable cells. B cells were gated as CD19⁺/CD3⁻ cells (4th plot). Within the B cell gate, memory B cells (mBCs) were defined as non-naïve B cells on the same biparameter plot (5th plot). (B-E) Concatenated phenotypic profiles of RBD-specific mBCs for all individuals in the ChAd/BNT and BNT/BNT groups at three time points (before vaccination, before the 2nd dose, after the second dose). For each group, the phenotypic profiles correspond to the concatenation of the FACS analysis data collected

from 30 individual vaccinees. (B) Visualization of RBD-binding B cells in the mBC gate. (C) Visualization of the proportion of switched (IgD⁻) and unswitched (IgD⁺) B cells among the RBD-specific mBC pool. (D) Visualization of the pattern of Ig isotype expression by RBD-specific mBCs. (E) Visualization of the distribution of RBD-binding B cells within the resting (CD21⁺CD11c⁻) and "activated" (CD21⁻CD11c⁺/CD21⁻CD11c⁻/CD21⁺CD11c⁺) mBC compartments. The mean frequencies of RBD-specific mBCs falling into each quadrant are indicated in red.



Extended Data Fig. 3 | **Analysis of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells.** PBMCs were stimulated as detailed in the methods and stained for CD3, CD4, CD8, CD14, CD56 and CD19 expression and with a dead cell marker. Cells were gated from left to right and top to bottom. The Viab/dump channel includes antibodies

against CD14, CD19, CD56 and a viability marker. The frequency of CD4 or CD8 T cells positive for intracellular IFNg was measured as shown in the central and right bottom panels.

Article



Extended Data Fig. 4 | **Analysis of inter-relationships between immune parameters.** A matrix file with all immunological measurements for all vaccinated individuals showing the Spearman correlations and associated p-values. The size and the color of the circles correspond to the correlation, as indicated, and the stars indicate the significance of the correlation.

nature portfolio

Corresponding author(s):

Sophie Trouillet-Assant, Thierry Walzer, Jacqueline Marvel, Thierry Defrance, Stéphane Paul, François-Loïc Cosset

Last updated by author(s): Sep 30, 2021

Reporting Summary

Nature Portfolio wishes to improve the reproducibility of the work that we publish. This form provides structure for consistency and transparency in reporting. For further information on Nature Portfolio policies, see our <u>Editorial Policies</u> and the <u>Editorial Policy Checklist</u>.

Statistics

For	all st	atistical analyses, confirm that the following items are present in the figure legend, table legend, main text, or Methods section.
n/a	Cor	firmed
	\square	The exact sample size (n) for each experimental group/condition, given as a discrete number and unit of measurement
	\square	A statement on whether measurements were taken from distinct samples or whether the same sample was measured repeatedly
		The statistical test(s) used AND whether they are one- or two-sided Only common tests should be described solely by name; describe more complex techniques in the Methods section.
	\square	A description of all covariates tested
	\boxtimes	A description of any assumptions or corrections, such as tests of normality and adjustment for multiple comparisons
	\boxtimes	A full description of the statistical parameters including central tendency (e.g. means) or other basic estimates (e.g. regression coefficient) AND variation (e.g. standard deviation) or associated estimates of uncertainty (e.g. confidence intervals)
		For null hypothesis testing, the test statistic (e.g. F, t, r) with confidence intervals, effect sizes, degrees of freedom and P value noted Give P values as exact values whenever suitable.
\boxtimes		For Bayesian analysis, information on the choice of priors and Markov chain Monte Carlo settings
\boxtimes		For hierarchical and complex designs, identification of the appropriate level for tests and full reporting of outcomes
\boxtimes		Estimates of effect sizes (e.g. Cohen's d, Pearson's r), indicating how they were calculated
		Our web collection on statistics for biologists contains articles on many of the points above.

Software and code

Policy information about <u>availability of computer code</u>

 Data collection
 Clinical data were recorded by a trained Clinical Research Associate using the Clinsight software (version _ Csonline 7.5.720.1). Flow

 Cytometry data were collected with BD FACSDIVA v8.01 or SpectroFlo V2.2.0 (Cytek)

 Data analysis

 Statistical analysis were performed using GraphPad Prism version 8. Flow Cytometry data were analyzed with FlowJo Software (10.6.1, FlowJo LLC, BD Life Sciences), GLM in R 4.1.0

For manuscripts utilizing custom algorithms or software that are central to the research but not yet described in published literature, software must be made available to editors and reviewers. We strongly encourage code deposition in a community repository (e.g. GitHub). See the Nature Portfolio guidelines for submitting code & software for further information.

Data

Policy information about availability of data

- All manuscripts must include a data availability statement. This statement should provide the following information, where applicable:
 - Accession codes, unique identifiers, or web links for publicly available datasets
 - A description of any restrictions on data availability
 - For clinical datasets or third party data, please ensure that the statement adheres to our policy

The data that support the findings of this study are included in the "Source data" file available online. Viral sequences are available on GISAID (GISAID accession numbers: EPI_ISL_1707038 19A (B.38); EPI_ISL_1707039 Alpha (B.1.1.7); EPI_ISL_768828 Beta (B.1.351); EPI_ISL_1359892 Gamma (P.1); EPI_ISL_1904989; Delta (B.1.617.2).

Field-specific reporting

Please select the one below that is the best fit for your research. If you are not sure, read the appropriate sections before making your selection.

Life sciences

Behavioural & social sciences

Ecological, evolutionary & environmental sciences For a reference copy of the document with all sections, see nature.com/documents/nr-reporting-summary-flat.pdf

Life sciences study design

All studies must disclose on these points even when the disclosure is negative.

Sample size	We did not perform sample size calculations as we did not know what to expect in terms of difference for the different measurements. We tried to analyze 30 patients in each group for all immunological measurements, as, based on our experience, it was sufficient to reach good statistics for most of the measurements, given that we minimize variability by selecting patients without comorbidity with similar age range, to avoid batch effects patients from each group (ie homologous vs heterologous) were included in each experiment and the number of experiments performed to test all samples was reduced as much as technically feasible.
Data exclusions	In the T cell experiments in Figure 3G-H we had to exclude several samples in both groups that were all analyzed on the same day. Indeed, for this particular day of experiment, the thawing step was not performed properly and cells died. Because only one PBMC sample was available for each donor, we could not repeat the experiments for the corresponding individuals. No other data were exluded in this study.
Replication	For all neutralization experiments two to three replicates were performed to ensure reproducibility. For commercial Elisa kits, internal quality controls ensure reproducibility. Attempts to replicate Elisa and neutralization experiments were all successful. For flow cytometry experiments, each patient was analyzed once. Samples were run on consecutive days, and the results were consistent over the different days, ensuring the validity of the measurements.
Randomization	Participants were health care workers. The participation of the study did not modify the vaccination schedule of each participant. the intervention on participants was limited to blood sampling. They were allocated in each group on the basis of their vaccination schedule (ie homologous vs heterologous). We recruited patients after the priming step, not before (we therefore did not decide which patients would receive each vaccine). The choice of the prime vaccine was only driven by the availability (both vaccines were approved and given without preference). For immunological assays, samples were blinded and randomized.
Blinding	For all experiments in Figures 2 and 3, we used a blinded strategy to perform immunolgical and serological analyses: Each sample was labelled with the reference (not the name) of the patient, but not the identity of the group (ie heterologous vs homologous vaccination) and the identity was only revealed at the analysis step, after blinded data acquisition.

Reporting for specific materials, systems and methods

We require information from authors about some types of materials, experimental systems and methods used in many studies. Here, indicate whether each material, system or method listed is relevant to your study. If you are not sure if a list item applies to your research, read the appropriate section before selecting a response.

Materials & experimental systems

Palaeontology and archaeology

Animals and other organisms Human research participants

Dual use research of concern

Involved in the study

Eukaryotic cell lines

Antibodies

Clinical data

N /	العرب ا		-1-
IV	eti	no	as

- Involved in the study n/a \boxtimes ChIP-seq Flow cytometry
 - \times MRI-based neuroimaging

Antibodies

n/a

 \boxtimes

 \mathbf{X}

 \mathbf{N}

Antibodies used

Pseudovirus neutralization assavs: Anti-spike SARS-CoV-2 RBD (Sino Biologicals # 40150-V08B2) 1/100 anti-gp70 RD114 (ViroMed Biosafety Labs, #RD114) 1/100

Elisas

Recombinant protein Spike S1-His: SARS-CoV-2 (2019-nCoV) -Cat: 40591-V08H (Sino-biologicals) coating 1 microgr/ml Goat Anti-human IgA (alpha chain specific)-HRP (SIGMA)--Cat: A0295-1ML dilution 1/10000 Purified form of human chimeric IgA anti-RBD of SARS-COV-2 clone IB3C4 (B Cell Design): different concentrations (standard)

Flow c	ytometry:						
Marke	r Species/targeting	Fluoroch	rome C	Clone	Supplier	Cat num	ber Dilution
CD28	mouse anti-human	purified (CD28.2	BioL	egend	302933	1:100
CD49c	mouse anti-human	purified	9F10	BioL	egend	304339	1:100
CD3	mouse anti-human	BV786	UCHT1	BD B	iosciences	565491	1:100
CD4	mouse anti-human	BUV496	SK3	BD B	iosciences	612937	1:50
CD8	mouse anti-human	PECy7	RPA-T8	BioL	egend	301012	1:100
CD19	mouse anti-human	APC Cy7	HIB19	BioL	egend	302218	1:100
CD14	mouse anti-human	APC Cy7	M5E2	BioL	egend	301820	1:100
CD56	mouse anti-human	APC Cy7	5.1H11	BioL	egend	362512	1:100
IFNγ	mouse anti-human	PE	B27	BD E	Biosciences	554701	1:50
Fixable	e Viability Dye	eF780		eBio	science	65-0865-3	14 1:500
CD3	mouse anti-human	APCFire8	10 SK7		Biolegend	3448	358 1:100
CD11c	mouse anti-human	BV785	3.9		Biolegend	3016	544 1:50
CD19	mouse anti-human	PE Vio770) LT-1	19	Miltenyi	130-	113-170 1:100
CD20	mouse anti-human	BV421	2H7		BD Bioscie	nces 562	2873 1:100
CD21	mouse anti-human	BUV496	B-ly	4	BD Bioscie	ences 750	0614 1:50
CD27	mouse anti-human	PercP-Vic	700 M-	T271	Miltenyi	130-1	113-632 1:100
CD38	mouse anti-human	Viobright	FITC RE	A572	Miltenyi	130-	113-433 1:50
lgD	mouse anti-human	BV605	IA6-2	2	Biolegen	3482	32 1:50
lgM	mouse anti-human	PE-CF594	G20-	127	BD Biosci	ences 56	2539 1:50
lgG	mouse anti-human	BV480	G18-	145	BD Biosci	ences 74	6341 1:50

Biotinylated recombinant RBD domain of SARS Cov 2 RBD was purchased from Miltenyi Biotech (# 130-127-457) and tetramerized either with streptavidin-PE (BD Biosciences, # 554061) or with streptavidin-APC (Biolegend, # 105243).

Validation

All antibodies used in this study are commercially available, and all have been validated and quality checked by the manufacturers and used in other published works (For references, refer to the supplier's websites : https://www.bdbiosciences.com/en-eu

https://www.biolegend.com/

https://www.thermofisher.com/fr/fr/home/life-science/antibodies/ebioscience.html

https://www.miltenyibiotec.com/FR-en/.

We also have personal experience of all these antibodies and based on this experience, we can assess the validity of the antibodies. We titrated these antibodies according to our own staining conditions of human PBMCs (usually 1-2 millions cells/100 microliters, 30 min at 4°C).

Eukaryotic cell lines

Policy information about cell lines	
Cell line source(s)	Vero E6 cells (ATCC CRL-1586) and HEK293T cells (ATCC CRL-1573)
Authentication	We did not authenticate the cell lines, but such authentication is performed by the supplier (ATCC) as part of the quality control
Mycoplasma contamination	All cell lines were regularly screened and tested negative for mycoplasma using a commercial kit (Lonza MycoAlert kit) # LT07-418
Commonly misidentified lines (See <u>ICLAC</u> register)	no commonly misidentified cell lines were used in the study

Human research participants

Policy information about <u>studie</u>	s involving human research participants
Population characteristics	Health care workers for COVID-19 vaccinated with Pfizer BNT162b2 and/or AstraZeneca ChadOx01ncov-19 vaccines were included in a prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted in the Hospices Civils de Lyon (Lyon, France). Demographic characteristics are depicted in Table 2.
Recruitment	For the epidemiological investigation in Figure 1 (N=13121), all subjects (health care workers) who were vaccinated with both regimens were included, without exclusion criteria. For the 60 subjects included in the immunological study, we selected 60 subjects who had not been infected by SARS-CoV-2 before vaccination, without comorbidity, and who gave their consent for the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.
Ethics oversight	The use and analysis of data from the occupational health medical file was authorized after a regulatory declaration to the National Commission for Information Technology and Civil Liberties (CNIL) according to the reference methodology (declaration MR004 n° 20-121 of 30 april 2020). Covid-ser-vac: ethics approval was obtained from the national review board for biomedical research in April 2020 (Comité de Protection des Personnes Sud Méditerranée I, Marseille, France; ID RCB 2020-A00932-37)

Note that full information on the approval of the study protocol must also be provided in the manuscript.

Clinical data

Policy information about <u>clinical studies</u>

All manuscripts should comply	with the ICMJE guidelines for publication of clinical research and a completed CONSORT checklist must be included with all submissions.
Clinical trial registration	NCT04341142
Study protocol	We amended the first version of protocol (https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/11/e041268) with the aim to include vaccinated HCWs _ favorable amendment obtained 15th January 2021 from the comité de Protection des Personnes Sud Méditerranée I, Marseille, France; ID RCB 2020-A00932-37).
Data collection	For analyses of infections (Figure 1), Health Care Workers at the Lyon University hospital (HCL) who received each vaccination regimen were monitored for infections starting in January 2021 in both groups. Data in Figure 1 show the infections that occurred after the 14-days postboost period, up to the end of the recording (08/15/2021) For immunological analyses (Figures 2-3), clinical data were collected using the Clinsight software, during January-April 2021 Blood samples were processed and stored at the Centre de Ressource Biologique Neurobiotec, 69500 Bron. Serological and immunological analyses were performed at the Lyon-Sud hospital or at the Centre International de recherche en infectiologie (CIRI) in Lyon.
Outcomes	For figure 1 (analyses of infections) the primary outcome was the infection status ie not infected vs infected. This was assessed by performing RT-PCR for SARS-CoV-2 upon contact with confirmed cases or upon symptoms onset. For figures 2 and 3, (covid-ser study), the primary outcome was the positivity of the SARS-Cov-2 serological test at different time points, and the secondary outcome was the serum level of IgM and IgG titers and the serum neutralization capacity.

Flow Cytometry

Plots

Confirm that:

The axis labels state the marker and fluorochrome used (e.g. CD4-FITC).

The axis scales are clearly visible. Include numbers along axes only for bottom left plot of group (a 'group' is an analysis of identical markers).

All plots are contour plots with outliers or pseudocolor plots.

A numerical value for number of cells or percentage (with statistics) is provided.

Methodology

Sample preparation	For T cell stimulation and staining: Cryopreserved PBMCs were thawed and rested overnight in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS in 5% CO2 at
	37°C. On the second day, cytokine-producing T cells were identified by intracellular cytokine staining (ICS): Briefly, the PBMCs
	were stimulated with individual peptides for 1 h in the presence of 1 μ g/mL monoclonal antibodies against human CD28
	(Biolegend) and CD49d (Biolegend) then for an additional 5h with GolgiPlug (brefeldin A, BD Biosciences), GolgiStop
	(monensin, BD Biosciences). Then a standard antibody staining was carried out: dead cells were first labelled with Live/ DEAD™ Fixable eE780 dve (ThermoEisher) and then followed by surface antibody staining. Subsequently, Cytofix/Cytoperm
	kit (BD Biosciences) was used for permeabilizing the cells before staining the cells with antibodies against molecules
	expressed intracentiany. For SARS-CoV-2 RRD-specific B cells analysis :
	PBMC staining were clearly described in the methods section of the manuscript. Briefly, cryopreserved PBMCs were
	centrifuged and resuspended in PEB Buffer (PBS + 0.5% BSA and 2 mM EDTA) and incubated with Fc receptor block (Miltenyi 120,059) for 15 min at 4%. Next, calle were washed in PEB and stained for 30 min in brilliant stain buffer at 4% in the dark
	using surface antibodies with both the PF- and APC-conjugated recombinant RBD tetramers.
	Then, cells were washed in PEB, and resuspended in a PEB dilution of the fixable viability dye eFluor 780 (ebiosciences
	65-0865-18). They were next washed and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 20 min at 4°C in the dark before a final
	wash and resuspension for flow cytometry analysis.
Instrument	BD LSRFortessa 5L (T cell) or Cytek Aurora spectral flow cytometer 5L (B cell)
Software	Flow cytometry data were collected with BD FACSDIVA v8.01 or SpectroFlo V2.2.0 (Cytek) and analyzed with FlowJo software version 10.7.1 FlowJo LLC)
Cell population abundance	Bulk PBMC were used. No cell sorting was performed.
Gating strategy	Peptide-specific T cell subsets were identified via the following gating strategy: Viable lymphocytes were addressed by
2 2/	successive gating in SSC-A/FSC-A plot followed by excluding DUMP positive cells (dead cells, CD14, CD19, CD56) in a FSC-A/
	DUMP plot. Then, singlets were gated in a FSC-A/FSC-H plot and CD3+ T cells were gated in CD3/FSC-A plot. From CD3+ T
	and peptide-specific CD8 T cells were gated in CD4/CD8 plots. Next, peptide-specific CD4 T cells were gated by plotting CD4/IFNg and peptide-specific CD8 T cells were gated by plotting CD8/IFNg.
	Coting strategy for PPD specific P coll applysis is provided in the supplementary information file and coll population are
	defined. Briefly, successive gating were applied for single cells and viable cells. Then, B cells were gated as CD19+/CD3- cells.

Within the B cell gate, memory B cells (mBCs) were defined as non-naïve/non transitional B cells on the same biparameter CD27/IgD plot. Then, PE- (RBD#1) and APC- conjugated (RBD #2) SARSCoV2 RBD probes in B cell gate and memory B cell gate were gated in RBD#1/ RBD#2 plot. Unswitched (IgD+CD27+), and switched (csM, IgD-CD27+) RBD-specific memory B cells were defined. Next, IgG+ and IgG-/IgM switched RBD-binding memory B cells were defined based on the IgM/IgG plot.

 \square Tick this box to confirm that a figure exemplifying the gating strategy is provided in the Supplementary Information.

Discussion of Article 4

Here we reported that heterologous vaccination induces a better immune response against SARS-CoV2 in terms of neutralizing antibody titers, and more switched memory B cells irrespective of the variant analyzed at that moment. Other studies published later have also corroborated our results and they included recent variants like Omicron (242–244). Even though heterologous vaccination is better, neutralizing activities against Omicron subvariants are negligible, and breakthrough infections after 3 months are high independent of the vaccination schedule used (244). It has been shown that Fc effector functions are different between patients who had a breakthrough infection and patients who had not, after homologous vaccination with ChAdOx1 vaccine, and this difference was correlated with a different antibody glycosylation pattern (245). We also wanted to study in our *in vitro* model the Fc-effector activation in our cohort of vaccinees. We show that IgA from heterologous vaccinated individuals is better activating FcR than IgA from homologous vaccinated individuals (**Fig. 18**) (unpublished data).



Figure 18. IgG or IgA dependent FcR activation from vaccinated individuals with a homologous or heterologous scheme.

Fold change was calculated with a baseline from a pre-pandemic pool of samples. Results were normalized by the anti-S1 IgG or IgA concentrations in each sample. Non-parametric Mann-Whitney test for unpaired comparisons (between vaccination groups) was performed using GraphPadPrism software (v. 9.4.1). Significance p<0.05.

122

Results

We found no differences in the IgG-dependent FcR-activation between both groups of vaccinees. This suggests that IgA are more functional in the heterologous scheme.

It would be interesting to make a follow up study with similar vaccinees to see the incidence of breakthrough infections and the correlation with Fc-effector functions. Whether some vaccinees are predisposed to generate particular antibody functional profiles more effectively or whether some vaccinees simply failed to generate anti-inflammatory FcR-binding antibodies remains unclear.

We also showed that memory B Cells (mBCs) still exhibit features of activation 4 weeks after the booster dose in the heterologous regimen, which suggests that the post-boost process of mBCs differentiation is more active in this schedule. In line with our results, later studies have reported that ChAdOx1:mRNA-1273 heterologous immunization boost the prime immunofocused responses onto epitopes expressed on prefusion-stabilized S and displayed overall higher binding affinities and increased breadth of reactivity against VOCs (242).

We further wanted to study breakthrough infections in vaccinated individuals and the long-term humoral immune response, especially in the context of Delta and Omicron variants.

Results

Article 5: Breakthrough infections in COVID-19 (Brief communication published in NPJ Vaccines in April 2023)

BRIEF COMMUNICATION OPEN Long-term humoral response following Delta and Omicron BA.1 co-infection

Carla Saade ^[b], Bruno Pozzetto ^{[b],2}, Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa ^[b], Guy Oriol ^[b], Laurence Josset ^{[b],4,5}, Bruno Lina ^{[b],4,5}, Stéphane Paul ^{[b],2}, Antonin Bal ^{[b],4,5} and Sophie Trouillet-Assant ^{[b],3⊠}

This study reports the 6-month humoral immune response in vaccinated patients concomitantly infected with Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants of SARS-CoV-2. Interestingly, the simultaneous exposure to the Delta and BA.1 S proteins does not confer an additional immune advantage compared to exposure to the BA.1 S protein alone.

npj Vaccines (2023)8:57; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-023-00652-8

Bivalent vaccines containing two different sequences of the Spike (S) protein have been recently approved. First studies evaluating the short-term immune response after the administration of bivalent vaccines have reported contradictory results^{1–5}. Moreover, the long-term immunity outcomes of this bivalent vaccine need further investigation, especially given the waning of the humoral response. Others and we have reported cases of simultaneous infection by the Delta and BA.1 variants, both having caused major COVID-19 epidemic waves worldwide^{6,7}. The present report describes the long-term humoral response of patients infected at the same time with the Delta and BA.1 variants. The main goal of the study was to compare breakthrough infections with only one or two variants simultaneously.

We included two groups of vaccinated individuals with a breakthrough infection (BA.1 in the first group [n = 9] and Delta and BA.1 co-infection in the second group [n = 9, Supplementary]Flow Chart]). Co-infection refers to the simultaneous detection of genomes belonging to two different SARS-CoV-2 variants as determined by sequencing⁶. All infected individuals experienced a mild form of COVID-19. We included 9 COVID-19-naïve individuals who received three doses of the BNT162b2 vaccine as a control group (Supplementary Table 1 for demographic data and Supplementary Table 2 for individual immunization/infection history). All individuals received the BNT162b2 vaccine to minimize differences between vaccination schemes. Blood sampling for humoral immunity investigation was performed 6 months after breakthrough infection for infected individuals or 6 months after the third vaccine injection for COVID-19-naïve individuals to take into account waning of the humoral immune response (Supplementary Table 1). Details regarding the interval between last immunization (infection for individuals with a breakthrough infection and vaccination for fully vaccinated individuals) and blood sampling for each participant, as well as immunization scheme are provided in Supplementary Table 2.

There was no significant difference in anti-receptor binding domain (RBD) IgG and anti-S1 IgA levels among individuals with a breakthrough infection caused by Delta and BA.1 or by BA.1 only; however, these levels were 4.13 and 10.83 -fold lower,

respectively, among COVID-19-naïve individuals than in those with hybrid immunity (Fig. 1a, b).

Neutralizing antibody titers were significantly lower among COVID-19-naïve individuals for all viral variants compared to BA.1-infected and Delta-BA.1-co-infected individuals. Compared to COVID-19-naïve individuals, the median neutralizing antibody titer of BA.1-infected individuals was 8-fold higher for the 19A isolate and 12-fold higher for the BA.5 isolate, and it was 8-fold higher for the 19A isolate and 16-fold higher for the BA.5 isolate in Delta-BA.1 co-infected individuals. Interestingly, no significant difference was observed between the two groups of individuals with a breakthrough infection (Fig. 1c).

In addition, we calculated the geometric mean titer (GMT) ratio between the three groups for all the tested parameters (Supplementary Table 3). These ratios were similar between the Delta-BA.1 co-infected and BA.1 infected individuals, but a marked difference was seen when compared to the COVID-19-naïve fully vaccinated individuals (ratios ranged from 4 to 20). Moreover, a multiple linear regression analysis was performed with two adjustment variables, i.e., interval between last immunization and blood sampling for humoral investigation, and age at blood sampling. This analysis found that these variables did not influence the humoral response (Supplementary Data).

Results reported herein show an enhanced humoral response after breakthrough infections caused by one or two variants. These results confirm the advantage conferred by so-called hybrid immunity that has already been shown to induce a more potent long-term humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 in comparison to that induced by vaccination only⁸. In addition, the absence of significant difference in anti-S total antibodies and neutralization capacity between individuals with a single or a dual breakthrough infection would suggest that a simultaneous exposure to the Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants does not confer an additional immune advantage in terms of humoral immunity.

The present study does, however, have certain limitations. The most evident is the small size of the effective in each group due to the rarity of simultaneous infection with two different SARS-CoV-2 variants; another limitation is that comorbidities were more



¹CIRI—Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Inserm, U1111, CNRS, UMR5308, ENS Lyon, Université Jean Monnet de Saint-Etienne, Lyon 69007, France. ²Immunology Laboratory, CIC1408, CHU Saint-Etienne, Saint-Etienne 42055, France. ³Joint Research Unit Civils Hospices of Lyon-bioMérieux, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Hôpital Lyon Sud, Pierre-Bénite 69310, France. ⁴Laboratoire de Virologie, Institut des Agents Infectieux, Centre National de Référence des virus des infections respiratoires, Hospices Civils de Lyon, F-69004 Lyon, France. ⁵GenEPII Sequencing Platform, Institut des Agents Infectieux, Hospices Civils de Lyon, F-69004 Lyon, France. ^{Sem}email: sophie.trouillet-assant@chu-lyon.fr



Fig. 1 Humoral immune response 6 months after last immunization in individuals vaccinated and then co-infected with Delta and BA.1, or vaccinated and then infected with BA.1, or in COVID-19-naïve fully-vaccinated individuals. Blood samples were obtained 6 months after infection for the first two groups or 6 months after the third injection for the third group. Anti-RBD IgG levels were measured using the commercially available bioMérieux Vidas SARS-CoV-2 IgG diagnosis kit according to manufacturer's recommendations and expressed in binding antibody unit (BAU)/mL. The dotted line represents the threshold of positivity (≥ 20.33 BAU/mL; **a**). Anti-S1 IgA levels were measured using an ELISA test and expressed in µg/mL. The dotted line represents the positivity threshold (≥ 0.0018 µg/mL; **b**). Neutralizing antibody titers against live SARS-CoV-2 isolates using a 50% plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT₅₀). The isolates used for these experiments were 19A, Delta, Omicron BA.1, BA.4, and BA.5; their GISAID accession numbers are EPI_ISL_1707038, EPI_ISL_1904989, EPI_ISL_7608613, EPI_ISL_12396843, and EPI_ISL_12852091, respectively. The dotted line represents the positivity threshold (titer ≥ 20 ; **c**). Data are represented as box and whiskers plot; in each plot, the dots indicate individual samples, the upper and lower limits of the box plot represent the interquartile range [IQR] and the middle line represents the median. Whiskers represent the maximum and minimum value in each plot. All box and whiskers plots represent n = 9 biologically independent samples. A Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests were performed to assess differences between the three groups.

frequent in the COVID-19-naïve vaccinated group, even if these exhibited only one comorbidity each (Supplementary Table 1).

In conclusion, the results reported herein suggest the possibility of an immune imprinting in the context of anti-SARS-CoV-2 humoral response, also known as original antigenic sin. This phenomenon is in reference to a limited immune response against a new antigen variant after an exposure to the initial one^{2,3}. However, extrapolations of these findings to bivalent vaccines should be made with caution since a spontaneous infection is not equivalent to vaccination in terms of route of exposure as well as antigen load and diversity. It is also of note that contradictory results have been reported in terms of the additional protection provided by these new vaccines^{2–5}; long-term studies using bivalent vaccines, which are now the standard of care, will give better insight into their effectiveness.

METHODS

Study design and ethics

We included two groups of vaccinated individuals with a breakthrough infection (BA.1 in the first group [n = 9] and Delta and BA.1 co-infection in the second group [n = 9, Supplementary Flow Chart]). We included 9 COVID-19-naïve individuals who received three doses of the BNT162b2 vaccine as a control group. Blood sampling for humoral immunity investigation was performed 6 months after breakthrough infection for infected individuals or 6 months after the third vaccine injection for COVID-19-naïve individuals. Participants were included from two clinical studies registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05060939, NCT04341142). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and approval was obtained from the regional review board in April 2020 (*Comité de Protection des Personnes Sud Méditerranée I*, Marseille, France; ID-RCB 2020-A00932-37; ID-RCB 2021-A01877-34).

Laboratory methods

VIDAS[®] SARS-COV-2 IgG II (9COG, ref 424114) is an automated semi-quantitative assay for use on the VIDAS[®] family of instruments, for the detection of immunoglobulin G (IgG) specific for the SARS-CoV-2 receptor-binding domain (RBD) of the spike protein in human serum or plasma (lithium heparin) using the Enzyme Linked Fluorescent Assay (ELFA) technique. The VIDAS[®] SARS-COV-2 IgG II (9COG) is a commercialized validated assay with a CE marking. The test was carried out according to the protocol recommended by the manufacturer and expressed in binding antibody units (BAU)/mL.

Regarding the IgA ELISA assay, the test was validated with negative and positive samples as well as a calibration range with a recombinant IgA. In brief, high binding 96-half-well plates (#2310 M; NUNC) were coated with 100 μL per well of a spike protein solution (1 µg/mL; #40591-V08H Spike S1-RBD Sino Biologicals) in PBS overnight at 4 °C. Plates were washed with washing buffer containing 1X PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated with 170 µL of blocking buffer per well containing 1X PBS with 3% fat milk powder and 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 h at room temperature. Immediately after blocking, recombinant anti-RBD IgA (B Cell Design #IB3C4 PV) or serum samples diluted in PBS were added and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C. Plasma samples were assayed at a 1:100 starting dilution and seven additional threefold serial dilutions. Recombinant human anti-RBD IgA was used to perform a calibration curve starting at 1.5 µg/mL. Plates were washed and then incubated with anti-human IgA (A0295; Sigma-Aldrich) secondary Ab conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) in blocking buffer at 1:10000. Plates were developed by addition of the HRP substrate, 3,3',5,5"-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB; 34021; Thermo Fisher Scientific), for 10 min, and then the developing reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l of 1 M HCl. Optical density units were measured at 450 nm in a microplate reader (TECAN). For serum samples, a positive control (serum pool from critical COVID patients, diluted 200-fold in PBS) and a negative control (pool of historical serum samples) were added in duplicate to each run. After deduction of the background, a relative content in IgA Equivalent (ng/ml Eq) was calculated using the calibration curve. The limit of detection of the assay was 0.1 ng/mL Eq. All serum samples were tested as duplicates.

A live virus neutralization test measuring neutralizing antibodies titers against 19A, Delta and Omicron BA.1, BA.4, and BA.5 isolates and their GISAID accession numbers are EPI ISL 1707038, EPI ISL 1904989, EPI ISL 7608613, EPI ISL 12396843, and EPI ISL_12852091 respectively. Viral variants used for these experiments were cultured on Vero-E6 cells. Each serum tested was diluted 1:10 and serial twofold dilutions were mixed with an equal volume (100 uL) of virus. After gentle shaking and an incubation for 30 min at room temperature, 150 µL of each mixture was transferred to 96-well microplates covered with Vero-E6 cells. Then, the plates were incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Measurements were obtained microscopically 5-6 days later when the cytopathic effect of the virus control reached ~100 50% tissue culture infectious dose (TCID₅₀)/150 µL. The serum was considered to have protected the cells if >50% of the cell layer was preserved. The neutralizing titer was expressed as the inverse of the higher serum dilution that protected the cells. All serum samples were tested as duplicates.

Statistical analyses

To assess the differences in anti-RBD IgG levels, anti-S1 IgA and neutralizing antibody titers between the three groups, a Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests were performed. A multiple linear regression was performed to assess the impact of two adjustment variables, (i) delay between last immunization and blood sampling and (ii) age at blood sampling, on the humoral response described. Statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism[®] software (version 8; GraphPad software, La Jolla, CA, USA) and R software, version 3.6.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

Reporting summary

Further information on research design is available in the Nature Research Reporting Summary linked to this article.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request. GISAID accession numbers for the 19A, Delta, BA.1, BA.4, and BA.5 strains used are EPI_ISL_1707038, EPI_ISL_1904989, EPI_ISL_7608613, EPI_ISL_12396843, and EPI_ISL_12852091, respectively.

Received: 16 November 2022; Accepted: 23 March 2023; Published online: 20 April 2023

REFERENCES

- 1. Chalkias, S. et al. A bivalent omicron-containing booster vaccine against Covid-19. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **387**, 1279–129 (2022).
- Wang, Q. et al. Antibody response to Omicron BA.4–BA.5 bivalent booster. N. Engl. J. Med. 388, 567–569 (2023).
- Collier, A. Y. et al. Immunogenicity of BA.5 bivalent mRNA vaccine boosters. N. Engl. J. Med. 388, 565–567 (2023).
- 4. Winokur, P. et al. Bivalent Omicron BA.1–Adapted BNT162b2 booster in adults older than 55 years. N. Engl. J. Med. **388**, 214–227 (2023).
- 5. Zou, J. et al. Neutralization of BA.4-BA.5, BA.4.6, BA.2.75.2, BQ.1.1, and XBB.1 with Bivalent Vaccine. *N. Engl. J. Med* **388**, 854–857 (2023).

- Bal, A. et al. Detection and prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 co-infections during the Omicron variant circulation in France. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 6316 (2022).
- 7. Rockett, R. J. et al. Co-infection with SARS-CoV-2 Omicron and Delta variants revealed by genomic surveillance. *Nat. Commun.* **13**, 2745 (2022).
- Andreano, E. et al. Hybrid immunity improves B cells and antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 variants. *Nature* 600, 530–535 (2021).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all the staff members of the SARS-CoV-2 testing center of the Hospices Civils de Lyon who contributed to the sample collection. We are indebted to Cecile Barnel, the Clinical Research Associate, for her excellent work and to the technicians of the virology laboratory who participated to the data generation. We thank all the members of the clinical research and innovation department (DRCI, Hospices Civils de Lyon) for their contribution. We thank Hélène Boyer and Philip Robinson (DRCI, Hospices Civils de Lyon) for their help in manuscript preparation. We also acknowledge all the members of the Lyon Covid-ser study group including Jean-Baptiste Fassier, Nicolas Guibert, Gregory Destras, Bruno Simon, Dulce Alfaiate, Amélie Massardier-Pilonchery, Vanessa Escuret, Hélène Lozano, Bouchra Mokdad, Fanny Joubert and Camille Mena. Lastly, we thank all the participants for their involvement in the follow-up study. This study has benefited from funding from the *Agence Nationale de Recherches sur le Sida et les Hépatites Virales* (ANRS-0154).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S.T.A. and A.B. conceived the study. C.S., B.P., S.P., and M.Y.N. performed and interpreted experiments. B.L., A.B., and L.J. performed metagenomics analysis to identify viral strains. G.O. analyzed and interpreted data. C.S. wrote the initial draft, performed statistical analysis and generated figures. All authors read, edited and approved the final manuscript.

COMPETING INTERESTS

G.O. is a bioMérieux employee. The other authors report no potential conflict of interest.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Supplementary information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-023-00652-8.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to Sophie Trouillet-Assant.

Reprints and permission information is available at http://www.nature.com/ reprints

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2023

Supplementary material

	Delta-BA.1 co- infection (n=9)	BA.1 Infection (n=9)	COVID-19-naïve individuals (n=9)
Female, n (%)	3 (33)	6 (66)	6 (66)
Age at blood sampling, years, median [IQR]	32 [23-40]	49 [29-54]	51 [48-64]
Interval between last immunization ¹ and blood sampling for humoral immunity investigation, days, median [IQR]	203 [197-212]	193 [208-166]	179 [178-183]
Comorbidities, n (%) - hypertension - diabetes - hypothyroidism - vascular disease - chronic lung disease - heterozygous sickle cell disease	1 (11) 0 0 0 0 1 (11) 0	1 (11) 0 0 0 1 (11) 0 0	6 (66) 1 (11) 1 (11) 1 (11) 0 2 (22) 1 (11)
Vaccination scheme, n (%) - 3 injections of BNT162b2 ² - 2 injections of BNT162b2 - 1 injection of BNT162b2	2 (22) 6 (66) 1 (11)	3 (33) 6 (66) 0	9 (100) 0 0
Previous infection, n (%)	2 (22)	2 (22)	0

Supplementary Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of the 27 healthcare workers included in the study.

IQR: interquartile range.

¹ Last immunization corresponds to the infection for both groups with a breakthrough infection and the third vaccine injection for the COVID-19-naïve fully vaccinated group.

² BNT162b2 corresponds to the Pfizer-BioNTech monovalent SARS-CoV-2 vaccine.

Supplementary Table 2. Individual characteristics of the 27 healthcare workers included into the study.

Subject	Last immunization ¹	Age at blood sampling, years	Sex	Immunization scheme	Date of first vaccine injection	Date of second vaccine injection	Date of third vaccine injection	Date of previous infection	Date of breakthrough infection diagnosis	Date of blood sampling for humoral investigation	Delay last immunization ¹ - blood sampling for humoral investigation, days
Delta-BA.1	co-infection (n=9)										
Subject-1	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	26	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	07/27/2021	08/18/2021	-	-	12/20/2021	07/23/2022	215
Subject-2	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	20	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	06/2021	07/28/2021	-	-	12/27/2021	07/22/2022	207
Subject-3	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	43	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	03/2021	04/08/2021	12/01/2021	-	12/27/2021	07/25/2022	210
Subject-4	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	49	Male	3 injections of BNT162b2	06/2021	07/12/2021	12/12/2021	-	12/27/2021	08/01/2022	217
Subject-5	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	38	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	08/18/2021	09/2021	-	-	12/31/2021	07/21/2022	202
Subject-6	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	18	Female	2 injections of BNT162b2	09/2021	10/07/2021	-	-	01/03/2022	07/25/2022	203
Subject-7	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	26	Female	2 injections of BNT162b2 and previous breakthrough infection	06/2021	07/2021	-	12/16/2021	01/04/2022	07/21/2022	198
Subject-8	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	35	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	07/2021	07/22/2021	-	-	01/17/2022	07/23/2022	187
Subject-9	Simultaneous Delta and BA.1 breakthrough infection	32	Male	Previous infection followed by 1 injection of BNT162b2	07/07/2021	-	-	11/2020	01/18/2022	08/03/2022	197
BA.1 infecti	on (n=9)										
Subject-1	BA.1 breakthrough infection	58	Male	3 injections of BNT162b2	09/01/2020	02/01/2021	10/14/2021	-	01/16/2022	06/21/2022	156
Subject-2	BA.1 breakthrough infection	26	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	01/16/2021	02/25/2021	-	-	12/18/2021	07/21/2022	215
Subject-3	BA.1 breakthrough infection	33	Male	2 injections of BNT162b2	12/01/2020	02/08/2021	-	-	12/19/2021	06/30/2022	193
Subject-4	BA.1 breakthrough infection	49	Female	2 injections of BNT162b2 and previous breakthrough infection	06/01/2021	07/01/2021	-	10/01/2021	01/03/2022	06/23/2022	171
Subject-5	BA.1 breakthrough infection	25	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/22/2021	02/22/2021	11/24/2021	-	01/24/2022	08/04/2022	192
Subject-6	BA.1 breakthrough infection	54	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	06/01/2021	07/01/2021	10/01/2021	-	01/18/2022	08/22/2022	216
Subject-7	BA.1 breakthrough infection	54	Female	2 injections of BNT162b2	09/15/2021	10/15/2021	-	-	01/16/2022	07/28/2022	193
Subject-8	BA.1 breakthrough infection	51	Female	2 injections of BNT162b2	07/16/2021	08/17/2021	-	-	01/16/2022	08/05/2022	201

Subject-9	BA.1 breakthrough infection	35	Female	Previous infection followed by 2 injections of BNT162b2	04/01/2021	11/01/2021	-	03/01/2020	01/23/2022	07/04/2022	162
COVID-19-I	naïve individuals (n=9)										
Subject-1	Third injection of BNT162b2	49	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/20/2021	02/26/2021	10/29/2021	-	-	04/26/2022	179
Subject-2	Third injection of BNT162b2	51	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/20/2021	02/22/2021	11/29/2021	-	-	05/30/2022	182
Subject-3	Third injection of BNT162b2	77	Male	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/20/2021	02/17/2021	11/25/2021	-	-	05/23/2022	179
Subject-4	Third injection of BNT162b2	67	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/21/2021	02/18/2021	09/14/2021	-	-	03/21/2022	188
Subject-5	Third injection of BNT162b2	58	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/21/2021	02/19/2021	11/19/2021	-	-	05/17/2022	179
Subject-6	Third injection of BNT162b2	62	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/22/2021	02/26/2021	11/19/2021	-	-	05/16/2022	178
Subject-7	Third injection of BNT162b2	50	Male	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/25/2021	02/22/2021	11/19/2021	-	-	05/12/2022	174
Subject-8	Third injection of BNT162b2	48	Female	3 injections of BNT162b2	02/01/2021	02/22/2021	10/22/2021	-	-	04/21/2022	181
Subject-9	Third injection of BNT162b2	38	Male	3 injections of BNT162b2	01/26/2021	02/16/2021	11/27/2021	-	-	05/31/2022	185

¹ Last immunization corresponds to the infection for both groups with a breakthrough infection and the third vaccine injection for the COVID-19-naïve fully vaccinated group.

Group	Test	GMT ¹ (95% CI) ²	GMT ratio		
-			1 vs 2	1 <i>vs</i> 3	2 <i>vs</i> 3
	Anti-RBD IgG (BAU/mL)	4774 (042 2055)			
1	Delta-BA.1 co-Infected	1//1 (813-3855)			
2	BA.1 metted	2220 (1336-3689)	0.80	4.53	5.68
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	391 (230-664)			
	Anti-S1 IgA (ug/mL)				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-infected	0.47 (0.22-1.00)			
2	BA.1 infected	0.62 (0.44-0.88)			
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	0.05 (0.03-0.10)	0.77	9.00	11.76
	Neutralizing antibodies (titer)				
	19A				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-intected	1010 (472-2162)			
2	BA.1 infected	1194 (625-2280)	0.85	8.92	10.55
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	113 (54-240)			
	Delta				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-infected	563 (260-1221)			
2	BA.1 infected	855 (579-1262)	0.66	9.76	14.81
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	58 (30-109)			
	BA.1				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-infected	198 (100-392)			
2	BA.1 infected	318 (166-612)	0.62	12.87	20.70
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	15 (10-25)			
	BA.4				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-infected	80 (61-104)			
2	BA.1 infected	186 (117-294)	0.43	6.31	14.73
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	13 (9-18)			
	BA.5				
1	Delta-BA.1 co-infected	132 (68-256)			
2	BA.1 infected	174 (136-223)	0.76	10.02	13.21
3	COVID-19-naive fully vaccinated	13 (9-18)			

Supplementary Table 3. Results of the serological tests in the three groups of participants.

¹GMT: Geometric mean titer

² 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

NB: GMT results were rounded to the unit for the first and the third parameters tested and to two digits after unit for the second one. GMT ratios were rounded to two digits after the unit for all parameters.

Supplementary Data:

Since demographical parameters were not similar between the three groups we performed a multiple linear regression to assess the impact of the two adjustment variables, i) delay between last immunization and blood sampling and ii) age at blood sampling, on the humoral response described. This analysis highlights that these variables could not solely explain the lack of significant difference observed in the humoral response between individuals with a Delta-BA.1 co-infection and those with a BA.1 infection or the significant difference observed between both of these groups with the COVID-19-naïve fully vaccinated group.

	Anti-RBD lgG levels (BAU/mL)	Anti-S1 IgA (μg/mL)	PRNT ₅₀ -19A	PRNT ₅₀ -Delta	PRNT ₅₀ -BA.1	PRNT ₅₀ -BA.4	PRNT ₅₀ -BA.5
Delay between last immunization ¹ and blood sampling for humoral investigation	p-value= 0.4159	p-value= 0.4459	p-value=0.0412	p-value=0.9511	p-value=0.7228	p-value=0.3340	p-value=0.8880
Age at blood sampling	p-value=0.6509	p-value=0.8831	p-value=0.3221	p-value=0.9040	p-value=0.9775	p-value=0.9641	p-value=0.9028

¹ Last immunization corresponds to the infection for both groups with a breakthrough infection and the third vaccine injection for the COVID-19-naïve fully vaccinated group.

Supplementary Flow Chart: Flow chart detailing the inclusion process of the 9 Delta-BA.1 co-infected individuals.



¹ Patients were first included in the *Bal A et al.*, Nat Commun, 2022⁶, study where researchers identified 29 cases of Delta-BA.1 co-infections

nature portfolio

Corresponding author(s): Sophie Trouillet-Assanr

Last updated by author(s): Feb 15, 2023

Reporting Summary

Nature Portfolio wishes to improve the reproducibility of the work that we publish. This form provides structure for consistency and transparency in reporting. For further information on Nature Portfolio policies, see our <u>Editorial Policies</u> and the <u>Editorial Policy Checklist</u>.

Statistics

For	all st	atistical analyses, confirm that the following items are present in the figure legend, table legend, main text, or Methods section.
n/a	Cor	firmed
	\boxtimes	The exact sample size (n) for each experimental group/condition, given as a discrete number and unit of measurement
	\boxtimes	A statement on whether measurements were taken from distinct samples or whether the same sample was measured repeatedly
	\boxtimes	The statistical test(s) used AND whether they are one- or two-sided Only common tests should be described solely by name; describe more complex techniques in the Methods section.
	\boxtimes	A description of all covariates tested
	\boxtimes	A description of any assumptions or corrections, such as tests of normality and adjustment for multiple comparisons
		A full description of the statistical parameters including central tendency (e.g. means) or other basic estimates (e.g. regression coefficient) AND variation (e.g. standard deviation) or associated estimates of uncertainty (e.g. confidence intervals)
	\boxtimes	For null hypothesis testing, the test statistic (e.g. <i>F</i> , <i>t</i> , <i>r</i>) with confidence intervals, effect sizes, degrees of freedom and <i>P</i> value noted <i>Give P values as exact values whenever suitable</i> .
\boxtimes		For Bayesian analysis, information on the choice of priors and Markov chain Monte Carlo settings
\boxtimes		For hierarchical and complex designs, identification of the appropriate level for tests and full reporting of outcomes
\boxtimes		Estimates of effect sizes (e.g. Cohen's d, Pearson's r), indicating how they were calculated
		Our web collection on <u>statistics for biologists</u> contains articles on many of the points above.

Software and code

Policy information about availability of computer code				
Data collection	Clinical data were recorded by a trained Clinical Research Associate using Clinsight software (version _ Csonline 7.5.720.1).			
Data analysis	Statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism [®] software (version 8; GraphPad software, La Jolla, CA, USA) and R software, version 3.6.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).			

For manuscripts utilizing custom algorithms or software that are central to the research but not yet described in published literature, software must be made available to editors and reviewers. We strongly encourage code deposition in a community repository (e.g. GitHub). See the Nature Portfolio guidelines for submitting code & software for further information.

Data

Policy information about availability of data

All manuscripts must include a data availability statement. This statement should provide the following information, where applicable:

- Accession codes, unique identifiers, or web links for publicly available datasets
- A description of any restrictions on data availability
- For clinical datasets or third party data, please ensure that the statement adheres to our policy

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request. GISAID accession numbers for the 19A, Delta, BA.1, BA.4 and BA.5 strains used are EPI_ISL_1707038, EPI_ISL_1904989, EPI_ISL_7608613, EPI_ISL_12396843, and EPI_ISL_12852091, respectively.

Human research participants

Reporting on sex and genderSex information of participants has been collected and presented in supplementary table S2Population characteristicsPopulation characteristics such as sex, age distribution and comorbidities of the study participants are presented in table S2.RecruitmentParticipants were included 6 months following the diagnosis with a breakthrough infection caused by either Delta and BA.1
simultaneoulsy or BA.1 only and after informed consent was obtained. As for vaccinated individuals, they were included 6
months after their third vaccine injection and after informed consent was obtained.Ethics oversightApproval was obtained from the regional review board in April 2020 (Comité de Protection des Personnes Sud Méditerranée
I, Marseille, France; ID-RCB 2020-A00932-37; ID-RCB 2021-A01877-34).

Note that full information on the approval of the study protocol must also be provided in the manuscript.

Policy information about studies involving human research participants and Sex and Gender in Research.

Field-specific reporting

Please select the one below that is the best fit for your research. If you are not sure, read the appropriate sections before making your selection.

Life sciences Behavioural & social sciences Ecological, evolutionary & environmental sciences

For a reference copy of the document with all sections, see <u>nature.com/documents/nr-reporting-summary-flat.pdf</u>

Life sciences study design

All studies must disclose on these points even when the disclosure is negative.

Sample size	We did not perform sample size calculations as we were only able to include 9 individuals co-infected with Delta and BA.1 due to the rarity of such infections. We included 9 individuals infected with only BA.1 and 9 vaccinated with three doses of the BNT162b2 vaccine in order to be homogeneous among the three groups
Data exclusions	No data were excluded from the analyses
Replication	For the measurment of anti-RBD IgG levels, samples were tested as simplicate since we used validated commercial ELFA kits and internal quality controls ensure reproducibility. As for the anti-S1 IgA measurement assay and the neutralizing antibody assay, samples were tested in duplicates
Randomization	They were allocated in each group on the basis of their immunization scheme (ie Delta-BA.1 co-infection vs BA.1 infection vs COVID-19-naive with three vaccine injections). For immunological assays, samples were blinded and randomized.
Blinding	Coded samples were used for all experiments thus investigators were blinded to group allocation.

Reporting for specific materials, systems and methods

We require information from authors about some types of materials, experimental systems and methods used in many studies. Here, indicate whether each material, system or method listed is relevant to your study. If you are not sure if a list item applies to your research, read the appropriate section before selecting a response.

Materials & experimental systems

Methods



Antibodies

Antibodies used	Elisas Recombinant protein Spike S1-His: SARS-CoV-2 (2019-nCoV) -Cat: 40591-V08H (Sino-biologicals) coating 1 microgr/ml Goat Anti-human IgA (alpha chain specific)-HRP (SIGMA)Cat: A0295-1ML dilution 1/10000
Validation	All antibodies used in this study are commercially available, and all have been validated and quality checked by the manufacturers and used in other published works

Eukaryotic cell lines

Policy information about cell lines and Sex and Gender in Research					
Cell line source(s)	Vero E6 cells (ATCC CRL-1586)				
Authentication	We did not authenticate the cell lines, but such authentication is performed by the supplier (ATCC) as part of the quality control				
Mycoplasma contamination	All cell lines were regularly screened and tested negative for mycoplasma using a commercial kit (Lonza MycoAlert kit) # LT07-418				
Commonly misidentified lines (See <u>ICLAC</u> register)	no commonly misidentified cell lines were used in the study				

Clinical data

Policy information about <u>clinical studies</u> All manuscripts should comply with the ICMJE <u>guidelines for publication of clinical research</u> and a completed <u>CONSORT checklist</u> must be included with all submissions.

Clinical trial registration	NCT05060939, NCT04341142
Study protocol	Study protocol is available upon request
Data collection	Participants with a breakthrough infection caused by Delta-BA.1 simultaneously or BA.1 only blood sampling was perfomed between june and august 2022. As for individuals who are COVID-19 naive and triple vaccinated, blood sampling was perfomed between march and may 2022.
Outcomes	The primary outcome was the positivity of the SARS-Cov-2 serological test and quantification of anti-RBD IgG and anti-S1 IgA, and the secondary outcome was the serum neutralization capacity.

Results

Discussion of Article 5

As exposed in the introduction, SARS-CoV-2 evolves very quick and new variants appeared influencing the epidemiology, clinical symptoms, and immunology print in the population. Several variants might be circulating at the same time, and vaccinated individuals presented breakthrough infections. Therefore, we wanted to study the immune response after these new infections in vaccinated individuals. The results presented in this study demonstrate an increased humoral response following breakthrough infections caused by one or two SARS-CoV-2 variants. These findings support the concept of hybrid immunity, which has previously been shown to elicit a more robust and durable humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 compared to vaccination alone (246). Even though rare, simultaneous infections with two different SARS-CoV-2 can occur and herein we found that there is no difference in the levels of anti-S total antibodies and neutralization capacity between individuals with a single breakthrough infection and those with a dual infection involving the Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants. This suggests that simultaneous exposure to SARS-CoV-2 variants does not confer additional advantages in terms of humoral immunity. However, in this study, we only evaluated the systemic humoral immune response, but SARS-CoV-2 is a respiratory virus. Therefore, studying the mucosal immune response is necessary to better understand protection and long-term immunity and it should be matter of future studies.

It would be interesting to expand this study to a larger cohort of patients and to new variants. It might even be interesting to study if there could be triple or more simultaneous infections in some individuals. These phenomena may be more relevant in immunosuppressed individuals as viral recombinants might form in this
population. The study of their immunity after multiple infections could also be interesting to evaluate in order to give a correct follow-up and treatment to this type of patients.

Even though here we saw no differences between mono or bivalent infection, this should not be taken into consideration when talking about the bivalent vaccines, as both immunizations are not equivalent in terms of antigen exposure, diversity, and load. In addition, contradictory results regarding the additional protection provided by these new vaccines have been reported (247–250). Therefore, it could be interesting to do long-term studies using bivalent vaccines to better understand their effectiveness. Moreover, cellular immune response, including resident memory T cells, should be studied to understand their role in breakthrough infections.

With the appearance of new variants, and as seen that this is something that will continue to appear in SARS-CoV-2 evolution, the question about the possible ADE effect of vaccination or even a previous infection, it was arose since the beginning of the vaccination campaigns. We wanted to address this issue using an *in vitro* test that we previously developed in the lab (251) with some modifications for SARS-COV-2 infection. Results are in the following article of this manuscript (Article 6).

Results

Article 6: ADE in COVID-19

(Brief report published in Vaccines in March 2023)





Brief Report Prior COVID-19 Immunization Does Not Cause IgA- or IgG-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection

Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa ¹, Blandine Noailly ¹, Fabienne Jospin ¹, Anne-Emmanuelle Berger ^{1,2}, Louis Waeckel ^{1,2}, Elisabeth Botelho-Nevers ^{1,3}, Stéphanie Longet ¹, Thomas Bourlet ^{1,4} and Stéphane Paul ^{1,2,5,*}

- ¹ CIRI—Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team GIMAP, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Inserm, U1111, CNRS, UMR530, F42023 Saint-Etienne, France
- ² Immunology Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne, F42055 Saint-Etienne, France
- ³ Infectious Diseases Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne, F42055 Saint-Etienne, France
- ⁴ Infectious Agents and Hygiene Department, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne, F42055 Saint-Etienne, France
- ⁵ CIC 1408 Inserm Vaccinology, University Hospital of Saint-Etienne, F42055 Saint-Etienne, France
- * Correspondence: stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr

Abstract: Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) can increase the rates and severity of infection with various viruses, including coronaviruses, such as MERS. Some in vitro studies on COVID-19 have suggested that prior immunization enhances SARS-CoV-2 infection, but preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated the contrary. We studied a cohort of COVID-19 patients and a cohort of vaccinated individuals with a heterologous (Moderna/Pfizer) or homologous (Pfizer/Pfizer) vaccination scheme. The dependence on IgG or IgA of ADE of infection was evaluated on the serum samples from these subjects (twenty-six vaccinated individuals and twenty-one PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2-infected patients) using an in vitro model with CD16- or CD89-expressing cells and the Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage) and Omicron (B.1.1.529 lineage) variants of SARS-CoV-2. Sera from COVID-19 patients did not show ADE of infection with any of the tested viral variants. Some serum samples from vaccinated individuals displayed a mild IgA-ADE effect with Omicron after the second dose of the vaccine, but this effect was abolished after the completion of the full vaccination scheme. In this study, $Fc\gamma$ RIIIa- and $Fc\alpha$ RI-dependent ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection, was not observed.

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2; ADE; IgA; Delta; Omicron; vaccines

1. Introduction

Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) is known to increase infection and severe disease rates due to various viruses, including coronaviruses, such as MERS (Middle East respiratory syndrome). Two types of ADE have been described: intrinsic and extrinsic ADE. The first one refers to the cellular mechanisms that increase viral replication and release of new virions, while the second one refers to the elements relative to virus–receptor interaction and viral cell entry [1]. The possibility of ADE in COVID-19 (Coronavirus disease) has been a matter of debate. Some studies show an ADE effect in vitro (refs. [2–7]), but clinical and epidemiological studies show that prior immunization does not increase the likelihood of severe disease [7–13]. The ADE of SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2) infection has been reported to occur via various routes in vitro. For example, sera from patients convalescing from COVID-19 can enhance infection via the Fc γ R or C1q protein [2–4]. Furthermore, sera from convalescent individuals, but not from vaccinated individuals, has been reported to enhance virus uptake by monocytes in vitro without the production of viral particles. However, pyroptosis is triggered, which can increase inflammation in COVID-19 [14]. The antibodies responsible for ADE have



Citation: Yaugel-Novoa, M.; Noailly, B.; Jospin, F.; Berger, A.-E.; Waeckel, L.; Botelho-Nevers, E.; Longet, S.; Bourlet, T.; Paul, S. Prior COVID-19 Immunization Does Not Cause IgA- or IgG-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Vaccines* **2023**, *11*, 773. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vaccines11040773

Academic Editor: Michal Herman-Edelstein

Received: 9 March 2023 Revised: 28 March 2023 Accepted: 29 March 2023 Published: 31 March 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). been reported to target epitopes different from those targeted by antibodies capable of fully neutralizing infection [5–7,15]. The NTD (N-terminal domain) region of the spike protein is one of the ADE epitopes identified, with monoclonal antibodies targeting this region reported to increase SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro in ACE2 (angiotensin-converting enzyme 2)-overexpressing cells [5,15]. However, other in vitro studies with sera from patients convalescing from COVID-19 have found no evidence of ADE, even at subneutralizing concentrations [16,17].

We investigated the possible ADE effect of sera from vaccinated individuals and from SARS-CoV-2-infected patients with severe or asymptomatic COVID-19 following challenges with the Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage) or Omicron (B.1.1.529 lineage) variants. We investigated whether ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection occurred, and its possible dependence on IgG or IgA, using an in vitro model based on HEK-293 cells expressing the CD16 and CD89 receptors, respectively.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cohorts

Twenty-six individuals who had never had COVID-19 and had been vaccinated with the Pfizer BNT162b2 and/or Moderna mRNA-1273 vaccines were included in a prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted at CHU Nord de Saint-Etienne (Saint-Etienne, France). Blood was collected before and two weeks after administration of the booster dose of vaccine. We also studied a cohort of twenty-one PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2-infected patients with the B.1 strain. COVID-19 patients were split into two groups according to disease severity: 10 patients with mild or asymptomatic disease and 11 patients with severe disease requiring admission to the ICU. Serum samples were collected between 14 and 30 days post-symptom onset (PSO). Written informed consent for participation was obtained from all subjects; ethics approval was obtained from the CPP Ile de France V (NCT04648709).

2.2. Cell Models

HEK-CD89+ (Fc α RI), HEK-CD16+ (Fc γ RIIIa), and HEKWT cell lines were obtained from InvivoGen and previously described [18]. All cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% SVF and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (AAT). Cells were harvested with trypsin/EDTA solution and the stable expression of FcR was checked by flow cytometry before each experiment. All cell lines were maintained at 37 °C, in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂.

2.3. In Vitro Assay for Antibody-Dependent Enhancement (ADE)

The in vitro ADE assay was performed with cell lines expressing FcR (HEK-CD16+ or HEK-CD89+). Serum samples from vaccinated individuals and COVID-19 patients (1:100 dilution) were incubated with 0.7 MOI of Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage) or Omicron (B.1.1.529 lineage) variants for 1 h at 37 °C. HEK-CD16+, HEK-CD89+ or HEKWT cells were incubated with the mixture of serum plus virus for 120 h at 37 °C. Viral amplification was assessed by RT-PCR on the culture supernatant. We then calculated and compared the ratios of the amount of virus in each sample to that in a viral control without serum. Two monoclonal antibodies were used as positive controls: an anti-RBD IgG (Ref: G_SAR2-RBD_X30F12-PU; BCell Design, Limoges, France) was used for the CD16 test, and an anti-S IgA (Ref: MAB12439-100; Native Antigens, Kidlington, United Kingdom) was used for the CD89 test. Eight human serum samples from 2005 were used as the negative control, and the mean value for these samples plus twice the standard deviation was used as the cut-off for enhancement.

2.4. SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR for Viral Amplification

SARS-CoV-2 in the culture supernatant was quantified by RT-PCR without nucleic acid extraction, with the Luna Universal Probe One-Step RT-qPCR Kit (Ref. E3006L, New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) [19]. Briefly, 5μ L of supernatant was diluted 1/10

with Dnase-free and Rnase-free water and mixed with the reaction solution to obtain a total volume of 14 μ L. The reaction solution contained 5 μ L Luna[®] Universal Probe One-Step Reaction Mix, 0.5 μ L Luna[®] WarmStart[®] RT Enzyme Mix and 1.5 μ L of a mixture of primers at 400 nM (E_Sarbeco_F: ACAGGTACGTTAATAGTTAATAGCGT and E_Sarbeco_R: ATATTGCAGCAGTACGCACACA), and the probe at a concentration of 200 nM (E_Sarbeco_P1: FAM-ACACTAGCCATCCTTACTGCGCTTCG-BBQ) [20]. The RT-PCR was initialized with a reverse transcription step at 55 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 10 s and annealing at 60 °C for 60 s. A viral standard curve was obtained for each analysis.

2.5. Live Virus Neutralization Experiments

Virus neutralization was performed as previously described [21]. Briefly, serial 2fold dilutions (tested in duplicate, starting at 1:10) of the serum specimens in culture medium were mixed at equal volume with the live SARS-CoV2 virus. After incubation of the mix for 30 min at room temperature, 150 µL of the mix was transferred into 96-well microplates covered with a monolayer of Vero E6 cells to achieve a viral concentration of 100 TCID50/well. The plates were incubated at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere for 5 days. After this time, the cytopathic effect was evaluated, and neutralization was recorded if less than 50% of the cells were damaged. The neutralizing titer was expressed as the inverse of the higher serum dilution that exhibited neutralizing activity; a threshold of 20 was used (PRNT50 titer \geq 20). All experiments were performed in a biosafety level 3 laboratory. The different viral strains that were used were sequenced and deposited on GISAID (GISAID accession numbers: EPI_ISL_1707038, 19A (B.38); EPI_ISL_1904989, Delta (B.1.617.2); and EPI_ISL_7608613, Omicron (B.1.1.529)).

2.6. Statistical Analysis

The statistical significance of the difference between groups for each set of conditions was determined by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. All statistical calculations were performed and graphs were generated with GraphPad Prism 9.5.0 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA).

3. Results

Prior Immunization Does Not Enhance SARS-CoV-2 Infection

We investigated whether prior immunization could enhance a new SARS-CoV-2 infection by studying two cohorts: a cohort of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 (B.1 lineage) and a cohort of individuals who had been vaccinated with either a heterologous (Moderna mRNA1273/Pfizer BNT162b2) or homologous (Pfizer BNT162b2/Pfizer BNT162b2) vaccination scheme. The characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Characteristics of the subjects studied, by group.

Characteristics	Groups		
	Severe Disease (<i>n</i> = 19)	Mild/Asymptomatic Disease $(n = 36)$	Vaccinated (<i>n</i> = 26)
M/F sex ratio	3.75	0.29	0.30
Age (years), median (IQR)	70 (61.5–71.5)	34 (29–40.3)	85 (29–86)

The ADE of infection was evaluated in vitro with either the Delta or Omicron variant of SARS-CoV-2. Our model consisted of HEK-293 cells expressing the FcR for either IgG (CD16) or IgA (CD89), to facilitate FcR-dependent infection. Firstly, HEK-293 cells without CD16 or CD89 expression were used to control non-FcR specific effects of sera (Figure S1 (Supplementary Materials)). None of the serum samples from vaccinated or SARS-CoV-2-infected individuals enhanced the infection of HEK-293 cells with the Delta variant via either the CD16 or CD89 receptor (Figure 1). For both homologous and heterologous



vaccination schemes, negative results for ADE were obtained after both the second and booster dose (Figure 2).

Figure 1. In vitro ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection from vaccinated (syringe symbol) or COVID-19 patients (virus symbol) against Delta and Omicron variants. The ADE effect was evaluated using HEK-293 CD16+ or CD89+ cells. Each sample was tested simultaneously in both models (CD16 and CD89) and against both viral variants. The amount of virus present in the supernatant was determined after five days of infection by a SARS-CoV-2-specific RT-PCR. The ratio of the amount of virus in each sample and that in a viral control without serum (sample/VC) is shown. Each dot corresponds to the mean of duplicate values from a single patient. An anti-RBD IgG was used as the positive control for the CD16 test, and an anti-S IgA was used for CD89. Sera were used at a 1:100 dilution. The cut-off was determined as the mean value for eight pre-pandemic serum samples plus two standard deviations. The statistical significance of differences between groups in a Kruskal–Wallis test with Dunn's tests for multiple comparisons is shown for each set of conditions (* *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01).

In evaluations of ADE of infection with the Omicron variant, a positive signal was obtained for some vaccinated individuals relative to the eight pre-pandemic serum samples used to define the cutoff. However, sera from COVID-19 patients did not enhance infection in vitro (Figure 1). After the second dose of the homologous vaccination scheme, more serum samples tested positive for ADE of infection dependent on the CD89 receptor than for ADE of infection dependent on CD16, suggesting that IgA in the serum may enhance infection with the Omicron variant (Figure 2). Those patientswere as aged as the others and had positive levels of QUANTIFERON and anti-S IgG antibodies (Figure 3). Nevertheless, after administration of the booster dose (a third administration of a half dose of mRNA vaccine),

most serum samples tested negative for ADE (Figure 2). Those who were still positive for ADE did not develop neutralizing antibodies two weeks after the third dose of the vaccine (Figure 3). In addition, ADE IgG-dependence is negatively correlated with neutralizing titers and anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody levels when facing the Delta variant (Figure S3a,b). However, ADE IgA-dependence was only negatively correlated with neutralizing activity and anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody levels when facing the Omicron variant (Figure S3c,d). These results highlight the importance of a good neutralizing response to avoid the ADE phenomenon. There was no significant difference between doses, but there was a clear trend towards lower rates of ADE after the booster dose, emphasizing a decrease in the risk of possible disease aggravation due to immunity to a prior SARS-CoV-2 variant.



Figure 2. In vitro ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection from individuals vaccinated with different vaccination schemes (heterologous: Moderna/Pfizer; or homologous: Pfizer/Pfizer). The ADE effect was evaluated with the Delta and Omicron variants, and the involvement of IgG and Ig A antibodies was assessed using HEK-293 CD16+ or CD89+ cells. Viral quantification was measured by a SARS-CoV-2-specific RT-PCR. The ratio of the amount of virus for each sample to that for a viral control without serum (sample/CV) is shown. Each dot corresponds to a single patient. An anti-RBD IgG was used as a positive control for the CD16 test, and an anti-S IgA was used for CD89. Sera were used at a 1:100 dilution. The cut-off was determined as the mean for eight pre-pandemic serum samples plus two standard deviations. The statistical significance of differences between groups in ANOVA with Tukey tests for multiple comparisons is shown for each set of conditions (** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001).



Figure 3. Neutralizing activity of (**a**) three positive and (**b**) three negative sera to IgA-dependent ADE against the Omicron variant (sera dilution starting at 1:20) was evaluated against Wuhan, Delta, and Omicron strains using a plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT) with VeroE6 cells. Each dot corresponds to one patient.

4. Discussion

ADE has been a major subject of concern in different viral diseases such as Dengue, Zika, and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) [1,22]. It has been suggested that ADE may contribute to SARS-CoV2 infection in vitro, but we show here that infection is not enhanced after vaccination or prior natural infection. These results contrast with those of previous studies in which patients with severe disease or convalescent serum enhanced SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro via $Fc\gamma R$ [2,4,23]. For instance, Shimizu et al. showed that the serum of patients with severe disease patients increased viral infection as well as IL-6 production in a myeloid cell line, suggesting that serum antibodies can contribute to the cytokine storm present in COVID-19 disease [23]. In a more recent study, the same group reported ADE of infection in some monoclonal antibodies as well as in sera from vaccinated patients [24]. However, ADE was seen within a narrow window of antibody and serum concentrations. The time match between this antibody concentration and an effective viral quantity seems unlikely during natural infection. Furthermore, we must not forget that the cellular immune response is also playing a role against SARS-CoV-2 infection and that the ADE of infection seen in vitro might be subclinical during natural infection. On the other hand, our study is in line with other studies showing the absence of ADE in SARS-CoV-2 infection [16,17]. Clark et al. showed that neutralizing titers of convalescent plasma did not change in the presence of ACE2 and $Fc\alpha R$ or $Fc\gamma RIIA$ [16]. Garcia-Nicolas et al. did not find evidence for ADE of infection in human monocyte-derived macrophages (hMDM) or pro-inflammatory cytokine responses when evaluating convalescent serum [17].

The mild ADE effect observed in our study when sera from vaccinated individuals were incubated with the Omicron variant can be explained by the mutations in the Omicron spike protein relative to the strain used to produce the vaccine. However, we also found that after full vaccination (two full doses plus a half-dose booster), the ADE effect in vitro decreased substantially. This finding is consistent with the observation that, despite the lower neutralizing efficacy of antibodies against the Omicron variant, the number of patients with severe disease is not higher after vaccination [12,13]. Furthermore, preclinical and clinical studies have suggested that no ADE occurs in vivo [7]. For example, vaccination/challenge studies in non-human primates have reported no increase in disease severity in this animal model [8,9]. In addition, treatment with convalescent plasma did not increase the risk of severe disease in COVID-19 patients [10,11,25].

This study has some limitations. Even though CD16 is a known $Fc\gamma R$ by its ADCC activity, notably in NK cells, it is not the only $Fc\gamma R$ expressed in human immune cells. Therefore, results might be different if other $Fc\gamma Rs$ are tested. Nevertheless, as discussed earlier, some studies have tested the ADE of infection in vitro with other $Fc\gamma Rs$ and no ADE has been seen, for example, with the $Fc\gamma RIIA$ [16]. In addition, the HEK-293 tested

here were ACE2 negatives and it has been previously shown that the ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection might require ACE2 as a co-receptor [3].

Overall, in this study, the $Fc\gamma RIIIa$ - and $Fc\alpha RI$ -dependent ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection after prior immunization, which might increase the risk of severe disease in a second natural infection, was not observed.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/vaccines11040773/s1, Figure S1: Analysis of the ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro with serum samples from individuals vaccinated or COVID-19-positive patients; Figure S2: Specific antibody response anti-SARS-CoV-2. Figure S3: Specific antibody response anti-SARS-CoV-2.

Author Contributions: M.Y.-N., B.N., A.-E.B. and F.J. performed the experiments. M.Y.-N., E.B.-N., S.L., L.W., B.N. and S.P. wrote the manuscript with support from T.B.; S.P. supervised the project. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee CPP Ile de France V (NCT04648709).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We thank the ANRS Maladies Infectieuses Emergentes and the ANR SIgCOVID programs for funding this work.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Narayan, R.; Tripathi, S. Intrinsic ADE: The Dark Side of Antibody Dependent Enhancement During Dengue Infection. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **2020**, *10*, 580096. [CrossRef]
- Okuya, K.; Hattori, T.; Saito, T.; Takadate, Y.; Sasaki, M.; Furuyama, W.; Marzi, A.; Ohiro, Y.; Konno, S.; Hattori, T.; et al. Multiple Routes of Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 2022, 10, e01553-21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, Z.; Deng, T.; Zhang, Y.; Niu, W.; Nie, Q.; Yang, S.; Liu, P.; Pei, P.; Chen, L.; Li, H.; et al. ACE2 Can Act as the Secondary Receptor in the FcγR-Dependent ADE of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *iScience* 2022, 25, 103720. [CrossRef]
- Shen, X.-R.; Li, Q.; Li, H.-L.; Wang, X.; Wang, Q.; Zheng, X.-S.; Geng, R.; Zhang, Y.-L.; Li, B.; Jiang, R.-D.; et al. Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Human Immune Cells: In Vitro Assessment Provides Insight in COVID-19 Pathogenesis. *Viruses* 2021, 13, 2483. [CrossRef]
- Liu, Y.; Soh, W.T.; Kishikawa, J.-I.; Hirose, M.; Nakayama, E.E.; Li, S.; Sasai, M.; Suzuki, T.; Tada, A.; Arakawa, A.; et al. An infectivity-Enhancing Site on the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Targeted by Antibodies. *Cell* 2021, 184, 3452–3466.e18. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, Y.; Liu, Z.; Li, S.; Xu, W.; Zhang, Q.; Silva, I.T.; Li, C.; Wu, Y.; Jiang, Q.; Liu, Z.; et al. Enhancement Versus Neutralization by SARS-CoV-2 Antibodies from a Convalescent Donor Associates with Distinct Epitopes on the RBD. *Cell Rep.* 2021, 34, 108699. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, D.; Edwards, R.J.; Manne, K.; Martinez, D.R.; Schäfer, A.; Alam, S.M.; Wiehe, K.; Lu, X.; Parks, R.; Sutherland, L.L.; et al. In Vitro and In Vivo Functions of SARS-CoV-2 Infection-Enhancing and Neutralizing Antibodies. *Cell* 2021, 184, 4203–4219.e32. [CrossRef]
- Li, D.; Luan, N.; Li, J.; Zhao, H.; Zhang, Y.; Long, R.; Jiang, G.; Fan, S.; Xu, X.; Cao, H.; et al. Waning Antibodies from Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination Offer Protection against Infection without Antibody-Enhanced Immunopathology in Rhesus Macaque Pneumonia Models. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* 2021, 10, 2194–2198. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gao, Q.; Bao, L.; Mao, H.; Wang, L.; Xu, K.; Yang, M.; Li, Y.; Zhu, L.; Wang, N.; Lv, Z.; et al. Development of an Inactivated Vaccine Candidate for SARS-CoV-2. *Science* 2020, 369, 77–81. [CrossRef]
- 10. Casadevall, A.; Pirofski, L.-A. The Convalescent Sera Option for Containing COVID-19. J. Clin. Investig. 2020, 130, 1545–1548. [CrossRef]
- 11. Arvin, A.M.; Fink, K.; Schmid, M.A.; Cathcart, A.; Spreafico, R.; Havenar-Daughton, C.; Lanzavecchia, A.; Corti, D.; Virgin, H.W. A Perspective on Potential Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* **2020**, *584*, 353–363. [CrossRef]
- 12. Cele, S.; Jackson, L.; Khoury, D.S.; Khan, K.; Moyo-Gwete, T.; Tegally, H.; San, J.E.; Cromer, D.; Scheepers, C.; Amoako, D.G.; et al. Omicron Extensively but Incompletely Escapes Pfizer BNT162b2 Neutralization. *Nature* **2021**, *602*, 654–656. [CrossRef]

- Reynolds, C.J.; Gibbons, J.M.; Pade, C.; Lin, K.M.; Sandoval, D.M.; Pieper, F.; Butler, D.K.; Liu, S.; Otter, A.D.; Joy, G.; et al. Heterologous Infection and Vaccination Shapes Immunity against SARS-CoV-2 Variants. *Science* 2022, 375, 183–192. [CrossRef]
- Junqueira, C.; Crespo, Â.; Ranjbar, S.; De Lacerda, L.B.; Lewandrowski, M.; Ingber, J.; Parry, B.; Ravid, S.; Clark, S.; Schrimpf, M.R.; et al. FcγR-Mediated SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Monocytes Activates Inflammation. *Nature* 2022, 606, 576–584. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Lempp, F.A.; Soriaga, L.B.; Montiel-Ruiz, M.; Benigni, F.; Noack, J.; Park, Y.-J.; Bianchi, S.; Walls, A.C.; Bowen, J.E.; Zhou, J.; et al. Lectins Enhance SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Influence Neutralizing Antibodies. *Nature* **2021**, *598*, 342–347. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Clark, N.M.; Janaka, S.K.; Hartman, W.; Stramer, S.; Goodhue, E.; Weiss, J.; Evans, D.T.; Connor, J.P. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG and IgA Antibodies in COVID-19 Convalescent Plasma Do Not Enhance Viral Infection. *PLoS ONE* 2022, *17*, e0257930. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- García-Nicolás, O.; V'kovski, P.; Zettl, F.; Zimmer, G.; Thiel, V.; Summerfield, A. No Evidence for Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophage Infection and Antibody-Mediated Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 2021, 11, 644574. [CrossRef]
- 18. Noailly, B.; Yaugel-Novoa, M.; Werquin, J.; Jospin, F.; Drocourt, D.; Bourlet, T.; Rochereau, N.; Paul, S. Antiviral Activities of HIV-1-Specific Human Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Are Isotype-Dependent. *Vaccines* **2022**, *10*, 903. [CrossRef]
- Pezzi, L.; Charrel, R.N.; Ninove, L.; Nougairede, A.; Molle, G.; Coutard, B.; Durand, G.; Leparc-Goffart, I.; De Lamballerie, X.; Thirion, L. Development and Evaluation of a Duo SARS-CoV-2 RT-QPCR Assay Combining Two Assays Approved by the World Health Organization Targeting the Envelope and the RNA-Dependant RNA Polymerase (RdRp) Coding Regions. *Viruses* 2020, 12, 686. [CrossRef]
- Corman, V.M.; Landt, O.; Kaiser, M.; Molenkamp, R.; Meijer, A.; Chu, D.K.W.; Bleicker, T.; Brünink, S.; Schneider, J.; Schmidt, M.L.; et al. Detection of 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-NCoV) by Real-Time RT-PCR. *Eurosurveillance* 2020, 25, 2000045. [CrossRef]
- Pozzetto, B.; Legros, V.; Djebali, S.; Barateau, V.; Guibert, N.; Villard, M.; Peyrot, L.; Allatif, O.; Fassier, J.-B.; Massardier-Pilonchéry, A.; et al. Immunogenicity and Efficacy of Heterologous ChAdOx1–BNT162b2 Vaccination. *Nature* 2021, 600, 701–706. [CrossRef]
- Crooks, C.M.; Weiler, A.M.; Rybarczyk, S.L.; Bliss, M.I.; Jaeger, A.S.; Murphy, M.E.; Simmons, H.A.; Mejia, A.; Fritsch, M.K.; Hayes, J.M.; et al. Previous Exposure to Dengue Virus is Associated with Increased Zika Virus Burden at the Maternal-Fetal Interface in Rhesus Macaques. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 2021, 15, e0009641. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shimizu, J.; Sasaki, T.; Yamanaka, A.; Ichihara, Y.; Koketsu, R.; Samune, Y.; Cruz, P.; Sato, K.; Tanga, N.; Yoshimura, Y.; et al. The Potential of COVID-19 Patients' Sera to Cause Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Infection and IL-6 Production. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, 11, 23713. [CrossRef]
- Shimizu, J.; Sasaki, T.; Koketsu, R.; Morita, R.; Yoshimura, Y.; Murakami, A.; Saito, Y.; Kusunoki, T.; Samune, Y.; Nakayama, E.E.; et al. Reevaluation of Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of Infection in Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Therapeutic Antibodies and mRNA-Vaccine Antisera Using FcR- and ACE2-Positive Cells. *Sci. Rep.* 2022, *12*, 15612. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Joyner, M.J.; Bruno, K.A.; Klassen, S.A.; Kunze, K.L.; Johnson, P.W.; Lesser, E.R.; Wiggins, C.C.; Senefeld, J.W.; Klompas, A.M.; Hodge, D.O.; et al. Safety Update: COVID-19 Convalescent Plasma in 20,000 Hospitalized Patients. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 2020, 95, 1888–1897. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

Delta (B.1.617.2 lineage)

Omicron (B.1.1.529 lineage)



Figure S1. Analysis of the ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection *in vitro* with serum samples from individuals vaccinated or COVID-19-positive patients. The anti-RBD IgG and anti-S IgA used as positive controls in the CD16/CD89 tests were also tested. The ADE effect was evaluated with HEK wild-type cells (HEKWT) against the delta and omicron variants. The ratio of the amount of virus for each sample to that for a viral control without serum (sample/VC) is shown. Each dot corresponds to a single patient. The cut-off was determined as the mean for eight pre-pandemic serum samples plus two standard deviations.



Figure S2. Specific antibody response anti-SARS-CoV-2. IgG (**a and b**) and IgA (**c**) against spike-1 (S1) were measured using ELISA in vaccinated individuals 1

(designated with a syringe symbol) and COVID-19 patients (designated with a virus symbol). *P* value was calculated using an unpaired t-test. (d) Neutralizing titers (NT) for each tested serum against Wuhan, Delta, and Omicron variants were measured by a live-virus neutralization test. *P* value was calculated using a Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's tests for multiple comparisons. Each dot represents one individual. (e-h) Correlation matrices between ADE, viral neutralizing titers, and anti-SARS-CoV-2 Ab concentrations. Correlation coefficients were calculated using Spearman's correlation tests and they were plotted using GraphPad Prism v.9.5.1. for panels A-C (**P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001, and *****P* < 0.0001).

Results

Discussion of Article 6

ADE has been a major subject of concern in different viral diseases such as Dengue, Zika, and (RSV) (252,253). It has been suggested that ADE may contribute to SARS-CoV-2 infection *in vitro*, but we show here that infection is not enhanced after vaccination or prior natural infection. These results contrast with those of previous studies in which patients with severe disease or convalescent serum enhanced SARS-CoV-2 infection *in vitro via* FcγR (212,214,254). Furthermore, we must not forget that the cellular immune response is also playing a role against SARS-CoV-2 infection and that the ADE of infection seen *in vitro* might be subclinical during natural infection. On the other hand, our study is in line with other *in vitro* studies showing the absence of ADE in SARS-CoV-2 infection even in the presence of ACE2 and other FcRs (217,218). Our findings are consistent with the observation that, despite the lower neutralizing efficacy of antibodies against the Omicron variant, the number of patients with severe disease is not higher after vaccination (201,225). Furthermore, preclinical and clinical studies have suggested that no ADE occurs *in vivo* (219).

It will be interesting to include in our *in vitro* model other FcγRs as CD16 is not the only FcγR expressed in human immune cells. As well as include ACE2 as it has been previously shown that the ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection might require ACE2 as a co-receptor (213).

General Discussion and perspectives

Since the beginning of the pandemic in December 2019, there has been a huge increase of published studies about the SARS-CoV-2 infection. In PubMed, there are 206,078 results when searching for "SARS-CoV-2 COVID-19" in just three years, while for other viral diseases like "HIV AIDS" there are 166,585 results in 40 years of research. It is now well accepted that COVID-19 is an inflammatory disease that, rather than being killed by the virus, is our immune system that is dysregulated creating excessive inflammation leading to tissue damage and organ failure. However, what makes some patients develop an uncontrolled inflammation and not all, is still under investigation as it is a multifactorial process.

During my Ph.D., we contribute to the understanding of the immune response during SARS-COV-2 infection and after vaccination. The innate immune response is the first response to pathogens that helps mount the adaptive response which is more specific and has the capacity to generate a memory response for subsequent infections (255). If the innate response is dysbalanced and the signals to trigger the adaptive response are not well established or delivered, the adaptive response will also be defective, and susceptibility to infections or disease severity increases. For example, NEMO or MyD88 are TLR downstream signalling molecules that induce the activation of transcription factors like NF-kB which regulates the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α, and IL-12 (256). Defects in one of these molecules could hamper the correct activation of a protective immune response. Innate immunodeficiencies including mutations in these molecules have been correlated with herpes simplex virus encephalitis, viral infections, and mycobacterial disease (257,258). Moreover, innate immunodeficiencies in the IFNrelated genes have been correlated with increased disease severity in COVID-19 (31,33,228,259,260). For example, X-linked recessive TLR7 deficiency, and IRAK4 or

MyD88 deficiency, are associated to critical COVID-19 pneumonia, and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) are dependent on IRAK4 and TLR7 for SARS-CoV-2 sensing and type I IFN production. Autosomal recessive IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 deficiencies are also associated to COVID-19 severity (261) We show for the first time that sIFNAR1 and sIFNAR2 are also correlated with disease severity in COVID-19 and that they can serve as predictor markers of the severity of the disease. Even though no significant, sIFNAR1 is inversely correlated with disease severity, while we found significantly higher levels of sIFNAR2 in the same patients. These altered levels of the sIFNAR in the most severe patients can damper the IFN antiviral response for example by sequestering the type I IFN in the serum as the sIFNAR2 cannot transduce the signal. We still need to study by which mechanisms these receptors are altered in COVID-19 patients, but alternative splicing modifications or even viral inhibition of posttranslational modifications might be involved. These mechanisms have been described for other disease like multiple sclerosis or in Flavivirus infections, therefore it might also be present in SARS-CoV-2 infection (233,234). Whether the patients in our study present some genetic modifications interfering with the correct expression of the IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 molecules, whether they also present recessive autosomal deficiencies in TLRs hampering the correct activation of the IFN antiviral response, or whether they also present auto-antibodies against type-I IFN, could be a matter of study for future projects. So far, it is not known neither if sIFNAR1 and sIFNAR2 levels are associated with a better recovery prognosis or a higher predisposition to develop long COVID. It would not be weird to think that they might be associated with a higher risk of developing this condition because as a part of the IFN response is damaged, it might be less viral clearance, therefore more sustained inflammation, and maybe viral reservoir as it has been suggested for long COVID patients (53). In addition, our results

open the door to study the potential role of sIFNAR1 and sIFNAR2 as predictor factors of disease severity in other severe viral infections like influenza, RSV or HMPV.

I also demonstrate that the adaptive immune response is also altered in COVID-19 severe patients. We, as others (35,91,122,137,152,160,206,262,263), show that there are higher levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in the serum of severe patients than in asymptomatic ones, and as early as the first week after symptoms onset. These antibodies are directed principally against the S protein but also against the N protein. We also showed that anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA antibodies are detectable earlier than IgG in the most severe patients. With these results, one of our first hypotheses was that IgA might block IgG functions as it has been described for other viral infections like HIV (264). At least in our in vitro models with VeroE6 cells and with the lung epithelium model, systemic IgA from severe patients neutralizes better the SARS-CoV-2 virus than IgG, and better than IgA and IgG from asymptomatic patients. This suggests that there is no competition between IgA and IgG for neutralization and that IgA is a more potent SARS-CoV-2 neutralizer than IgG as shown by others (137,241). However, neutralizing activity is not the only functional property of antibodies during a viral infection. FcR-dependent functions are also important in controlling the infection. It has been shown that IgG antibodies elicited in severe patients are structurally different compared to those in asymptomatic patients (205,206,265-267). Those antibodies are less fucosylated and sialylated which makes them more active in some FcR-dependent functions like ADCC, and ADCD generating more immune system activation and inflammation (205,206,265-267). This phenomenon has also been described for other pathologies like MS (multiple sclerosis) and RA (268). In our study, we observed a loss of CD16-dependent function in the serum from severe patients compared to asymptomatic patients. These findings contradict those studies which have reported

an increased FcR activation in sera from severe patients, associated with afucosylated IgG which has an enhanced FcR affinity (206,240). Whether the observed loss of function in our study is due to receptor affinity, or structural differences between IgG from severe and asymptomatic patients, requires further investigation. Recently a study showed that serum IgM antibodies in severe COVID-19 patients have also a distinct glycosylation profile compared to moderate disease patients (269). They found increased di- and tri-sialylated glycans and altered mannose glycans in total serum IgM in severe patients, as well as elevated levels of antigen-specific IgM ADCD (269). While there are studies about the IgG-specific FcR-dependent functions in COVID-19, less is known about the IgA-specific FcR-dependent functions. We demonstrated that serum IgA antibodies from severe patients have higher CD89 activation compared to asymptomatic patients. So far there are no studies about the glycosylation profile or post-translation modifications in the IgA antibodies of COVID-19 patients. This was one of the lines of study we wanted to study during my PhD project but unfortunately, the amounts of IgA that we were able to purify from the sera were not enough, especially for the asymptomatic patients as they present lower levels of antibodies than severe patients. It would be very interesting to make this study in the short term, as it has been shown for example in RA that modifications in the glycosylation profile of IgA in serum can modify the effector functions potentiating NETosis and therefore increasing inflammation (268). It is known that in COVID-19 there are higher levels of neutrophils and NETosis induction as well as longer persistence of NETs in the tissues and blood strim, and IgA might be behind this hyperactivation of neutrophils (180,182,270). In addition, IgA glycosylation modifications can increase complement deposition and the formation of inclusion bodies, as is the case in the IgA nephropathy (271). Small-vessel vasculitis driven by deposits of IgA-C3 ICs (184), or IgA vasculitis,

formerly known as Henoch–Schönlein purpura (HSP), has also been reported in children with COVID-19, suggesting that SARS-CoV-2 infection may be a trigger (185). In our project, we started a collaboration with CYNBIOSE to study ICs deposition in the lungs of non-human primates infected with SARS-CoV-2. Unfortunately, we had limited access to the samples, and we could not make a correct setup of the immunofluorescence technique.

In addition, we show that the humoral mucosal response, at least in terms of neutralization, may not be enough/efficient in controlling the infection in the most severe patients. We evidence this showing that severe patients present higher levels of anti-S IgA and IgG antibodies in nasal swabs and BAL samples, but we did not find any neutralizing activity. This contradicts some studies that detected higher neutralization titers in samples from severe patients, however, those studies employed pseudovirus or RBD-ACE2 inhibition techniques to measure neutralizing activity (158,170). Despite the advantages of this type of assays (272), it only focuses on the Spike protein from SARS-CoV-2, which does not provide a complete picture as in the live-virus neutralization test we used, being our test closer to a real infection situation. Nevertheless, another study showed a loss of neutralizing function in mucosal antibodies from non-survivor patients despite the persistence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies, suggesting that mucosal IgA might not be able to control the infection by neutralization activity but activating different FcR-dependent mechanisms that may increase inflammation (238). According to this, we show higher levels of mlgA in the BAL of severe patients that might come from the systemic circulation via transudation mechanisms. These IgA have been described to be more potent than dIgA or SIgA in the activation of FcR-dependent functions and therefore being more pro-inflammatory. Their presence in the lower mucosa can increase inflammation and therefore tissue

damage, increasing disease severity, but it is still unknown if, at the same time, they can block the neutralizing effect of the mucosal SIgA. Our discrepancies and contrasting findings highlight the complexity of the mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and suggest that there may be variations in the immune profiles of different patient populations. This emphasizes the need for further research to fully understand the role of IgA and its structural alterations in severe cases and their impact on disease progression.

In addition, we show that a heterologous vaccination scheme is more immunogenic and efficient in developing a good immune response against different variants of SARS-CoV-2 than the homologous scheme. This was something not surprising, as in other respiratory infections like influenza, the heterologous prime-boost vaccination scheme has also been shown to be more immunogenic and generate a broader antibody response (273,274). In Dengue infection, subsequent infections with different viral serotypes generate a broader immune response targeting more conserved epitopes between serotypes, and symptomatic or severe infections after a third or fourth infection are very rare, evidencing that heterologous immunizations are the better way to fight a viral agent (275). It is noteworthy that current COVID-19 mRNA vaccines are administered intramuscularly, and this vaccination route do not create a mucosal immune response when administered as a primary immunization they rather boost the mucosal immune response generated with a primo infection. Therefore, mucosal vaccines should be prioritized for respiratory pathogens. In COVID-19 several studies have shown that the combination of infection and vaccination generates a stronger immune response than vaccination alone (198,201,242–244,276). However, viral variants put in danger this immune response elicited after vaccination, but in our study of breakthrough infections we showed that hybrid immunity induces a more

potent long-term humoral immune response against SARS-CoV-2 and that simultaneous infections do not confer an additional advantage in terms of immunity. A limitation of this study is that we did not measure the mucosal immune response. Nevertheless, there are shreds of evidence that mucosal S-specific IgA antibodies are correlated with Omicron variants breakthrough infection (277,278). This is not the case for serum or mucosal S-specific IgG antibodies which is a piece of evidence that mucosal IgA should be taken as a correlate of protection against infection rather than serum IgG and more importantly because the mucosa is the port of entry of the SARS-COV-2 virus (277,278). We also showed that a prior infection or vaccination in naïf individuals does not enhance SARS-CoV-2 infection as is the case in other infections like Dengue virus (275,279,280). However, ADE of disease has been reported by others. For example, Junqueira et al. found that monocytes and macrophages can be infected by the SARS-CoV-2 via FcR (CD16) while they express little to non ACE2 receptor (216). The infection was not producing new viruses but was inducing cell death by pyroptosis, which releases inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β) that recruit other immune cells, therefore, amplifying inflammation and tissue damage (216). And they found these dying cells in the lung also. Nevertheless, this study was in the context of a primo infection and not in immunized patients. Clinical data shows that the appearance of new variants did not increase the number of severe patients, suggesting that neither ADE of infection nor ADE of disease is a characteristic of COVID-19, which is consistent with our results and other studies (217,218).

In the current epidemiological situation where most of the population has been infected or vaccinated, or both, fewer cases of severe disease are reported, therefore it is complicated to determine the triggers of disease severity, however, studying the trained immunity and the strength of mucosal immune response after hybrid

General Discussion and Perspectives

immunization will help to develop new vaccine strategies to better protect against subsequent infections with new viral variants.

In summary, with my PhD project, we corroborate that starting with damages in the innate immune response and following with a defective adaptive response, in COVID-19 disease there is a dysbalanced immune response towards a hyper-inflammatory environment where multifactorial mechanisms intervene. With this work, we can see the limitations of retrospective studies but also the importance of a well-designed study to follow up on a pandemic. In addition, the importance of vaccination and its protective role against severe disease has been also highlighted during this project. In the future, it will be important to better understand the mucosal immune response to fight against respiratory pathogens, as well as the correct characterization of the initial cohort in a pandemic.

Annexes

Annexes

Annexe 1: Review about the humoral immune response in COVID-19 and after vaccination.

(Published in Mucosal Immunology in October 2022)

REVIEW ARTICLE Role of the humoral immune response during COVID-19: guilty or not guilty?

Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa¹, Thomas Bourlet¹ and Stéphane Paul ^[]_□^{1,2}^[∞]

© The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Society for Mucosal Immunology 2022

Systemic and mucosal humoral immune responses are crucial to fight respiratory viral infections in the current pandemic of COVID-19 caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. During SARS-CoV-2 infection, the dynamics of systemic and mucosal antibody infections are affected by patient characteristics, such as age, sex, disease severity, or prior immunity to other human coronaviruses. Patients suffering from severe disease develop higher levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in serum and mucosal tissues than those with mild disease, and these antibodies are detectable for up to a year after symptom onset. In hospitalized patients, the aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies enhances inflammation-associated antibody Fc-dependent effector functions, thereby contributing to COVID-19 pathophysiology. Current vaccines elicit robust humoral immune responses, principally in the blood. However, they are less effective against new viral variants, such as Delta and Omicron. This review provides an overview of current knowledge about the humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2, with a particular focus on the protective and pathological role of humoral immunity in COVID-19 severity. We also discuss the humoral immune response elicited by COVID-19 vaccination and protection against emerging viral variants.

Mucosal Immunology (2022) 15:1170-1180; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-022-00569-w

INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, a new coronavirus emerged, attracting considerable attention worldwide. The SARS-CoV-2 virus (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2), a member of the betacoronavirus family, went on to cause the current COVID-19 pandemic¹. More than 460 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 have been reported to date, with more than six million deaths². COVID-19 disease is highly variable in terms of clinical outcome, ranging from asymptomatic or mild disease, resembling a common cold, to more severe disease, including acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) requiring hospitalization with oxygen therapy, or even death³.

The genome of SARS-CoV-2 encodes structural proteins (the spike (S), envelope (E), membrane (M), and nucleocapsid (N) proteins) essential for virion formation. S protein has two subunits (S1 and S2) separated by a furin cleavage site crucial for viral infection and distinguishing this virus from its relative, SARS-CoV⁴. The S protein contains the receptor-binding domain (RBD), which binds to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in host cells. ACE2 acts as the viral receptor, mediating virus entry and triggering an immune response in the host to eliminate the virus. S protein is, therefore, one of the principal targets of antibody-based immunotherapies and vaccines. S protein mutations have generated a wide spectrum of emerging variants, (variants of concern (VOC)) with different phenotypes affecting transmission and antibody sensitivity.

The immune response to pathogens is characterized by the activation of innate and adaptive responses, and their humoral and

cellular components. Antibodies play a crucial role in protection against viral diseases via various mechanisms involving both their Fab and corresponding Fc portions. The Fab-mediated mechanisms include neutralization, in which the entry of the virus into the host cell is sterically blocked. Fc mechanisms include complement activation, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), and antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP). However, antibody effector functions can also exacerbate inflammation and generate more damage, as in the antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) observed in dengue disease⁵.

This review summarizes current knowledge about the humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2, highlighting the differences and points in common between systemic and mucosal humoral immune responses to the virus. We focus on the role of the antibody response, particularly the mucosal response, and its possible involvement in determining COVID-19 severity. We discuss the humoral immune response elicited by COVID-19 vaccination, together with protection against emerging viral variants. The modulatory effect of pre-existing immunity to other coronaviruses on the immune response to SARS-CoV-2 is also considered.

SYSTEMIC HUMORAL RESPONSE IN COVID-19

The proportions of total IgA, IgM and IgG antibodies and of total IgG subclasses are not modified following SARS-CoV-2 infection⁶. However, anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody production varies with disease severity and depends on patient characteristics, such as sex and age (Fig. 1). Indeed, many studies have reported that

Received: 31 May 2022 Revised: 7 August 2022 Accepted: 19 September 2022 Published online: 4 October 2022

¹CIRI—Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team GIMAP (Saint-Etienne), Inserm, U1111, CNRS, UMR5308, ENS Lyon, UJM, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Lyon, France. ²CIC Inserm 1408 Vaccinology, Saint-Etienne, France. ^{Semail:} stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr



Fig. 1 Factors affecting the dynamics of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies. The characteristics of the patient can modulate the anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody response. Specific IgG, IgA and IgM levels in serum are high in elderly individuals, whereas the mucosal IgA levels are low in these individuals, contrasting with the situation in young patients, who have lower anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody titers in serum and higher levels of mucosal IgA. Titers of specific IgG, IgA, and IgM in serum are higher in male than in female patients. Patients previously infected with another human coronavirus (HCoV) (represented by the "+" symbol) develop more anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG than IgM in serum, whereas the contrary occurs in patients with no previous immunity to HCoV (represented by the "-" symbol). Disease severity can also modulate specific responses in patients, as a more severe disease is associated with higher titers of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG, IgA, and IgM in serum. The quality and quantity of these antibodies can also modify disease severity. (Created with www.Biorender.com).

specific antibody titers (even for antibodies directed against nonstructural proteins and accessory proteins) are higher in patients with moderate/severe disease than in patients with asymptomatic/mild disease over the course of the infection⁷⁻¹⁷. Antibody levels are also higher in men than in women^{8,18,19}, an observation that can be accounted for by the higher levels of ACE2 expression in men than in women²⁰, rendering men more susceptible than women to SARS-CoV-2 infection. Similar differences between the sexes have been reported for other viruses, including MERS, SARS-CoV, Epstein Barr virus, HBV, HCV, and West Nile virus²¹. The humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2 can also be modulated by the patient's age. Indeed, older patients with severe disease present more anti-spike IgG, IgM and IgA antibodies than younger patients^{15,22}, but this may also be due to confounding factors, such as comorbid conditions²³. Furthermore, immunosenescence²⁴ and inflammageing²⁵ may also contribute to the more severe disease observed in older individuals. In addition, adults may have an ineffective, dysregulated innate immune response, leading to uncontrolled pro-inflammatory cytokine production (cytokine storm), and tissue injury²⁶. The serum immune responses of children to the SARS-CoV-2 virus are limited to anti-spike IgG antibodies, whereas adults also produce anti-N IgG antibodies² This observation is consistent with the milder course of infection in younger individuals, resulting in the release of smaller amounts of N protein from cells infected with the virus. Nevertheless, after mild COVID-19, children and adults have similar levels of anti-RBD IgG antibodies with similar abilities to inhibit RBD-ACE2 interactions¹⁸

Serum IgG, IgA and IgM antibodies are elicited principally against the spike (S1, S2 and RBD domains) and nucleocapsid proteins^{10,12,14,16,22,27-33} (Fig. 2). Interestingly, both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients produce antibodies directed principally against S2³⁴. The fusion peptide (FP) is the region most frequently targeted by specific IgM, IgG and IgA in both groups of patients, but antibodies against this region are underrepresented in the specific IgG and IgA epitope repertoires in symptomatic

patients compared to asymptomatic ones³⁴. Conversely, the anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA antibodies in the serum of symptomatic patients better recognize the N-terminal domain (NTD) and RBD in S1 than those in the serum of asymptomatic patients³⁴. These differences in antibody repertoire can modulate the efficacy of the immune response and, therefore, disease outcome³⁴. In addition, the affinity of the antibodies against the SARS-CoV-2 prefusion spike detected in the serum and nasal washes has been shown to be significantly higher in asymptomatic adults than in symptomatic COVID-19 patients³⁴, suggesting that the antibody response in asymptomatic patients is more effective at controlling the infection than that in symptomatic patients. Some studies have reported higher levels of IgG avidity maturation in patients with severe disease, indicating the presence of larger numbers of memory B cells and/or long-lived plasma cells, which could be rapidly restimulated to prevent reinfection^{11,16}. However, even though reinfection with SARS-CoV-2 is a rare event, occurring in less than 1% of COVID-19 cases, patients with a previous severe infection and those over the age of 65 years are more prone to reinfection^{35,36}, suggesting that natural immunity cannot be relied upon for protection.

By contrast to other infections, IgM are not the first antibodies to appear in the blood of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 patients³⁷, probably due to prior immunity to other coronaviruses, as discussed below. Indeed, specific IgA is the predominant isotype in the first week post-symptom onset (PSO); there is then a peak of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgM between 10 and 15 days PSO and an IgG peak around day 20 PSO^{11,13,30,32,33,38,39} (Fig. 2). IgM levels decrease significantly one-month PSO³³, but specific IgA and IgG levels in the blood remain stable more than 6 weeks PSO^{39,40} and IgG can be detected for up to 1 year PSO^{11,12,29,30,41-43}. However, asymptomatic patients have lower levels of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and they, therefore, lose their specific IgG antibodies faster and more frequently than symptomatic patients¹⁴. The spike-specific IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses predominate over IgG2 and IgG4 in SARS-CoV-2-infected patients^{40,44-46}, as in other viral

M. Yaugel-Novoa et al.



Fig. 2 Mucosal and systemic humoral immune responses to SARS-CoV-2. Both mucosal and systemic humoral immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 are characterized by a transient IgM response detectable until 1month post-symptom onset (PSO). The mucosal response is dominated by IgG and IgA, whereas the systemic response is initially dominated by IgA. Specific IgA and IgG antibodies are detected in mucosal tissues even at 9 months PSO, and such antibodies are detected in the serum until 1-year PSO. Both responses are directed against the spike protein and nucleoprotein. Despite the targeting of epitopes in the S1 and S2 subunits of the spike protein in both responses, the mucosal response is more diverse (represented by the line around the S1 and S2 rectangles) than the systemic response, in which the epitopes targeted lie principally in the S2 subunit (marked with the line only in the S2 rectangle). (Created with www.Biorender.com).

infections, with HIV⁴⁷ or H1N1 influenza virus, for example⁴⁸. The presence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA in serum is associated with gastrointestinal symptoms in COVID-19, whereas no such association has been found for IgG³². SARS-CoV-2 can replicate in human enterocytes⁴⁹ and may activate the local production of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA, contributing to an increase in specific IgA levels in the blood.

Antibodies from the serum of COVID-19 patients have been shown to cross-react with the spike proteins of the four seasonal human coronaviruses (HCoVs: 229E, HKU1, NL63, and OC43)⁵⁰. It remains a matter of debate whether prior immunity to HCoV is protective against SARS-CoV-2 infection. Several studies have reported that the levels of specific IgG and IgA against HCoVs are significantly higher in asymptomatic than in symptomatic COVID-19 patients, suggesting that prior HCoV infection can modulate COVID-19 severity⁵¹⁻⁵⁴. By contrast, other studies found no significant correlation between prior anti-HCoV immunity and COVID-19 severity^{27,55,56}. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG titers are higher in patients with prior seasonal coronavirus immunity⁵⁷ (Fig. 1), suggesting that the SARS-CoV-2 specific response is a recall-type response and should be protective. Cross-reactivity between OC43- and 229E-specific antibodies and SARS-CoV-2 proteins may be higher in children than in adults⁵⁸, probably due to the high frequency of respiratory illnesses during childhood^{59,60}. It has also been suggested that prior HCoV immunity in children is protective against SARS-CoV-2 infection, as children develop less severe forms of COVID-19 than adults⁶¹. Several regions in the S2 subunit of the spike protein are homologous between HCoVs and SARS-CoV-2, but there is no homology in the RBD region⁶² and specific antibodies directed against HCoVs cannot neutralize SARS-CoV-2 in vitro⁵⁷. Moreover, SARS-CoV-2 infection can occur in children regardless of their prior HCoV immunity⁶³ and specific antibodies against HCoVs in children are unable to block SARS-CoV-2-RBD-ACE2 interaction⁵⁸. Most of these observations were made with serum samples, but it is also very important to understand whether the mucosal response is induced similarly in all types of COVID-19 patients.

Box 1. Humoral immune response to other coronaviruses

To date, seven coronaviruses infecting humans have been identified. Four of these viruses (human coronavirus (HCoV) -229E, -NL63, -OC43, and -HKU1) circulate as endemic strains and cause relatively mild common cold symptoms¹⁶⁵. However, infection with these viruses can lead to the hospitalization of immunocompromised, elderly, or very young individuals^{59,166}. Children may be protected during the first three months after birth by anti-HCoV antibodies transferred from the mother⁵⁹. Anti-S IgG and IgM antibodies against the four HCoVs can be detected in children, their frequency increasing with age to a plateau at 6 years of age, whereas no anti-S IgM is detected in healthy adults, suggesting that most HCoV infections occur in infancy or early childhood^{59,167–169}. Nevertheless, binding, and neutralizing antibody titers are higher in older adults¹⁷⁰, in whom there is more anti-HCoV are not well maintained, and reinfections are common within 12 months¹⁷². Antibody repertoires against HCoVs differ qualitatively between children and adults. In children, anti-HCoV IgG antibodies target functionally important and structurally conserved regions of the spike, nucleocapsid, and matrix proteins¹⁷³.

The other three coronaviruses—the Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), SARS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2—can cause life-threatening respiratory infections^{165,174,175}. Serum from SARS-CoV-convalescent patients contains cross-reactive antibodies against other HCoVs^{176–178}, but not cross-neutralizing antibodies¹⁷⁹. Anti-N SARS-CoV-specific IgA, IgM and IgG antibodies in serum can be detected within 1 week of the onset of illness, and they peak at about day 15 postsymptom onset (PSO)^{180–182}. SARS-CoV-specific IgM antibodies are detected until 7 months PSO, but titers decline after the first month. By contrast, neutralizing antibody and SARS-CoV-specific IgG antibody titers remain stable over this period^{181–183}. Anti-SARS-CoV IgA avidity remains low in a proportion of patients, even during late convalescence, whereas IgG avidity increases with time until 9 months PSO¹⁸².

MUCOSAL HUMORAL IMMUNITY IN COVID-19

SARS-CoV-2 displays pulmonary tropism. Mucosal immune responses therefore probably play a crucial role in preventing the entry and spread of the virus Box 1. Only a few studies have investigated the kinetics and quality of the mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2. Mucosal responses, particularly anti-spike IgM, are inversely correlated with the viral load in nasopharyngeal swabs, indicating that a strong early nasal antibody response may play a key role in limiting disease by initiating or facilitating early

viral clearance⁶⁴. An association has also been reported between a strong nasal antibody response, specifically anti-RBD IgA, and the resolution of systemic symptoms, such as fatigue, fever, headache, dizziness, joint or muscle pain, and swollen lymph nodes⁶⁴. Early control of viral replication in the upper respiratory tract, reducing the spread of the virus to the periphery, thereby limiting systemic symptoms, might account for this association. Specific anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies have been detected in the saliva^{31,42,65}, nasopharynx^{6,38,64,66–69}, bronchoalveolar lavages (BAL)³¹ and trachea of children⁷⁰, and these antibodies are directed against S, RBD and N proteins^{6,31,42,64,65,68}. Limited data are available for stool samples, with only one study reporting minimal differences in anti-S IgA and IgG antibodies between infected and noninfected patients⁷¹, and another study detecting anti-RBD IgA antibodies in 11% of patients, particularly those with the most severe disease or presenting diarrhea⁷². Total IgM and IgG (including IgG subclasses) levels in nasal fluid, like those in serum, are similar in healthy donors and COVID-19 patients. By contrast, total IgA levels increase with disease severity⁶. As in the systemic humoral immune response, specific antibody titers in mucosal tissues are higher in moderate/severe disease than in asymptomatic/mild disease, over the course of the infection^{6,7,66} (Fig. 1). Interestingly, anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgA titers in mucosal tissues are inversely correlated with age in mild disease patients with low or absent specific serum response³⁸. This can be explained, as suggested by Cervia et al. in 2021, that the extent and the duration of clinical symptoms modulate the immune response³⁸ and that a good mucosal immune response may be sufficient to control viral replication when presenting mild or asymptomatic disease. However, the mucosal immune response provides insufficient protection against infection with the Omicron variant. SARS-CoV-2-infected children have very low levels of neutralizing antibodies in the lower respiratory tract⁷⁰. Ravichandran et al. used genome fragment phage display library (GFPDL) technology to study epitope recognition by specific IgM, IgG and IgA antibodies in nasal secretions³⁴. They found that IgM, IgA and IgG responses generally targeted a broader spectrum of epitopes in the NTD, RBD, FP, heptad repeat 1 (HR1) and HR2 regions distributed throughout the S1 and S2 subunits of the spike protein, whereas the systemic response was essentially restricted to S2³⁴. Interestingly, both monomeric and dimeric IgA were detected in the BAL of COVID-19 patients³¹ suggesting that anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in mucosal tissues may have different origins. Most of the dimeric IgA probably arises locally, but plasma monomeric IgA can reach the airways through a receptorindependent process called transudation, which is more likely to occur in damaged lung tissue, as observed in patients with severe COVID-1973,74.

As described for other infections⁷⁵, the IgG/IgA ratio follows a gradient down the respiratory tract, with higher titers of IgA than of other isotypes in saliva, but higher IgG titers than IgA titers in BAL³¹. IgG has been described as the predominant immunoglobulin in the saliva at the start of the disease⁷ (Fig. 2). Indeed, anti-SARS-CoV-2-specific IgG levels peak between days 31–45 PSO, and disappear at about day 106–115 PSO, whereas IgM and IgA appear at about day 20 PSO but their levels decrease more rapidly than those of IgG⁶⁵. Specific anti-RBD IgA levels were found to be higher in saliva than in serum after day 49 PSO³¹, whereas airway-specific IgA and IgG levels declined significantly within three months of infection⁶⁹. However, these antibodies remained detectable until nine months PSO^{42,64}. As in serum, the milder the disease, the shorter the life of the specific antibodies detected in mucosal tissues⁴²

In conclusion, systemic and mucosal responses vary according to disease severity and infection kinetics. When studying the humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection, we are monitoring the strength of the immune response triggered by the infection rather than the quality of this response to protect patients against the more severe disease. Even though there could be detrimental features of the individual immune response that could hamper the good evolution of the disease, what is the ultimate role of aantibodies during the infectious process?

ANTIBODY-DEPENDENT PROTECTIVE FUNCTIONS IN COVID-19

Fc-effector functions, such as ADP, have been associated with protection against other coronaviruses or HIV. Shiakolas et al. showed that six monoclonal antibodies from SARS-CoV patients that cross-reacted with SARS-CoV-2 virus-induced ADP but not neutralization in vitro, and that this Fc-effector function was associated with milder hemorrhagic disease in mouse lungs⁷⁶. Furthermore, in a nonhuman primate model, Spencer et al. showed that the bNAb 10E8v4 displayed ADP reducing HIV viremia in non-neutralizing conditions⁷⁷.

In vivo studies of SARS-CoV-2 infection have suggested that the humoral immune response is protective. For instance, a mixture of S309 and S2M11 monoclonal antibodies isolated from convalescent individuals and with different mechanisms of binding to the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein yielded additive neutralizing effects and elicited robust ADCC and ADP in hamsters^{78,79}. In an FcyRhumanized mouse model, Yamin et al. showed that the REGN monoclonal antibody cocktail (currently in clinical use) induced protection against lethal SARS-CoV-2 challenge and that this protection was dependent on Fc-FcyR interaction, suggesting that Fc-effector functions improve the efficacy of REGN treatment⁸⁰. Furthermore, McMahan et al. showed that, following the passive transfer of an IgG pool from rhesus macaques convalescing from SARS-CoV-2 infection to naïve macagues, IgG1 levels, neutralizing titers, ADCD and ADP were associated with protection against viral challenge

Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody levels gradually decrease in the serum of patients, but both neutralizing antibody titers and robust specific memory B-cell responses are detected at 5 and 9 months PSO in patients who have had moderate and severe COVID-19, and they remain detectable at 1 year PSO, probably contributing to protection against reinfection^{14,30,39,42,82} (Fig. 3). During SARS-CoV-2 infection, the quality of antibody effector functions is correlated with their magnitude⁶⁷, their specificity for RBD in both serum and nasal secretions^{6,14}, and with disease severity⁷¹. Different studies have shown that there is a dysfunction of NK cells in severe COVID-19 preventing the correct ADCC effect to occur^{40,83}. In patients with milder infections, as in women, NKdependent ADCC activity is overrepresented relative to neutralization. The opposite situation is observed in patients with more severe disease and in men⁴⁰, suggesting that antibody effector functions other than neutralization contribute to better protection. In particular, Witkowski et al. demonstrated that the uncontrolled TGF-ß secretion by infected cells in severe patients, inhibits the expression of the integrin-β2 in NK cell surfaces making them unable to bind and kill infected cells⁸³. Still, more studies are needed to decipher why there is an increase in TGF- β levels in severe COVID-19 patients and not in mild or asymptomatic patients.

Lee et al. showed that convalescent patients presented a significant decline in plasma S-specific antibody-dependent ADCC and ADP activity over time, but that these responses remained detectable for longer than neutralization⁸⁴, suggesting the involvement of a different antibody repertoire. Studies with RBD-specific monoclonal antibodies isolated from convalescent or infected patients (such as the S2H13, S2H14, S2X35, and S309), have shown that because of the different orientation of the complex spike-monoclonal antibody relative to the FcR, only S309 and S2H13 were capable to produce effective Fc-dependent functions¹⁶. Anti-S1 and anti-RBD specific antibodies from hospitalized COVID-19 patients elicit higher levels of antibody-dependent complement deposition (ADCD) and ADCC, but



Fig. 3 Protective and pathological functions of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies can exert protective functions, such as neutralization, antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP) and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). Neutralizing antibody titers are higher in patients with severe disease than in those with mild disease patients, and these antibodies are detected until 1-year post-symptom onset (PSO); however, their levels decrease more rapidly in patients with mild disease. Serum from non-hospitalized patients and convalescent plasma from patients who have recovered display more Fc-dependent effector functions, such as ADP and ADCC, than serum from hospitalized patients. The pathological effects of antibodies in COVID-19 are related in part to aberrant glycosylation patterns, which are observed in the anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibodies of patients with severe, but not mild disease. These structural modifications can trigger inflammatory processes, such as cytokine production, immune cell infiltration into the lungs, or platelet-mediated thrombosis. These aberrant glycosylation patterns increase the affinity of antibodies for the C1q protein, thereby leading to activation of the classical complement pathway, and increases in affinity for FcγR enhance Fc-dependent functions, such as neutrophil extracellular trap formation (NETosis), which is associated with higher levels of inflammation. (Created with www.Biorender.com).

lower levels of ADP than antibodies from non-hospitalized and convalescent COVID-19 patients^{85,86} (Fig. 3). In parallel, higher levels of ADCD are associated with higher levels of systemic inflammation, whereas higher levels of ADP are associated with milder systemic inflammation during COVID-19⁸⁵. In addition, Adeniji et al. reported an absence of differences in anti-S or anti-RBD IgG antibody levels likely to account for the differences in ADCC or ADCD between hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients⁸⁵. Overall, these data indicate that as far as SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibodies are concerned, it is quality rather than quantity that determines disease outcome.

Less is known about the Fc-effector functions of antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 in mucosal tissues, and most studies to date have focused on antibody neutralization capacity. Robust neutralization and ADP were detected in nasal washes from convalescent individuals who had experienced mild or severe disease^{67,86}. In COVID-19 patients, mucosal neutralization has been shown to be associated with nasal^{67,72} and saliva-specific IgA³¹, and with RBD-specific IgM⁷¹. Anti-RBD IgA antibodies are more neutralizing than IgG in BAL, suggesting that IgA is more important for this function in the lung³¹. In addition, Butler et al. showed that depleting IgG antibodies from the nasal washes of convalescent patients decreased ADP but did not affect the neutralization of the virus. By contrast, IgA depletion decreased

neutralization capacity without modifying ADP activity⁶⁷. These observations provide support for the notion that IgA is a key factor in the neutralization of the SARS-CoV-2 virus in the upper respiratory tract, as reported for other coronaviruses in human and animal models^{87,88}. In breast milk, anti-spike IgA titers and neutralization capacities are strongly positively correlated and are sustained for up to 10 months PSO^{89–91}, which suggests that breastfeeding may protect newborns, consistent with observations that breastfed newborns rarely experience severe COVID-19^{92,93}.

Questions have been raised about the protective functions of antibodies in the face of the increasing number of variants during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Studies in both animal models and humans have shown that neutralizing antibodies elicited against one variant have a lower capacity to neutralize other variants. In a Syrian hamster model, Mohandas et al. showed that infection with the Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant generated antibodies that were less effective for the neutralization of Alpha (B.1.1.7) strains and unable to neutralize the Beta (B.1.351) and Delta (B.1.617.2) strains⁹⁴. Some studies in humans have also reported a lower capacity of convalescent plasma from the first wave of the pandemic to neutralize later SARS-CoV-2 variants, such as Beta (B.1.351) and Delta (B.1.617.2)^{34,41,86,95,96}. This effect can be accounted for by the differences in spike mutations between

variants. For example, Laurie et al. demonstrated that variants with mutations at the E484 position of the spike protein (such as Zeta (P.2), lota (B.1.526), B.1.351, or B.1.617.2) were better neutralized by serum from E484K-exposed patients than other variants⁹⁷. However, sequential boosters with different variants strengthen the neutralizing capacity of the antibodies elicited. In vitro studies showed that six monoclonal antibodies isolated from convalescent patients (2K146, S2X324, S2N28, S2X259, sotrovimab, and S2H97) cross-react and neutralize the Omicron variant as well as SARS-CoV virus⁹⁸. Even though these antibodies target different epitopes, they are all highly conserved between viral variants⁹⁸ indicating that a broader response can overcome antigenic shift. Accordingly, the Omicron variant is better neutralized in vitro by serum from convalescent vaccinated individuals, or from individuals inoculated with three doses of vaccine⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹. Similar observations have been reported for other viral infections, such as dengue, in which the cross-reactive antibodies elicited after a secondary heterologous infection have a higher avidity and protect against a third infection¹⁰⁰

Fc-effector functions are also modified by the presence of new variants. A recent study showed that serum from DG14G-infected patients displayed a smaller decrease in ADP, ADCC, ADCD and ADCT (antibody-dependent cellular trogocytosis) against the Beta and Delta patients than serum from Beta-infected patients. In addition, ADCD was the Fc-effector function most affected, consistent with an epitope-based Fc-dependent response¹⁰¹. The greater cross-reactivity of serum from Beta-infected individuals suggests that ADP, ADCC, ADCD and ADCT are less affected by variants. Mutations affecting the RBD and NTD regions targeted by ADCC were found to have no effect on this function, whereas they did alter neutralization, suggesting that Fc-dependent effector functions may make a greater contribution to decreasing the number of severe cases after infection with a variant than neutralization alone¹⁰¹. As demonstrated for other viruses, such as dengue and MERS, it is important to understand whether these antibodies can facilitate infections (ADE) under certain conditions or contribute to disease severity.

ANTIBODIES IN COVID-19 PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Severe COVID-19 is characterized by dysregulation of the immune response, with the development of a cytokine storm responsible for rapid disease progression to ARDS and death is some patients. Several studies have reported an association between disease outcomes and dysregulation of the immune system, particularly in terms of the innate response^{102,103}. However, the intrinsic mechanisms of COVID-19 immune pathophysiology are not fully understood.

Neutrophils are the most abundant leukocytes and are often the first to respond to injury and infection¹⁰⁴. They express the Fc alpha receptor (FcaRI/CD89) and can perform various effector functions, including ADP and neutrophil extracellular trap formation (NETosis)^{105,106}. In vitro studies have also shown that serum IgA antibodies are more potent than IgG for stimulating NETosis for many types of viral particles, including the SARS-CoV-2 virus^{107,108} (Fig. 3). These studies also showed that NETosis could be potentiated by monomeric but not secretory IgA from saliva, suggesting that the secretory component may be involved in steric interference with binding to FcaRI¹⁰⁸. These data suggest that NETosis may occur in tissues and in the vasculature, but probably not in the airways. The NETs in serum from patients suffering severe COVID-19 have a lower degradation capacity than those from asymptomatic patients and patients with mild symptoms¹⁰⁹, suggesting that NETs may persist in the tissues for longer periods, resulting in local inflammation. Furthermore, plasmablasts from patients with severe disease, rapidly switch to the IqA2 isotype after stimulation with IL-21 and TGF- β^{110} . This isotype has been shown to be associated with NETosis in patients glycosylation pattern between IgA1 and IgA2 may underlie the greater stimulation of NETosis by IgA2 than by IgA1¹¹². IgA2 is less sialylated than IgA1, and the desialylation of IgA1 has also been reported to increase NETosis and IL-8 production by macrophages in vitro¹¹². It remains unknown whether IgA1 glycosylation patterns are modified in COVID-19 patients, but these data are potentially important, to shed light on the pathological role of IgA isotypes associated with disease severity.

Another pathological effect of the immune response observed in some patients with severe COVID-19 is a small-vessel vasculitis driven by deposits of IgA-C3 immune complexes (ICs)¹¹³. IgA vasculitis, formerly known as Henoch-Schönlein purpura (HSP), has also been reported in children with COVID-19, suggesting that SARS-CoV-2 infection may be a trigger¹¹⁴. SARS-CoV-2 may induce the secretion of cytokines, such as IL-6, affecting the glycosylation machinery and leading to the synthesis of galactose-deficient IgA1, which then forms IgA-ICs in blood¹¹⁵. Complement activation can result in protective effector functions and pathogen clearance. However, during SARS-CoV-2 infection, deposition of the complement components C4b and C3bc, and of the terminal complement complex (TCC) was restricted to anti-RBD IgG antibodies¹¹⁶. These deposits were correlated with both IgG levels and disease severity¹¹⁶. In addition, the IgG response to SARS-CoV-2 RBD after natural infection appears to be based on the IgG1 and IgG3 isotypes, which are the main ligands for C1q-mediated classical complement pathway activation^{40,116}. The aberrant immune responses produced during SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with severe disease may be explained by structural deficiencies in anti-SARS-CoV-2 specific antibodies (Fig. 3). Lower levels of galactosylation have been observed for all IgG subclasses in patients with severe disease, but not in convalescent patients or patients with mild disease, and the capacity of IgG to bind to FcyRs and C1q is positively correlated with disease severity¹¹ Furthermore, ICs composed of the trimeric spike protein and afucosylated anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG isolated from COVID-19 patients induce the production of TNF-a, IL-6, CCL3, CCL4, CXCL1, and CXCL10 and robust neutrophil infiltration in the lungs of mice¹¹⁸ In vitro studies have shown that the ICs formed by the SARS-CoV-2 S protein and anti-S IgG antibodies enhance platelet-mediated thrombosis in a FcyRIIA-dependent manner, but only when the Fc domain of the anti-S IgG is modified to match the aberrant glycosylation pattern identified in patients with severe COVID-19¹¹⁹. Low levels of anti-S IgG fucosylation may return to normal within a few weeks of initial infection with SARS-CoV-2, indicating that higher levels of antibody-dependent inflammation occur principally at the time of seroconversion¹²⁰. Nevertheless, earlyphase S-specific IgG in the serum of patients with severe COVID-19 induces the production of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF by human alveolar macrophages, which may then breach pulmonary endothelial barrier integrity and induce microvascular thrombosis in vitro¹²⁰. But, can we transpose the observations made during infection to vaccination?

HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSE TO VACCINATION

In the face of the pandemic, a number of vaccines were developed very rapidly, with at least three rapidly approved in most countries^{121,122}. More than 11.3 billion doses have been administered worldwide to date¹²³, with demonstrated efficacy against the various VOCs, including the Omicron variant. However, we will need a better understanding of the immunological fingerprint of these vaccines to improve vaccine design, and vaccination policies to increase protection against new variants. After full vaccination with BNT162b2 and CoronaVac, lower serum anti-spike and anti-

1176

RBD IgG concentrations and neutralization capacities have been shown to be associated with being male, older age, immunosuppression, and comorbid conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, heart disease, and autoimmunity^{124–126}. However, after the second dose, a similar protective response is observed in individuals of all ages, highlighting the importance of booster doses for the elderly^{124,127}. Subsequent immunizations, whether natural (through infection) or by vaccination, can modulate the immune response to SARS-CoV-2. Following the second dose of BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273, individuals convalescing from COVID-19 develop higher titers of anti-spike IgG and IgA antibody titers with potent neutralization capacity in serum than individuals who have not had COVID-19^{125,128–130}. In addition, 5 months after the boost, memory antibodies from convalescent vaccinated patients have an improvement in neutralizing activity compared to 1-month post-boost, not been like this for naïve vaccinated individuals¹³⁰ Several studies, including that by Wei et al.¹²⁵, have shown that unvaccinated individuals with prior infections have lower antispike IgG titers than vaccinated individuals (with the BNT162b2 or ChadOx1 vaccine)¹³¹, but that they also require lower antibody concentrations to achieve the same level of protection¹²⁵. Indeed, the better and broader response after vaccination in naïve individuals compared to infected patients has the basis in the formation of germinal centers (GCs)^{131–134}. While GCs in vaccinees are well formed and B and Tfh cells are greater stimulated, there is an impairment of GCs in patients with severe disease¹³¹. This suggests that protection depends on the mechanism of antibody generation and that the antibodies generated after infection and vaccination differ in guality.

One major unanswered guestion concerns the cross-protection against new variants conferred by vaccination. One dose of the BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine elicited a better neutralizing response to B.1, Gamma (P.1), and Delta (B.1.617.2) variants in seropositive than in seronegative individuals or non-vaccinated patients hospitalized for COVID-19¹³⁵. The Moderna mRNA-1273 vaccine elicits a SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody response equivalent to that induced by natural infection, targeting wild-type virus and the Alpha, Beta, Gamma, and Delta variants¹²⁹. Individuals with preexisting immunity vaccinated with mRNA-1273 had higher titers of IgG1 and IgA against all variants (WT, Alpha, Beta, Gamma, and Delta) than fully vaccinated naïve individuals, indicating that hybrid infection/mRNA vaccine-induced immunity triggers crossreactive antibody responses¹²⁹. Furthermore, individuals infected with the Delta variant after BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 vaccination were found to have higher anti-RBD IgG titers and higher viral neutralization capacities than vaccinated individuals without prior infection¹³⁶, again suggesting that hybrid immunity triggers a robust anamnestic response, probably contributing to the lower risk of severe disease after vaccination. The vaccination of naïve individuals with three doses, or of previously infected individuals with two vaccine doses as a booster has been shown to enhance the anti-SARS-CoV-2 immune response and, thus, protection as shown by recent studies in which such strategies reduced the loss of neutralization function against various VOC, including Omicron^{97,136–139}. In particular, this enhancement is due to an increase and evolution of RBD-¹³⁷ and NTD-¹⁴⁰ specific memory B cells, notably new clones that developed after the third dose targeting more conserved regions of the RBD¹³⁷. Indeed, Kim et al. demonstrated that 6 months after vaccination, spike-specific memory B cells and long-lived bone marrow plasma cells had increased levels of somatic hypermutation, thus producing antispike antibodies with increased affinity and avidity as well as neutralization capacities¹³². Heterologous or multivalent boosting strategies may, therefore, be important for increasing protection against new variants, because the exposure to multiple spike variants expands the breadth of neutralization^{97,136}. We recently demonstrated this in a study in which serum from individuals with heterologous vaccination schedules (ChadOx1/BNT162b2) had stronger neutralizing activity than serum from individuals with homologous vaccination schedules (BNT162b2/ BNT162b2), regardless of the SARS-CoV-2 variant¹⁴¹. Furthermore, studies in vitro and in vivo with the monoclonal antibody S2P6, isolated from a convalescent patient, demonstrated that targeting highly conserved epitopes in the spike protein (stem helix in this case) is crucial for protection mediated by neutralization and Fc-effector functions¹⁴².

Importantly, mRNA vaccination against COVID generates structurally different antibodies, with effector functions different from those of the antibodies generated in response to natural infection, accounting for the efficacy of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination for reducing the likelihood of severe disease. Vaccination induces more sialylated, fucosylated, and galactosylated antibodies, especially IgG1, than natural infection leading to severe disease^{117,118}. These structural modifications increase the ability of anti-SARS-CoV-2 lgG antibodies to engage in FcyR pathways, which may serve as another mechanism for reducing infection, in addition to their Fab-mediated neutralization activity¹¹⁷. Kaplonek et al. showed that RBD-specific antibody depletion from vaccinated patients had little or no impact on Fc-dependent effector functions, such as ADCD or ADCP, against the Alpha, Beta, Gamma, and Delta variants. Furthermore, plasma from vaccinated individuals displayed high levels of C1g and C3d binding to spikespecific antibodies, or RBD-specific antibodies, unlike convalescent plasma¹⁴³. This difference can be explained by the higher levels of IgG1 and IgG3 elicited by vaccination than by natural infection and by the fact that these isotypes have a higher potency for activating the complement cascade^{86,117}. Therefore, even if the spike mutations found on VOCs decrease vaccine efficacy by reducing neutralizing activity, Fc-dependent effector functions may also contribute to the lower incidence of severe disease after vaccination.

SARS-CoV-2 is a respiratory virus, and the induction of a mucosal immune response is, therefore, crucial to prevent infection. Specific antibody levels are not high in the mucosa, but such antibodies are nevertheless detected. Anti-spike and anti-RBD IgG levels in saliva are almost two orders of magnitude lower than those in serum. Anti-spike and anti-RBD IgA antibodies have also been detected at very low levels in the saliva, these levels peaking after the second dose of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine¹⁴⁴. Low levels of neutralizing antibodies have also been detected in saliva, nasal swabs, and nasopharyngeal lavages after mRNA vaccination^{69,144}. However, a stronger mucosal response has been measured locally in seropositive than in naïve vaccinated individuals^{69,83,145}, suggesting that hybrid immunity effectively promotes and stimulates the anamnestic response in mucosal tissues. Nevertheless, anti-S1 slgA antibodies with neutralizing capacity were present in the saliva at lower levels for a shorter time after BNT162b2 vaccination than after natural infection, possibly because the route of vaccine administration is different from the natural route of infection^{127,146}. Little is known about the functionality of the mucosal immune response against the various VOCs described to date, but cross-neutralization in the mucosa is expected to be much lower than that against the initial strain, in line with findings for the systemic immune response. Indeed, Garziano et al. reported a fourfold reduction in neutralization titers against the Delta variant in saliva from infected and vaccinated individuals¹⁴

Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) has been reported to facilitate infections with different viruses, including coronaviruses, such as MERS. Some studies have reported that, in subneutralizing concentrations, serum from convalescent COVID-19 patients can enhance SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro via the FcγR or C1q protein, suggesting that ADE may promote SARS-CoV-2 infection, particularly after vaccination or prior infection^{148–150}. Others have suggested that neutralizing and enhancing antibodies recognize different epitopes^{151–154}. Liu et al. showed that monoclonal
antibodies from COVID-19 patients targeting the NTD region in the spike protein enhanced SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro through conformational changes induced in the RBD by the antibody binding, facilitating the Spike-ACE2 interaction¹⁵¹. In addition, Lempp et al. demonstrated, using in vitro models, that monoclonal antibodies also directed against the NTD region or against a conserved site at the base of the RBD cannot inhibit viral infection in ACE2 overexpressing cells, however, they can block the lectin-facilitated infection¹⁵⁴. On the contrary, monoclonal antibodies specific to the receptor-binding motif (RBM) effectively block ACE2dependent infection but do not neutralize lectin-dependent infection promoting cell-to-cell fusion¹⁵⁴. Serum from convalescent, but not vaccinated individuals can mediate FcvR-dependent virus uptake by monocytes in vitro without infectious viral particle production, but pyroptosis may be triggered, increasing inflammation and COVID-19 pathogenesis¹⁵⁵. By contrast, other in vitro studies reported no ADE in convalescent sera, even though at subneutralizing concentrations^{156,157}. It has been suggested that ADE could contribute to SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro, but preclinical and clinical evidences suggest that this is not the case in vivo. Studies performed in vivo in macagues and mice have shown that antibodies directed against the RBD and NTD do not increase infection rates or disease severity¹⁵³. Thus, even if ADE is sometimes reported in vitro, other Fc effector functions may make a positive contribution in vivo. Furthermore, vaccination/challenge studies in nonhuman primates revealed no increase in disease^{158,159}. In addition, the risk of severe disease is not higher in COVID-19 patients treated with convalescent plasma^{160–162}, or in vaccinees. Moreover, even if new variants, such as Omicron, decrease the efficacy of the neutralizing antibodies elicited by vaccination, no enhancement of disease has yet been reported^{162–164}.

In general, the intramuscular vaccines currently available reinforce systemic immune responses, but only weakly activate existing mucosal responses in previously infected individuals. This may account for the lack of sterilizing immunity to SARS-CoV-2 and subsequent infections even after vaccination. There is, therefore, an urgent need to improve the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine design to target the mucosal immune response more effectively.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Many studies have demonstrated the protective function of the humoral immune response in COVID-19, and after vaccination. Neutralizing antibodies are known to protect against infections, but they are also associated with severe disease in COVID-19. After vaccination, neutralizing antibody titers are correlated with protection against severe disease in most cases, but infections occur due to poor activation of the specific mucosal immune response. Nevertheless, Fc-effector functions, such as ADCC, seem to contribute to protection even in the presence of new variants. However, if SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibodies have an aberrant glycosylation pattern, Fc-mediated protective functions are dysregulated, contributing to disease severity. The jury is still out as to whether the humoral immune system is "guilty" in the case of SARS-CoV-2 infection, but it appears to be a matter of balance, and additional studies are required to shed light on the factors influencing this dual role of antibodies in COVID-19. A full understanding of the humoral immune response to SAR-CoV-2 will be a major asset in the face of possible future coronavirus pandemics.

Despite all the progress made, many questions about the humoral immune response to SARS-CoV-2 remain unanswered. What are the intrinsic factors influencing the uncontrolled humoral immune response in some patients that lead them to develop the severe disease? IgG glycosylation modifications can hamper the immune response in COVID-19, but do IgA antibodies also have aberrant glycosylation patterns in severe disease patients that contribute to the pathophysiology of the disease? Anti-Spike antibodies are the most likely marker of correlates of 1177

protection in SARS-CoV-2 infection. However, the presence of viral variants with different neutralization sensitivities, differences in vaccine formulations, and the fact that antibodies alone cannot fully explain immune protection let a question open: what constitutes an immune correlate of protection for SARS-CoV-2 infection? If we want to get to a sterilizing immunity against SARS-CoV-2, next-generation vaccines should target the mucosal immune response and should include more conservative epitopes that cover a broader spectrum of SARS-CoV-2 variants.

REFERENCES

- Gorbalenya, A. E. et al. The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Microbiol.* 5, 536–544 (2020).
- WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard | WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard With Vaccination Data. https://covid19.who.int/. (2022).
- Grasselli, G. et al. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of 1591 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 admitted to ICUs of the Lombardy Region, Italy. JAMA 323, 1574 (2020).
- Coutard, B. et al. The spike glycoprotein of the new coronavirus 2019-nCoV contains a furin-like cleavage site absent in CoV of the same clade. *Antiviral Res.* 176, 104742 (2020).
- Guy, B. et al. Evaluation by flow cytometry of antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of dengue infection by sera from Thai children immunized with a live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine. *Vaccine* 22, 3563–3574 (2004).
- Smith, N. et al. Distinct systemic and mucosal immune responses during acute SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 22, 1428–1439 (2021).
- Pisanic, N. et al. COVID-19 serology at population scale: SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody responses in saliva. J. Clin. Microbiol. 59, e02204-20 (2020).
- Ye, X. et al. Serum IgG anti-SARS-CoV-2 binding antibody level is strongly associated with IgA and functional antibody levels in adults infected with SARS-CoV-2. Front. Immunol. 12, 693462 (2021).
- Zervou, F. N. et al. SARS-CoV-2 antibodies: IgA correlates with severity of disease in early COVID-19 infection. J. Med. Virol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.2705 (2021).
- Legros, V. et al. A longitudinal study of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients reveals a high correlation between neutralizing antibodies and COVID-19 severity. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* **18**, 318–327 (2021).
- Hartog, G. den et al. Persistence of antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in relation to symptoms in a nationwide prospective study. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* https://doi.org/ 10.1093/cid/ciab172 (2021).
- Havervall, S. et al. SARS-CoV-2 induces a durable and antigen specific humoral immunity after asymptomatic to mild COVID-19 infection. *PLoS ONE* 17, e0262169 (2022).
- Al-Mughales, J. A., Al-Mughales, T. J. & Saadah, O. I. Monitoring specific IgM and IgG production among severe COVID-19 patients using qualitative and quantitative immunodiagnostic assays: a retrospective cohort study. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 705441 (2021).
- 14. Wu, J. et al. Occurrence of COVID-19 symptoms during SARS-CoV-2 infection defines waning of humoral immunity. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 722027 (2021).
- Sasson, J. M. et al. Diverse humoral immune responses in younger and older adult COVID-19 patients. *mBio* 12, e0122921 (2021).
- Piccoli, L. et al. Mapping neutralizing and immunodominant sites on the SARS-CoV-2 spike receptor-binding domain by structure-guided high-resolution serology. *Cell* 183, 1024–1042.e21 (2020).
- 17. Tang, G. et al. The dynamic immunological parameter landscape in coronavirus disease 2019 patients with different outcomes. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 697622 (2021).
- Kopanja, S. et al. Characterization of the antibody response to SARS-CoV-2 in a mildly affected pediatric population. *Pediatr. Allergy. Immunol.* 33, e13737 (2022).
- Konik, M. et al. Long-term SARS-CoV-2 specific immunity is affected by the severity of initial COVID-19 and patient age. J. Clin. Med. 10, 4606 (2021).
- Patel, S. K., Velkoska, E. & Burrell, L. M. Emerging markers in cardiovascular disease: where does angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 fit in? *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 40, 551–559 (2013).
- Jacobsen, H. & Klein, S. L. Sex differences in immunity to viral infections. Front. Immunol. 12, 720952 (2021).
- Weisberg, S. P. et al. Distinct antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in children and adults across the COVID-19 clinical spectrum. *Nat. Immunol.* 22, 25–31 (2021).
- Singh, A. K. et al. Prevalence of co-morbidities and their association with mortality in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes, Obes. Metab.* 22, 1915–1924 (2020).

- Shaw, A. C., Joshi, S., Greenwood, H., Panda, A. & Lord, J. M. Aging of the innate immune system. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22, 507–513 (2010).
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Parini, P., Giuliani, C. & Santoro, A. Inflammaging: a new immune-metabolic viewpoint for age-related diseases. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 14, 576–590 (2018).
- 26. Carsetti, R. et al. The immune system of children: the key to understanding SARS-CoV-2 susceptibility? *Lancet Child Adolesc. Health* **4**, 414 (2020).
- Imai, K. et al. Cross-reactive humoral immune responses against seasonal human coronaviruses in COVID-19 patients with different disease severities. *Int J. Infect. Dis.* 111, 68–75 (2021).
- Sandberg, J. T. et al. SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral and cellular immunity persists through 9 months irrespective of COVID-19 severity at hospitalisation. *Clin. Transl. Immunol.* **10**, e1306 (2021).
- 29. Kurano, M. et al. Response kinetics of different classes of antibodies to SARS-CoV2 infection in the Japanese population: the IgA and IgG titers increased earlier than the IgM titers. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **103**, 108491 (2022).
- 30. Shi, D. et al. Dynamic characteristic analysis of antibodies in patients with COVID-19: a 13-month study. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 708184 (2021).
- Sterlin, D. et al. IgA dominates the early neutralizing antibody response to SARS-CoV-2. Sci. Transl. Med. 13, eabd2223 (2021).
- Wang, Z. et al. Enhanced SARS-CoV-2 neutralization by dimeric IgA. Sci. Transl. Med. 13, eabf1555 (2020).
- Gaebler, C. et al. Evolution of antibody immunity to SARS-CoV-2. Nature 591, 639–644 (2021).
- Ravichandran, S. et al. Systemic and mucosal immune profiling in asymptomatic and symptomatic SARS-CoV-2-infected individuals reveal unlinked immune signatures. *Sci. Adv.* 7, eabi6533 (2021).
- Slezak, J. et al. Rate and severity of suspected SARS-Cov-2 reinfection in a cohort of PCR-positive COVID-19 patients. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 27, 1860.e7 (2021).
- Hansen, C. H., Michlmayr, D., Gubbels, S. M., Mølbak, K. & Ethelberg, S. Assessment of protection against reinfection with SARS-CoV-2 among 4 million PCR-tested individuals in Denmark in 2020: a population-level observational study. *Lancet* 397, 1204 (2021).
- Isa, M. B. et al. Comparison of immunoglobulin G subclass profiles induced by measles virus in vaccinated and naturally infected individuals. *Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol.* 9, 693–697 (2002).
- Cervia, C. et al. Systemic and mucosal antibody responses specific to SARS-CoV-2 during mild versus severe COVID-19. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 147, 545–557.e9 (2021).
- Zhang, Z. et al. The potential role of an aberrant mucosal immune response to SARS-CoV-2 in the pathogenesis of IgA nephropathy. *Pathogens* 10, 881 (2021).
- Fuentes-Villalobos, F. et al. Sustained antibody-dependent NK cell functions in mild COVID-19 outpatients during convalescence. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 796481 (2022).
- 41. Noh, J. Y. et al. Duration of humoral immunity and cross-neutralizing activity against the Alpha, Beta, and Delta variants after wild-type SARS-CoV-2 infection: a prospective cohort study. J. Infect. Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIAC050 (2022).
- H, A. et al. Persisting salivary IgG against SARS-CoV-2 at 9 months after mild COVID-19: a complementary approach to population surveys. J. Infect. Dis. 224, 407–414 (2021).
- Scheiblauer, H. et al. Antibody response to SARS-CoV-2 for more than one year —kinetics and persistence of detection are predominantly determined by avidity progression and test design. J. Clin. Virol. 146, 105052 (2022).
- 44. Suthar, M. S. et al. Rapid Generation of Neutralizing Antibody Responses in COVID-19 Patients. *Cell Rep. Med.* **1**, 100040 (2020).
- Chen, Y. et al. A comprehensive, longitudinal analysis of humoral responses specific to four recombinant antigens of SARS-CoV-2 in severe and non-severe COVID-19 patients. *PLoS Pathog.* 16, e1008796 (2020).
- Ni, L. et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral and cellular immunity in COVID-19 convalescent individuals. *Immunity* 52, 971 (2020).
- Cavacini, L. A., Kuhrt, D., Duval, M., Mayer, K. & Posner, M. R. Binding and neutralization activity of human IgG1 and IgG3 from serum of HIV-infected individuals. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 19, 785–792 (2003).
- Frasca, D. et al. Effects of age on H1N1-specific serum lgG1 and lgG3 levels evaluated during the 2011-2012 influenza vaccine season. *Immun. Ageing* 10, 14 (2013).
- 49. Lamers, M. M. et al. SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. *Science* **369**, 50–54 (2020).
- Woudenberg, T. et al. Humoral immunity to SARS-CoV-2 and seasonal coronaviruses in children and adults in north-eastern France. *EBioMedicine* 70, 103495 (2021).
- Ortega, N. et al. Seven-month kinetics of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and role of preexisting antibodies to human coronaviruses. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 4740 (2021).
- 52. Greenbaum, U. et al. High levels of common cold coronavirus antibodies in convalescent plasma are associated with improved survival in COVID-19 patients. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 675679 (2021).

- Dugas, M. et al. Lack of antibodies against seasonal coronavirus OC43 nucleocapsid protein identifies patients at risk of critical COVID-19. J. Clin. Virol. 139, 104847 (2021).
- Dugas, M. et al. Less severe course of COVID-19 is associated with elevated levels of antibodies against seasonal human coronaviruses OC43 and HKU1 (HCoV OC43, HCoV HKU1). Int. J. Infect. Dis. 105, 304–306 (2021).
- Sermet-Gaudelus, I. et al. Prior infection by seasonal coronaviruses, as assessed by serology, does not prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection and disease in children, France, April to June 2020. *Euro Surveill.* 26, 2001782 (2021).
- Ringlander, J. et al. Incidence and severity of Covid-19 in patients with and without previously verified infections with common cold coronaviruses. *J. Infect. Dis.* 223, 1831–1832 (2021).
- Miyara, M. et al. Pre-COVID-19 immunity to common cold human coronaviruses induces a recall-type IgG Response to SARS-CoV-2 antigens without crossneutralisation. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 790334 (2022).
- Tamminen, K., Salminen, M. & Blazevic, V. Seroprevalence and SARS-CoV-2 crossreactivity of endemic coronavirus OC43 and 229E antibodies in Finnish children and adults. *Clin. Immunol.* 229, 108782 (2021).
- Dijkman, R. et al. Human coronavirus NL63 and 229E seroconversion in children. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46, 2368–2373 (2008).
- Friedman, N. et al. Human coronavirus infections in israel: epidemiology, clinical symptoms and summer seasonality of HCoV-HKU1. Viruses 10, 515 (2018).
- Castagnoli, R. et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *JAMA Pediatr.* **174**, 882–889 (2020).
- Lu, R. et al. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. *Lancet* 395, 565–574 (2020).
- Renk, H. et al. Robust and durable serological response following pediatric SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 128 (2022).
- Fröberg, J. et al. SARS-CoV-2 mucosal antibody development and persistence and their relation to viral load and COVID-19 symptoms. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 5621 (2021).
- Isho, B. et al. Persistence of serum and saliva antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 spike antigens in COVID-19 patients. *Sci. Immunol.* 5, eabe5511 (2020).
- Santos, J. et al. In nasal mucosal secretions, distinct IFN and IgA responses are found in severe and mild SARS-CoV-2 infection. Front. Immunol. 12, 403 (2021).
- Butler, S. E. et al. Distinct features and functions of systemic and mucosal humoral immunity among SARS-CoV-2 convalescent individuals. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2020.618685. (2021).
- Vu, D. L. et al. Longitudinal analysis of inflammatory response to SARS-CoV-2 in the upper respiratory tract reveals an association with viral load, independent of symptoms. J. Clin. Immunol. 41, 1723–1732 (2021).
- Cagigi, A. et al. Airway antibodies emerge according to COVID-19 severity and wane rapidly but reappear after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. *JCI Insight* 6, e151463 (2021).
- Tang, J. et al. Systemic and lower respiratory tract immunity to SARS-CoV-2 omicron and variants in pediatric severe COVID-19 and Mis-C. *Vaccines* 10, 270 (2022).
- 71. Wright, P. F. et al. Longitudinal systemic and mucosal immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection. J. Infect. Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIAC065 (2022).
- Britton, G. J. et al. Limited intestinal inflammation despite diarrhea, fecal viral RNA and SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA in patients with acute COVID-19. *Sci. Rep.* **11** 13308 (123AD). (2021).
- 73. Burnett, D. Immunoglobulins in the lung. Thorax 41, 337-344 (1986).
- Stockley, R. A., Mistry, M., Bradwell, A. R. & Burnett, D. A study of plasma proteins in the sol phase of sputum from patients with chronic bronchitis. *Thorax* 34, 777–782 (1979).
- 75. Reynolds, H. Y. Immunoglobulin G and its function in the human respiratory tract. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* **63**, 161–174 (1988).
- Shiakolas, A. R. et al. Cross-reactive coronavirus antibodies with diverse epitope specificities and Fc effector functions. *Cell. Rep. Med.* 2, 100313 (2021).
- Spencer, D. A. et al. Phagocytosis by an HIV antibody is associated with reduced viremia irrespective of enhanced complement lysis. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 662 (2022).
- Tortorici, M. A. et al. Ultrapotent human antibodies protect against SARS-CoV-2 challenge via multiple mechanisms. *Science* **370**, 950 (2020).
- 79. Pinto, D. et al. Cross-neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 by a human monoclonal SARS-CoV antibody. *Nature* **583**, 290–295 (2020).
- Yamin, R. et al. Fc-engineered antibody therapeutics with improved anti-SARS-CoV-2 efficacy. *Nature* 599, 465–470 (2021).
- McMahan, K. et al. Correlates of protection against SARS-CoV-2 in Rhesus Macaques. *Nature* 590, 630 (2021).
- Bastug, A. et al. The changing dynamics of neutralizing antibody response within 10 months of SARS-CoV-2 infections. J. Med. Virol. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/JMV.27544 (2021).

- Witkowski, M. et al. Untimely TGFβ responses in COVID-19 limit antiviral functions of NK cells. *Nature* 600, 295–301 (2021).
- Lee, W. S. et al. Decay of Fc-dependent antibody functions after mild to moderate COVID-19. *Cell. Rep. Med.* 2, 100296 (2021).
- Adeniji, O. S. et al. COVID-19 severity is associated with differential antibody Fcmediated innate immune functions. https://doi.org/10.1128/MBIO (2021).
- Klingler, J. et al. Detection of antibody responses against SARS-CoV-2 in plasma and saliva from vaccinated and infected individuals. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 759688 (2021).
- Loa, C. C. et al. Specific mucosal IgA immunity in turkey poults infected with turkey coronavirus. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 88, 57–64 (2002).
- Du, L. et al. Intranasal Vaccination of Recombinant Adeno-Associated Virus Encoding Receptor-Binding Domain of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (SARS-CoV) Spike Protein Induces Strong Mucosal Immune Responses and Provides Long-Term Protection against SARS-CoV Infection. J. Immunol. 180, 948–956 (2008).
- Fox, A. et al. The IgA in milk induced by SARS-CoV-2 infection is comprised of mainly secretory antibody that is neutralizing and highly durable over time. *PLoS ONE* 17, e0249723 (2022).
- Pace, R. M. et al. Milk from women diagnosed with COVID-19 does not contain SARS-CoV-2 RNA but has persistent levels of SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA antibodies. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 1 (2021).
- Pace, R. M. et al. Characterization of SARS-CoV-2 RNA, antibodies, and neutralizing capacity in milk produced by women with COVID-19. *mBio* 12, 1–11 (2021).
- 92. Perlman, J. M. & Salvatore, C. Coronavirus disease 2019 infection in newborns. *Clin. Perinatol.* **49**, 73 (2022).
- Gupta, P. et al. An observational study for appraisal of clinical outcome and risk of mother-to-child SARS-CoV-2 transmission in neonates provided the benefits of mothers' own milk. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 181, 513 (2022).
- Mohandas, S. et al. Pathogenicity of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron (R346K) variant in Syrian hamsters and its cross-neutralization with different variants of concern. *eBioMedicine* 79, 103997 (2022).
- Pan, T. et al. Significantly reduced abilities to cross-neutralize SARS-CoV-2 variants by sera from convalescent COVID-19 patients infected by Delta or early strains. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 18, 2560–2562 (2021).
- Moyo-Gwete, T. et al. Cross-reactive neutralizing antibody responses elicited by SARS-CoV-2 501Y.V2 (B.1.351). N. Engl. J. Med. 384, 2161–2163 (2021).
- Laurie, M. T. et al. SARS-CoV-2 variant exposures elicit antibody responses with differential cross-neutralization of established and emerging strains including Delta and Omicron. J. Infect. Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIAB635 (2022).
- Cameroni, E. et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies overcome SARS-CoV-2 Omicron antigenic shift. *Nature* 602, 664–670 (2021).
- Schmidt, F. et al. High genetic barrier to SARS-CoV-2 polyclonal neutralizing antibody escape. *Nature* 600, 512 (2021).
- Ngono, A. E. & Shresta, S. Immune response to dengue and Zika. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 36, 279 (2018).
- Richardson, S. I. et al. SARS-CoV-2 Beta and Delta variants trigger Fc effector function with increased cross-reactivity. *Cell. Rep. Med.* 3, 100510 (2022).
- 102. Wu, Y. et al. RNA-induced liquid phase separation of SARS-CoV-2 nucleocapsid protein facilitates NF-κB hyper-activation and inflammation. *Signal. Transduct Target Ther.* **6**, 167 (2021).
- 103. Cugno, M. et al. Complement activation and endothelial perturbation parallel COVID-19 severity and activity. *J. Autoimmun.* **116**, 102560 (2021).
- Kolaczkowska, E. & Kubes, P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13, 159–175 (2013).
- Monteiro, R. C. & Winkel, J. G. J. Van De IgA Fc receptors. 21, 177–204, https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141011 (2003).
- Papayannopoulos, V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 18, 134–147 (2018).
- 107. Gimpel, A. K. et al. IgA complexes induce neutrophil extracellular trap formation more potently than IgG Complexes. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 761816 (2022).
- Stacey, H. D. et al. IgA potentiates NETosis in response to viral infection. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 118, e2101497118 (2021).
- 109. Torres-Ruiz, J. et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to COVID-19 hyperinflammation and humoral autoimmunity. *Cells* **10**, 2545 (2021).
- 110. Ferreira-Gomes, M. et al. SARS-CoV-2 in severe COVID-19 induces a TGF- β -dominated chronic immune response that does not target itself. *Nat. Commun.* **12**, 1–14 (2021).
- Staats, L. A. N. et al. IgA2 antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 correlate with NET formation and fatal outcome in severely diseased COVID-19 patients. *Cells* 9, 2676 (2020).
- Steffen, U. et al. IgA subclasses have different effector functions associated with distinct glycosylation profiles. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 120 (2020).
- 113. Allez, M. et al. COVID-19-related IgA vasculitis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 72, 1952–1953 (2020).

- 114. Wong, K. et al. COVID-19 associated vasculitis: a systematic review of case reports and case series. *Ann. Med. Surg.* **74**, 103249 (2022).
- Suzuki, H. et al. Cytokines Alter IgA1 O-Glycosylation by Dysregulating C1GalT1 and ST6GalNAc-II Enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 5330–5339 (2014).
- Jarlhelt, I. et al. SARS-CoV-2 Antibodies mediate complement and cellular driven inflammation. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 767981 (2021).
- 117. Farkash, I. et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies elicited by COVID-19 mRNA vaccine exhibit a unique glycosylation pattern. *Cell Rep.* **37**, 110114 (2021).
- Chakraborty, S. et al. Early non-neutralizing, afucosylated antibody responses are associated with COVID-19 severity. *Sci. Transl. Med.* https://doi.org/10.1126/ SCITRANSLMED.ABM7853 (2022).
- 119. Bye, A. P. et al. Aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike IgG is a prothrombotic stimulus for platelets. *Blood* **138**, 1481–1489 (2021).
- Hoepel, W. et al. High titers and low fucosylation of early human anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG promote inflammation by alveolar macrophages. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 13, eabf865 (2021).
- 121. COVID-19 Vaccines | FDA. https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/covid-19-vaccines. (2022).
- 122. COVID-19 vaccines: authorised | European Medicines Agency. https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/overview/public-health-threats/ coronavirus-disease-covid-19/treatments-vaccines/vaccines-covid-19/covid-19-vaccines-authorised. (2022).
- 123. More Than 11.3 Billion Shots Given: Covid-19 Vaccine Tracker. https:// www.bloomberg.com/graphics/covid-vaccine-tracker-global-distribution/. (2022).
- Lustig, Y. et al. BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine and correlates of humoral immune responses and dynamics: a prospective, single-centre, longitudinal cohort study in health-care workers. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 9, 999–1009 (2021).
- 125. Wei, J. et al. Antibody responses and correlates of protection in the general population after two doses of the ChAdOx1 or BNT162b2 vaccines. *Nat. Med.* https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-022-01721-6 (2022).
- 126. Sauré, D. et al. Dynamic IgG seropositivity after rollout of CoronaVac and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines in Chile: a sentinel surveillance study. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 22, 56–63 (2022).
- 127. Meyer-Arndt, L. et al. Cutting edge: serum but not mucosal antibody responses are associated with pre-existing SARS-CoV-2 spike cross-reactive CD4 + T cells following BNT162b2 vaccination in the elderly. *J. Immunol.* **208**, 1001–1005 (2022).
- Jahrsdörfer, B. et al. BNT162b2 Vaccination elicits strong serological immune responses against SARS-CoV-2 including variants of concern in elderly convalescents. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 743422 (2021).
- 129. Tejedor Vaquero, S. et al. The mRNA-1273 vaccine induces cross-variant antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 with distinct profiles in individuals with or without pre-existing immunity. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 737083 (2021).
- Cho, A. et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 receptor-binding domain antibody evolution after mRNA vaccination. *Nature* 600, 517 (2021).
- Röltgen, K. et al. Immune imprinting, breadth of variant recognition, and germinal center response in human SARS-CoV-2 infection and vaccination. *Cell* 185, 1025–1040.e14 (2022).
- 132. Kim, W. et al. Germinal centre-driven maturation of B cell response to mRNA vaccination. *Nature* **604**, 141–145 (2022).
- Lederer, K. et al. Germinal center responses to SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccines in healthy and immunocompromised individuals. *Cell* 185, 1008–1024.e15 (2022).
- 134. Tangye, S. G., Burnett, D. L. & Bull, R. A. Getting to the (germinal) center of humoral immune responses to SARS-CoV-2. *Cell* **185**, 945 (2022).
- Tarkowski, M. et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Immunoglobulin Isotypes, and Neutralization Activity Against Viral Variants, According to BNT162b2-Vaccination and Infection History. *Front. Immunol.* **12**, 793191 (2021).
- Collier, A. Y. et al. Characterization of immune responses in fully vaccinated individuals following breakthrough infection with the SARS-CoV-2 delta variant. *Sci. Transl. Med.* https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABN6150 (2022).
- Muecksch, F. et al. Increased memory B cell potency and breadth after a SARS-CoV-2 mRNA boost. *Nature* 607, 128 (2022).
- 138. Becker, M. et al. Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern in vaccinated individuals. *Nat. Commun.* **12**, 3109 (2021).
- Edara, V. V. et al. mRNA-1273 and BNT162b2 mRNA vaccines have reduced neutralizing activity against the SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant. *Cell. Rep. Med.* 3, 100529 (2022).
- Wang, Z. et al. Analysis of memory B cells identifies conserved neutralizing epitopes on the N-terminal domain of variant SARS-Cov-2 spike proteins. *Immunity* 55, 998–1012.e8 (2022).
- Pozzetto, B. et al. Immunogenicity and efficacy of heterologous ChAdOx1– BNT162b2 vaccination. *Nature* 600, 701–706 (2021).
- 142. Pinto, D. et al. Broad betacoronavirus neutralization by a stem helix-specific human antibody. *Science* **373**, 1109–1116 (2021).

M. Yaugel-Novoa et al.

- Kaplonek, P. et al. mRNA-1273 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines elicit antibodies with differences in Fc-mediated effector functions. *Sci Transl Med.* 14, eabm2311 (2022).
- Azzi, L. et al. Mucosal immune response in BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine recipients. *EBioMedicine* 75, 103788 (2022).
- Darwich, A. et al. BNT162b2 vaccine induces antibody release in saliva: a possible role for mucosal viral protection? *EMBO Mol. Med.* https://doi.org/10.15252/ EMMM.202115326 (2022).
- 146. Piano Mortari, E. et al. Highly specific memory B cells generation after the 2nd Dose of BNT162b2 vaccine compensate for the decline of serum antibodies and absence of mucosal IgA. *Cells* **10**, 2541 (2021).
- 147. Garziano, M. et al. Natural SARS-CoV-2 infection affects neutralizing activity in saliva of vaccinees. *Front. Immunol.* **13**, 820250 (2022).
- Okuya, K. et al. Multiple routes of antibody-dependent enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Microbiol. Spectr.* https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.01553-21 (2022).
- 149. Wang, Z. et al. ACE2 can act as the secondary receptor in the FcyR-dependent ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *iScience* **25**, 103720 (2022).
- Shen, X. R. et al. Antibody-dependent enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 infection of human immune cells: in vitro assessment provides insight in COVID-19 pathogenesis. *Viruses* 13, 2483 (2021).
- Liu, Y. et al. An infectivity-enhancing site on the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein targeted by antibodies. *Cell* 184, 3452 (2021).
- 152. Zhou, Y. et al. Enhancement versus neutralization by SARS-CoV-2 antibodies from a convalescent donor associates with distinct epitopes on the RBD. *Cell Rep.* 34, 108699 (2021).
- 153. Li, D. et al. In vitro and in vivo functions of SARS-CoV-2 infection-enhancing and neutralizing antibodies. *Cell* **184**, 4203–4219.e32 (2021).
- Lempp, F. A. et al. Lectins enhance SARS-CoV-2 infection and influence neutralizing antibodies. *Nature* 598, 342–347 (2021).
- Junqueira, C. et al. FcγR-mediated SARS-CoV-2 infection of monocytes activates inflammation. *Nature* https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04702-4 (2022).
- Clark, N. M. et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG and IgA antibodies in COVID-19 convalescent plasma do not enhance viral infection. *PLoS ONE* 17, e0257930 (2022).
- García-Nicolás, O. et al. No Evidence for human monocyte-derived macrophage infection and antibody-mediated enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **11**, 644574 (2021).
- Li, D. et al. Waning antibodies from inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccination offer protection against infection without antibody-enhanced immunopathology in rhesus macaque pneumonia models. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **10**, 2194–2198 (2021).
- 159. Gao, Q. et al. Development of an inactivated vaccine candidate for SARS-CoV-2. *Science* **369**, 77–81 (2020).
- Casadevall, A. & Pirofski, L. A. The convalescent sera option for containing COVID-19. J. Clin. Investig. 130, 1545–1548 (2020).
- Joyner, M. J. et al. Safety update: COVID-19 convalescent plasma in 20,000 hospitalized patients. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 95, 1888–1897 (2020).
- Arvin, A. M. et al. A perspective on potential antibody-dependent enhancement of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* 584, 353–363 (2020).
- Cele, S. et al. Omicron extensively but incompletely escapes Pfizer BNT162b2 neutralization. *Nature* 602, 654–656 (2021).
- Reynolds, C. J. et al. Heterologous infection and vaccination shapes immunity against SARS-CoV-2 variants. *Science* 375, 183–192 (2022).
- 165. Berche, P. The enigma of the 1889 Russian flu pandemic: a coronavirus? La Presse Méd. 51, 104111 (2022).
- Vabret, A. et al. Human (non-severe acute respiratory syndrome) coronavirus infections in hospitalised children in France. J. Paediatr. Child Health 44, 176–181 (2008).
- 167. Zhou, W., Wang, W., Wang, H., Lu, R. & Tan, W. First infection by all four nonsevere acute respiratory syndrome human coronaviruses takes place during childhood. *BMC Infect. Dis.* **13**, 433 (2013).
- 168. Shao, X., Guo, X., Esper, F., Weibel, C. & Kahn, J. S. Seroepidemiology of group I human coronaviruses in children. J. Clin. Virol. 40, 207–213 (2007).
- 169. Mulabbi, E. N. et al. Seroprevalence of human coronaviruses among patients visiting hospital-based sentinel sites in Uganda. BMC Infect. Dis. 21, 585 (2021).
- 170. Gorse, G. J., Donovan, M. M. & Patel, G. B. Antibodies to coronaviruses are higher in older compared with younger adults and binding antibodies are more sensitive than neutralizing antibodies in identifying coronavirus-associated illnesses. J. Med. Virol. 92, 512–517 (2020).

- 171. Gorse, G. J., Patel, G. B., Vitale, J. N. & O'Connor, T. Z. Prevalence of antibodies to four human coronaviruses is lower in nasal secretions than in serum. *Clin. Vaccin. Immunol.* **17**, 1875–1880 (2010).
- Edridge, A. W. D. et al. Seasonal coronavirus protective immunity is short-lasting. Nat. Med. 26, 1691–1693 (2020).
- 173. Khan, T. et al. Distinct antibody repertoires against endemic human coronaviruses in children and adults. *JCI Insight* **6**, e144499 (2021).
- 174. Su, S. et al. Epidemiology, genetic recombination, and pathogenesis of coronaviruses. *Trends Microbiol.* 24, 490–502 (2016).
- Hamady, A., Lee, J. J. & Loboda, Z. A. Waning antibody responses in COVID-19: what can we learn from the analysis of other coronaviruses? *Infection* 50, 11–25 (2022).
- 176. Chan, K. H. et al. Cross-reactive antibodies in convalescent SARS patients' sera against the emerging novel human coronavirus EMC (2012) by both immunofluorescent and neutralizing antibody tests. J. Infect. 67, 130–140 (2013).
- 177. Che, X. Y. et al. Antigenic cross-reactivity between severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus and human coronaviruses 229E and OC43. J. Infect. Dis. 191, 2033–2037 (2005).
- Chan, K. H. et al. Use of antibody avidity assays for diagnosis of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. *Clin. Vaccin. Immunol.* 14, 1433–1436 (2007).
- Du, L., Ma, C. & Jiang, S. Antibodies induced by receptor-binding domain in spike protein of SARS-CoV do not cross-neutralize the novel human coronavirus hCoV-EMC. J. Infect. 67, 348–350 (2013).
- Wu, H.-S. et al. Early detection of antibodies against various structural proteins of the SARS-associated coronavirus in SARS patients. J. Biomed. Sci. 11, 117–126 (2004).
- 181. Hsueh, P. R., Huang, L. M., Chen, P. J., Kao, C. L. & Yang, P. C. Chronological evolution of IgM, IgA, IgG and neutralisation antibodies after infection with SARS-associated coronavirus. *Clin. Microbiol Infect.* **10**, 1062–1066 (2004).
- 182. Woo, P. C. Y. et al. Longitudinal profile of immunoglobulin G (IgG), IgM, and IgA antibodies against the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) coronavirus nucleocapsid protein in patients with pneumonia due to the SARS coronavirus. *Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol.* **11**, 665–668 (2004).
- Chan, K. H. et al. Serological responses in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection and cross-reactivity with human coronaviruses 229E, OC43, and NL63. *Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol.* **12**, 1317–1321 (2005).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M.Y.N., T.B., and S.P. analyzed the data. M.Y.N., T.B., and S.P. wrote the paper. All the authors approved the final version of the paper.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the MENRT, ANR, and MSD.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to Stéphane Paul.

Reprints and permission information is available at http://www.nature.com/ reprints

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.

1180

Annexe 2: New method to detect FcR-dependent functions (Published in Vaccines in June 2022).





Article Antiviral Activities of HIV-1-Specific Human Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Are Isotype-Dependent

Blandine Noailly ^{1,†}, Melyssa Yaugel-Novoa ^{1,†}, Justine Werquin ¹, Fabienne Jospin ¹, Daniel Drocourt ², Thomas Bourlet ¹, Nicolas Rochereau ¹ and Stéphane Paul ^{1,*}

- ¹ CIRI—Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Team GIMAP, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Inserm, U1111, CNRS, UMR530, CIC 1408 Vaccinology, 42023 Saint-Etienne, France; blandine.chanut@univ-st-etienne.fr (B.N.); melyssa.yaugel.novoa@univ-st-etienne.fr (M.Y.-N.); justwerquin@gmail.com (J.W.); fabienne.jospin@univ-st-etienne.fr (F.J.); thomas.bourlet@chu-st-etienne.fr (T.B.); rochereau.nicolas@gmail.com (N.R.)
- ² Could Institute Concernational Concernation of the Could Institute Concernation of the Could Institute Cou
- ² Cayla InvivoGen, 31400 Toulouse, France; e.perouzel@invivogen.com
 * Correspondence: stephane.paul@chu-st-etienne.fr
- t These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) offer promising opportunities for preventing HIV-1 infection. The protection mechanisms of bNAbs involve the Fc domain, as well as their Fab counterpart. Here, different bNAb isotypes including IgG1, IgA1, IgA2, and IgA122 (IgA2 with the hinge of IgA1) were generated and then produced in CHO cells. Their ability to neutralize pseudovirus and primary HIV-1 isolates were measured, as well as their potential ADCC-like activity using a newly developed assay. In our work, gp41-specific IgA seems to be more efficient than IgG1 in inducing ADCC-like activity, but not in its virus neutralization effect. We show that either gp120-specific IgA or IgG1 isotypes are both efficient in neutralizing different viral strains. In contrast, gp120-specific IgG1 was a better ADCC-like activity of different bNAbs that might be taken into consideration when searching for new treatments or antibody-based vaccines.

Keywords: HIV; broadly neutralizing antibodies; gp41; gp120; ADCC; neutralization

1. Introduction

Immunoprophylaxis with potent bNAbs efficiently protects non-human primates from mucosal transmission even after repeated challenges [1,2]. However, the precise mechanisms of bNAb-mediated viral inhibition in mucosal tissues are currently underinvestigated. Constant heavy-chain domains, such as the CH1 domain, modify antibody affinity and specificity, which demonstrates that not only variable regions contribute to antigen binding [3–9]. Increasing evidence shows that non-neutralizing Abs play a significant role in decreasing the viral load, leading to partial and sometimes even total protection. The mechanisms suspected to participate in protection involve the Fc domain of Abs, as well as their Fab counterpart. Consequently, the induced Ab isotype will be determinant for their functions, as well as the quantity and quality of the Fc receptors (FcRs) expressed on immune cells. Fc-mediated inhibitory functions, such as Ab-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP), aggregation, and even immune activation, have been proposed [4,5,10–13]. It has been demonstrated that longer hinges are important in the phagocytic activity of IgG1 and IgG3 isotypes, but not for ADCC or neutralization [14]. Recently, Duchemin et al. compared IgA2 and IgG1 isotypes from the 2F5 antibody and showed that the IgA2 isotype induced better ADCC and ADCP effects than the IgG1 isotype [15,16]. Moreover, Jia et al. in 2020 isolated, from chronically infected donors, two bNAbs B cell lineages that class-switched to IgG and IgA. IgA variants reconstituted from these bNAbs had broadly neutralizing activity as well



Citation: Noailly, B.; Yaugel-Novoa, M.; Werquin, J.; Jospin, F.; Drocourt, D.; Bourlet, T.; Rochereau, N.; Paul, S. Antiviral Activities of HIV-1-Specific Human Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Are Isotype-Dependent. *Vaccines* 2022, *10*, 903. https:// doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10060903

Academic Editor: François Meurens

Received: 16 May 2022 Accepted: 2 June 2022 Published: 6 June 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). as plasma IgA fraction [17]. These recent findings highlight the importance of IgA- and IgG-related Fc-effector functions. The RV144 HIV vaccine clinical trial identified plasma IgA responses to HIV Env as correlating to increased HIV acquisition and a decrease in the in vitro ADCC activity of vaccine-induced Env-specific IgG [18].

Here, we conducted a deeper analysis of the isotype impact on the function of bNAbs targeting the gp120 and gp41 regions of HIV-1 Env. The increased interest in understanding the role of ADCC in preventing and controlling HIV-1 infection leads us to assess this function of a panel of antibodies [11]. We studied a panel of Env-specific bNAbs (2F5, B12, PG16, PGT126, PGT128, PGT145, NIH45-46, and 10E8 (Table 1)) for which the ability to mediate non-neutralizing functions is not completely described. IgG1, IgA1, IgA2, and IgA122 (IgA2 with the hinge of IgA1) for the 2F5 bNAb family; IgG1, IgA2, and IgA122 for B12; and IgG1 and IgA122 for the rest of the bNAbs were used to compare their ability to neutralize pseudoviruses and primary HIV-1 isolates, as well as their potential ADCC activity in a new potent gp120- and gp41-targeted assay.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cells

TZM-bl and CHOgp140 cell lines were obtained from the NIH AIDS Reagent Program. HEK 293-gp41MSD (Membrane Spanning Domain) has been previously described [19]. CHO-gp140 and HEK 293-gp41 express gp140 or gp41 in its trimeric form. HEK CD89⁺ and HEK CD16⁺ cell lines were obtained from InvivoGen.

2.2. Construction and Production of Recombinant IgA1, IgA2, IgA122, and IgG

CHO cell lines were transfected with two plasmids: pFUSE-CHIg and pFUSE2-CLIg. These plasmids express the constant regions of the heavy (CH) and light (CL) chains, respectively. Transfection of the CHO cell lines with the recombinant pFUSE-CHIg and pFUSE2-CLIg pair allows the generation of an Ig antibody. Antibodies were purified from the supernatant using the appropriate protein affinity chromatography. IgG1 was purified with protein G, and IgA with peptide M. IgA122 was obtained by replacement of the IgA2 hinge region with the IgA1 hinge region. The purity of recombinant Abs was analyzed on SDS-PAGE in reducing conditions, and the gel was stained with Coomassie Blue.

2.3. Analysis of the Specificity of the Different bNAb Isotypes

Target cells were incubated with broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) IgA1, IgA2, IgA122, or IgG1 at 5 μ g/mL, followed by an anti-human IgGAM (fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC); Abliance). Antibody binding to target cells was quantified by flow cytometry using a CantoII flow cytometer (BD), and the geometric mean fluorescence intensity (gMFI) was calculated using the software FlowJo, version 10.6.2 (BD).

2.4. HIV-1-Specific Neutralization Assays

Viral primary isolates of clades A (92UG029), B (SF162, 92US660), and D (92UG001) were obtained from the NIH AIDS Reagent Program. Pseudoviruses were produced by co-transfection of the backbone plasmid PSG3 Δ env (NIH) and the envelope plasmid of clade B (11035, 11036, and 11307) or clade C (11312) (NIH) in the HEK293 cell line.

2.5. TZMbl/Pseudovirus Assay

Pseudoviruses were incubated with the bNAbs at different concentrations for 2 h, and these mixtures were added to the cells (10,000 cells/well) plated in 96-well plates for 24 h. After 48 h of infection, luciferase activity was used to quantify the infected TZM-bl cells by adding the luciferase substrate, Bright Glo (Promega), and the luminescence was measured (Berthold Technologies ref Tristar LB941). Neutralization activity directly correlates with the reduction in luciferase reporter gene expression after a single round of virus infection in TZMbl cells by the pseudoviruses of panels B and C.

2.6. PBMC/Primary Isolate Assay

Neutralization assay for the primary isolates of clades A (92UG029), B (SF162, 92US660), and D (92UG001) was performed using a pool of PBMCs isolated from healthy donors and stimulated with Phytohemagglutinin (PHA) (2 μ g/mL) and recombinant human IL-2 (R&D Systems 202IL) (200 U/mL). A dose of 100 TCID50 of primary isolate virus were incubated for 2 h with the bNAbs at different concentrations, and with these mixtures, PBMCs were infected for 3 h at 37 °C. The amount of p24 in the supernatants was quantified using an ELISA (InfYnity biomarkers). The percentage of neutralization and EC50 were calculated as previously described [20].

2.7. HIV-1 Env-Dependent Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity (ADCC)-like Assay

ADCC-mimicry assay was performed using cells expressing HIV-1 Env (HEKgp41 or CHOSEC/CHOgp140) [21] as target cells. Target cells were first incubated with different bNAb concentrations. Effector cells expressing the Fc receptor (HEK-CD16⁺ or HEK-CD89⁺) were first established by transfection (Invivogen, data not shown). HEK-CD16⁺ or HEK-CD89⁺ cell lines used in the ADCC-mimicry assay have the same expression level of CD16 or CD89 measured by flow cytometry (Invivogen). HEK-CD16⁺ or HEK-CD89⁺ cell lines co-incubated with bNAbs were co-cultured with the target cells at a 1:1 effector/target ratio for 48 h at 37 °C. Alkaline phosphatase was measured in the culture supernatant using Quantiblue (InvivoGen) at 620 nm. Percentage of ADCC was calculated using the formula: $100 \times (OD \ 620 \ nm \ with \ bNAb-OD \ 620 \ nm \ with \ bNAb.$

2.8. Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with InStat software (version 8.01; Graph-Pad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). The normality was tested for each data set with both Shapiro–Wilk and D'Agostino–Pearson tests. When data could be modelled by a normal distribution, the following tests were performed depending on the comparison: Student's *t*-test (comparison of two means), one-way ANOVA (multiple mean comparisons) with Bonferroni correction (comparison of all pairs of data sets) or Dunnett's correction (comparison to a control group). Alternatively, non-parametric tests were performed with the Mann–Whitney test (comparison of two means). In the case of comparisons of two independent variables, a two-way ANOVA test was done. Results are represented as Mean \pm SEM. *p* values of less than 0.05 (*), less than 0.01 (**), and less than 0.001 (***) were considered significant. Statistically significant differences between groups are emphasized by bars connecting the relevant columns.

3. Results

3.1. Development of a New Highly Potent Cellular Assay to Measure the ADCC-like Activity

We used a new method able to monitor the potential ADCC-like activity of different mAbs using HEK 293-gp41MSD and CHOgp140 cells as target cells [19,22]. Different HIV-bNAbs from different isotypes (IgA1, IgA2, and IgG1) were generated to compare their functional properties. An antibody IgA122, using an IgA2 Fc with the hinge region of IgA1, was also interestingly included to investigate whether the hinge length can affect the effector function of IgA isotypes. The four isotypes were produced for the bNAb 2F5 and IgG1, IgA2, and IgA122 for B12, while for the rest, we constructed IgG1 and IgA122. The antibodies were generated by recombinant DNA technology, produced in CHO cells, and purified by affinity chromatography according to their isotype (protein G for IgG, peptide M for IgA), obtaining from 2–5 mg of each antibody with more than 98% purity. We could identify the presence of the heavy (H) and light (L) chains at the expected sizes, which proves the integrity of each antibody (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Characterization of the different bNAb isotypes: (a) Separation of bNAbs IgG and (b) IgA isotypes on SDS-PAGE (Bis-Tris 4–12%). An amount of 10 μ g of the corresponding antibody was loaded on the gel. The first and last lanes of each gel correspond to the molecular weight marker. Two IgA controls were used: colostrum IgA and a highly purified IgA. Migration was performed at 150 V for 1 h.

The binding capacity of the bNAbs to their respective antigens was first tested by flow cytometry on the two target cell lines. IgG1 recognized its epitopes on gp41 and the CD4 binding site in the gp120 protein (MFI = 407–6784) better than the IgA isotypes (MFI = 152–1548). The V2 and V3 epitopes were similarly unrecognizable by all isotypes (Table 1). All tested antibodies exhibited an ADCC-like dose effect ranging from 0.75 μ g/mL to 100 μ g/mL (Figure 2). For most of the antibodies, the ADCC-like maximal activity effect was clearly achieved at the maximum tested concentration.

Table 1. Efficacy of binding of the different isotypes on Env-expressing cells by flow cytometry. Percentage of positivity of cells with $5 \mu g/mL$ of antibodies (n = 3).

Target Protein	Epitope *	Antibody	Isotype	MFI	% of Positivity
gp41 (HEK-gp41)	MPER	2F5	IgG1	407	93.5%
			IgA1	185	55.0%
			IgA2	152	45.5%
			IgA122	202	64.5%
		10E8	IgG1	228	41.6%
			IgA122	153	8.76%
gp140 (CHOSEC)	CD4 binding site	B12	IgG1	1566	99.6%
			IgA1	886	98.4%
			IgA2	586	73.5%
			IgA122	878	92.3%
		NIH4546	IgG1	6784	100%
			IgA122	1548	99.4%
	V2 glycan	PG16	IgG1	439	0.049%
			IgA122	422	0.23%
		PGT145	IgG1	623	41.4%
			IgA122	471	4.34%
	V3 glycan	PGT126	IgG1	638	47.6%
			IgA122	540	27.4%
		PGT128	IgG1	476	13.2%
			IgA122	442	1.62%

* Source: NIH AIDS Reagent Program; https://www.hiv.lanl.gov/ (accessed on 9 December 2021).



Antibody concentration (µg/mL)

Figure 2. ADCC-like activities of bNAbs depend on their isotypes and their specificity: (**a**) %ADCC for each evaluated concentration. Each point represents the mean and SEM of triplicates from two different experiments. Student's t-test was used for antibodies PGT145, PG16, 10E8, PGT126, PGT128, and NIH4546. A 2-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons was used for the antibodies 2F5 and B12. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 (**b**) Heatmap of EC50 (µg/mL) values obtained for ADCC. Numbers indicate the geometric mean values of results from triplicates of at least two independent experiments (n = 6).

3.2. ADCC-like Activities of bNAbs Depend on Their Isotypes and Their Specificity 3.2.1. Higher ADCC-like Activity of gp41-Specific IgA Isotypes

For 2F5, the ADCC-like activities of IgA122 (EC50 = 25.40 µg/mL), IgA1 (EC50 = 30.13 µg/mL), and IgA2 (EC50 = 19.51 µg/mL) were statistically different (p < 0.0001) from IgG1 ADCC (EC50 = 100 µg/mL) (Figure 2). However, no significant differences were observed between the IgA isotypes. For 10E8, the IgA122 isotype also had more potent ADCC-like activity (EC50 = 14.94 µg/mL) than the IgG1 isotype (EC50 = 58.49 µg/mL) (p < 0.00001) (Figure 2). The 2F5 and 10E8 antibodies have their epitopes in the MPER region of gp41. However, 2F5 recognizes a beta sheet epitope and 10E8 an α -helix epitope [23]. Nevertheless, our results suggest that, in the case of 2F5 and 10E8, the IgA isotypes are better ADCC inducers than IgG1 against gp41, independently of the nature of the epitope.

3.2.2. Heterogenous gp120-Specific ADCC-like Activity of IgG1 and IgA Isotypes

Measurements of the ADCC-like activity of gp120-specific bNAbs were tested on CHOgp140 target cells (Figure 2). When comparing the NIH4546 and B12 families, which have their epitopes in the CD4 binding site, we detected that, in the case of NIH4546, IgG1 induced 50% ADCC with a higher antibody concentration (EC50 = 2.61 µg/mL) than IgA122 (EC50 = 1.569 µg/mL) (p = 0.00095). In the case of B12, IgA122 needed more concentration to achieve 50% ADCC (EC50 = 31.80 µg/mL) than IgA2 (EC50 = 14.22 µg/mL) and IgG1 (EC50 = 15.87 µg/mL), and the differences were statistically significant in both cases (p < 0.0001). However, the EC50 concentrations of the IgG1 and IgA2 isotypes on CHOSEC were not statistically different (p = 0.48). For PGT128, no significant differences between 50% ADCC-like activities mediated by the IgA122 and IgG1 isotypes were observed (IgA122 EC50 = 100 µg/mL; IgG1 EC50 = 86.38 µg/mL; p = 0.558). Interestingly, for PGT126-specific isotypes, we observed a significant decrease in IgA122 EC50 concentrations compared to

IgG1 (IgA122 EC50 = 7.81 µg/mL; IgG1 EC50 = 46.62 µg/mL; p < 0.000001). In contrast, for PGT145, IgG1 had a significantly higher ADCC activity than IgA122 with less antibody concentration (IgA122 EC50 = 100 µg/mL; IgG1 EC50 = 20.52 µg/mL; p = 0.0004). For PG16 isotypes, the IgG1 EC50 antibody concentration was significantly smaller than IgA122 (IgA122 EC50 = 100 µg/mL; IgG1 EC50 = 2.32 µg/mL; p = 0.00003). The IgA and IgG1 isotypes induced a heterogeneous ADCC effect when facing cells expressing the gp120 glycoprotein. Of note, for V2-specific antibodies, IgG1 induces more ADCC, probably due to the better accessibility of IgG1 than IgA in the V2 glycan shield structure [24,25].

3.3. Development of a New Highly Potent Cellular Assay to Measure the ADCC-like Activity 3.3.1. Gp41-Specific IgG1 Has More Potent Neutralizing Activity

When comparing the role of the bNAbs' Fc portion in their virus neutralization ability, any statistically significant difference between bNAbs was, measured. However, for gp41-specific antibody families as previously described, we confirmed the superiority of 10E8 (Figure 3), implying that the slightly greater access of the 10E8 bNAb to the MPER epitope on the cell surface than that of 2F5 may play a critical role in antibody neutralization, as was already shown by Huang et al. in 2012 [26].



Figure 3. Neutralizing activity of bNAbs depend also on their isotypes and their specificity. Heatmap of EC50 (μ g/mL) values obtained for neutralization for all tested antibodies using: (**a**) TZM-bl cells and pseudovirus or (**b**) PBMCs isolated from healthy donors and primary isolates. Numbers indicate the geometric mean values of results from duplicates of at least two independent experiments (n = 4). A 2-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons was used to compare EC50s from all the antibodies per virus.

When we compared isotypes, IgG1 from the 10E8 and 2F5 bNAbs better neutralized six out of eight viral strains with an EC50 < 7 μ g/mL, while the IgA isotypes neutralized one or two viral strains (92UG001 strain for IgA2 2F5 antibody and 92UG029 and SF162 strains for IgA1 2F5; EC50 < 0.02 μ g/mL). Only IgA122 from 10E8 neutralized the four pseudoviruses tested (EC50 < 8.06 μ g/mL), suggesting that, for this specific family, the hinge length increases the neutralization ability in that case.

3.3.2. Gp120-Specific IgG1 and IgAs Have Similar Neutralization Effect

As for the gp41-specific antibodies, we did not find any statistically significant differences between the neutralization effects of any of the gp120-specific tested bNAbs. Nevertheless, we saw that only B12 IgA122 and NIH4546 IGA122 and IgG1 neutralized all viral strains with an EC50 < 13 μ g/mL. For the remaining tested bNAbs, the IgG1 and IgA isotypes similarly neutralized all viral strains, even though the pseudoviruses were better neutralized than the primary isolates (Figure 3). The IgA122 isotype tends to better neutralize all viruses than the respective IgG1 isotype. That is the case for PG16 family, where the IgA122 isotype neutralizes six out of eight viruses with an EC50 < 4 μ g/mL, and the IgG1 isotype also neutralizes six out of eight viruses, but with a higher antibody concentration (EC50 < 14 μ g/mL). The B12 family is also an example of that because, even if the IgA1 and IgA2 isotypes were exclusively better neutralizers of pseudoviruses and IgG1 had a broader spectrum of neutralization, IgA122 required less antibody concentration to have the same effect (EC50 < 16 μ g/mL) against all tested viruses.

3.4. Correlation between ADCC-like Activity and Virus Neutralization

Each of the HIV-1 monoclonal antibodies was tested for neutralization by two methods with different viruses (clades A, B, and D) or pseudoviruses (clades B and C). ADCC-like activity was also measured and correlated with antibody binding to target cells (Figure 4a). For gp41, the ADCC-like EC50 (Spearman's r = 0.6) tended to positively correlate with antibody binding to target cells; however, the correlation was not significant (p > 0.4)(Figure 4a). Neither did the ADCC-like EC50 significantly correlate with neutral activity for any of the eight viral strains evaluated (Spearman's r = 0.20; 0.03; 0.34; -0.58; 0.52; -0.70; -0.67; -0.70; p > 0.1) (Figure 4b). However, there is a clear tendency to a better ADCC-like effect for the IgA isotypes when more potent neutralization is achieved, even though this effect depends on the viral strain used for the neutralization test. On the other hand, the IgG isotype tends to be better for neutralization and less efficient for ADCC, compared to IgA isotypes. For gp120-specific IgA and IgG, the ADCC-like activity inversely correlated with binding to target cells (Spearman's r = -0.82; -0.09, respectively) (Figure 4a). Both isotypes seem to be equally efficient for neutralization; nevertheless, IgG tends to generate a better ADCC response than the IgA isotypes. A positive correlation between the ADCC and neutralization of the 92UG001 viral strain was observed when comparing the IgA isotypes (Spearman's r = 0.88, p = 0.0179) (Figure 4b).



Figure 4. Correlation between: (a) MFI and ADCC-like EC50, (b) ADCC-like EC50 and Neutralization EC50. Each point represents the mean value of triplicates from two different experiments (n = 6). Non-parametric Spearman correlation was calculated for each case.

4. Discussion

Here, we compare the impact of different isotypes of bNAbs on their antiviral functions. The evaluation of the potential ADCC of different isotypes from different bNAbs will provide information concerning the contribution of the Fc region of gp41-specific and gp120-specific antibodies in the protection against HIV-1. For that reason, the IgG and IgA isotypes from eight bNAb families were constructed and produced in CHO. The quality of these antibodies was evaluated by their specificity and binding capacity to CHOgp140 or HEK-gp41 target cells; however, IgA was less efficient in binding gp41- and gp140-expressing cells compared to the IgG isotypes. We then tested their potential ADCC-like

activity and their ability to neutralize primary isolates and pseudoviruses. ADCC-like activity was measured using a new sensitive assay designed to measure phosphatase alkaline, from which the expression was enhanced by the binding between FcR-expressing cells and the complex Ab-target cell. Ab antiviral efficiency is highly dependent not only on the Fab–antigen interactions that block viral entry but also on interaction of the Ab Fc domain with its cognate FcR expressed on the innate effector cells [27]. Contrary to other ADCC tests using PBMCs or NKs as effector cells [15,16,28], the assay is simpler and more interesting to gain an idea of the potency of the Fc-dependent antiviral effects that bNAbs can trigger beyond ADCC. However, further studies are needed to compare our assay with a more physiologic assay using PBMCs or NK cells. Our test uses antibody concentrations higher than the ones used by Duchemin et al. in 2020 [16]. Nevertheless, with this new method for evaluating ADCC effect based on cells expressing gp41 or gp120, all bNAbs tested were able to induce an ADCC response without the need to work with HIV-1-infected cells.

Our study reveals that, in the context of gp41, despite the inverse correlation between the ADCC-like EC50 and the effective binding of IgG1 to target cells, IgA is more efficient than IgG1 in inducing ADCC, but not for its neutralization effects in the context of the virus. In accordance with this, the IgG1 isotypes from 2F5 and 10E8 are described to have less or no ADCC effect against HIV-1-infected cells [29], probably due to a low affinity of these Abs for Env protein in the context of HIV-1-infected cells, which can be explained by their specificity to a gp41 epitope that is transiently exposed during fusion and phospholipids [30-33]. Moreover, Tudor et al. and Duchemin et al. showed that the IgA2 isotype from the 2F5 bNAb induced more ADCC and ADCP than its corresponding IgG1 [4,16]. For gp120 specificity, the IgA or IgG1 isotypes are efficient in neutralizing the different viral strains. In contrast, IgG1 was a better ADCC inducer than the corresponding IgA isotypes. The differences found between the Fc effector functions depending on the target protein could be explained by the different structural conformations between the Env glycoprotein on the infected cells and on the virus, making the epitopes variably exposed to the Ab. In accordance with this, Benjamin von Bredow et al. in 2019 showed for the PGT145 Ab that antibody binding affinity can differentiate sensitivity to ADCC from neutralization [34].

Duchemin et al. demonstrated that, for the gp41-specific 2F5 bNAb, the IgA isotype cooperates with the corresponding IgG isotype and also with IgG from 10E8 to increase HIV-1-infected cell lysis by ADCC [15]. However, Tomaras et al. addresses the interference of gp120-specific IgA in the correspondent IgG-mediated ADCC, most likely due to the higher affinity of IgA than IgG for gp120 [35]. In this last study, they used effector cells that did not express the Fc α RI and were unable to lyse target cells mediated by IgA isotypes. Duchemin et al. proposed that one possible explanation of the differences between their study and Tomaras et al. is that the capacity of the gp120 epitopes targeted by the RV144 vaccine-induced Abs in mediating ADCC differs from that of the gp41 epitopes. The results of our study support their conclusions, suggesting that the epitopes targeted by the Ab is crucial for isotype cooperation in ADCC.

Khamassi et al. in 2020 showed that the CH1 α domain of FabA has strong antibody specificity and functional activities, notably, an efficient neutralization of HIV-1-infected CD4+T lymphocytes, which is not true for FabG [36]. The same group saw a gain in affinity and antiviral activity of bNAbs when they performed isotype switching from IgG to IgA [4,36]. Their studies add another layer of complexity to the structure–function relationship of bNAbs, and our results are in accordance with this, as we detected differences between IgA and IgG isotypes' antiviral functions for some families. On the other hand, the production of Ab IgA2 containing the hinge of IgA1 showed that there is no gain in the Fc effector functions tested in this study for the bNAb 2F5. These findings contrast with Richardson et al. in 2019 [10] showing that the hinge region and Fc portion of a bNAb influenced the neutralization and Fc-relative functions. However, for the B12 family, the isotype IgA122 better neutralized pseudoviruses and primary isolated viruses

than the other IgA B12 isotypes. At the same time, IgA2 was a better neutralizer than IgA1 for the same family. It seems that, for the B12 antibody, a strategy of recombinant antibodies with the Fc part corresponding to IgA2 and the IgA1 hinge could be a good approach for immunotherapies against HIV. In addition, Scheepers et al. showed that IgA1 switching from IgG1 improved the neutralization activity of CAP88-CH06 lineage antibodies, and the suggested mechanism was associated to the structure and glycosylation of the IgA1 hinge region [37]. In accordance with the greater exposure of the Env proteins of lab-adapted viruses to antibodies [38–41], pseudoviruses were generally more sensitive to neutralization in terms of the magnitude of responses; notwithstanding, some antibodies were more efficient in neutralizing the primary viruses than the pseudoviruses.

This study has limitations. The test used here to measure ADCC-like activity does not reflect the physiological ADCC that occurs in the body, as there are no effector cells, such as PBMCs or NKs. However, it offers an idea of the potency of the Fc-dependent antiviral effects that bNAbs can trigger beyond ADCC. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to compare our assay with a more physiologic assay using PBMCs or NK cells.

Overall, our results reveal a variety of responses according to the nature of the neutralized virus and the Env-specific ADCC-related effect for the bNAbs tested. Concerning the ADCC-like effect of the gp41-specific tested antibodies, the IgA isotypes seem to be better than IgG1; the contrary seems to be true for the gp120-specific tested antibodies. We consider that the isotype selection should be based on the target epitope and the desired Fc-related effect. These results provide new insights into the neutralization and ADCC effects of different bNAbs that might be taken into consideration when searching for new treatments or antibody-based vaccines.

Author Contributions: N.R., M.Y.-N., J.W., D.D., B.N. and F.J. carried out the experiment. M.Y.-N., B.N., S.P., T.B. and N.R. wrote the manuscript. S.P. supervised the project. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Fouda, G.G.; Eudailey, J.; Kunz, E.L.; Amos, J.D.; Liebl, B.E.; Himes, J.; Boakye-Agyeman, F.; Beck, K.; Michaels, A.J.; Cohen-Wolkowiez, M.; et al. Systemic Administration of an HIV-1 Broadly Neutralizing Dimeric IgA Yields Mucosal Secretory IgA and Virus Neutralization. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2017, 10, 228–237. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Watkins, J.D.; Sholukh, A.M.; Mukhtar, M.M.; Siddappa, N.B.; Lakhashe, S.K.; Kim, M.; Reinherz, E.L.; Gupta, S.; Forthal, D.N.; Sattentau, Q.J.; et al. Anti-HIV IgA Isotypes: Differential Virion Capture and Inhibition of Transcytosis Are Linked to Prevention of Mucosal R5 SHIV Transmission. *AIDS* 2013, 27, F13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Torres, M.; Casadevall, A. The Immunoglobulin Constant Region Contributes to Affinity and Specificity. *Trends Immunol.* 2008, 29, 91–97. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tudor, D.; Yu, H.; Maupetit, J.; Drillet, A.S.; Bouceba, T.; Schwartz-Cornil, I.; Lopalco, L.; Tuffery, P.; Bomsel, M. Isotype Modulates Epitope Specificity, Affinity, and Antiviral Activities of Anti-HIV-1 Human Broadly Neutralizing 2F5 Antibody. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2012, *109*, 12680–12685. [CrossRef]
- Astronomo, R.D.; Santra, S.; Ballweber-Fleming, L.; Westerberg, K.G.; Mach, L.; Hensley-McBain, T.; Sutherland, L.; Mildenberg, B.; Morton, G.; Yates, N.L.; et al. Neutralization Takes Precedence Over IgG or IgA Isotype-Related Functions in Mucosal HIV-1 Antibody-Mediated Protection. *EBioMedicine* 2016, 14, 97–111. [CrossRef]
- Wolbank, S.; Kunert, R.; Stiegler, G.; Katinger, H. Characterization of Human Class-Switched Polymeric (Immunoglobulin M [IgM] and IgA) Anti-Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Antibodies 2F5 and 2G12. J. Virol. 2003, 77, 4095–4103. [CrossRef]
- Shen, R.; Drelichman, E.R.; Bimczok, D.; Ochsenbauer, C.; Kappes, J.C.; Cannon, J.A.; Tudor, D.; Bomsel, M.; Smythies, L.E.; Smith, P.D. GP41-Specific Antibody Blocks Cell-Free HIV Type 1 Transcytosis through Human Rectal Mucosa and Model Colonic Epithelium. J. Immunol. 2010, 184, 3648–3655. [CrossRef]

- Mantis, N.J.; Palaia, J.; Hessell, A.J.; Mehta, S.; Zhu, Z.; Corthésy, B.; Neutra, M.R.; Burton, D.R.; Janoff, E.N. Inhibition of HIV-1 Infectivity and Epithelial Cell Transfer by Human Monoclonal IgG and IgA Antibodies Carrying the B12 V Region. *J. Immunol.* 2007, 179, 3144–3152. [CrossRef]
- Liu, F.; Bergami, P.L.; Duval, M.; Kuhrt, D.; Posner, M.; Cavacini, L. Expression and Functional Activity of Isotype and Subclass Switched Human Monoclonal Antibody Reactive with the Base of the V3 Loop of HIV-1 Gp120. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retrovir.* 2003, 19, 597–607. [CrossRef]
- Richardson, S.I.; Lambson, B.E.; Crowley, A.R.; Bashirova, A.; Scheepers, C.; Garrett, N.; Karim, S.A.; Mkhize, N.N.; Carrington, M.; Ackerman, M.E.; et al. IgG3 Enhances Neutralization Potency and Fc Effector Function of an HIV V2-Specific Broadly Neutralizing Antibody. *PLoS Pathog.* 2019, 15, e1008064. [CrossRef]
- 11. Bournazos, S.; Klein, F.; Pietzsch, J.; Seaman, M.S.; Nussenzweig, M.C.; Ravetch, J.V. Broadly Neutralizing Anti-HIV-1 Antibodies Require Fc Effector Functions for in Vivo Activity. *Cell* **2014**, *158*, 1243–1253. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mayr, L.; Su, B.; Moog, C. Role of Nonneutralizing Antibodies in Vaccines and/or HIV Infected Individuals. *Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS* 2017, 12, 209–215. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bomsel, M.; Tudor, D.; Drillet, A.S.; Alfsen, A.; Ganor, Y.; Roger, M.G.; Mouz, N.; Amacker, M.; Chalifour, A.; Diomede, L.; et al. Immunization with HIV-1 Gp41 Subunit Virosomes Induces Mucosal Antibodies Protecting Nonhuman Primates against Vaginal SHIV Challenges. *Immunity* 2011, 34, 269–280. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chu, T.H.; Crowley, A.R.; Backes, I.; Chang, C.; Tay, M.; Broge, T.; Tuyishime, M.; Ferrari, G.; Seaman, M.S.; Richardson, S.I.; et al. Hinge Length Contributes to the Phagocytic Activity of HIV-Specific IgG1 and IgG3 Antibodies. *PLoS Pathog.* 2020, 16, e1008083. [CrossRef]
- Duchemin, M.; Khamassi, M.; Xu, L.; Tudor, D.; Bomsel, M. IgA Targeting Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Envelope Gp41 Triggers Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity Cross-Clade and Cooperates with Gp41-Specific IgG to Increase Cell Lysis. *Front. Immunol.* 2018, 9, 244. [CrossRef]
- 16. Duchemin, M.; Tudor, D.; Cottignies-Calamarte, A.; Bomsel, M. Antibody-Dependent Cellular Phagocytosis of HIV-1-Infected Cells Is Efficiently Triggered by IgA Targeting HIV-1 Envelope Subunit Gp41. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, 1141. [CrossRef]
- Jia, M.; Liberatore, R.A.; Guo, Y.; Chan, K.W.; Pan, R.; Lu, H.; Waltari, E.; Mittler, E.; Chandran, K.; Finzi, A.; et al. VSV-Displayed HIV-1 Envelope Identifies Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Class-Switched to IgG and IgA. *Cell Host Microbe* 2020, 27, 963–975.e5. [CrossRef]
- Tomaras, G.D.; Plotkin, S.A. Complex Immune Correlates of Protection in HIV-1 Vaccine Efficacy Trials. *Immunol. Rev.* 2017, 275, 245–261. [CrossRef]
- Dawood, R.; Benjelloun, F.; Pin, J.J.; Kone, A.; Chanut, B.; Jospin, F.; Lucht, F.; Verrier, B.; Moog, C.; Genin, C.; et al. Generation of HIV-1 Potent and Broad Neutralizing Antibodies by Immunization with Postfusion HR1/HR2 Complex. *AIDS* 2013, 27, 717–730. [CrossRef]
- 20. Montefiori, D.C. Evaluating Neutralizing Antibodies against HIV, SIV, and SHIV in Luciferase Reporter Gene Assays. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* 2004, 64, 125–131. [CrossRef]
- Weiss, C.D.; White, J.M. Characterization of Stable Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells Expressing Wild-Type, Secreted, and Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Envelope Glycoprotein. J. Virol. 1993, 67, 7060–7066. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Girard, A.; Jelicic, K.; Van Ryk, D.; Rochereau, N.; Cicala, C.; Arthos, J.; Noailly, B.; Genin, C.; Verrier, B.; Laurant, S.; et al. Neutralizing and Targeting Properties of a New Set of A4β7-Specific Antibodies Are Influenced by Their Isotype. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 2017, 75, 118–127. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mascola, J.R.; Haynes, B.F. HIV-1 Neutralizing Antibodies: Understanding Nature's Pathways. *Immunol. Rev.* 2013, 254, 225–244. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Zhou, M.; Ruprecht, R.M. Are Anti-HIV IgAs Good Guys or Bad Guys? Retrovirology 2014, 11, 109. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pancera, M.; Shahzad-Ul-Hussan, S.; Doria-Rose, N.A.; McLellan, J.S.; Bailer, R.T.; Dai, K.; Loesgen, S.; Louder, M.K.; Staupe, R.P.; Yang, Y.; et al. Structural Basis for Diverse N-Glycan Recognition by HIV-1-Neutralizing V1-V2-Directed Antibody PG16. *Nat.* Struct. Mol. Biol. 2013, 20, 804–813. [CrossRef]
- 26. Huang, J.; Ofek, G.; Laub, L.; Louder, M.K.; Doria-Rose, N.A.; Longo, N.S.; Imamichi, H.; Bailer, R.T.; Chakrabarti, B.; Sharma, S.K.; et al. Broad and Potent Neutralization of HIV-1 by a Gp41-Specific Human Antibody. *Nature* **2012**, *491*, 406–412. [CrossRef]
- Shibuya, A.; Sakamoto, N.; Shimizu, Y.; Shibuya, K.; Osawa, M.; Hiroyama, T.; Eyre, H.J.; Sutherland, G.R.; Endo, Y.; Fujita, T.; et al. Fcα/µ Receptor Mediates Endocytosis of IgM-Coated Microbes. *Nat. Immunol.* 2000, 1, 441–446. [CrossRef]
- Bruel, T.; Guivel-Benhassine, F.; Amraoui, S.; Malbec, M.; Richard, L.; Bourdic, K.; Donahue, D.A.; Lorin, V.; Casartelli, N.; Noël, N.; et al. Elimination of HIV-1-Infected Cells by Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies. *Nat. Commun.* 2016, 7, 10844. [CrossRef]
- 29. von Bredow, B.; Arias, J.F.; Heyer, L.N.; Moldt, B.; Le, K.; Robinson, J.E.; Zolla-Pazner, S.; Burton, D.R.; Evans, D.T. Virus Neutralization by HIV-1 Env-Specific Monoclonal Antibodies. *J. Virol.* **2016**, *90*, 6127–6139. [CrossRef]
- 30. Frey, G.; Peng, H.; Rits-Volloch, S.; Morelli, M.; Cheng, Y.; Chen, B. A Fusion-Intermediate State of HIV-1 Gp41 Targeted by Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2008**, *105*, 3739–3744. [CrossRef]
- 31. Chen, J.; Frey, G.; Peng, H.; Rits-Volloch, S.; Garrity, J.; Seaman, M.S.; Chen, B. Mechanism of HIV-1 Neutralization by Antibodies Targeting a Membrane-Proximal Region of Gp41. *J. Virol.* **2014**, *88*, 1249–1258. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Cardoso, R.M.F.; Zwick, M.B.; Stanfield, R.L.; Kunert, R.; Binley, J.M.; Katinger, H.; Burton, D.R.; Wilson, I.A. Broadly Neutralizing Anti-HIV Antibody 4E10 Recognizes a Helical Conformation of a Highly Conserved Fusion-Associated Motif in Gp41. *Immunity* 2005, 22, 163–173. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Irimia, A.; Sarkar, A.; Stanfield, R.L.; Wilson, I.A. Crystallographic Identification of Lipid as an Integral Component of the Epitope of HIV Broadly Neutralizing Antibody 4E10. *Immunity* **2016**, *44*, 21–31. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Von Bredow, B.; Andrabi, R.; Grunst, M.; Grandea, A.G., III; Le, K.; Song, G.; Berndsen, Z.T.; Porter, K.; Pallesen, J.; Ward, A.B.; et al. Differences in the Binding Affinity of an HIV-1 V2 Apex- Specific Antibody for the SIV Smm / Mac Envelope Glycoprotein Uncouple Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity From. *MBio* 2019, 10, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Tomaras, G.D.; Ferrari, G.; Shen, X.; Alam, S.M.; Liao, H.X.; Pollara, J.; Bonsignori, M.; Moody, M.A.; Fong, Y.; Chen, X.; et al. Vaccine-Induced Plasma IgA Specific for the C1 Region of the HIV-1 Envelope Blocks Binding and Effector Function of IgG. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, 110, 9019–9024. [CrossRef]
- 36. Khamassi, M.; Xu, L.; Rey, J.; Duchemin, M.; Bouceba, T.; Tuffery, P.; Tudor, D.; Bomsel, M. The CH1α Domain of Mucosal Gp41 IgA Contributes to Antibody Specificity and Antiviral Functions in HIV-1 Highly Exposed Sero-Negative Individuals. *PLoS Pathog.* 2020, 16, e1009103. [CrossRef]
- Scheepers, C.; Bekker, V.; Anthony, C.; Richardson, S.I.; Oosthuysen, B.; Moyo, T.; Kgagudi, P.; Kitchin, D.; Nonyane, M.; York, T.; et al. Antibody Isotype Switching as a Mechanism to Counter HIV Neutralization Escape. *Cell Rep.* 2020, 33, 108430. [CrossRef]
- Sawyer, L.S.; Wrin, M.T.; Crawford-Miksza, L.; Potts, B.; Wu, Y.; Weber, P.A.; Alfonso, R.D.; Hanson, C. V Neutralization Sensitivity of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Is Determined in Part by the Cell in Which the Virus Is Propagated. *J. Virol.* 1994, 68, 1342–1349. [CrossRef]
- Wrin, T.; Loh, T.P.; Vennari, J.C.; Schuitemaker, H.; Nunberg, J.H. Adaptation to Persistent Growth in the H9 Cell Line Renders a Primary Isolate of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Sensitive to Neutralization by Vaccine Sera. J. Virol. 1995, 69, 39–48. [CrossRef]
- 40. Hammonds, J.; Chen, X.; Ding, L.; Fouts, T.; De Vico, A.; Zur Megede, J.; Barnett, S.; Spearman, P. Gp120 Stability on HIV-1 Virions and Gag-Env Pseudovirions Is Enhanced by an Uncleaved Gag Core. *Virology* **2003**, *314*, 636–649. [CrossRef]
- Pugach, P.; Kuhmann, S.E.; Taylor, J.; Marozsan, A.J.; Snyder, A.; Ketas, T.; Wolinsky, S.M.; Korber, B.T.; Moore, J.P. The Prolonged Culture of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 in Primary Lymphocytes Increases Its Sensitivity to Neutralization by Soluble CD4. Virology 2004, 321, 8–22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

References

- 1. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard | WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard With Vaccination Data [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 17]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/
- Hu B, Guo H, Zhou P, Shi ZL. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nat Rev Microbiol [Internet].
 2021 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jun 17];19(3):141. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7537588/
- 3. Pagani I, Ghezzi S, Alberti S, Poli G, Vicenzi E. Origin and evolution of SARS-CoV-2. Eur Phys J Plus [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];138(2):157. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9933829/
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H, et al. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet [Internet]. 2020 Feb 22 [cited 2023 Jun 17];395(10224):565. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7159086/
- Rashid F, Xie Z, Suleman M, Shah A, Khan S, Luo S. Roles and functions of SARS-CoV-2 proteins in host immune evasion. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Aug 8 [cited 2023 Jun 18];13. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9394213/
- Zhou P, Yang X Lou, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature [Internet]. 2020 Mar 12 [cited 2023 Jun 17];579(7798):270. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7095418/
- 7. Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. Nat Med [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jun 17];26(4):450. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7095063/
- 8. PDB-101: Learn: Flyers, Posters, & Calendars: Flyers: SARS-CoV-2 Genome and Proteins [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jun 20]. Available from: https://pdb101.rcsb.org/learn/flyers-posters-and-other-resources/flyer/sars-cov-2-genome-and-proteins
- 9. Bailey AL, Diamond MS. A Crisp(r) New Perspective on SARS-CoV-2 Biology. Cell [Internet]. 2021 Jan 7 [cited 2023 Jun 20];184(1):15–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33338422/
- Cantuti-Castelvetri L, Ojha R, Pedro LD, Djannatian M, Franz J, Kuivanen S, et al. Neuropilin-1 facilitates SARS-CoV-2 cell entry and infectivity. Science [Internet]. 2020 Nov 13 [cited 2023 Jun 20];370(6518). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33082293/
- Lempp FA, Soriaga LB, Montiel-Ruiz M, Benigni F, Noack J, Park YJ, et al. Lectins enhance SARS-CoV-2 infection and influence neutralizing antibodies. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Oct 14 [cited 2023 Jun 20];598(7880):342–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34464958/
- 12. Ou X, Liu Y, Lei X, Li P, Mi D, Ren L, et al. Characterization of spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV-2 on virus entry and its immune cross-reactivity with SARS-CoV. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jun 20];11(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32221306/
- 13. Jackson CB, Farzan M, Chen B, Choe H. Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 entry into cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jun 18];23(1):3. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8491763/
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. Cell [Internet].
 2020 Apr 16 [cited 2023 Jun 18];181(2):271-280.e8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32142651/
- 15. Ryan PMD, Caplice N. COVID-19 and relative angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 deficiency: role in disease severity and therapeutic response. Open Heart [Internet]. 2020 Jun 11 [cited 2023 Jun 19];7(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7298719/
- 16. SARS-CoV-2 Variant Classifications and Definitions [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/variants/variant-classifications.html

- Carabelli AM, Peacock TP, Thorne LG, Harvey WT, Hughes J, de Silva TI, et al. SARS-CoV-2 variant biology: immune escape, transmission and fitness. Nat Rev Microbiol [Internet]. 2023 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jun 14];21(3):162. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9847462/
- 18. Tracking SARS-CoV-2 variants [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 3]. Available from: https://www.who.int/activities/tracking-SARS-CoV-2-variants
- 19. Nextstrain / ncov / gisaid / global / all-time [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 3]. Available from: https://nextstrain.org/ncov/gisaid/global/all-time?branchLabel=none&l=unrooted&m=div&tl=none
- Markov P V., Ghafari M, Beer M, Lythgoe K, Simmonds P, Stilianakis NI, et al. The evolution of SARS-CoV Nature Reviews Microbiology 2023 21:6 [Internet]. 2023 Apr 5 [cited 2023 Jun 14];21(6):361–79. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41579-023-00878-2
- 21. Harvey WT, Carabelli AM, Jackson B, Gupta RK, Thomson EC, Harrison EM, et al. SARS-CoV-2 variants, spike mutations and immune escape. Nat Rev Microbiol [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jun 19];19(7):409–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34075212/
- 22. Willett BJ, Grove J, MacLean OA, Wilkie C, De Lorenzo G, Furnon W, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron is an immune escape variant with an altered cell entry pathway. Nat Microbiol [Internet]. 2022 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Jun 19];7(8):1161. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9352574/
- 23. PDB-101: Molecule of the Month: SARS-CoV-2 Spike Variants [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jun 25]. Available from: https://pdb101.rcsb.org/motm/264
- 24. Whitaker M, Elliott J, Bodinier B, Barclay W, Ward H, Cooke G, et al. Variant-specific symptoms of COVID-19 in a study of 1,542,510 adults in England. Nature Communications 2022 13:1 [Internet]. 2022 Nov 11 [cited 2023 Jul 5];13(1):1–10. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-022-34244-2
- 25. Health Organization W. Guideline Clinical management of COVID-19: living guideline [Internet]. 2023. Available from: http://apps.who.int/bookorders.
- 26. Niemi MEK, Daly MJ, Ganna A. The human genetic epidemiology of COVID-19. Nature Reviews Genetics 2022 23:9 [Internet]. 2022 May 2 [cited 2023 Jul 5];23(9):533–46. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41576-022-00478-5
- Merad M, Blish CA, Sallusto F, Iwasaki A. The immunology and immunopathology of COVID-19. Science (1979) [Internet]. 2022 Mar 11 [cited 2023 Jun 25];375(6585):1122–7. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.abm8108
- Puhach O, Meyer B, Eckerle I. SARS-CoV-2 viral load and shedding kinetics. Nat Rev Microbiol [Internet].
 2023 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jun 14];21(3):147. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9716513/
- 29. [] Murphy, Kenneth M.; Weaver, Casey; Berg, Leslie J. Janeway's Immunobiology (2022, W W Norton College).
- Bastard P, Rosen LB, Zhang Q, Michailidis E, Hoffmann HH, Zhang Y, et al. Autoantibodies against type I IFNs in patients with life-threatening COVID-19. Science [Internet]. 2020 Oct 10 [cited 2022 Aug 25];370(6515). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7857397/
- Krämer B, Knoll R, Bonaguro L, ToVinh M, Raabe J, Astaburuaga-García R, et al. Early IFN-α signatures and persistent dysfunction are distinguishing features of NK cells in severe COVID-19. Immunity [Internet].
 2021 Nov 9 [cited 2022 Aug 1];54(11):2650-2669.e14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34592166/
- 32. Bastard P, Gervais A, Voyer T Le, Rosain J, Philippot Q, Manry J, et al. Autoantibodies neutralizing type I IFNs are present in ~ 4% of uninfected individuals over 70 years old and account for ~ 20% of COVID-19 deaths. Sci Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Aug 19 [cited 2022 Sep 19];6(62). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34413139/

- 33. Santos J de MB dos, Soares CP, Monteiro FR, Mello R, Amaral JB do, Aguiar AS, et al. In Nasal Mucosal Secretions, Distinct IFN and IgA Responses Are Found in Severe and Mild SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Feb 25 [cited 2023 Jun 11];12:595343. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7946815/
- Hurtado-Tamayo J, Requena-Platek R, Enjuanes L, Bello-Perez M, Sola I. Contribution to pathogenesis of accessory proteins of deadly human coronaviruses. Front Cell Infect Microbiol [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 25];13:1166839. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC10183600/
- 35. Bohn MK, Hall A, Sepiashvili L, Jung B, Steele S, Adeli K. Pathophysiology of COVID-19: Mechanisms underlying disease severity and progression. Physiology [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jun 25];35(5):288–301. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/physiol.00019.2020
- Xia H, Cao Z, Xie X, Zhang X, Chen JYC, Wang H, et al. Evasion of Type I Interferon by SARS-CoV-2. Cell Rep [Internet]. 2020 Oct 6 [cited 2023 Jul 29];33(1). Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S2211124720312237/fulltext
- 37. Yang Z, Zhang X, Wang F, Wang P, Kuang E, Li X. Suppression of MDA5-mediated antiviral immune responses by NSP8 of SARS-CoV-2. 2020 Aug 12 [cited 2023 Jul 29]; Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/PPR/PPR200217
- Wang W, Zhou Z, Xiao X, Tian Z, Dong X, Wang C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 nsp12 attenuates type I interferon production by inhibiting IRF3 nuclear translocation. Cellular & Molecular Immunology 2021 18:4 [Internet]. 2021 Feb 26 [cited 2023 Jul 29];18(4):945–53. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41423-020-00619-y
- 39. Lei X, Dong X, Ma R, Wang W, Xiao X, Tian Z, et al. Activation and evasion of type I interferon responses by SARS-CoV-2. Nature Communications 2020 11:1 [Internet]. 2020 Jul 30 [cited 2023 Jul 29];11(1):1–12. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-020-17665-9
- 40. Yuen CK, Lam JY, Wong WM, Mak LF, Wang X, Chu H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 nsp13, nsp14, nsp15 and orf6 function as potent interferon antagonists. Emerg Microbes Infect [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jul 29];9(1):1418–28. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/22221751.2020.1780953
- 41. Zhang Y, Chen Y, Li Y, Huang F, Luo B, Yuan Y, et al. The ORF8 protein of SARS-CoV-2 mediates immune evasion through down-regulating MHC-I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2021 Jun 8 [cited 2023 Jul 29];118(23):e2024202118. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.2024202118
- 42. Han L, Zhuang MW, Deng J, Zheng Y, Zhang J, Nan ML, et al. SARS-CoV-2 ORF9b antagonizes type I and III interferons by targeting multiple components of the RIG-I/MDA-5–MAVS, TLR3–TRIF, and cGAS–STING signaling pathways. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jul 29];93(9):5376–89. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jmv.27050
- Li X, Hou P, Ma W, Wang X, Wang H, Yu Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 ORF10 suppresses the antiviral innate immune response by degrading MAVS through mitophagy. Cellular & Molecular Immunology 2021 19:1 [Internet]. 2021 Nov 29 [cited 2023 Jul 29];19(1):67–78. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41423-021-00807-4
- Fu YZ, Wang SY, Zheng ZQ, Yi Huang, Li WW, Xu ZS, et al. SARS-CoV-2 membrane glycoprotein M antagonizes the MAVS-mediated innate antiviral response. Cellular & Molecular Immunology 2020 18:3 [Internet]. 2020 Oct 27 [cited 2023 Jul 29];18(3):613–20. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41423-020-00571-x
- 45. Wang EY, Mao T, Klein J, Dai Y, Huck JD, Jaycox JR, et al. Diverse functional autoantibodies in patients with COVID-19. Nature 2021 595:7866 [Internet]. 2021 May 19 [cited 2023 Jun 25];595(7866):283–8. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-03631-y

- 46. Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, Wu X, Zhang L, He T, et al. Cardiovascular Implications of Fatal Outcomes of Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol [Internet]. 2020 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];5(7):811–8. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamacardiology/fullarticle/2763845
- 47. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, Zhang M, Wang Z, Dong L, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. Kidney Int. 2020 May 1;97(5):829–38.
- Cha MH, Regueiro M, Sandhu DS. Gastrointestinal and hepatic manifestations of COVID-19: A comprehensive review. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2020 May 21 [cited 2023 Jul 3];26(19):2323–32. Available from: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v26/i19/2323.htm
- 49. Cai Q, Huang D, Yu H, Zhu Z, Xia Z, Su Y, et al. COVID-19: Abnormal liver function tests. J Hepatol. 2020 Sep 1;73(3):566–74.
- 50. Wang F, Wang H, Fan J, Zhang Y, Wang H, Zhao Q. Pancreatic Injury Patterns in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 19 Pneumonia. Gastroenterology. 2020 Jul 1;159(1):367–70.
- 51.Baig AM, Khaleeq A, Ali U, Syeda H. Evidence of the COVID-19 Virus Targeting the CNS: Tissue Distribution,
Host-Virus Interaction, and Proposed Neurotropic Mechanisms. ACS Chem Neurosci [Internet]. 2020 Apr
1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];11(7):995–8. Available from:
https://pubs.acs.org/doi/full/10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00122
- 52. Post COVID-19 condition (Long COVID) [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 3]. Available from: https://www.who.int/europe/news-room/fact-sheets/item/post-covid-19-condition
- Davis HE, McCorkell L, Vogel JM, Topol EJ. Long COVID: major findings, mechanisms and recommendations. Nature Reviews Microbiology 2023 21:3 [Internet]. 2023 Jan 13 [cited 2023 Jun 30];21(3):133–46. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41579-022-00846-2
- 54. Self-reported long COVID after infection with the Omicron variant in the UK Office for National Statistics [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 3]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases /bulletins/selfreportedlongcovidafterinfectionwiththeomicronvariant/6may2022
- 55. Klein J, Wood J, Jaycox J, Lu P, Dhodapkar RM, Gehlhausen JR, et al. Distinguishing features of Long COVID identified through immune profiling. medRxiv [Internet]. 2022 Aug 10 [cited 2023 Jul 3];2022.08.09.22278592. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.08.09.22278592v1
- 56. Glynne P, Tahmasebi N, Gant V, Gupta R. Long COVID following mild SARS-CoV-2 infection: characteristic T cell alterations and response to antihistamines. J Investig Med [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];70(1):61–7. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1136/jim-2021-002051
- 57. Phetsouphanh C, Darley DR, Wilson DB, Howe A, Munier CML, Patel SK, et al. Immunological dysfunction persists for 8 months following initial mild-to-moderate SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nature Immunology 2022 23:2 [Internet]. 2022 Jan 13 [cited 2023 Jul 3];23(2):210–6. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41590-021-01113-x
- Peluso MJ, Lu S, Tang AF, Durstenfeld MS, Ho HE, Goldberg SA, et al. Markers of Immune Activation and Inflammation in Individuals With Postacute Sequelae of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus
 Infection. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];224(11):1839–48. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34677601/
- Su Y, Yuan D, Chen DG, Ng RH, Wang K, Choi J, et al. Multiple early factors anticipate post-acute COVID-19 sequelae. Cell [Internet]. 2022 Mar 3 [cited 2023 Jul 3];185(5):881-895.e20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35216672/

- 60. Yeoh YK, Zuo T, Lui GCY, Zhang F, Liu Q, Li AYL, et al. Gut microbiota composition reflects disease severity and dysfunctional immune responses in patients with COVID-19. Gut [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];70(4):698–706. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33431578/
- 61. Liu Q, Mak JWY, Su Q, Yeoh YK, Lui GCY, Ng SSS, et al. Gut microbiota dynamics in a prospective cohort of patients with post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. Gut [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jul 3];71(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35082169/
- Giron LB, Peluso MJ, Ding J, Kenny G, Zilberstein NF, Koshy J, et al. Markers of fungal translocation are elevated during post-acute sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 and induce NF-κB signaling. JCl Insight [Internet].
 2022 Aug 8 [cited 2023 Jul 3];7(15). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.160989
- 63. Zuo T, Liu Q, Zhang F, Lui GCY, Tso EYK, Yeoh YK, et al. Depicting SARS-CoV-2 faecal viral activity in association with gut microbiota composition in patients with COVID-19. Gut [Internet]. 2021 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];70(2):276–84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32690600/
- 64. Pretorius E, Vlok M, Venter C, Bezuidenhout JA, Laubscher GJ, Steenkamp J, et al. Persistent clotting protein pathology in Long COVID/Post-Acute Sequelae of COVID-19 (PASC) is accompanied by increased levels of antiplasmin. Cardiovasc Diabetol [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];20(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34425843/
- 65. Osiaevi I, Schulze A, Evers G, Harmening K, Vink H, Kümpers P, et al. Persistent capillary rarefication in long COVID syndrome. Angiogenesis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jul 3];26(1):53–61. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35951203/
- 66. Cysique LA, Jakabek D, Bracken SG, Allen-Davidian Y, Heng B, Chow S, et al. Post-acute COVID-19 cognitive impairment and decline uniquely associate with kynurenine pathway activation: a longitudinal observational study. medRxiv [Internet]. 2022 Jun 7 [cited 2023 Jul 3];2022.06.07.22276020. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.06.07.22276020v1
- 67. Spudich S, Nath A. Nervous system consequences of COVID-19. Science [Internet]. 2022 Jan 21 [cited 2023 Jul 3];375(6578):267–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35050660/
- Fernández-Castañeda A, Lu P, Geraghty AC, Song E, Lee MH, Wood J, et al. Mild respiratory SARS-CoV-2 infection can cause multi-lineage cellular dysregulation and myelin loss in the brain. bioRxiv [Internet].
 2022 Jan 10 [cited 2023 Jul 3]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35043113/
- 69. Lau RI, Zhang F, Liu Q, Su Q, Chan FKL, Ng SC. Gut microbiota in COVID-19: key microbial changes, potential mechanisms and clinical applications. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology 2022 20:5 [Internet]. 2022 Oct 21 [cited 2023 Jun 25];20(5):323–37. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41575-022-00698-4
- 70.Zang R, Castro MFG, McCune BT, Zeng Q, Rothlauf PW, Sonnek NM, et al. TMPRSS2 and TMPRSS4
promote SARS-CoV-2 infection of human small intestinal enterocytes. Sci Immunol [Internet]. 2020 May
13 [cited 2023 Jun 25];5(47):3582. Available from:
https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciimmunol.abc3582
- Michaud E, Waeckel L, Gayet R, Goguyer-Deschaumes R, Chanut B, Jospin F, et al. Alteration of microbiota antibody-mediated immune selection contributes to dysbiosis in inflammatory bowel diseases. EMBO Mol Med [Internet]. 2022 Aug 8 [cited 2023 Jun 25];14(8). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35785473/
- 72. Goguyer-Deschaumes R, Waeckel L, Killian M, Rochereau N, Paul S. Metabolites and secretory immunoglobulins: messengers and effectors of the host-microbiota intestinal equilibrium. Trends Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jun 25];43(1):63–77. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34848167/
- 73. Prasad R, Patton MJ, Floyd JL, Vieira CP, Fortmann S, DuPont M, et al. Plasma microbiome in COVID-19 subjects: an indicator of gut barrier defects and dysbiosis. bioRxiv [Internet]. 2021 Apr 6 [cited 2023 Jun

25];2021.04.06.438634. Available https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.04.06.438634v1

- 74. Effenberger M, Grabherr F, Mayr L, Schwaerzler J, Nairz M, Seifert M, et al. Faecal calprotectin indicates intestinal inflammation in COVID-19. Gut [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Jun 25];69(8):1543–4. Available from: https://gut.bmj.com/content/69/8/1543
- 75. Ren Z, Wang H, Cui G, Lu H, Wang L, Luo H, et al. Alterations in the human oral and gut microbiomes and lipidomics in COVID-19. Gut [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];70(7):1253–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33789966/
- 76. Gaibani P, D'Amico F, Bartoletti M, Lombardo D, Rampelli S, Fornaro G, et al. The Gut Microbiota of Critically III Patients With COVID-19. Front Cell Infect Microbiol [Internet]. 2021 Jun 29 [cited 2023 Jul 6];11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34268136/
- 77. Gu S, Chen Y, Wu Z, Chen Y, Gao H, Lv L, et al. Alterations of the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 or H1N1 Influenza. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020 Nov 15 [cited 2023 Jul 6];71(10):2669–78. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32497191/
- 78. Xu R, Lu R, Zhang T, Wu Q, Cai W, Han X, et al. Temporal association between human upper respiratory and gut bacterial microbiomes during the course of COVID-19 in adults. Commun Biol [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];4(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33603076/
- 79. Reinold J, Farahpour F, Fehring C, Dolff S, Konik M, Korth J, et al. A Pro-Inflammatory Gut Microbiome Characterizes SARS-CoV-2 Infected Patients and a Reduction in the Connectivity of an Anti-Inflammatory Bacterial Network Associates With Severe COVID-19. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021 Nov 17;11:747816.
- 80. Yeoh YK, Zuo T, Lui GCY, Zhang F, Liu Q, Li AYL, et al. Gut microbiota composition reflects disease severity and dysfunctional immune responses in patients with COVID-19. Gut [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];70(4):698–706. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33431578/
- Wu Y, Cheng X, Jiang G, Tang H, Ming S, Tang L, et al. Altered oral and gut microbiota and its association with SARS-CoV-2 viral load in COVID-19 patients during hospitalization. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];7(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34294722/
- 82. Moreira-Rosário A, Marques C, Pinheiro H, Araújo JR, Ribeiro P, Rocha R, et al. Gut Microbiota Diversity and C-Reactive Protein Are Predictors of Disease Severity in COVID-19 Patients. Front Microbiol. 2021 Jul 19;12:705020.
- Liu Q, Mak JWY, Su Q, Yeoh YK, Lui GCY, Ng SSS, et al. Gut microbiota dynamics in a prospective cohort of patients with post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. Gut [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jul 6];71(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35082169/
- 84. Diamond MS, Kanneganti TD. Innate immunity: the first line of defense against SARS-CoV-2. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];23(2):165. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8935980/
- 85. Kanneganti TD. Intracellular innate immune receptors: Life inside the cell. Immunol Rev [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jul 6];297(1):5–12. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/imr.12912
- 86. Asano T, Boisson B, Onodi F, Matuozzo D, Moncada-Velez M, Renkilaraj MRLM, et al. X-linked recessive TLR7 deficiency in ~1% of men under 60 years old with life-threatening COVID-19. Sci Immunol [Internet].
 2021 Aug 19 [cited 2023 Jul 6];6(62):65. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciimmunol.abl4348
- 87. Osuchowski MF, Winkler MS, Skirecki T, Cajander S, Shankar-Hari M, Lachmann G, et al. The COVID-19 puzzle: deciphering pathophysiology and phenotypes of a new disease entity. Lancet Respir Med

[Internet]. 2021 Jun 1 [cited 2023 Jul 5];9(6):622–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33965003/

- 88. Schultze JL, Aschenbrenner AC. COVID-19 and the human innate immune system. Cell [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 5];184(7):1671–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33743212/
- Masood KI, Yameen M, Ashraf J, Shahid S, Mahmood SF, Nasir A, et al. Upregulated type I interferon responses in asymptomatic COVID-19 infection are associated with improved clinical outcome. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Aug 25];11(1):22958. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8617268/
- 90. Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, Bretherick AD, Rawlik K, Pasko D, et al. Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in COVID-19. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Mar 4 [cited 2022 Aug 25];591(7848):92–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33307546/
- 91. Liechti T, Iftikhar Y, Mangino M, Beddall M, Goss CW, O'Halloran JA, et al. Immune phenotypes that predict COVID-19 severity. Res Sq [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Aug 25]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35291290/
- 92. Chen DY, Khan N, Close BJ, Goel RK, Blum B, Tavares AH, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Disrupts Proximal Elements in the JAK-STAT Pathway. J Virol [Internet]. 2021 Sep 9 [cited 2022 Aug 24];95(19):862–83. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8428404/
- 93. Sette A, Sidney J, Crotty S. T Cell Responses to SARS-CoV-2. https://doi.org/101146/annurev-immunol-101721-061120 [Internet]. 2023 Apr 26 [cited 2023 Jul 4];41(1). Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-immunol-101721-061120
- 94. Grifoni A, Weiskopf D, Ramirez SI, Mateus J, Dan JM, Moderbacher CR, et al. Targets of T Cell Responses to SARS-CoV-2 Coronavirus in Humans with COVID-19 Disease and Unexposed Individuals. Cell. 2020 Jun 25;181(7):1489-1501.e15.
- 95. Rydyznski Moderbacher C, Ramirez SI, Dan JM, Grifoni A, Hastie KM, Weiskopf D, et al. Antigen-Specific Adaptive Immunity to SARS-CoV-2 in Acute COVID-19 and Associations with Age and Disease Severity. Cell. 2020 Nov 12;183(4):996-1012.e19.
- 96. Weiskopf D, Cerpas C, Angelo MA, Bangs DJ, Sidney J, Paul S, et al. Human CD8+ T-Cell Responses Against the 4 Dengue Virus Serotypes Are Associated With Distinct Patterns of Protein Targets. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2015 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];212(11):1743–51. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv289
- 97. McMahan K, Yu J, Mercado NB, Loos C, Tostanoski LH, Chandrashekar A, et al. Correlates of protection against SARS-CoV-2 in rhesus macaques. Nature 2020 590:7847 [Internet]. 2020 Dec 4 [cited 2023 Jul 4];590(7847):630–4. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-020-03041-6
- 98. Meckiff BJ, Ramírez-Suástegui C, Fajardo V, Chee SJ, Kusnadi A, Simon H, et al. Imbalance of Regulatory and Cytotoxic SARS-CoV-2-Reactive CD4+ T Cells in COVID-19. Cell [Internet]. 2020 Nov 25 [cited 2023 Jul 4];183(5):1340-1353.e16. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S0092867420313076/fulltext
- 99. Oja AE, Saris A, Ghandour CA, Kragten NAM, Hogema BM, Nossent EJ, et al. Divergent SARS-CoV-2-specific T- and B-cell responses in severe but not mild COVID-19 patients. Eur J Immunol [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];50(12):1998–2012. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/eji.202048908
- 100. Kaneko N, Kuo HH, Boucau J, Farmer JR, Allard-Chamard H, Mahajan VS, et al. Loss of Bcl-6-Expressing T Follicular Helper Cells and Germinal Centers in COVID-19. Cell [Internet]. 2020 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];183(1):143-157.e13. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S0092867420310679/fulltext
- 101. Röltgen K, Nielsen SCA, Silva O, Younes SF, Zaslavsky M, Costales C, et al. Immune imprinting, breadth of variant recognition, and germinal center response in human SARS-CoV-2 infection and vaccination. Cell

[Internet]. 2022 Mar 17 [cited 2023 Jul 4];185(6):1025-1040.e14. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S0092867422000769/fulltext

- Poon MML, Rybkina K, Kato Y, Kubota M, Matsumoto R, Bloom NI, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection generates tissue-localized immunological memory in humans. Sci Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];6(65):9105. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciimmunol.abl9105
- 103. Sette A, Sidney J, Crotty S. T Cell Responses to SARS-CoV-2. https://doi.org/101146/annurev-immunol-101721-061120 [Internet]. 2023 Apr 26 [cited 2023 Jul 4];41(1). Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-immunol-101721-061120
- 104. Dan JM, Mateus J, Kato Y, Hastie KM, Yu ED, Faliti CE, et al. Immunological memory to SARS-CoV-2 assessed for up to 8 months after infection. Science (1979) [Internet]. 2021 Feb 5 [cited 2023 Jul 4];371(6529). Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.abf4063
- 105. Lustig Y, Sapir E, Regev-Yochay G, Cohen C, Fluss R, Olmer L, et al. BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine and correlates of humoral immune responses and dynamics: a prospective, single-centre, longitudinal cohort study in health-care workers. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Apr 16];9(9):999. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8253545/
- 106. Wei J, Pouwels KB, Stoesser N, Matthews PC, Diamond I, Studley R, et al. Antibody responses and correlates of protection in the general population after two doses of the ChAdOx1 or BNT162b2 vaccines. Nat Med [Internet]. 2022 Feb 14 [cited 2022 Mar 14]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35165453/
- 107. Sauré D, O'Ryan M, Torres JP, Zuniga M, Santelices E, Basso LJ. Dynamic IgG seropositivity after rollout of CoronaVac and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines in Chile: a sentinel surveillance study. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Feb 28];22(1):56–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34509185/
- 108. Meyer-Arndt L, Schwarz T, Loyal L, Henze L, Kruse B, Dingeldey M, et al. Cutting Edge: Serum but Not Mucosal Antibody Responses Are Associated with Pre-Existing SARS-CoV-2 Spike Cross-Reactive CD4 + T Cells following BNT162b2 Vaccination in the Elderly. J Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Mar 10];208(5):1001–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35121642/
- 109. Szabo PA, Dogra P, Gray JI, Wells SB, Connors TJ, Weisberg SP, et al. Longitudinal profiling of respiratory and systemic immune responses reveals myeloid cell-driven lung inflammation in severe COVID-19. Immunity [Internet]. 2021 Apr 13 [cited 2023 Jul 4];54(4):797-814.e6. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S1074761321001175/fulltext
- 110. Li Z, Xiang T, Liang B, Deng H, Wang H, Feng X, et al. Characterization of SARS-CoV-2-Specific Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses Induced by Inactivated COVID-19 Vaccines in a Real-World Setting. Front Immunol. 2021 Dec 22;12:802858.
- 111. Zhang Z, Mateus J, Coelho CH, Dan JM, Moderbacher CR, Gálvez RI, et al. Humoral and cellular immune memory to four COVID-19 vaccines. Cell [Internet]. 2022 Jul 7 [cited 2023 Jul 4];185(14):2434-2451.e17. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S0092867422006535/fulltext
- 112. Mudd PA, Minervina AA, Pogorelyy M V., Turner JS, Kim W, Kalaidina E, et al. SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination elicits a robust and persistent T follicular helper cell response in humans. Cell [Internet]. 2022 Feb 17 [cited 2023 Jul 4];185(4):603-613.e15. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S0092867421014896/fulltext
- 113. Angyal A, Longet S, Moore SC, Payne RP, Harding A, Tipton T, et al. T-cell and antibody responses to first BNT162b2 vaccine dose in previously infected and SARS-CoV-2-naive UK health-care workers: a multicentre prospective cohort study. Lancet Microbe [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];3(1):e21– 31. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S2666524721002755/fulltext

- 114. Dykema AG, Zhang B, Woldemeskel BA, Garliss CC, Rashid R, Westlake T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination diversifies the CD4+ spike-reactive T cell repertoire in patients with prior SARS-CoV-2 infection. EBioMedicine [Internet]. 2022 Jun 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];80. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S2352396422002298/fulltext
- 115. COVID-19 vaccines: authorised | European Medicines Agency [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/overview/public-health-threats/coronavirus-disease-covid-19/treatments-vaccines/vaccines-covid-19/covid-19-vaccines-authorised
- 116. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Vaccines [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jun 26]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)vaccines
- 117. COVID-19 Vaccines | FDA [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 16]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/covid-19-vaccines
- 118.Guy B, Chanthavanich P, Gimenez S, Sirivichayakul C, Sabchareon A, Begue S, et al. Evaluation by flow
cytometry of antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of dengue infection by sera from Thai children
immunized with a live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine. Vaccine [Internet]. 2004 Sep 9 [cited 2022
Mar 17];22(27–28):3563–74.Available
from:
https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0264410X04002932
- 119. Yaugel-Novoa M, Bourlet T, Paul S. Role of the humoral immune response during COVID-19: guilty or not guilty? Mucosal Immunol. 2022;15(6).
- 120. Pisanic N, Randad PR, Kruczynski K, Manabe YC, Thomas DL, Pekosz A, et al. COVID-19 Serology at Population Scale: SARS-CoV-2-Specific Antibody Responses in Saliva. Loeffelholz MJ, editor. J Clin Microbiol [Internet]. 2020 Dec 17;59(1). Available from: https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/JCM.02204-20
- 121. Ye X, Angelo LS, Nicholson EG, Iwuchukwu OP, Rezende WC de, Rajan A, et al. Serum IgG anti-SARS-CoV-2 Binding Antibody Level Is Strongly Associated With IgA and Functional Antibody Levels in Adults Infected With SARS-CoV-2. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Oct 8 [cited 2021 Dec 3];12:693462. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8531527/
- 122. Zervou FN, Louie P, Stachel A, Zacharioudakis IM, Ortiz-Mendez Y, Thomas K, et al. SARS-CoV-2 antibodies: IgA correlates with severity of disease in early COVID-19 infection. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2021 May 21]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33932299
- 123. Legros V, Denolly S, Vogrig M, Boson B, Siret E, Rigaill J, et al. A longitudinal study of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients reveals a high correlation between neutralizing antibodies and COVID-19 severity. Cell Mol Immunol. 2021;18(2).
- 124. den Hartog G, Vos ERA, van den Hoogen LL, van Boven M, Schepp RM, Smits G, et al. Persistence of antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in relation to symptoms in a nationwide prospective study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2021;
- 125. Havervall S, Falk AJ, Klingström J, Ng H, Greilert-Norin N, Gabrielsson L, et al. SARS-CoV-2 induces a durable and antigen specific humoral immunity after asymptomatic to mild COVID-19 infection. PLoS One [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Apr 7];17(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8754314/
- 126. Al-Mughales JA, Al-Mughales TJ, Saadah OI. Monitoring Specific IgM and IgG Production Among Severe COVID-19 Patients Using Qualitative and Quantitative Immunodiagnostic Assays: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Sep 3 [cited 2022 Mar 7];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34539635/

- 127. Wu J, Liang BY, Fang YH, Wang H, Yang XL, Shen S, et al. Occurrence of COVID-19 Symptoms During SARS-CoV-2 Infection Defines Waning of Humoral Immunity. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Aug 16 [cited 2022 Mar 7];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34489971/
- 128. Sasson JM, Campo JJ, Carpenter RM, Young MK, Randall AZ, Trappl-Kimmons K, et al. Diverse Humoral Immune Responses in Younger and Older Adult COVID-19 Patients. mBio [Internet]. 2021 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Mar 7];12(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34182775/
- 129. Piccoli L, Park YJ, Tortorici MA, Czudnochowski N, Walls AC, Beltramello M, et al. Mapping Neutralizing and Immunodominant Sites on the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Receptor-Binding Domain by Structure-Guided High-Resolution Serology. Cell [Internet]. 2020 Nov 12 [cited 2022 Aug 2];183(4):1024-1042.e21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32991844/
- 130. Tang G, Huang M, Luo Y, Liu W, Lin Q, Mao L, et al. The Dynamic Immunological Parameter Landscape in Coronavirus Disease 2019 Patients With Different Outcomes. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Oct 29 [cited 2022 Mar 7];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34777333/
- 131. Weisberg SP, Connors TJ, Zhu Y, Baldwin MR, Lin WH, Wontakal S, et al. Distinct antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in children and adults across the COVID-19 clinical spectrum. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Apr 4];22(1):25. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8136619/
- 132. Singh AK, Gillies CL, Singh R, Singh A, Chudasama Y, Coles B, et al. Prevalence of co-morbidities and their association with mortality in patients with COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab [Internet]. 2020 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Apr 11];22(10):1915–24. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/dom.14124
- 133. Imai K, Matsuoka M, Tabata S, Kitagawa Y, Nagura-Ikeda M, Kubota K, et al. Cross-reactive humoral immune responses against seasonal human coronaviruses in COVID-19 patients with different disease severities. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Mar 7];111:68–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34407480/
- 134. Sandberg JT, Varnaitė R, Christ W, Chen P, Muvva JR, Maleki KT, et al. SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral and cellular immunity persists through 9 months irrespective of COVID-19 severity at hospitalisation. Clin Transl Immunology [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Mar 7];10(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34257967/
- 135. Kurano M, Morita Y, Nakano Y, Yokoyama R, Shimura T, Qian C, et al. Response kinetics of different classes of antibodies to SARS-CoV2 infection in the Japanese population: The IgA and IgG titers increased earlier than the IgM titers. Int Immunopharmacol [Internet]. 2022 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Mar 8];103. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34954559/
- 136. Shi D, Weng T, Wu J, Dai C, Luo R, Chen K, et al. Dynamic Characteristic Analysis of Antibodies in Patients With COVID-19: A 13-Month Study. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Jul 20 [cited 2022 Mar 9];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34354712/
- 137. Sterlin D, Mathian A, Miyara M, Mohr A, Anna F, Claër L, et al. IgA dominates the early neutralizing antibody response to SARS-CoV-2. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2021 Jan 20 [cited 2021 Jun 14];13(577). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33288662/
- 138. Wang Z, Lorenzi JCC, Muecksch F, Finkin S, Viant C, Gaebler C, et al. Enhanced SARS-CoV-2 neutralization by dimeric IgA. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2020 Dec 7 [cited 2021 Jan 25];13(577):eabf1555. Available from: http://stm.sciencemag.org/
- 139. Gaebler C, Wang Z, Lorenzi JCC, Muecksch F, Finkin S, Tokuyama M, et al. Evolution of antibody immunity to SARS-CoV-2. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Mar 25 [cited 2022 Feb 28];591(7851):639–44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33461210/
- 140. Ravichandran S, Grubbs G, Tang J, Lee Y, Huang C, Golding H, et al. Systemic and mucosal immune profiling in asymptomatic and symptomatic SARS-CoV-2–infected individuals reveal unlinked immune

signatures. Sci Adv [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Apr 7];7(42):6533–46. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/full/10.1126/sciadv.abi6533

- 141. Cervia C, Nilsson J, Zurbuchen Y, Valaperti A, Schreiner J, Wolfensberger A, et al. Systemic and mucosal antibody responses specific to SARS-CoV-2 during mild versus severe COVID-19. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology [Internet]. 2020 Nov [cited 2021 Jan 3]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33221383/
- 142. Zhang Z, Zhang G, Guo M, Tao W, Liu X, Wei H, et al. The Potential Role of an Aberrant Mucosal Immune Response to SARS-CoV-2 in the Pathogenesis of IgA Nephropathy. Pathogens [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Mar 7];10(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34358031/
- 143. Fuentes-Villalobos F, Garrido JL, Medina MA, Zambrano N, Ross N, Bravo F, et al. Sustained Antibody-Dependent NK Cell Functions in Mild COVID-19 Outpatients During Convalescence. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Feb 7 [cited 2022 Mar 14];13. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8859986/
- 144. Noh JY, Yang JS, Hwang SY, Hyun H, Seong H, Yoon JG, et al. Duration of humoral immunity and crossneutralizing activity against the Alpha, Beta, and Delta variants after wild-type SARS-CoV-2 infection: A prospective cohort study. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022 Feb 16 [cited 2022 Mar 3]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35172333/
- 145. H A, S B, C H, S A, A O, K L, et al. Persisting Salivary IgG Against SARS-CoV-2 at 9 Months After Mild COVID-19: A Complementary Approach to Population Surveys. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Mar 8];224(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33978762/
- 146. Scheiblauer H, Nübling CM, Wolf T, Khodamoradi Y, Bellinghausen C, Sonntagbauer M, et al. Antibody response to SARS-CoV-2 for more than one year kinetics and persistence of detection are predominantly determined by avidity progression and test design. Journal of Clinical Virology [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Mar 8];146:105052. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8642248/
- 147. Lamers MM, Beumer J, Vaart J Van Der, Knoops K, Puschhof J, Breugem TI, et al. SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. Science [Internet]. 2020 Jul 3 [cited 2022 Apr 7];369(6499):50–4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32358202/
- 148. Ortega N, Ribes M, Vidal M, Rubio R, Aguilar R, Williams S, et al. Seven-month kinetics of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and role of pre-existing antibodies to human coronaviruses. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Mar 16];12(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34362897/
- 149. Greenbaum U, Klein K, Martinez F, Song J, Thall PF, Ramdial JL, et al. High Levels of Common Cold Coronavirus Antibodies in Convalescent Plasma Are Associated With Improved Survival in COVID-19 Patients. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Apr 28 [cited 2022 Apr 6];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33995420/
- 150. Dugas M, Grote-Westrick T, Merle U, Fontenay M, Kremer AE, Hanses F, et al. Lack of antibodies against seasonal coronavirus OC43 nucleocapsid protein identifies patients at risk of critical COVID-19. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2021 Jun 1;139:104847.
- Dugas M, Grote-Westrick T, Vollenberg R, Lorentzen E, Brix T, Schmidt H, et al. Less severe course of COVID-19 is associated with elevated levels of antibodies against seasonal human coronaviruses OC43 and HKU1 (HCoV OC43, HCoV HKU1). International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2021 Apr 1;105:304– 6.
- 152. Miyara M, Saichi M, Sterlin D, Anna F, Marot S, Mathian A, et al. Pre-COVID-19 Immunity to Common Cold Human Coronaviruses Induces a Recall-Type IgG Response to SARS-CoV-2 Antigens Without Cross-Neutralisation. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Feb 11 [cited 2022 Mar 3];13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35222375/

- Tamminen K, Salminen M, Blazevic V. Seroprevalence and SARS-CoV-2 cross-reactivity of endemic coronavirus OC43 and 229E antibodies in Finnish children and adults. Clin Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Apr 6];229:108782. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8188772/
- 154. Friedman N, Alter H, Hindiyeh M, Mendelson E, Avni YS, Mandelboim M. Human Coronavirus Infections in Israel: Epidemiology, Clinical Symptoms and Summer Seasonality of HCoV-HKU1. Viruses 2018, Vol 10, Page 515 [Internet]. 2018 Sep 21 [cited 2022 Apr 6];10(10):515. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4915/10/10/515/htm
- 155. Fröberg J, Gillard J, Philipsen R, Lanke K, Rust J, van Tuijl D, et al. SARS-CoV-2 mucosal antibody development and persistence and their relation to viral load and COVID-19 symptoms. Nature Communications 2021 12:1 [Internet]. 2021 Sep 23 [cited 2021 Sep 29];12(1):1–11. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-021-25949-x
- 156. Isho B, Abe KT, Zuo M, Jamal AJ, Rathod B, Wang JH, et al. Persistence of serum and saliva antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 spike antigens in COVID-19 patients. Sci Immunol [Internet]. 2020 Oct 16 [cited 2022 Apr 12];5(52). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33033173/
- 157. Smith N, Goncalves P, Charbit B, Grzelak L, Beretta M, Planchais C, et al. Distinct systemic and mucosal immune responses during acute SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Mar 7];22(11):1428–39. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34471264/
- 158. Butler SE, Crowley AR, Natarajan H, Xu S, Weiner JA, Bobak CA, et al. Distinct Features and Functions of Systemic and Mucosal Humoral Immunity Among SARS-CoV-2 Convalescent Individuals. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Jan 28 [cited 2022 Sep 30];11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33584712/
- 159. Vu DL, Martinez-Murillo P, Pigny F, Vono M, Meyer B, Eberhardt CS, et al. Longitudinal Analysis of Inflammatory Response to SARS-CoV-2 in the Upper Respiratory Tract Reveals an Association with Viral Load, Independent of Symptoms. J Clin Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Mar 8];41(8):1723– 32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34581925/
- 160. Cagigi A, Yu M, Österberg B, Svensson J, Falck-Jones S, Vangeti S, et al. Airway antibodies emerge according to COVID-19 severity and wane rapidly but reappear after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. JCI Insight [Internet]. 2021 Nov 22 [cited 2022 Mar 11];6(22). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34665783/
- 161. Tang J, Randolph AG, Novak T, Walker TC, Loftis LL, Zinter MS, et al. Systemic and Lower Respiratory Tract Immunity to SARS-CoV-2 Omicron and Variants in Pediatric Severe COVID-19 and Mis-C. Vaccines (Basel) [Internet]. 2022 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Mar 14];10(2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35214728/
- 162. Burnett D. Immunoglobulins in the lung. Thorax [Internet]. 1986 [cited 2022 Mar 15];41(5):337–44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3750240/
- 163. Stockley RA, Mistry M, Bradwell AR, Burnett D. A study of plasma proteins in the sol phase of sputum from patients with chronic bronchitis. Thorax [Internet]. 1979 [cited 2022 Mar 15];34(6):777–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/542918/
- 164. Shiakolas AR, Kramer KJ, Wrapp D, Richardson SI, Schäfer A, Wall S, et al. Cross-reactive coronavirus antibodies with diverse epitope specificities and Fc effector functions. Cell Rep Med [Internet]. 2021 Jun 15 [cited 2022 Apr 13];2(6). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34056628/
- 165. Tortorici MA, Beltramello M, Lempp FA, Pinto D, Dang H V., Rosen LE, et al. Ultrapotent human antibodies protect against SARS-CoV-2 challenge via multiple mechanisms. Science [Internet]. 2020 Nov 20 [cited 2022 Apr 13];370(6519):950. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7857395/
- 166. Pinto D, Park YJ, Beltramello M, Walls AC, Tortorici MA, Bianchi S, et al. Cross-neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 by a human monoclonal SARS-CoV antibody. Nature. 2020 Jul 9;583(7815):290–5.

- 167. Yamin R, Jones AT, Hoffmann HH, Schäfer A, Kao KS, Francis RL, et al. Fc-engineered antibody therapeutics with improved anti-SARS-CoV-2 efficacy. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Nov 18 [cited 2022 Apr 13];599(7885):465–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34547765/
- McMahan K, Yu J, Mercado NB, Loos C, Tostanoski LH, Chandrashekar A, et al. Correlates of Protection Against SARS-CoV-2 in Rhesus Macaques. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Feb 25 [cited 2022 Apr 13];590(7847):630. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7906955/
- 169. Bastug A, Bodur H, Aydos O, Filazi N, Oksuz E, Ozkul A. The changing dynamics of neutralizing antibody response within 10 months of SARS-CoV-2 infections. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Mar 3]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34967013/
- 170. Wright PF, Prevost-Reilly AC, Natarajan H, Brickley EB, Connor RI, Wieland-Alter WF, et al. Longitudinal Systemic and Mucosal Immune Responses to SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022 Feb 21 [cited 2022 Apr 12]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35188974/
- 171. Witkowski M, Tizian C, Ferreira-Gomes M, Niemeyer D, Jones TC, Heinrich F, et al. Untimely TGFβ responses in COVID-19 limit antiviral functions of NK cells. Nature [Internet]. 2021 Dec 9 [cited 2022 Aug 1];600(7888):295–301. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34695836/
- Britton GJ, Chen-Liaw A, Cossarini F, Livanos AE, Spindler MP, Plitt T, et al. Limited intestinal inflammation despite diarrhea, fecal viral RNA and SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA in patients with acute COVID-19. Scientific Reports | [Internet]. 123AD [cited 2022 Apr 12];11:13308. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92740-9
- 173. Klingler J, Lambert GS, Itri V, Liu S, Bandres JC, Enyindah-Asonye G, et al. Detection of Antibody Responses Against SARS-CoV-2 in Plasma and Saliva From Vaccinated and Infected Individuals. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Dec 20 [cited 2022 Mar 14];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34987505/
- 174. Pan T, Hu Z, Hu F, Zhang Y, Liu B, Ke C, et al. Significantly reduced abilities to cross-neutralize SARS-CoV-2 variants by sera from convalescent COVID-19 patients infected by Delta or early strains. Cell Mol Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Mar 14];18(11):2560–2. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34635805/
- 175. Moyo-Gwete T, Madzivhandila M, Makhado Z, Ayres F, Mhlanga D, Oosthuysen B, et al. Cross-Reactive Neutralizing Antibody Responses Elicited by SARS-CoV-2 501Y.V2 (B.1.351). New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2021 Jun 3 [cited 2022 Apr 14];384(22):2161–3. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMc2104192
- 176. Laurie MT, Liu J, Sunshine S, Peng J, Black D, Mitchell AM, et al. SARS-CoV-2 variant exposures elicit antibody responses with differential cross-neutralization of established and emerging strains including Delta and Omicron. J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022 Jan 30 [cited 2022 Apr 14]; Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8755395/
- 177. Cameroni E, Bowen JE, Rosen LE, Saliba C, Zepeda SK, Culap K, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies overcome SARS-CoV-2 Omicron antigenic shift. Nature 2021 602:7898 [Internet]. 2021 Dec 23 [cited 2022 Aug 2];602(7898):664–70. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-04386-2
- 178. Schmidt F, Weisblum Y, Rutkowska M, Poston D, Da Silva J, Zhang F, et al. High genetic barrier to SARS-CoV-2 polyclonal neutralizing antibody escape. Nature. 2021 Dec 16;600(7889):512–6.
- 179. Richardson SI, Manamela NP, Motsoeneng BM, Kaldine H, Ayres F, Makhado Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Beta and Delta variants trigger Fc effector function with increased cross-reactivity. Cell Rep Med [Internet].
 2022 Feb 15 [cited 2022 Apr 14];3(2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35233544/
- 180. Gimpel AK, Maccataio A, Unterweger H, Sokolova M V., Schett G, Steffen U. IgA Complexes Induce Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation More Potently Than IgG Complexes. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Jan 13 [cited 2022 Apr 11];12. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8792984/

- 181. Stacey HD, Golubeva D, Posca A, Ang JC, Novakowski KE, Zahoor MA, et al. IgA potentiates NETosis in response to viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2021 Jul 6 [cited 2023 Jun 11];118(27). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8271757/
- 182. Torres-Ruiz J, Absalón-Aguilar A, Nuñez-Aguirre M, Pérez-Fragoso A, Carrillo-Vázquez DA, Maravillas-Montero JL, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Contribute to COVID-19 Hyperinflammation and Humoral Autoimmunity. Cells [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Mar 7];10(10). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34685525/
- Staats LAN, Pfeiffer H, Knopf J, Lindemann A, Fürst J, Kremer AE, et al. IgA2 Antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 Correlate with NET Formation and Fatal Outcome in Severely Diseased COVID-19 Patients. Cells [Internet]. 2020 Dec 12 [cited 2021 Mar 15];9(12):2676. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4409/9/12/2676
- 184. Allez M, Denis B, Bouaziz JD, Battistella M, Zagdanski AM, Bayart J, et al. COVID-19-Related IgA Vasculitis. Arthritis Rheumatol [Internet]. 2020 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Mar 9];72(11):1952–3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32633104/
- 185. Wong K, Farooq Alam Shah MU, Khurshid M, Ullah I, Tahir MJ, Yousaf Z. COVID-19 associated vasculitis: A systematic review of case reports and case series. Annals of Medicine and Surgery [Internet]. 2022 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Mar 14];74:103249. Available from: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/
- 186. Suzuki H, Raska M, Yamada K, Moldoveanu Z, Julian BA, Wyatt RJ, et al. Cytokines Alter IgA1 O-Glycosylation by Dysregulating C1GalT1 and ST6GalNAc-II Enzymes. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2014 Feb 21;289(8):5330–9.
- 187. Jarlhelt I, Nielsen SK, Jahn CXH, Hansen CB, Pérez-Alós L, Rosbjerg A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Antibodies Mediate Complement and Cellular Driven Inflammation. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 2 [cited 2022 Apr 11];12. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8596567/
- 188. Hoepel W, Chen HJ, Geyer CE, Allahverdiyeva S, Manz XD, de Taeye SW, et al. High titers and low fucosylation of early human anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG promote inflammation by alveolar macrophages. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2021 Jun 2 [cited 2022 Mar 14];13(596). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33979301/
- 189. Jahrsdörfer B, Fabricius D, Scholz J, Ludwig C, Grempels A, Lotfi R, et al. BNT162b2 Vaccination Elicits Strong Serological Immune Responses Against SARS-CoV-2 Including Variants of Concern in Elderly Convalescents. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Sep 29 [cited 2022 Apr 17];12. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8511403/
- 190. Tejedor Vaquero S, de Campos-Mata L, Ramada JM, Díaz P, Navarro-Barriuso J, Ribas-Llaurado C, et al. The mRNA-1273 Vaccine Induces Cross-Variant Antibody Responses to SARS-CoV-2 With Distinct Profiles in Individuals With or Without Pre-Existing Immunity. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2021 Sep 3 [cited 2022 Apr 17];12:1. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8446508/
- 191. Cho A, Muecksch F, Schaefer-Babajew D, Wang Z, Finkin S, Gaebler C, et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 receptorbinding domain antibody evolution after mRNA vaccination. Nature. 2021 Dec 16;600(7889):517–22.
- 192. Tarkowski M, de Jager W, Schiuma M, Covizzi A, Lai A, Gabrieli A, et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Immunoglobulin Isotypes, and Neutralization Activity Against Viral Variants, According to BNT162b2-Vaccination and Infection History. Front Immunol. 2021 Dec 17;12.
- 193. Collier A ris Y, Brown CM, McMahan KA, Yu J, Liu J, Jacob-Dolan C, et al. Characterization of immune responses in fully vaccinated individuals following breakthrough infection with the SARS-CoV-2 delta variant. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2022 Mar 8 [cited 2022 Mar 9]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35258323/
- 194. Muecksch F, Wang Z, Cho A, Gaebler C, Tanfous B, Dasilva J, et al. Increased Memory B Cell Potency and Breadth After a SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Boost. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04778-y

- 195. Becker M, Dulovic A, Junker D, Ruetalo N, Kaiser PD, Pinilla YT, et al. Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern in vaccinated individuals. Nat Commun. 2021 Dec 1;12(1).
- 196. Edara VV, Manning KE, Ellis M, Lai L, Moore KM, Foster SL, et al. mRNA-1273 and BNT162b2 mRNA vaccines have reduced neutralizing activity against the SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant. Cell Rep Med [Internet]. 2022 Feb 15 [cited 2022 Apr 15];3(2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35233550/
- 197. Lipsitch M, Krammer F, Regev-Yochay G, Lustig Y, Balicer RD. SARS-CoV-2 breakthrough infections in vaccinated individuals: measurement, causes and impact. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jul 7];22(1):57–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34876702/
- 198. Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Nemet I, Atari N, Kliker L, Regev-Yochay G, et al. Neutralising capacity against Delta (B.1.617.2) and other variants of concern following Comirnaty (BNT162b2, BioNTech/Pfizer) vaccination in health care workers, Israel. Euro Surveill [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jul 7];26(26). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34212838/
- 199. Planas D, Bruel T, Grzelak L, Guivel-Benhassine F, Staropoli I, Porrot F, et al. Sensitivity of infectious SARS-CoV-2 B.1.17 and B.1.351 variants to neutralizing antibodies. Nat Med [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2023 Jul 7];27(5):917–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33772244/
- Buonsenso D, Martino L, Morello R, Mariani F, Fearnley K, Valentini P. Viral persistence in children infected with SARS-CoV-2: current evidence and future research strategies. Lancet Microbe [Internet].
 Jun [cited 2023 Jul 7];0(0). Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S2666524723001155/fulltext
- 201.Reynolds CJ, Gibbons JM, Pade C, Lin KM, Sandoval DM, Pieper F, et al. Heterologous infection and
vaccination shapes immunity against SARS-CoV-2 variants. Science (1979) [Internet]. 2022 Jan 14 [cited
2022 Apr 23];375(6577):183–92. Available from:
https://www.science.org/doi/full/10.1126/science.abm0811
- 202. Wang Z, Muecksch F, Cho A, Gaebler C, Hoffmann HH, Ramos V, et al. Analysis of memory B cells identifies conserved neutralizing epitopes on the N-terminal domain of variant SARS-Cov-2 spike proteins. Immunity [Internet]. 2022 Jun [cited 2022 Aug 2];55(6):998-1012.e8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35447092/
- 203. Kim W, Zhou JQ, Horvath SC, Schmitz AJ, Sturtz AJ, Lei T, et al. Germinal centre-driven maturation of B cell response to mRNA vaccination. Nature [Internet]. 2022 Apr 7 [cited 2022 Aug 3];604(7904):141–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35168246/
- 204. Pozzetto B, Legros V, Djebali S, Barateau V, Guibert N, Villard M, et al. Immunogenicity and efficacy of heterologous ChAdOx1–BNT162b2 vaccination. Nature 2021 600:7890 [Internet]. 2021 Oct 21 [cited 2022 Jan 6];600(7890):701–6. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-04120-y
- Farkash I, Feferman T, Cohen-Saban N, Kirgner I, Levin Y, Dahan Correspondence R, et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies elicited by COVID-19 mRNA vaccine exhibit a unique glycosylation pattern. Cell Rep [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Mar 14];37. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.110114
- 206. Chakraborty S, Gonzalez JC, Sievers BL, Mallajosyula V, Chakraborty S, Dubey M, et al. Early nonneutralizing, afucosylated antibody responses are associated with COVID-19 severity. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2022 Jan 18 [cited 2022 Mar 9]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35040666/
- 207. Kaplonek P, Cizmeci D, Fischinger S, Collier A ris, Suscovich T, Linde C, et al. mRNA-1273 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines elicit antibodies with differences in Fc-mediated effector functions. Sci Transl Med [Internet]. 2022 Mar 29 [cited 2022 Apr 14]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35348368/
- 208. Azzi L, Dalla Gasperina D, Veronesi G, Shallak M, letto G, Iovino D, et al. Mucosal immune response in BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine recipients. EBioMedicine [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Mar 10];75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34954658/
- 209. Darwich A, Pozzi C, Fornasa G, Lizier M, Azzolini E, Spadoni I, et al. BNT162b2 vaccine induces antibody release in saliva: a possible role for mucosal viral protection? EMBO Mol Med [Internet]. 2022 Apr 19 [cited 2022 Apr 23]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35393790/
- 210. Piano Mortari E, Russo C, Vinci MR, Terreri S, Fernandez Salinas A, Piccioni L, et al. Highly Specific Memory B Cells Generation after the 2nd Dose of BNT162b2 Vaccine Compensate for the Decline of Serum Antibodies and Absence of Mucosal IgA. Cells [Internet]. 2021 Sep 26 [cited 2022 Mar 10];10(10). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34685521/
- 211. Garziano M, Utyro O, Poliseno M, Santantonio TA, Saulle I, Strizzi S, et al. Natural SARS-CoV-2 Infection Affects Neutralizing Activity in Saliva of Vaccinees. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Mar 11 [cited 2022 Apr 15];13. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8962193/
- 212. Okuya K, Hattori T, Saito T, Takadate Y, Sasaki M, Furuyama W, et al. Multiple Routes of Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Microbiol Spectr [Internet]. 2022 Mar 23 [cited 2022 Apr 21]; Available from: https://journals.asm.org/doi/full/10.1128/spectrum.01553-21
- 213. Wang Z, Deng T, Zhang Y, Niu W, Nie Q, Yang S, et al. ACE2 can act as the secondary receptor in the FcγRdependent ADE of SARS-CoV-2 infection. iScience [Internet]. 2022 Jan 21 [cited 2022 Apr 23];25(1):103720. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8719361/
- Shen XR, Li Q, Li HL, Wang X, Wang Q, Zheng XS, et al. Antibody-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Human Immune Cells: In Vitro Assessment Provides Insight in COVID-19 Pathogenesis. Viruses [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Mar 11];13(12). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34960752/
- 215. Liu Y, Soh WT, Kishikawa J ichi, Hirose M, Nakayama EE, Li S, et al. An infectivity-enhancing site on the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein targeted by antibodies. Cell [Internet]. 2021 Jun 24 [cited 2022 Apr 23];184(13):3452. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8142859/
- 216. Junqueira C, Crespo Â, Ranjbar S, de Lacerda LB, Lewandrowski M, Ingber J, et al. FcγR-mediated SARS-CoV-2 infection of monocytes activates inflammation. Nature 2022 [Internet]. 2022 Apr 6 [cited 2022 Apr 21];1–13. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-022-04702-4
- 217. Clark NM, Janaka SK, Hartman W, Stramer S, Goodhue E, Weiss J, et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG and IgA antibodies in COVID-19 convalescent plasma do not enhance viral infection. PLoS One [Internet]. 2022 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Mar 27];17(3). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8903276/
- 218. García-Nicolás O, V'kovski P, Zettl F, Zimmer G, Thiel V, Summerfield A. No Evidence for Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophage Infection and Antibody-Mediated Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol [Internet]. 2021 Apr 12 [cited 2022 Apr 23];11. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8072125/
- 219. Li D, Edwards RJ, Manne K, Martinez DR, Schäfer A, Alam SM, et al. In vitro and in vivo functions of SARS-CoV-2 infection-enhancing and neutralizing antibodies. Cell. 2021 Aug 5;184(16):4203-4219.e32.
- 220. Li D, Luan N, Li J, Zhao H, Zhang Y, Long R, et al. Waning antibodies from inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccination offer protection against infection without antibody-enhanced immunopathology in rhesus macaque pneumonia models. Emerg Microbes Infect [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 23];10(1):2194–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34736354/
- 221. Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. The convalescent sera option for containing COVID-19. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Apr 23];130(4):1545–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32167489/

- 222. Arvin AM, Fink K, Schmid MA, Cathcart A, Spreafico R, Havenar-Daughton C, et al. A perspective on potential antibody-dependent enhancement of SARS-CoV-2. Nature 2020 584:7821 [Internet]. 2020 Jul 13 [cited 2022 Aug 2];584(7821):353–63. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-020-2538-8
- 223. Yaugel-Novoa M, Noailly B, Jospin F, Berger AE, Waeckel L, Botelho-Nevers E, et al. Prior COVID-19 Immunization Does Not Cause IgA- or IgG-Dependent Enhancement of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Vaccines 2023, Vol 11, Page 773 [Internet]. 2023 Mar 31 [cited 2023 Apr 14];11(4):773. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-393X/11/4/773/htm
- 224. Joyner MJ, Bruno KA, Klassen SA, Kunze KL, Johnson PW, Lesser ER, et al. Safety Update: COVID-19 Convalescent Plasma in 20,000 Hospitalized Patients. Mayo Clin Proc [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Apr 23];95(9):1888–97. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32861333/
- 225. Cele S, Jackson L, Khoury DS, Khan K, Moyo-Gwete T, Tegally H, et al. Omicron extensively but incompletely escapes Pfizer BNT162b2 neutralization. Nature 2021 602:7898 [Internet]. 2021 Dec 23 [cited 2022 Apr 23];602(7898):654–6. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-04387-1
- Su HC, Jing H, Zhang Y, Casanova JL. Interfering with Interferons: A Critical Mechanism for Critical COVID-19 Pneumonia. Annu Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2023 Apr 26 [cited 2023 Jun 27];41(1):561–85. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37126418/
- 227. Bucciol G, Meyts I. Inherited and acquired errors of type I interferon immunity govern susceptibility to COVID-19 and multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol [Internet]. 2023 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jun 27];151(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36841740/
- 228. Zhang Q, Liu Z, Moncada-Velez M, Chen J, Ogishi M, Bigio B, et al. Inborn errors of type I IFN immunity in patients with life-threatening COVID-19. Science [Internet]. 2020 Oct 23 [cited 2023 Jun 27];370(6515). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32972995/
- 229. Lutfalla G, Holland SJ, Cinato E, Monneron D, Reboul J, Rogers NC, et al. Mutant U5A cells are complemented by an interferon- $\alpha\beta$ receptor subunit generated by alternative processing of a new member of a cytokine receptor gene cluster. EMBO Journal. 1995;14(20):5100–8.
- 230. McFarlane A, Fyfe PK, Moraga I. Cytokine Receptors. Comprehensive Pharmacology [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Aug 23];37–64. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780128204726001122
- 231. Yaugel-Novoa M, Bourlet T, Longet S, Botelho-Nevers E, Paul S. Association of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 with COVID-19 severity. Lancet Microbe [Internet]. 2023 Apr [cited 2023 Apr 14];0(0). Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S2666524723000952/fulltext
- 232. Hardy MP, Owczarek CM, Trajanovska S, Liu X, Kola I, Hertzog PJ. The soluble murine type I interferon receptor Ifnar-2 is present in serum, is independently regulated, and has both agonistic and antagonistic properties. Blood [Internet]. 2001 Jan 15 [cited 2023 Jul 14];97(2):473–82. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1182/blood.V97.2.473
- 233. Aliaga-Gaspar P, Hurtado-Guerrero I, Ciano-Petersen NL, Urbaneja P, Brichette-Mieg I, Reyes V, et al. Soluble Receptor Isoform of IFN-Beta (sIFNAR2) in Multiple Sclerosis Patients and Their Association With the Clinical Response to IFN-Beta Treatment. Front Immunol. 2021 Dec 16;12:5429.
- 234. Zanin N, Viaris de Lesegno C, Lamaze C, Blouin CM. Interferon Receptor Trafficking and Signaling: Journey to the Cross Roads. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2020 Jan 20 [cited 2022 Oct 25];11. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7855707/
- 235. Zhang Q, Bastard P, Karbuz A, Gervais A, Tayoun AA, Aiuti A, et al. Human genetic and immunological determinants of critical COVID-19 pneumonia. Nature [Internet]. 2022 Mar 24 [cited 2022 Sep 19];603(7902):587–98. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35090163/

- 236. Villette R, Autaa G, Hind S, Holm JB, Moreno-Sabater A, Larsen M. Refinement of 16S rRNA gene analysis for low biomass biospecimens. Scientific Reports 2021 11:1 [Internet]. 2021 May 24 [cited 2023 Aug 3];11(1):1–12. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-021-90226-2
- 237. Jackson MA, Pearson C, Ilott NE, Huus KE, Hegazy AN, Webber J, et al. Accurate identification and quantification of commensal microbiota bound by host immunoglobulins. Microbiome [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Aug 3];9(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33516266/
- 238. Ruiz MJ, Siracusano G, Cottignies-Calamarte A, Tudor D, Real F, Zhu A, et al. Persistent but dysfunctional mucosal SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA and low lung IL-1β associate with COVID-19 fatal outcome: A cross-sectional analysis. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Sep 29 [cited 2022 Nov 7];13:842468. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9560774/
- 239. Suthar MS, Zimmerman MG, Kauffman RC, Mantus G, Linderman SL, Hudson WH, et al. Rapid Generation of Neutralizing Antibody Responses in COVID-19 Patients. Cell Rep Med [Internet]. 2020 Jun 23 [cited 2022 Mar 14];1(3). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7276302/
- Ankerhold J, Giese S, Kolb P, Maul-Pavicic A, Voll RE, Göppert N, et al. Circulating multimeric immune complexes contribute to immunopathology in COVID-19. Nature Communications 2022 13:1 [Internet].
 2022 Sep 26 [cited 2023 May 30];13(1):1–15. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-022-32867-z
- 241. Davis SK, Selva KJ, Lopez E, Haycroft ER, Lee WS, Wheatley AK, et al. Heterologous SARS-CoV-2 IgA neutralising antibody responses in convalescent plasma. Clin Transl Immunology [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 27];11(10):e1424. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/cti2.1424
- 242. Kaku CI, Champney ER, Normark J, Garcia M, Johnson CE, Ahlm C, et al. Broad anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody immunity induced by heterologous ChAdOx1/mRNA-1273 vaccination. Science [Internet]. 2022 Mar 4 [cited 2023 Jul 17];375(6584):1041–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35143256/
- 243. Atmar RL, Lyke KE, Deming ME, Jackson LA, Branche AR, El Sahly HM, et al. Homologous and Heterologous Covid-19 Booster Vaccinations. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2022 Mar 17 [cited 2023 Jul 17];386(11):1046– 57. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35081293/
- 244. Hyun H, Jang AY, Park H, Heo JY, Seo Y Bin, Nham E, et al. Humoral and cellular immunogenicity of homologous and heterologous booster vaccination in Ad26.COV2.S-primed individuals: Comparison by breakthrough infection. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 17];14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36960070/
- Kaplonek P, Cizmeci D, Kwatra G, Izu A, Lee JSL, Bertera HL, et al. ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccine-induced Fc receptor binding tracks with differential susceptibility to COVID-19. Nat Immunol [Internet].
 2023 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jul 19];24(7):1161. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC10307634/
- 246. Andreano E, Paciello I, Piccini G, Manganaro N, Pileri P, Hyseni I, et al. Hybrid immunity improves B cells and antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 variants. Nature 2021 600:7889 [Internet]. 2021 Oct 20 [cited 2023 Jul 15];600(7889):530–5. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-04117-7
- 247. Zou J, Kurhade C, Patel S, Kitchin N, Tompkins K, Cutler M, et al. Neutralization of BA.4–BA.5, BA.4.6, BA.2.75.2, BQ.1.1, and XBB.1 with Bivalent Vaccine. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2023 Mar 2 [cited 2023 Jul 15];388(9):854–7. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMc2214916
- 248. Winokur P, Gayed J, Fitz-Patrick D, Thomas SJ, Diya O, Lockhart S, et al. Bivalent Omicron BA.1-Adapted BNT162b2 Booster in Adults Older than 55 Years. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2023 Jan 19 [cited 2023 Jul 15];388(3):214–27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36652353/

- 249. Collier A ris Y, Miller J, Hachmann NP, McMahan K, Liu J, Bondzie EA, et al. Immunogenicity of BA.5 Bivalent mRNA Vaccine Boosters. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2023 Feb 9 [cited 2023 Jul 15];388(6):565–7. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMc2213948
- 250. Wang Q, Bowen A, Valdez R, Gherasim C, Gordon A, Liu L, et al. Antibody Response to Omicron BA.4– BA.5 Bivalent Booster. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2023 Feb 9 [cited 2023 Jul 15];388(6):567–9. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMc2213907
- 251. Noailly B, Yaugel-Novoa M, Werquin J, Jospin F, Drocourt D, Bourlet T, et al. Antiviral Activities of HIV-1-Specific Human Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies Are Isotype-Dependent. Vaccines (Basel) [Internet]. 2022 Jun 6 [cited 2022 Jul 25];10(6):903. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9227833/
- 252. Narayan R, Tripathi S. Intrinsic ADE: The Dark Side of Antibody Dependent Enhancement During Dengue Infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol [Internet]. 2020 Oct 2 [cited 2023 Feb 22];10:580096. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7573563/
- 253. Crooks CM, Weiler AM, Rybarczyk SL, Bliss MI, Jaeger AS, Murphy ME, et al. Previous exposure to dengue virus is associated with increased Zika virus burden at the maternal-fetal interface in rhesus macaques. PLoS Negl Trop Dis [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Mar 27];15(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34329306/
- 254. Shimizu J, Sasaki T, Koketsu R, Morita R, Yoshimura Y, Murakami A, et al. Reevaluation of antibodydependent enhancement of infection in anti-SARS-CoV-2 therapeutic antibodies and mRNA-vaccine antisera using FcR- and ACE2-positive cells. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2022 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Mar 27];12(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36114224/
- 255. Marshall JS, Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology [Internet]. 2018 Sep 12 [cited 2023 Jul 27];14(2):1–10. Available from: https://aacijournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13223-018-0278-1
- 256. Notarangelo LD. Primary immunodeficiencies. J Allergy Clin Immunol [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2023 Jul 28];125(2 Suppl 2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20042228/
- 257. Zhang L, Zhang L, Li F, Liu W, Tai Z, Yang J, et al. When herpes simplex virus encephalitis meets antiviral innate immunity. Front Immunol. 2023 Jan 20;14:1118236.
- 258. Akar-Ghibril N. Defects of the Innate Immune System and Related Immune Deficiencies. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2022 Aug 1;63(1):36–54.
- 259. Akbari M, Akhavan-Bahabadi M, Shafigh N, Taheriazam A, Hussen BM, Sayad A, et al. Expression analysis of IFNAR1 and TYK2 transcripts in COVID-19 patients. Cytokine [Internet]. 2022 May 1 [cited 2022 Aug 24];153. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35339044/
- 260. Fricke-Galindo I, Martínez-Morales A, Chávez-Galán L, Ocaña-Guzmán R, Buendía-Roldán I, Pérez-Rubio G, et al. IFNAR2 relevance in the clinical outcome of individuals with severe COVID-19. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Jul 29 [cited 2022 Oct 26];13. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9374460/
- Casanova JL, Anderson MS. Unlocking life-threatening COVID-19 through two types of inborn errors of type I IFNs. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2023 Feb 2 [cited 2023 Aug 2];133(3). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9888384/
- Yang Y, Yang M, Peng Y, Liang Y, Wei J, Xing L, et al. Longitudinal analysis of antibody dynamics in COVID-19 convalescents reveals neutralizing responses up to 16 months after infection. Nat Microbiol [Internet].
 2022 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Apr 15];7(3):423–33. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35132197/
- 263. Adeniji OS, Giron LB, Purwar M, Zilberstein NF, Kulkarni AJ, Shaikh MW, et al. COVID-19 Severity Is Associated with Differential Antibody Fc-Mediated Innate Immune Functions. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 13]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio

- 264. Magri G, Cerutti A. IgA Summons IgG to Take a Hit at HIV-1. Cell Host Microbe [Internet]. 2020 Jun 6 [cited 2023 May 30];27(6):854. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8195293/
- 265. Gonzalez J, Edwards K, Chakraborty S, Mallajosyula V, Buzzanco AS, Sherwood R, et al. Proinflammatory IgG Fc structures in patients with severe COVID-19. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Jun 8];22. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-00828-7
- 266. Vicente MM, Alves I, Gaifem J, Rodrigues CS, Fernandes Â, Dias AM, et al. Altered IgG glycosylation at COVID-19 diagnosis predicts disease severity. Eur J Immunol [Internet]. 2022 Jun 1 [cited 2023 May 29];52(6):946. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9087392/
- 267. Bye AP, Hoepel W, Mitchell JL, Jégouic S, Loureiro S, Sage T, et al. Aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike IgG is a prothrombotic stimulus for platelets. Blood [Internet]. 2021 Oct 21 [cited 2023 May 29];138(16):1481–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34315173/
- 268. Steffen U, Koeleman CA, Sokolova M V., Bang H, Kleyer A, Rech J, et al. IgA subclasses have different effector functions associated with distinct glycosylation profiles. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Oct 26];11(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31913287/
- 269. Haslund-Gourley B, Woloszcuk K, Hou J, Connors J, Cusimano G, Bell M, et al. IgM N-glycosylation correlates with COVID-19 severity and rate of complement deposition. Res Sq [Internet]. 2023 Jun 2 [cited 2023 Jul 31]; Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37398192/
- 270. Barnes BJ, Adrover JM, Baxter-Stoltzfus A, Borczuk A, Cools-Lartigue J, Crawford JM, et al. Targeting potential drivers of COVID-19: Neutrophil extracellular traps [Internet]. Vol. 217, Journal of Experimental Medicine. Rockefeller University Press; 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 26]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7161085/?report=abstract
- 271. Waldo FB. Role of IgA in IgA nephropathy. J Pediatr. 1990 May 1;116(5):S78–85.
- 272. Bewley KR, Coombes NS, Gagnon L, McInroy L, Baker N, Shaik I, et al. Quantification of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody by wild-type plaque reduction neutralization, microneutralization and pseudotyped virus neutralization assays. Nat Protoc [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jun 8]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-021-00536-y
- 273. Levine MZ, Holiday C, Jefferson S, Gross FL, Liu F, Li S, et al. Heterologous prime-boost with A(H5N1) pandemic influenza vaccines induces broader cross-clade antibody responses than homologous prime-boost. NPJ Vaccines [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jul 31];4(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6541649/
- 274. Bhatnagar N, Kim KH, Subbiah J, Muhammad-Worsham S, Park BR, Liu R, et al. Heterologous Prime-Boost Vaccination with Inactivated Influenza Viruses Induces More Effective Cross-Protection than Homologous Repeat Vaccination. Vaccines (Basel) [Internet]. 2023 Jul 6 [cited 2023 Jul 31];11(7):1209. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC10386405/
- 275. Guzman MG, Gubler DJ, Izquierdo A, Martinez E, Halstead SB. Dengue infection. Nature Reviews Disease Primers 2016 2:1 [Internet]. 2016 Aug 18 [cited 2023 Jul 31];2(1):1–25. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/nrdp201655
- 276. Röltgen K, Nielsen SCA, Silva O, Younes SF, Zaslavsky M, Costales C, et al. Immune imprinting, breadth of variant recognition, and germinal center response in human SARS-CoV-2 infection and vaccination. Cell [Internet]. 2022 Mar 17 [cited 2022 Aug 3];185(6):1025-1040.e14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35148837/
- 277. Marking U, Bladh O, Havervall S, Greilert-Norin N, Gordon M, Alm JJ, et al. Mucosal IgA protects against BQ.1 and BQ.1.1 infection. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Jul [cited 2023 Jul 19];0(0). Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S1473309923004218/fulltext

- Havervall S, Marking U, Svensson J, Greilert-Norin N, Bacchus P, Nilsson P, et al. Anti-Spike Mucosal IgA
 Protection against SARS-CoV-2 Omicron Infection. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2022 Oct
 [cited 2023 Jul 19];387(14):1333–6. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMc2209651
- 279. De Alwis R, Williams KL, Schmid MA, Lai CY, Patel B, Smith SA, et al. Dengue Viruses Are Enhanced by Distinct Populations of Serotype Cross-Reactive Antibodies in Human Immune Sera. PLoS Pathog [Internet]. 2014 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jul 31];10(10):e1004386. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plospathogens/article?id=10.1371/journal.ppat.1004386
- 280. de Alwis R, Beltramello M, Messer WB, Sukupolvi-Petty S, Wahala WMPB, Kraus A, et al. In-Depth Analysis of the Antibody Response of Individuals Exposed to Primary Dengue Virus Infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis [Internet].
 2011 Jun [cited 2023 Jul 31];5(6):e1188. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosntds/article?id=10.1371/journal.pntd.0001188

Resumé

Mon travail de thèse s'inscrit dans les premières années de la pandémie de COVID-19. Malgré les connaissances accumulées, il reste beaucoup à étudier sur l'infection du SARS-CoV-2 et la réponse immunitaire. Mon objectif est de caractériser la réponse immunitaire humorale contre le virus SARS-CoV-2, d'identifier des marqueurs prédictifs de la gravité de la maladie et d'étudier la réponse immunitaire après vaccination. Dans notre étude, nous avons démontré que les patients atteints de COVID-19 sévère présentaient des niveaux plus bas de sIFNAR1 et des niveaux plus élevés de sIFNAR2 dans le sérum, comparés aux patients asymptomatiques. Ces protéines pourraient être des indicateurs de la gravité de la maladie. Nous avons également constaté que chez les patients les plus gravement atteints, la réponse IgA sérique était plus forte et précoce que chez les patients moins graves ou asymptomatiques. Ces résultats suggèrent un rôle potentiel dans la physiopathologie de la maladie. De plus, notre travail montre que la vaccination hétérologue est plus immunogénique et protectrice contre différents variants du SARS-CoV-2 qu'une vaccination homologue. Cependant, l'incapacité des vaccins à ARN messager (mRNA) à créer une réponse mucosale est une lacune qu'il faudrait combler avec de nouveaux vaccins, ciblant la voie mucosale pour la vaccination. Néanmoins, une première immunisation ne sensibilise pas à une amplification de la maladie dépendante d'anticorps (ADE). L'ensemble des données produites dans ce travail de thèse contribue à éclaircir certains aspects du rôle de la réponse humorale dans la physiopathologie de la COVID-19, ainsi que la réponse immunitaire développée après vaccination. Ce travail ouvre la voie à de nouvelles questions et pistes de recherche pour mieux comprendre la réponse immunitaire dans la COVID-19.

Abstract

My PhD thesis is marked by the early years of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite accumulated knowledge, there is still much to study regarding SARS-CoV-2 infection and the immune response. My objective is to characterize the humoral immune response against the SARS-CoV-2 virus, identify predictive markers of disease severity, and study the immune response after vaccination. In our study, we demonstrated that severe COVID-19 patients had lower levels of sIFNAR1 and higher levels of sIFNAR2 in the serum, compared to asymptomatic patients. These proteins could serve as predictive markers of disease severity. Additionally, we observed that in the most severely affected patients, the serum IgA response was stronger and more rapid than in less severe or asymptomatic patients, suggesting a potential role in the disease's pathophysiology. Furthermore, our work indicates that heterologous vaccination is more immunogenic and protective against different SARS-CoV-2 variants than homologous vaccination. However, the inability of mRNA vaccines to elicit a mucosal response is a gap that should be addressed with new vaccines targeting mucosal pathways. Nevertheless, initial immunization does not sensitize individuals to antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of disease. The data generated in this thesis contribute to elucidating certain aspects of the role of the humoral response in the pathophysiology of COVID-19, as well as the immune response developed after vaccination. This work opens the door to new questions and research topics for a better understanding of the immune response in COVID-19.